ON THE BLOCH-KATO CONJECTURE FOR SOME FOUR-DIMENSIONAL SYMPLECTIC GALOIS REPRESENTATIONS

NAOMI SWEETING

ABSTRACT. The Bloch-Kato conjecture predicts a far-reaching connection between orders of vanishing of L-functions and the ranks of Selmer groups of p-adic Galois representations. In this article, we consider the four-dimensional, symplectic Galois representations arising from automorphic representations π of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ with trivial central character and with the lowest cohomological archimedean weight. Under mild technical conditions, we prove that the Selmer group vanishes when the central value $L(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2)$ is nonzero. In the spirit of bipartite Euler systems, we bound the Selmer group by using level-raising congruences to construct ramified Galois cohomology classes. The relation to L-values comes via the $\operatorname{GSpin}_3 \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GSpin}_5$ periods on a compact inner form of GSp_4 . We also prove a result towards the rank-one case: if the π -isotypic part of the Abel-Jacobi image of any of Kudla's one-cycles on the Siegel threefold is nonzero, it generates the full Selmer group. These cycles are linear combinations of embedded quaternionic Shimura curves, and under the conjectural arithmetic Rallis inner product formula, their heights are related to $L'(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2)$.

CONTENTS

0.	Introduction	2
1.	Preliminaries	10
2.	Automorphic representations, Hecke algebras, and Shimura varieties	18
3.	Special cycles and theta lifts	34
4.	Construction of Galois cohomology classes and special periods	41
5.	Nonvanishing criteria for changing test functions	48
6.	The ramified GSpin ₅ Rapoport-Zink space	62
7.	The first explicit reciprocity law: geometric inputs	72
8.	First explicit reciprocity law	95
9.	Main result: rank zero case	113
10.	The second explicit reciprocity law: geometric inputs	122
11.	Second explicit reciprocity law	131
12.	Main result: rank one case	137
App	pendix A. Cohomology of $GSpin_4$ Shimura varieties	147
App	pendix B. Relative deformation theory and level-raising	150
App	pendix C. Large image results	160
References		177

NAOMI SWEETING

0. INTRODUCTION

0.1. Main results. Let $\pi = \otimes' \pi_v$ be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ of trivial central character and conductor $N(\pi)$, such that π_{∞} belongs to the discrete series *L*-packet of parallel weight (3,3). In particular, π appears in the étale cohomology of the GSp_4 Shimura variety with trivial coefficients. Let *E* be a sufficiently large coefficient field; then we have a compatible family of *p*-adic Galois representations

$$\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathrm{GSp}_4(E_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

indexed by primes $\mathfrak{p}|p$ of E, and normalized so that the similitude character of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is cyclotomic. Let $V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ be the underlying four-dimensional $E_{\mathfrak{p}}[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ -module of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$, and consider the Bloch-Kato Selmer group

$$H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) = \ker \left(H^1(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}} \otimes B_{\mathrm{cris}}) \times \prod_{\ell \neq p} H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) \right),$$

where $I_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}$ is the local inertia subgroup. The Bloch-Kato conjecture applied to $V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ predicts

$$\dim_{E_{\mathfrak{p}}} H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) = \operatorname{ord}_{s=1/2} L(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2),$$

where the *L*-function is normalized so that s = 1/2 is the central value. Our first main result proves many cases of the Bloch-Kato conjecture for $V_{\pi,p}$ in rank zero.

Theorem A (Theorem 9.1.4). Suppose π is not CAP or endoscopic, and for some $\ell | N(\pi), \pi_{\ell}$ has a local Jacquet-Langlands transfer to the compact inner form of $\operatorname{GSp}_{4,\mathbb{O}_{\ell}}$. Let $\mathfrak{p}| p$ be a prime of E such that:

- (1) π_p is unramified.
- (2) The residual representation $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is absolutely irreducible and generic (Definition 2.7.3).
- (3) There exists a prime $q \nmid N(\pi)$ such that $q^4 \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p}$, and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ has eigenvalues

 $\{q, 1, \alpha, q/\alpha\}$

with $\alpha \not\in \{\pm 1, \pm q, q^2, q^{-1}\}.$

Then

$$L(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2) \neq 0 \implies H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) = 0.$$

- **Remarks.** (i) The conditions (1) and (2) are always satisfied for cofinitely many p. Condition (3) is always satisfied for the primes p lying over a set of rational primes of positive Dirichlet density; it is satisfied for all but finitely many p under conditions listed in Theorem C.4.11.
 - (ii) When p > 5, which is necessary for (3), π is CAP or endoscopic if and only if $V_{\pi,p}$ is reducible.
 - (iii) For all but finitely many of the primes \mathfrak{p} satisfying the conditions in Theorem A, we are able to strengthen the result to the vanishing of the dual Selmer group $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}/T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}})$, where $T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \subset V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is a Galois-stable lattice; see Definition 9.3.7 and Corollary 9.3.9.

For instance, from Theorem A we can deduce the following:

Corollary B (Corollary 9.3.10). Suppose π is not CAP or endoscopic, and there exists a prime $\ell | N(\pi)$ such that π_{ℓ} is of type IIa in the notation of [95]. Then

$$L(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2) \neq 0 \implies H_f^1(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}/T_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) = 0$$

for all but finitely many **p**.

In §9.4, we give applications of Theorem A to certain π arising by automorphic induction; this gives new results towards Bloch-Kato for Hilbert modular forms over real quadratic fields of non-parallel weight (2, 4) (including CM forms), and for twists of classical modular forms of weight 3 by certain Hecke characters of imaginary quadratic fields.

Our second main result concerns the rank one case of Bloch-Kato for $V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$. To state it, let V be a quadratic space of signature (3, 2), and suppose π admits a Jacquet-Langlands transfer Π to the inner form $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)$ of GSp_4 ; for instance, if V is split, then $\operatorname{GSpin}(V) = \operatorname{GSp}_4$ and we can take $\Pi = \pi$. Let $K \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_Q)$ be a neat compact open subgroup such that $\Pi_f^K \neq 0$, and let $\operatorname{Sh}_K(V)$ be the Shimura variety for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)$ at level K, which is a classical Siegel threefold when V is split. Let $\mathfrak{p}|p$ be a prime of E; then we have

(0.1)
$$H^{i}_{\text{ét}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, E_{\mathfrak{p}})[\Pi_{f}] = \begin{cases} \Pi^{K}_{f} \otimes V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}(-2), & i = 3, \\ 0, & i \neq 3. \end{cases}$$

In particular, if $CH^2(Sh_K(V))_{\mathfrak{m}_{\pi_f}}$ denotes the Chow group of codimension-two algebraic cycles, localized at the maximal ideal of an appropriate Hecke algebra corresponding to the eigenvalues of π , we have an Abel-Jacobi map

(0.2)
$$\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\Pi_f} : \mathrm{CH}^2(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V))_{\mathfrak{m}_{\pi_f}} \to H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, E_{\mathfrak{p}}(2))[\Pi_f])$$
$$= H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) \otimes \Pi_f^K.$$

We consider the codimension-two Kudla cycles

(0.3)
$$Z(T,\varphi) \in \operatorname{CH}^2(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V)),$$

which are indexed by the data of a 2×2 symmetric, positive-semidefinite matrix T and a test function $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, \mathbb{Z})$. When T is nondegenerate, $Z(T, \varphi)$ is a linear combination of Shimura curves over \mathbb{Q} , embedded into $\mathrm{Sh}_K(V)$ by $\mathrm{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -translates of group maps of the form

$$\operatorname{GSpin}(1,2) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GSpin}(3,2);$$

conversely, any such embedded Shimura curve can be written as a Kudla cycle for some T and φ .

Theorem C (Theorem 12.3.1). Suppose π is not CAP or endoscopic, and its base change to $GL_4(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ does not arise by automorphic induction from an imaginary quadratic or quartic CM field. Let $\mathfrak{p}|p$ be a prime of E satisfying (1)-(3) from Theorem A. Then for any Kudla cycle $Z(T, \varphi) \in CH^2(Sh_K(V))$,

$$\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\Pi_f}(Z(T,\varphi)) \neq 0 \implies \dim_{E_p} H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi,p}) = 1.$$

We now explain the relation of the Bloch-Kato Conjecture to Theorem C, in which *L*-values do not directly appear. According to the resolution by Bruinier and Westerholt-Raum of Kudla's modularity conjecture [15], the formal *q*-series

(0.4)
$$\Theta_{\varphi} \coloneqq \sum_{T \in \operatorname{Sym}_{2}(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}} Z(T, \varphi) q^{T}$$

lies in $\operatorname{CH}^2(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} M_{5/2,2}$, where $M_{5/2,2}$ is the space of holomorphic Siegel modular forms of degree 2 and weight 5/2. Let $f \in M_{5/2,2}$ generate the automorphic representation of the metaplectic group $\operatorname{Mp}_4(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ corresponding to Π under the generalized Shimura-Waldspurger correspondence of Gan-Li [33]; then the Petersson inner product $\Theta_{\varphi}(f) \coloneqq \langle \Theta_{\varphi}, f \rangle$ lies in $\operatorname{CH}^2(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V))_{\mathbb{C}}$. The still-conjectural¹ arithmetic Rallis inner product formula proposes that, up to some local factors depending on φ and f, the derivative $L'(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2)$ is related to the height of the cycle $\Theta_{\varphi}(f)$ (suitably interpreted). Assuming Beilinson's conjecture on the injectivity of the *p*-adic Abel-Jacobi map, Theorem C could then be reformulated as

$$L'(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2) \neq 0 \implies \dim_{E_{\mathfrak{p}}} H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) = 1,$$

which is consistent with the Bloch-Kato conjecture.

¹But see the important progress towards this result by Li-Zhang [63], and the unitary case proved by Li-Liu [61, 62].

0.2. **Overview of the proofs.** Before giving more detailed sketches below, we briefly indicate the methods of proof of Theorems A and C. Pursuing a strategy initiated by Bertolini and Darmon for elliptic curves [7] – and later extended to many new contexts by other authors [24, 26, 66, 67, 68, 69, 120] – we bound the Selmer group by constructing ramified Galois cohomology classes through level-raising congruences and special cycles on Shimura varieties for ramified GSpin₅ groups. Proving the classes we construct are ramified is the most delicate part: by a calculation on the special fiber, the ramification is essentially measured by linear combinations of compact GSpin₃ – GSpin₅ periods for a Jacquet-Langlands transfer of π .² To access the underlying representation theory of these periods and relate them to *L*-values, we interpret them as the Fourier coefficients of certain theta lifts in $M_{5/2,2}$.

0.3. Sketch of the proof in the rank zero case. Let us explain the main ideas involved in the proof of Theorem A. Fix a $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -stable lattice $T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \subset V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$, and let $T_{\pi,n} := T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}/\mathfrak{p}^n T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ for $n \ge 1$. The mechanism for bounding the Selmer group is a collection of auxiliary Galois cohomology classes

$$\kappa_n(q) \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n}),$$

indexed by primes q satisfying appropriate level-raising congruence conditions modulo p^n , and having the following two properties:

- (1) The restriction $\operatorname{Res}_{\ell} \kappa_n(q)$ is unramified for all $\ell \nmid N(\pi)q$, and crystalline for $\ell = p$.
- (2) Under the assumption $L(\pi, \text{spin}, 1/2) \neq 0$, $\text{Res}_q \kappa_n(q)$ is ramified (if n is sufficiently large).

Given such a system of classes, a standard argument using Poitou-Tate duality shows that $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}})$ vanishes.

As indicated in §0.2, we obtain the classes $\kappa_n(q)$ by level-raising congruences from special cycles on Shimura varieties for ramified GSpin₅ groups. More precisely, fix the prime $\ell | N(\pi)$ such that π_ℓ has a local Jacquet-Langlands transfer (we will see later that this is crucial for the argument). Let $V_{q\ell}$ be the unique fivedimensional quadratic space of signature (3, 2) and trivial discriminant that ramifies precisely at q and ℓ ; one exists by the local-global classification of quadratic forms. On the corresponding GSpin Shimura variety $Sh(V_{q\ell})$ we have the codimension-two Kudla cycles $Z(T, \varphi) \in CH^2(Sh(V_{q\ell}))$ as in §0.1. (For simplicity, we suppress the choice of level structure.) After localizing at the maximal ideal m of the Hecke algebra corresponding to $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$, the main result of [42] implies that $H^4(Sh(V_{q\ell}), O_\mathfrak{p})_\mathfrak{m} = 0$, where $O \subset E$ is the ring of integers – this is the most crucial way that the condition (2) of Theorem A enters the argument. In particular, one has an Abel-Jacobi map

$$\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} : \mathrm{CH}^2(\mathrm{Sh}(V_{q\ell}))_{\mathfrak{m}} \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}(V_{q\ell}), O_{\mathfrak{p}}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}).$$

However, it is no longer true that $V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ appears in the étale cohomology $H^3_{\text{ét}}(\operatorname{Sh}(V_{q\ell})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, E_{\mathfrak{p}})$, because, as π_q is unramified, π does not have a Jacquet-Langlands transfer to $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{q\ell})$.

Instead, we construct *level-raising maps* (see below)

$$\alpha_n: H^3_{\text{\'et}}(\mathrm{Sh}(V_{q\ell}), O_{\mathfrak{p}}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \to T_{\pi, n}.$$

Then we obtain a family of Galois cohomology classes

$$\kappa_n(q, T, \varphi, \alpha_n) \coloneqq \alpha_n \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ}, \mathfrak{m}}(Z(T, \varphi)) \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi, n}),$$

for varying T and $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V_{q\ell}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, \mathbb{Z})$. Any $\kappa_n(q, T, \varphi, \alpha_n)$ will satisfy the property (1) above, as long as the level structure for $Sh(V_{q\ell})$ is chosen to be hyperspecial outside $N(\pi)q$. The proof of (2) is far more subtle, as we explain below, and we are only able to show that *some* $\kappa_n(q, T, \varphi, \alpha_n)$ is ramified at q; in particular, the choice of T cannot be made explicit. Once we have any ramified class, however, we can use it as the class called $\kappa_n(q)$ above.

²Or a congruent automorphic form to π , in the case of Theorem C.

0.3.1. Ramification and the relation to L-values. Let V_{ℓ} be the unique five-dimensional, positive-definite quadratic space of trivial discriminant that ramifies only at ℓ . By the assumption that π_{ℓ} has a local Jacquet-Langlands transfer, one can find a function

$$(0.5) \qquad \qquad \beta_{\pi} : \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{\ell})(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{\ell})(\mathbb{A}_{f})/K \to C$$

with the same spherical Hecke eigenvalues as π , where K is a sufficiently small compact open subgroup, with K_q hyperspecial. We abbreviate this double coset space as $Sh(V_\ell)$. Because π has trivial central character, β_{π} descends to an automorphic form on $SO(V_\ell)$; in particular, for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V_\ell^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, \mathbb{Z})$, one can consider the classical theta lift

$$\Theta_{\varphi}(\beta_{\pi}) \in M_{5/2,2} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} O$$

The classical Rallis inner product formula computes the Petersson norm of $\Theta_{\omega}(\beta_{\pi})$:

(0.6)
$$\langle \Theta_{\varphi}(\beta_{\pi}), \Theta_{\varphi}(\beta_{\pi}) \rangle \doteq \langle \beta_{\pi}, \beta_{\pi} \rangle \cdot L(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2)$$

up to local factors depending on φ and β_{π} .

On the other hand, the Fourier coefficients of $\Theta_{\varphi}(\beta_{\pi})$ can be computed as GSpin_3 -periods of β_{π} . In fact, for $T \in \operatorname{Sym}_2(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V_{\ell}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, \mathbb{Z})$, one can define $Z(T, \varphi) \in \mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Sh}(V_{\ell})]$ analogously to Kudla's cycles in (0.3), arising from group embeddings $\operatorname{GSpin}_3 \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{\ell})$. Then we have:

$$\Theta_{\varphi}(\beta_{\pi}) = \sum_{T \in \operatorname{Sym}_{2}(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}} \beta_{\pi}(Z(T,\varphi))q^{T}.$$

In particular,

(0.7)
$$L(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2) \neq 0 \iff \exists T, \varphi \text{ s.t. } \beta_{\pi}(Z(T, \varphi)) \neq 0.$$

The connection to Galois cohomology classes comes from the following (idealized) identity, for a certain choice of α_n :

(0.8)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{q} \kappa_{n}(q, T, \varphi^{q} \otimes \varphi_{q}^{\operatorname{ram}}, \alpha_{n}) = \beta_{\pi}(Z(T, \varphi^{q} \otimes \varphi_{q}^{\operatorname{unr}})) \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^{n}}.$$

Here $\varphi^q \in \mathcal{S}(V_{q\ell}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f^q, \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \mathcal{S}(V_{\ell}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f^q, \mathbb{Z})$ is any test function, $\varphi_q^{\operatorname{ram}} \in \mathcal{S}(V_{q\ell}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \mathbb{Z})$ is designed so that $Z(T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\operatorname{ram}}) \in \operatorname{CH}^2(\operatorname{Sh}(V_{q\ell}))$ will have a reasonable integral model over $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ – in fact, $Z(T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\operatorname{ram}})$ is a linear combination of quaternionic Shimura curves ramified at q, with the usual maximal compact level structure – and $\varphi_q^{\operatorname{unr}} \in \mathcal{S}(V_{\ell}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \mathbb{Z})$ is an explicit test function whose origin is described in the next paragraph. Finally, to make sense of the identity (0.8), we use that $H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, T_{\pi,n})^{\operatorname{Frob}_q=1}$ is free of rank one over O/\mathfrak{p}^n , by the congruence conditions imposed on q; so we are viewing both sides as elements of O/\mathfrak{p}^n .

The main tool for proving (0.8) is an analysis of the weight spectral sequence for a semistable integral model of $\operatorname{Sh}(V_{q\ell})$ over $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$; this is obtained by blowup from the canonical PEL model, which has ordinary quadratic singularities. The double coset space $\operatorname{Sh}(V_{\ell})$ enters the picture as the indexing set for the irreducible components of the (two-dimensional) supersingular locus of the special fiber of $\operatorname{Sh}(V_{q\ell})$, and indeed $\varphi_q^{\operatorname{unr}}$ arises from considering the intersections of the special fiber of $Z(T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\operatorname{ram}})$ with various strata in the supersingular locus. (Of course, for this discussion to be accurate, the level structures for $\operatorname{Sh}(V_{q\ell})$ and $\operatorname{Sh}(V_{\ell})$ are chosen to be compatible away from q.)

However, even once we have proved (0.8), one major obstacle remains to proving that at least one of the classes $\operatorname{Res}_q \kappa_n(q, T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\operatorname{ram}}, \alpha_n)$ is ramified. From (0.7), one can deduce that there exists φ^q and T such that $\beta_{\pi}(Z(T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\operatorname{sph}})) \neq 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^n}$ for sufficiently large n, where $\varphi_q^{\operatorname{sph}}$ is the indicator function of a self-dual lattice. Unfortunately, although $\varphi_q^{\operatorname{unr}}$ is invariant by a hyperspecial subgroup K_q of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_\ell)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$, it is not equal to $\varphi_q^{\operatorname{sph}}$. To get around this, we give a criterion on K_q -invariant functions $\varphi_q \in \mathcal{S}(V_\ell^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \mathbb{Z})$ under which we can prove:

$$(0.9) \qquad \beta_{\pi}(Z(T,\varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\mathrm{sph}})) \neq 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^n} \implies \exists T' \text{ s.t. } \beta_{\pi}(Z(T',\varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q)) \neq 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}^n}.$$

NAOMI SWEETING

The function φ_q^{unr} satisfies the criterion, so indeed we can use (0.7), (0.8), and (0.9) to obtain the local ramification of some class $\text{Res}_q \kappa_n(q, T', \varphi, \alpha_n)$. The lack of control over T' (in particular its possible dependence on q) is the reason that we must consider the full family of classes $\kappa_n(q, T, \varphi, \alpha_n)$.

The proof of (0.9) uses that the theta lift map

$$\Theta_{-}(\beta_{\pi}): \mathcal{S}(V_{\ell}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, \mathbb{Z}) \to M_{5/2,2} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} O$$

factors as a product of local maps, defined purely in terms of the local Weil representation. Thus (0.9) can be reduced to a local question about the mod-*p* Weil representation of $Mp_4(\mathbb{Q}_q) \times SO(V_\ell)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ on $\mathcal{S}(V_\ell, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$.

0.3.2. Level-raising. In the discussion above, we asserted the existence of a level raising map

(0.10)
$$\alpha_n : H^3_{\text{\'et}}(\operatorname{Sh}(V_{q\ell}), O_{\mathfrak{p}}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \to T_{\pi, m}$$

such that the classes $\kappa_n(q, T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\text{ram}}, \alpha_n)$ satisfy the identity (0.8). We now explain the construction of α_n in more detail. The weight spectral sequence for $\text{Sh}(V_{q\ell})$ gives rise to a diagram of the following form:

where T_q^{lr} is a certain spherical Hecke operator measuring the level-raising congruence at the prime q; M_{-1} refers to the monodromy filtration; and the equality in the bottom row uses the level-raising condition on q. Any level-raising map as in (0.10) induces a map $\alpha_{n,*}$ as in (0.11), not necessarily making the diagram commute.

Using an idea of Scholze [98] on "typic-ness" of Galois modules, we show that the data of a Heckeequivariant $\alpha_{n,*}$ is actually *equivalent* to the data of α_n . Moreover, the identity (0.8) is more or less equivalent to the commutativity of the diagram (0.11). So our task is to find the Hecke-equivariant dashed arrow in (0.11) lifting $\beta_{\pi} \circ \xi$.

One approach to finding the lift in (0.11) would be Taylor-Wiles patching, in the spirit of [65]. This would show that $H^3_{\text{ét}}(\operatorname{Sh}(V_{q\ell})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O)_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is free as a Hecke module, and as a byproduct that the top arrow in (0.11) is an isomorphism. However, the drawback of the patching argument is that it requires some strong "residual ramification" conditions on $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}}$, for primes $\ell|N(\pi)$; in general, one expects that the Hecke-module structure of $H^3_{\text{ét}}(\operatorname{Sh}(V_{q\ell})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O)_{\mathfrak{m}}$ may be more complicated.

Instead of taking this route, our method still uses Galois deformation theory, but now only to obtain a rather coarse quantitative control on the possible congruences between $\beta_{\pi} \circ \xi$ and other Hecke eigensystems in $H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\text{ét}}(\operatorname{Sh}(V_{q\ell})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O_{\mathfrak{p}}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}})$. Indeed, if there were no congruences at all, then (0.11) would just be a diagram of O/\mathfrak{p}^n -modules, and the lift $\alpha_{n,*}$ would exist for trivial reasons. In general, we are able to lift $\beta_{\pi} \circ \xi$ only after multiplying by a generator of \mathfrak{p}^C , where *C* is essentially the length of a certain adjoint Selmer group for $T_{\pi,n}$. We can control *C* using a theorem of Newton and Thorne [83, 110] that $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}) = 0$; since *C* is independent of *n* and *q* (and actually 0 for cofinitely many \mathfrak{p}) its appearance causes no harm in the argument.³

(

³We remark that the theorem of Newton and Thorne still uses Taylor-Wiles patching, but in a more flexible context.

0.4. Sketch of the proof in the rank one case. Let V be the quadratic space from §0.1. For an auxiliary prime q_1 satisfying a level-raising congruence condition, we consider the "nearby" quadratic space V_{q_1} , which has trivial discriminant and signature (5,0), and is ramified precisely at q_1 and the primes of ramification for V.

The key point to prove Theorem C is to produce a Hecke-equivariant map of the form

(0.12)
$$\beta_{q_1} : \operatorname{Sh}(V_{q_1}) \to O/\mathfrak{p}^n \text{ s.t. } \exists T, \varphi \text{ with } \beta_{q_1}(Z(T,\varphi)) \neq 0$$

where φ lies in $S(V_{q_1}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, \mathbb{Z})$, $Sh(V_{q_1})$ is a finite double coset space like the one in (0.5), the Hecke module structure on O/\mathfrak{p}^n is given by π , and again the choice of level structure is suppressed for simplicity. Once we have β_{q_1} , a similar argument to the proof of Theorem A allows us to produce a Galois cohomology class $\kappa_n(q_1q_2) \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n})$ which is ramified at q_2 , crystalline at p, and unramified at ℓ for $\ell \nmid N(\pi)q_1q_2$. This class is then used as the input to the duality argument to bound $H_f^1(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}})$.

Let $Z(T, \varphi) \in CH^2(Sh(V))$ be the class from Theorem C with $\partial_{AJ,\Pi_f}(Z(T, \varphi)) \neq 0$. The idea to find β_{q_1} is to study the special fiber of Sh(V) at q_1 , a prime of good reduction. The supersingular locus is purely one-dimensional, indexed by a Shimura set $Sh(V_{q_1})$. We have the Abel-Jacobi map on the special fiber:

(0.13)
$$\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} : \mathrm{CH}^2(\mathrm{Sh}(V)_{\mathbb{F}_{q_1}}) \to H^1(\mathbb{F}_{q_1}, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O_{\mathfrak{p}}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}).$$

Restricting (0.13) to supersingular cycles gives a map

(0.14)
$$\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m},ss} : \mathbb{Z}[\mathrm{Sh}(V_{q_1})] \to H^1(\mathbb{F}_{q_1}, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O_{\mathfrak{p}}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}).$$

Composing with a map $H^3_{\text{ét}}(\operatorname{Sh}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O_{\mathfrak{p}}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \to T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$, cf. (0.1), and noting that $H^1(\mathbb{F}_{q_1}, T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}})$ is free of rank one over O/\mathfrak{p}^n when q_1 satisfies the level-raising congruence condition modulo \mathfrak{p}^n , we obtain our β_{q_1} .

Using the Chebotarev density theorem and the local-global compatibility of the Abel-Jacobi map, one can ensure $\partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(Z(T,\varphi)_{\mathbb{F}_{q_1}})$ is nonzero for a good choice of q_1 . Now, if the special fiber $Z(T,\varphi)_{\mathbb{F}_{q_1}}$ were purely supersingular, then we could identify this local Abel-Jacobi class with the image of a special cycle in $\mathbb{Z}[Sh(V_{q_1})]$ under β_{q_1} , and obtain the nonvanishing (0.12). (This is the strategy of [7], where the role of $Z(T,\varphi)$ is played by a Heegner point.) Unfortunately, such is not the case for general $Z(T,\varphi)$.⁴

Instead, we use an auxiliary GSpin_4 Shimura variety S such that $Z(T, \varphi) \subset S \subset \operatorname{Sh}(V)$. On the special fiber of S, the supersingular locus is one-dimensional, and – by [111] – any one-cycle is cohomologically equivalent to a linear combination of supersingular cycles, at least after the application of a certain GSpin_4 -Hecke operator T_{q_1} . We leverage this to rewrite $\partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(T_{q_1} \cdot Z(T,\varphi)_{\mathbb{F}_{q_1}})$ as the image of some $Z(T,\varphi')$ under $\partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m},ss}$, with $\varphi' \in \mathcal{S}(V_{q_1}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, \mathbb{Z})$.

Now it remains to choose q_1 so that $\partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(T_{q_1} \cdot Z(T, \varphi)_{\mathbb{F}_{q_1}})$ is nontrivial. For this choice to be possible, we need some non-entanglement between $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ and the Galois representations appearing in the cohomology of S, which are closely related to Hilbert modular forms. In particular, the support of $Z(T, \varphi)$ in the cohomology of S needs to avoid some problematic Hecke eigensystems associated to CM forms. To ensure this, we use a version of the modifying-the-test-function trick from (0.9), this time at (non-level-raising) auxiliary primes $\ell \neq q_1, q_2$. Since the trick uses representation theory, it relies on the modularity conjecture recalled after the statement of Theorem C. (The subtleties that appear in this part of the argument prevent us from bounding the dual Selmer group $H_f^1(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}/T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}})$ in the context of Theorem C, in contrast to the rank zero case.)

One final difficulty that arises in the proof of Theorem C is the application of the level-raising arguments in §0.3.2 to β_{q_1} . Since β_{q_1} does not lift to a characteristic-zero Hecke eigenfunction in general, we cannot directly apply the theorem of Newton and Thorne to produce the lift in the diagram (0.11). Instead, we use the relative deformation theory developed by Fakhruddin, Khare, and Patrikis, along with a certain control of level-raised adjoint Selmer groups, to show that either β_{q_1} lifts to an eigenfunction, or the Hecke eigensystem of π is congruent modulo \mathfrak{p}^n to that of an automorphic representation π' ramified at q_1 and q_2 ; in either case, we leverage the congruence to solve the lifting problem in (0.11). It is at this step that the extra hypothesis in

⁴One could imagine modifying φ_q to ensure a purely supersingular special fiber, and applying a version of (0.9) to ensure that $Z(T, \varphi)$ remains nontrivial under this change of test function. Somewhat to our surprise, this strategy fails: any appropriate choice of φ_q fails the criterion under which we prove (0.9).

Theorem C (that π does not arise from certain automorphic inductions) enters the argument; if the image of the Galois representation $\rho_{\pi,p}$ is too small, then we are unable to control the adjoint Selmer groups needed to apply Fakhruddin, Khare, and Patrikis' method.

0.5. Comparison to other work. When π_p is Borel-ordinary with respect to \mathfrak{p} , and under a slightly different large-image condition, Theorem A can be deduced from the main result of [71], which also covers more general weights. However, the existence of ordinary primes is still an open problem for general automorphic representations of GSp₄, so the ordinarity hypothesis is potentially a serious one.

As indicated in §0.2, this article fits into an extensive literature of bounding Selmer groups using levelraising congruences (the method of "bipartite Euler systems"). Compared to these works, one of the main underlying difficulties to prove Theorem A is the non-factorizability of $\operatorname{GSpin}_3 - \operatorname{GSpin}_5$ period integrals, which is ultimately responsible for the appearance of the exotic test function φ_q^{unrr} (rather than the indictor function of a self-dual lattice or a translate of such by the spherical Hecke algebra) in the identity (0.8). Another way to formulate this obstruction is in terms of spherical functions and Hironaka's conjecture [45, 128]. To our knowledge, the only prior work on bipartite Euler systems facing this challenge was the recently appeared PhD thesis of Corato Zanarella [27]. Interestingly, rather than our change-of-test-functions technique, the issue in *op. cit.* is resolved using derived algebraic geometry; in our context, the analogous idea would be to work with $Z(T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\operatorname{ram}})$ for more general $\varphi_q^{\operatorname{ram}}$, even in the absence of a good integral model. Another novel aspect in the present work is in finding the β_{q_1} in (0.12). To our knowledge, the idea of

Another novel aspect in the present work is in finding the β_{q_1} in (0.12). To our knowledge, the idea of using intersection theory on the special fiber of an auxiliary Shimura variety S, in which the supersingular locus and the special cycle are of complementary dimension, is a new one.

Finally, we warn the reader that the "first and second reciprocity laws" (corresponding to finding $\kappa_n(q)$ and β_{q_1} , respectively, in the discussions above) in the table of contents are named only by analogy to [7]. In both cases, the full reciprocity law would constitute an equality, where we only prove an inequality, and that only up to a bounded error. The exact statements are Theorems 8.5.1 and 11.2.6.

0.6. Comments on the endoscopic case. An automorphic representation π as in the beginning of §0.1 is called *endoscopic* associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of cuspidal automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ – necessarily arising from classical modular forms of weights 2 and 4, respectively, and trivial nebentypus characters – if the associated Galois representations satisfy

$$(0.15) \qquad \qquad \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} = \rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}} \boxplus \rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}$$

for one, or equivalently all, primes \mathfrak{p} of E. Here we normalize $\rho_{\pi_i,\mathfrak{p}} : G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \operatorname{GL}_2(E_{\mathfrak{p}})$ to have cyclotomic determinant; also let $V_{\pi_i,\mathfrak{p}}$ be the underlying Galois module. The set of π satisfying (0.15) is by definition the endoscopic L-packet $\Pi(\pi_1, \pi_2)$. If V is a quadratic space of signature (3, 2) and $\Pi = \Pi_f \otimes \Pi_\infty$ is an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ nearly equivalent to the members of $\Pi(\pi_1, \pi_2)$, then we have

(0.16)
$$H^{i}_{\text{ét}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, E_{\mathfrak{p}})[\Pi_{f}] = \begin{cases} \Pi^{K}_{f} \otimes V_{\pi_{1}, \mathfrak{p}}(-2), & i = 3, \ \Pi_{\infty} \text{ generic}, \\ \Pi^{K}_{f} \otimes V_{\pi_{2}, \mathfrak{p}}(-2), & i = 3, \ \Pi_{\infty} \text{ holomorphic}, \\ 0 & i \neq 3. \end{cases}$$

Note here that Π_{∞} is uniquely determined by Π_f via the Arthur multiplicity formula, which is known in this case [21]. In particular, we still have a well-defined map

(0.17)
$$\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\Pi_f} : \mathrm{CH}^2(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V)) \to \Pi_f^K \otimes \left(H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_1, \mathfrak{p}} \oplus V_{\pi_2, \mathfrak{p}}) \right).$$

The analogue of Theorem C is now:

Proposition D (Theorem 12.3.2). Suppose π_1 and π_2 are non-CM, and $\mathfrak{p}|p$ is a prime of E such that:

- (1) $\pi_{1,p}$ and $\pi_{2,p}$ are unramified.
- (2) The residual representations $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}$ and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}$ are both absolutely irreducible, and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}} \oplus \overline{\rho}_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}$ is generic (Definition 2.7.3).

(3) For both i = 1, 2, there exists a prime $q \nmid N(\pi)$ such that $q^4 \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p}$, $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_i, \mathfrak{p}}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ has eigenvalues $\{1, q\}$, and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_{3-i}, \mathfrak{p}}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ has eigenvalues $\{\alpha, q/\alpha\}$ with $\alpha \notin \{\pm 1, \pm q, q^2, q^{-1}\}$.

Suppose as well that

(*)

$$H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_1, \mathfrak{p}} \otimes V_{\pi_2, \mathfrak{p}}(-1)) = 0.$$

Then for any Kudla cycle $Z(T, \varphi) \in CH^2(Sh_K(V))$,

 $\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\Pi_f}(Z(T,\varphi)) \neq 0 \implies \dim_{E_p} H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_1, \mathfrak{p}}) + \dim_{E_p} H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_2, \mathfrak{p}}) = 1.$

Remarks. (i) The conditions (1)-(3) hold for cofinitely many p (Lemma 4.1.5 and Proposition C.4.12).

- (ii) The condition (*) is always expected to hold, by a classical result of Shahidi on nonvanishing of Rankin-Selberg *L*-values [100]. Unfortunately, we remark that (*) does *not* follow from the main result of [60], which applies only to Rankin-Selberg convolutions of modular forms with different central characters. The role of (*) in the proof is to control congruences to non-endoscopic automorphic representations of GSpin₅ groups.
- (iii) Consider the case when V is split, so that $\operatorname{Sh}_K(V)$ is a classical Siegel threefold, and π_1 is associated to an elliptic curve E over Q. In particular, the Abel-Jacobi map (0.17) gives a way to construct classes in $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_pE)$ from special cycles on Siegel threefolds. Weissauer asked in [124] how such classes related to the classical theory of Heegner points, a question to which Proposition D provides a partial answer: like the Selmer classes coming from Heegner points, these Abel-Jacobi classes can be nonzero only if E has rank one (at least modulo the assumption on Rankin-Selberg convolutions).
- (iv) In the text, we prove a stronger version of Proposition D that includes some CM cases.

Similarly, the methods used to Prove Theorem A can also be used for endoscopic representations under the condition (*). This case is included in Theorem 9.2.4 for completeness, but note that the result gives nothing new beyond Kato's work [48].

0.7. **Organization of the paper.** In §1, we lay out the notational conventions for the article and cover preliminary materials on involutions, Clifford algebras, and Selmer groups. In §2, we collect the necessary background results related to automorphic representations, Galois representations, and Shimura varieties. The most important role of this section is to make some of the results of [96] (on global Jacquet-Langlands transfers for inner forms of GSp₄) unconditional on Conjecture 7.5 of *op. cit.* In §3, we define Kudla's cycles $Z(T, \varphi)$ and their analogues on compact GSpin groups, and explain their relation to classical theta lifts. In §4, we define the Galois cohomology classes and special periods used in the Euler system arguments. In §5, we use the mod-*p* theory of the Weil representation to prove the change-of-test-functions criterion explained above in (0.9); this is one of the most crucial (and technical) parts of the argument.

In §6, we turn to geometry, studying a ramified Rapoport-Zink space for $GSpin_5$. This section is based on [118], although we need more details on intersection theory for our applications to special cycles. In §7, these results are applied to study the special fiber of the ramified $GSpin_5$ Shimura variety, and compute the local part of the Abel-Jacobi image of special cycles. (Some of the results in this section are generalizations of those in [119].) In §8, we perform the level-raising and complete the program described in §0.3 above. In §9, we prove the main results in the rank zero case. In §10, we study special cycles on the special fibers of $GSpin_4$ and $GSpin_5$ Shimura varieties with good reduction. In §11 and §12, we prove our main result in the rank one case.

The paper contains three appendices: in the short Appendix A, we explain the relation of the cohomology of $GSpin_4$ Shimura varieties to Hilbert modular forms, which is well-known but for which we were unable to find a suitable reference. In Appendix B, we develop a general framework for deformation-theoretic characteristic-zero level raising of *G*-valued Galois representations, using ideas from [29]. These results are most important for the proof of the rank one case. In Appendix C, we prove some large-image results for the *p*-adic Galois representations that appear in the article, which are necessary for various Chebotarev arguments.

0.8. Acknowledgements. I wish to thank my PhD advisor, Mark Kisin, for his encouragement and advice while I worked on this project. I am also grateful to Chris Skinner, Wei Zhang, Alice Lin, Salim Tayou, and especially Murilo Corato Zanarella for helpful conversations. Thank you to Karen Schlain for help with typesetting. This work was supported by NSF grants DGE-1745303 and DMS-2401823.

1. Preliminaries

1.1. Notation.

1.1.1. *Number fields and Galois groups*. Let $L \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ be a number field.

- We denote by O_L the ring of integers. If $\mathfrak{p} \subset O_L$ is a prime, then we write $O_\mathfrak{p}$ and $L_\mathfrak{p}$ for the respective completions, and $\varpi_\mathfrak{p}$ for a uniformizer of $O_\mathfrak{p}$.
- Let $G_L := \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/L)$ be the absolute Galois group. If S is a finite set of places of L, we denote by L^S the maximal unramified-outside-S extension of L, and set $G_{L,S} := \operatorname{Gal}(L^S/L) \subset G_L$. If \mathfrak{p} is a prime of L, we also write $G_{L\mathfrak{p}}$ for the absolute Galois group of $L\mathfrak{p}$, with inertia subgroup $I_{L\mathfrak{p}} \subset G_{L\mathfrak{p}}$.
- For any p, χ_{p,cyc}: G_L → Z[×]_p denotes the p-adic cyclotomic character. We normalize the definition of Hodge-Tate weights so that χ_{p,cyc}|<sub>G_{Q_p} has weight one.
 </sub>

1.1.2. Adèle groups and class field theory.

• For a number field K, let \mathbb{A}_K be the adèle ring; when $K = \mathbb{Q}$ we typically write $\mathbb{A} = \mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}$. For a finite set S of places of \mathbb{Q} , we write

$$\mathbb{A}_S = \prod_{v \in S} \mathbb{Q}_v, \quad \mathbb{A}^S = \prod_{v \notin S}' \mathbb{Q}_v, \quad \mathbb{A}_f^S = \prod_{v \notin S \cup \{\infty\}}' \mathbb{Q}_v.$$

- If $\pi = \bigotimes_{v}' \pi_{v}$ is an irreducible admissible representation of $G(\mathbb{A})$ for some \mathbb{Q} -group G, then for a squarefree integer D, π_{f}^{D} denotes $\bigotimes_{\ell \nmid D}' \pi_{\ell}$, and π_{D} denotes $\bigotimes_{\ell \mid D}' \pi_{\ell}$. The similar notations π_{f}^{S} , π_{S} hold for finite sets of primes S.
- For any prime p, let $\langle p \rangle \in \mathbb{A}_f^{\times}$ be the image of p under the natural inclusion $\mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{A}_f^{\times}$.
- We always normalize the reciprocity maps of class field theory to send uniformizers to geometric Frobenius.
- For any number field L and finite-order character $\chi : L^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{L}^{\times} \to k^{\times}$, with k a field, we write $\operatorname{rec}(\chi) : G_{L} \to k^{\times}$ for the pullback by the reciprocity map.

1.1.3. *Coefficient rings*. For coefficient rings, we will often use a discrete valuation ring O which is a finite flat extension of \mathbb{Z}_p , with uniformizer ϖ . In this context:

- We denote by CNL_O the category of complete local Noetherian O-algebras with residue field O/ϖ .
- For any torsion O-module M and any $m \in M$, $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}(m) \geq 0$ denotes the least integer such that $\varpi^{\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}(m)}m = 0$.

1.1.4. Symplectic groups.

- For any n, let $\Omega_n = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}_n & I_n \\ -I_n & \mathbf{0}_n \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{GL}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z})$, where $\mathbf{0}_n$ is the $n \times n$ matrix of zeros and I_n is the $n \times n$ identity matrix.
- Define the algebraic group GSp_{2n} over \mathbb{Z} by

$$\operatorname{GSp}_{2n}(R) = \left\{ (g, \lambda) \in \operatorname{GL}_{2n}(R) \times R^{\times} : g\Omega g^t = \lambda \Omega \right\}$$

for any ring R.

(1.1)

- We have the natural similitude character ν : GSp_{2n} → G_m, and the symplectic group Sp_{2n} ⊂ GSp_{2n} is the kernel of ν.
- For any prime p, we write $\langle p \rangle \in \mathrm{GSp}_{2n}(\mathbb{A}_f)$ for the scalar matrix corresponding to $\langle p \rangle \in \mathbb{A}_f^{\times}$.

- 1.1.5. GSpin groups. Let V be a quadratic space over a field F.
 - We denote the pairing $V \times V \to F$ by $(v, w) \mapsto v \cdot w$.
 - The Clifford algebra of V is the associative F-algebra C(V) generated by $v \in V$, subject to the relation

$$v^2 = (v \cdot v)1.$$

There is a natural $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ grading on C(V), with respect to which the plus part is denoted $C^+(V)$.

• We denote by * the natural involution on C(V), determined by $v^* = v$. Then $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)$ is the algebraic group over F defined by

$$\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(R) = \left\{ (g, \lambda) \in \left(C^+(V) \otimes R \right)^{\times} \times R^{\times} : gg^* = \lambda \right\}.$$

The natural similitude character is again denoted ν .

• If $F = \mathbb{Q}$, then for any prime p we again denote by $\langle p \rangle \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)$ the scalar element $p \in C^+(V)^{\times}$.

1.1.6. Quaternion algebras and quadratic spaces.

- For a squarefree integer $D \ge 1$, let B_D be the quaternion algebra over \mathbb{Q} which ramifies at the factors of D, and possibly at infinity. Let $*_D$ be the standard involution on B_D . We also denote by $*_D$ the involution on $M_n(B_D)$ given by the composite of $*_D$ and transposition.
- For all squarefree D, let

$$V_D \coloneqq M_2(B_D)^{*_D=1, \text{tr}=0},$$

which is a 5-dimensional quadratic space of trivial discriminant, whose Hasse invariant coincides with that of B_D . The signature of V_D is (5,0) or (3,2) when B_D is ramified or split at infinity, respectively.

- We note that $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$ is an inner form of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_1) \cong \operatorname{GSp}_4$.
- 1.1.7. Algebraic geometry.
 - For a closed subscheme X of a scheme Y, we denote by $\mathcal{N}_{X/Y}$ the normal sheaf.
 - If X is a scheme, $X_{red} \subset X$ denotes the maximal reduced subscheme.

1.1.8. Miscellaneous.

(1.2)

- For a squarefree integer $D \ge 1$, we denote by $\operatorname{div}(D)$ its set of prime factors, and let $\sigma(D) := \# \operatorname{div}(D)$.
- Suppose V is an F-vector space for a nonarchimedean local field F with ring of integers O_F. For two O_F-lattices Λ ⊂ Λ' of V, the notation Λ ⊂_n Λ' means that Λ'/Λ has O_F-length n.
- For any group G, we let $Z_G \subset G$ denote the center.
- For a prime p, let \mathbb{Z}_p be the Witt vectors of \mathbb{F}_p .

1.2. Central simple algebras and involutions.

1.2.1. Let M be a central simple algebra over a field F of characteristic zero. Throughout this paper an involution on M will be understood to mean an involution of the first kind, i.e. fixing F. Such involutions fall into two categories: main type or nebentype (also called symplectic and orthogonal type [51]). For example, the transpose involution on $M = M_2(F)$ is of nebentype; the standard involution on a quaternion algebra is of main type. For later use, we now recall some basic facts.

Proposition 1.2.2. Let $(M_1, *_1)$ and $(M_2, *_2)$ be two central simple algebras equipped with involutions. The induced involution $*_1 \otimes *_2$ on M is of nebentype if and only if $*_1$ and $*_2$ are of the same type.

Proof. This is [51, Proposition 2.23].

1.2.3. Suppose $F = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{Q} , and recall that an element $\mu \in M$ is called *totally positive* if it has strictly positive eigenvalues as an endomorphism of M.

Proposition 1.2.4. Let $M = M_n(\mathbb{R})$ or $M_n(\mathbb{H})$, and suppose M is equipped with a positive involution *, *i.e.* such that $tr(a^*a) > 0$ for all $0 \neq a \in M$. Then the positive involutions on M are those of the form

$$a \mapsto \mu a^* \mu^{-1}$$

where $\mu^* = \mu$ and either μ or $-\mu$ is totally positive. In particular, all positive involutions on M have the same type.

Proof. This is [115, Proposition 8.4.7 and Lemma 8.4.12].

1.2.5. The tensor product of two quaternion algebras is called a *biquaternion algebra* (BQA). Involutions of nebentype on rational BQAs are particularly simple:

Lemma 1.2.6. Let M be a BQA over \mathbb{Q} , and let $*_1, *_2$ be two involutions of M of main type. If either $M \otimes \mathbb{R}$ is split, or $*_1, *_2$ are both positive, then there exists an element $g \in M^{\times}$ such that

$$\operatorname{Int}(g) \circ *_1 = *_2 \circ \operatorname{Int}(g).$$

In particular, conjugation by g defines an isomorphism $(M, *_1) \simeq (M, *_2)$.

Here, Int(g) is the automorphism $a \mapsto gag^{-1}$ of M.

Proof. By the Skolem-Noether theorem, there exists $h \in M^{\times}$ such that $Int(h) \circ *_1 = *_2$. The condition on g in the lemma is equivalent to $h = \lambda g^{*_1}g$, for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times}$. By [51, Theorem 16.19], there exists such a g if and only if the Pfaffian norm of h (with respect to $*_1$) belongs to $(\mathbb{Q}^{\times})^2 \operatorname{Nrd}(M^{\times})$. If $M \otimes \mathbb{R}$ is split, then $\operatorname{Nrd}(M^{\times}) = \mathbb{Q}^{\times}$, so we are done. If $M \otimes \mathbb{R}$ is not split, then $\operatorname{Nrd}(M^{\times}) = \mathbb{Q}^{\times}_{>0}$, and it suffices to show that the equation $h = \lambda g^{*_1}g$ has a solution over \mathbb{R} . Assuming without loss of generality that $*_1$ is the standard involution on $M \otimes \mathbb{R} \simeq M_2(\mathbb{H})$, this can be checked directly using Proposition 1.2.4.

1.2.7. Let F be a nonarchimedean local field with ring of integers O_F , and let B be the unique nonsplit quaternion algebra over O_F . We denote by O_B the unique maximal O_F -order in B, with uniformizer $\pi \in O_B$ and natural valuation ord_{π} .

Proposition 1.2.8. Suppose $g \in GL_n(B)$ satisfies

$$gM_n(O_B)g^{-1} = M_n(O_B).$$

Then, up to rescaling by an element of F^{\times} , we have either $g \in GL_n(O_B)$ or $g \in \pi GL_n(O_B)$.

Proof. Suppose g is given by the matrix (g_{ij}) and g^{-1} is given by the matrix (h_{kl}) . Let α_{jk} be the matrix with a 1 in the jk position and 0s elsewhere; since $g\alpha_{jk}g^{-1} \in M_n(O_B)$, we see that

(1.3)
$$g_{ij}h_{kl} \in O_B$$
, for all i, j, k, l .

Without loss of generality, by rescaling g, we may assume $g_{ij} \in O_B$ for all i, j but $\operatorname{ord}_{\pi}(g_{ij}) \leq 1$ for some i, j. If $h_{ij} \in O_B$ for all i, j, then $g \in \operatorname{GL}_n(O_B)$, so suppose without loss of generality that $\operatorname{ord}_{\pi}(h_{kl}) < 0$ for some k, l. It follows from (1.3) that $\operatorname{ord}_{\pi}(g_{ij}) \geq 1$ for all i, j, with equality holding for some i, j, and $\operatorname{ord}_{\pi}(h_{kl}) \geq -1$ for all k, l; in particular, $g \in \pi \operatorname{GL}_n(O_B)$.

Motivated by Proposition 1.2.8, we make the following definition.

Definition 1.2.9. An involution * of $M_n(B)$ stabilizing $M_n(O_B)$ is called of *unit type* if it is of the form $\alpha^* = g\overline{\alpha}^t g^{-1}$ for some $g \in \operatorname{GL}_n(O_B)$, and of *non-unit type* if it is of the form $\alpha^* = g\overline{\alpha}^t g^{-1}$ for some $g \in \pi \operatorname{GL}_n(O_B)$.

Similarly, if B is a quaternion algebra over \mathbb{Q} and p is a prime such that $B \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ is not split, let $O_B \subset B$ be the unique maximal $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -order. Then an involution * of $M_n(B)$ stabilizing $M_n(O_B)$ is called of unit or non-unit type according to whether the induced involution on $M_n(B) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ is of unit or non-unit type.

Remark 1.2.10. By Proposition 1.2.8, an involution * of $M_n(B)$ stabilizing $M_n(O_B)$ induces an involution on $M_n(O_B/\pi)$, which acts trivially on the center of $M_n(O_B/\pi)$ if and only if * is of non-unit type.

1.2.11. The same proof as Proposition 1.2.8 also shows:

Proposition 1.2.12. Let F be a nonarchimedean local field with ring of integers O_F . If $g \in GL_n(F)$ satisfies

$$gM_n(O_F)g^{-1} = M_n(O_F),$$

then we have $g \in F^{\times} \operatorname{GL}_n(O_F)$.

1.3. PEL data.

1.3.1. Recall the notion of a PEL datum $\mathcal{D} = (B, *, V, \psi)$ from [77, Chapter 8], and set $C = \text{End}_B(V)$. Then C is equipped with an involution $c \mapsto c'$, the adjoint with respect to ψ , and the \mathbb{Q} -group $G_{\mathcal{D}}$ associated to \mathcal{D} is defined by

$$G_{\mathcal{D}}(R) = \left\{ (g, \lambda) \in (C \otimes R)^{\times} \times R^{\times} : gg' = \lambda \right\}.$$

To \mathcal{D} , there is associated the reflex field $E = E_{\mathcal{D}}$, and, for any compact open subgroup $K \subset G_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathbb{A}_f)$, a moduli functor M_K over E. Let us briefly recall the definition of M_K , for which more details can be found in [52, p. 390]. For a connected scheme $S \to \text{Spec } E$, $M_K(S)$ is the set of isomorphism classes of tuples $(A, \iota, \lambda, \eta)$ where:

- A/S is an abelian scheme up to isogeny;
- $\iota: B \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}^0(A/S)$ is an embedding satisfying the Kottwitz determinant condition derived from \mathcal{D} ;
- $\lambda : A \to A^{\vee}$ is a quasi-polarization such that $\iota(b^*)^{\vee} \circ \lambda = \lambda \circ \iota(b)$ for all $b \in B$;
- η is a K-level structure for A, i.e., for any geometric point s of S, a $\pi_1(S, s)$ -stable K-orbit of isomorphisms

$$\eta: H_{1,\text{\'et}}(A_s, \mathbb{A}_f) \xrightarrow{\sim} V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A}_f$$

respecting the actions of B and the symplectic pairings on both sides up to a scalar.

If K is neat, then M_K is represented by a smooth quasi-projective scheme over E.

1.3.2. Let p be a prime. A self-dual p-integral refinement \mathscr{D} of \mathcal{D} is the additional data of a *-stable maximal $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -order $O_B \subset B$ and a self-dual O_B -stable $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -lattice $\Lambda \subset V$. (This is a special case of the notion in [93, §6].) For a compact open subgroup $K^p \subset G_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathbb{A}_f^p)$, the corresponding moduli problem \mathcal{M}_{K^p} is defined as follows. For a connected scheme $S \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_E \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$, $\mathcal{M}_{K^p}(S)$ is the set of isomorphism classes of tuples $(A, \iota, \lambda, \eta^p)$ where:

- A/S is an abelian scheme up to prime-to-p isogeny;
- $\iota: O_B \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A/S) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ is an embedding satisfying the Kottwitz condition;
- $\lambda : A \to A^{\vee}$ is a prime-to-p quasi-polarization such that $\iota(b^*)^{\vee} \circ \lambda = \lambda \circ \iota(b)$ for all $b \in O_B$;
- η^p is a K^p -level structure, i.e., for any geometric point s of S, a $\pi_1(S, s)$ -stable K^p -orbit of isomorphisms

$$\eta: H_{1,\text{\'et}}(A_s, \mathbb{A}_f^p) \xrightarrow{\sim} V \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A}_f^p$$

respecting the actions of B and the symplectic pairings on both sides up to a scalar.

If K^p is neat, then \mathcal{M}_{K^p} is represented by a quasi-projective scheme over $O_E \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$. Its generic fiber is $M_{K^pK_p}$, where $K_p = \operatorname{Stab}_{G_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathbb{Q}_p)}(\Lambda)$.

Lemma 1.3.3. Let S be a scheme and B a simple \mathbb{Q} -algebra with involution * of the first kind. Suppose given an abelian scheme A/S with an embedding of \mathbb{Q} -algebras

$$\iota: B \hookrightarrow \mathrm{End}^0(A/S)$$

and a quasi-polarization $\lambda : A \to A^{\vee}$ such that

$$\iota(b^*)^{\vee} \circ \lambda = \lambda \circ \iota(b), \quad \forall b \in B$$

Then for any totally positive $g \in B^{\times}$ with $g^* = g$, $\lambda \circ g$ defines a quasi-polarization of A.

Proof. It suffices to prove the lemma when $S = \operatorname{Spec} k$ with k an algebraically closed field. In this case, by the discussion in [78, Chapter 21, Application III], it suffices to show that g has strictly positive eigenvalues on $\operatorname{End}^0(A)$. But this follows from the positivity of the eigenvalues on B, because $\operatorname{End}^0(A)$ is a semisimple \mathbb{Q} -algebra containing B, and any such is a product of copies of B as a B-module.

The following corollary is immediate.

Corollary 1.3.4. Let $\mathcal{D} = (B, *, V, \psi)$ be a PEL datum, where B is a simple \mathbb{Q} -algebra and * is an involution of the first kind. Suppose given a totally positive $g \in B^{\times}$ such that $g^* = g$, and let $\mathcal{D}_g = (B, *_g, V, \psi_g)$, where $*_g \coloneqq g \circ * \circ g^{-1}$ and

$$\psi_g(x,y) \coloneqq \psi(x,g^{-1}y), \ \forall x,y \in V.$$

Then $G_{\mathcal{D}} = G_{\mathcal{D}_a}$, and, for all $K \subset G_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathbb{A}_f)$, there is a canonical isomorphism

$$M_{\mathcal{D},K} \xrightarrow{\sim} M_{\mathcal{D}_q,K}$$

defined by

$$(A, \iota, \lambda, \eta) \mapsto (A, \iota, \lambda \circ g, \eta).$$

If $\mathscr{D} = (O_B, *, \Lambda, \psi)$ is a self-dual *p*-integral refinement of \mathcal{D} and *g* lies in O_B^{\times} , then $\mathscr{D}_g = (O_B, *_g, \Lambda, \psi_g)$ is a self-dual *p*-integral refinement of \mathcal{D}_g and the above isomorphism extends to an isomorphism of integral models

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathscr{D},K^p} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{M}_{\mathscr{D}_q,K^p}$$

for all compact open $K^p \subset G_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathbb{A}_f^p)$.

We also deduce:

Corollary 1.3.5. Let B be an indefinite quaternion algebra over \mathbb{Q} , with $O_B \subset B$ a maximal $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -order, and fix an integer $n \geq 1$. Let * be a positive involution on $M_n(O_B)$, of non-unit type if $B \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ is ramified. Then there exists an abelian scheme A over Spec \mathbb{Z}_p of dimension 2n with supersingular reduction, a prime-to-p quasi-polarizon $\lambda : A \to A^{\vee}$, and an embedding $\iota : M_n(O_B) \hookrightarrow \text{End}(A) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$, such that

$$\iota(b^*)^{\vee} \circ \lambda = \lambda \circ \iota(b), \ \forall b \in M_n(O_B).$$

Proof. Using Lemma 1.3.3 along with Propositions 1.2.8 and 1.2.12, we reduce to the case that $\alpha^* = \alpha^{\dagger t}$ for all $\alpha \in M_n(O_B)$, where \dagger is a positive involution on O_B , of non-unit type if B ramifies at p. Thus it suffices to prove the corollary when n = 1, in which case it is well-known from the classical theory of Shimura curves; see the discussions in [12, Chapter III].

1.4. **PEL data for** GSpin_{3.2} groups.

1.4.1. In this article, we will consider PEL data that arise in the following way. Let $D \ge 1$ be squarefree with $\sigma(D)$ even, and let q be a prime, possibly with q|D. Suppose fixed a maximal $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ -order $O_D \subset B_D$, with a nebentype involution *, and an embedding $\mathbb{Z}_q \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$.

Definition 1.4.2. (1) An $(O_D, *)$ -triple is a triple $(A_0, \iota_0, \lambda_0)$, where:

- (a) A_0 is an abelian scheme over Spec \mathbb{Z}_q of rank 4 with supersingular reduction;
- (b) ι_0 is an embedding $O_D \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A_0) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$;
- (c) $\lambda_0: A_0 \to A_0^{\vee}$ is a prime-to-q polarization, such that
- (α*)[∨] ∘ λ₀ = λ₀ ∘ ι₀(α), ∀α ∈ O_D.
 (2) Given an (O_D, *)-triple as above, we set H := H₁(A₀(ℂ), ℚ), with its canonical symplectic form ψ. Let Λ ⊂ H be the lattice H₁(A₀(ℂ), ℤ_(q)). The PEL datum associated to (A₀, ι₀, λ₀) is defined

by

$$\mathcal{D} = (B_D, *, H, \psi),$$

with self-dual q-integral refinement

$$\mathscr{D} = (O_D, *, \Lambda, \psi).$$

1.4.3. Let $D \cdot q \coloneqq Dq/\operatorname{gcd}(D,q)$. Given an $(O_D, *)$ -triple $(A_0, \iota_0, \lambda_0)$:

- *H* is a B_D -module, and $\operatorname{End}(H, B_D)$ is isomorphic to $M_2(B_D)$. The adjoint involution \dagger on $\operatorname{End}(H, B_D)$ is of main type (by Proposition 1.2.2, because the adjoint involution on $\operatorname{End}(H) = B_D \otimes \operatorname{End}(H, B_D)$ is of main type).
- Set A
 ₀ := (A₀)_{Fq}, with its induced O_D-action i
 ₀ and polarization λ
 ₀. Then End⁰(A
 ₀, i
 ₀) is isomorphic to M₂(B_{D·q}), and its Rosati involution † is positive, hence of main type by Proposition 1.2.4.

Definition 1.4.4.

(1) A q-adic uniformization datum $(A_0, \iota_0, \lambda_0, i_D, i_{D \cdot q})$ for $(O_D, *)$ is an $(O_D, *)$ -triple $(A_0, \iota_0, \lambda_0)$ as above, along with a choice of isomorphisms of algebras with involution:

$$i_D : (\operatorname{End}(H, B_D), \dagger) \xrightarrow{\sim} (M_2(B_D), *_D),$$
$$i_{D \cdot q} : \left(\operatorname{End}^0(\overline{A}_0, \overline{\iota}_0), \dagger\right) \xrightarrow{\sim} (M_2(B_{D \cdot q}), *_{D \cdot q}).$$

(2) A *q*-adic uniformization datum $(*, A_0, \iota_0, \lambda_0, i_D, i_{D \cdot q})$ for V_D is a choice of positive nebentype involution * on O_D – of unit type if q|D – and a uniformization datum $(A_0, \iota_0, \lambda_0, i_D, i_{D \cdot q})$ for $(O_D, *)$.

Recall here that V_D was defined in (1.2).

- **Remark 1.4.5.** (1) Given any $(O_D, *)$ -triple $(A_0, \iota_0, \lambda_0)$, the choices in Definition 1.4.4(1) exist by Lemma 1.2.6.
 - (2) Given a q-adic uniformization datum $(*, A_0, \iota_0, \lambda_0, i_D, i_{D\cdot q})$ for V_D , we also obtain isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{End}(H, B_D)^{\dagger=1, \operatorname{tr}=0} \xrightarrow{\sim} V_D, \operatorname{End}^0(\overline{A}_0, \overline{\iota}_0)^{\dagger=1, \operatorname{tr}=0} \xrightarrow{\sim} V_{D \cdot q}$$

The former determines an isomorphism

$$G_{\mathcal{D}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D).$$

Moreover, the action of $\operatorname{End}(\overline{A}_0, \overline{\iota}_0)$ on

$$H_{1,\text{\'et}}(\overline{A}_0,\mathbb{A}_f^q) \cong H_1(A_0(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{A}_f^q)$$

induces an isomorphism $V_{D \cdot q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A}_{f}^{q} \cong V_{D} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{A}_{f}^{q}$. In turn, this induces an isomorphism $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D})(\mathbb{A}_{f}^{q}) \cong \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D \cdot q})(\mathbb{A}_{f}^{q})$.

1.5. Local conditions and Selmer groups.

Notation 1.5.2.

(1) Suppose M is a finite free O-module with an action of $G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}$, where ℓ may be equal to p. We consider the Bloch-Kato local conditions

$$H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, M) \coloneqq \ker \left(H^1(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, M) \to \frac{H^1(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, M \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p)}{H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, M \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p)} \right).$$

(2) Globally, if M is a finite free O-module with $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action, let

$$H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, M) \coloneqq \ker \left(H^1(\mathbb{Q}, M) \to \prod_{\ell} \frac{H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, M)}{H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, M)} \right).$$

(3) Suppose $\ell \neq p$. For an unramified, finitely generated *O*-module *M* (either finite or infinite) with $G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}$ -action, we let

$$H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, M) \coloneqq H^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, M).$$

Remark 1.5.3. Notations 1.5.2(1,3) are consistent because, when M is free over O and unramified as a $G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}$ -module, the map $H^1(I_{\ell}, M) \to H^1(I_{\ell}, M \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p)$ is injective.

1.5.4. Fix integers $a \leq 0 \leq b$. Recall that a finite $\mathbb{Z}_p[G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}]$ -module M is said to be *torsion crystalline* with Hodge-Tate weights in [a, b] if there exists a crystalline $\mathbb{Q}_p[G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}]$ -module V with Hodge Tate weights in [a, b], and two $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ -stable lattices $T_1 \subset T_2 \subset V$, such that $M = T_2/T_1$. A finitely generated $\mathbb{Z}_p[G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}]$ -module M is torsion crystalline with Hodge-Tate weights in [a, b] if M/p^n is so for all $n \geq 1$.

If M is torsion crystalline with Hodge-Tate weights in [a, b], let

$$H^1_{f,\mathrm{tors}}(\mathbb{Q}_p, M) \subset H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, M)$$

be the subspace of cohomology classes such that the corresponding extension

$$0 \to M \to * \to \mathbb{Z}_p \to 0$$

is torsion crystalline with Hodge-Tate weights in [a, b]. If M is an $O[G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}]$ -module, then $H^1_{f, \text{tors}}(\mathbb{Q}_p, M)$ is an O-submodule of $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, M)$.

Proposition 1.5.5. A finite free $O[G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}]$ -module M is torsion crystalline with Hodge-Tate weights in [a, b] if and only if $M \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ is crystalline with Hodge-Tate weights in [a, b]. In particular, if M is a finite free $O[G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}]$ -module, then $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_p, M) = H^1_{f, tors}(\mathbb{Q}_p, M)$.

Proof. This is [64, §7.3].⁵

Notation 1.5.6. We will from now on write $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_p, M)$ in place of $H^1_{f, \text{tors}}(\mathbb{Q}_p, M)$ for any finitely generated O-module M with $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ -action; by Proposition 1.5.5, this is consistent with Notation 1.5.2(1).

1.6. Duality.

⁵In fact, for the main results it suffices to assume b - a , in which case Proposition 1.5.5 is due to Breuil [14, Proposition 6].

1.6.1. Let ℓ be a prime, possibly equal to p. If M is a finite free O-module with $G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}$ -action, let $M^* =$ $\operatorname{Hom}_O(M, O(1))$. Similarly, if M is a locally compact O-module with $G_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}$ -action, let $M^{\vee} = \operatorname{Hom}_O(M, E/O(1))$ be the Cartier dual. We have the local Tate pairings

(1.4)
$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\ell} : H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, M) \times H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, M^{\vee}) \to H^2(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, E/O(1)) = E/O$$

and

(1.5)
$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\ell} : H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, M) \times H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, M^*) \to H^2(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, O(1)) = O$$

The former is perfect, and the latter is perfect modulo torsion. We recall the following standard fact.

Lemma 1.6.2. Suppose M is a finite free O-module with $G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}$ -action. Then the subspaces $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, M)$ and $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, M^*)$ pair to zero under the local Tate pairing (1.5).

Proof. When $O = \mathbb{Z}_p$, the result follows from [9, Proposition 3.8].⁶ To reduce to this case, note that M^* is canonically isomorphic to $M' := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(M, \mathbb{Z}_p)$, and we have a commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c} H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, M) \times H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, M^*) \xrightarrow{\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_p} O \\ & \downarrow^{\sim} & \downarrow^{\mathrm{tr}} \\ H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, M) \times H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, M') \xrightarrow{\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_p = 0} \mathbb{Z}_p. \end{array}$$

Since $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, M^*) \subset H^1(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, M^*)$ is O-stable and the trace pairing $O \times O \to \mathbb{Z}_p$ is nondegenerate, the lemma follows.

Lemma 1.6.3. Fix integers $a \leq 0 \leq b$, and let M be a finite free O-module with $[G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}]$ -action which is torsion crystalline with Hodge-Tate weights in [a, b]. Then:

- (1) We have $\varprojlim H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_p, M/\varpi^n) = H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_p, M)$. (2) For all $n \ge 1$, there exists $m \ge n$ such that

$$\operatorname{im}\left(H_{f}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, M/\varpi^{m}) \to H_{f}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, M/\varpi^{n})\right) = \operatorname{im}\left(H_{f}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, M) \to H_{f}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, M/\varpi^{n})\right).$$

(3) For all $n \ge 1$, there exists $m \ge n$ such that the local Tate pairing

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, M/\varpi^n) \times H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, M^*/\varpi^n) \to O/\varpi^n$$

vanishes when restricted to

$$\operatorname{im}\left(H_{f}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, M/\varpi^{m}) \to H_{f}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, M/\varpi^{n})\right) \times \operatorname{im}\left(H_{f}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, M^{*}/\varpi^{m}) \to H_{f}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}, M^{*}/\varpi^{n})\right)$$

Remark 1.6.4. When $2(b-a) \le p-2$ and $O = \mathbb{Z}_p$, we may take m = n in the final part by [84, Corollary 6.1].

Proof. The first part is clear from Proposition 1.5.5, and it follows that

$$\cap_{m \ge n} \operatorname{im} \left(H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_p, M/\varpi^m) \to H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_p, M/\varpi^n) \right) = \operatorname{im} \left(H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_p, M) \to H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_p, M/\varpi^n) \right).$$

Since $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_p, M/\varpi^n)$ is a finite O-module, it is clear that (2) holds.

For (3), take m sufficiently large to satisfy (2) for both M and M^* . The assertion then follows from Lemma 1.6.2 and the commutativity of the diagram:

⁶Although *loc. cit.* assumes $M \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ is de Rham when $\ell = p$, this is needed to show that $H^1_t(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, M)$ and $H^1_t(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, M^*)$ are *exact* annihilators; the proof shows that they annihilate each other in general.

2. Automorphic representations, Hecke algebras, and Shimura varieties

2.1. Hecke algebras and Galois representations. Let G be a split, connected, reductive algebraic group over $\mathbb{Z}[S_0^{-1}]$ for a finite set of primes S_0 , with Borel subgroup $B = TU \subset G$ and Weyl group W_G . For simplicity, we assume that the derived subgroup of G is simply connected.

Definition 2.1.1.

(1) For a prime $\ell \notin S_0$ and a ring R, let $\mathbb{T}_{G,\ell,R}$ denote the spherical Hecke algebra of compactly supported, R-valued, $G(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$ -biinvariant functions on $G(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$. For a finite set $S \supset S_0$ and a ring R,

$$\mathbb{T}_{G,R}^{S} \coloneqq \bigotimes_{\ell \notin S}^{\prime} \mathbb{T}_{G,\ell,R}.$$

(2) Let $P = MN \subset G$ be a parabolic subgroup. For all $\ell \notin S_0$, we define a natural map

$$S_M^G: \mathbb{T}_{G,\ell,R} \to \mathbb{T}_{M,\ell,R}$$

by

$$S_M^G(f)(m) = \int_{N(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)} f(mn) \mathrm{d}n$$

where the Haar measure on $N(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ gives volume 1 to $N(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$.

When $R = \mathbb{Z}$, we drop it from the notation.

Proposition 2.1.2. We have a commutative diagram of functors

where $\natural - \text{Ind}$ denotes the unnormalized parabolic induction.

Proof. This follows from combining Lemmas 2.4, 2.7, and 2.9 of [82].

Notation 2.1.3. Let $\hat{T} \subset \hat{G}$ be the dual torus to T. We write X^{\bullet} and X_{\bullet} for the character and cocharacter groups of any split algebraic torus.

Definition 2.1.4. Suppose now that R is a $\mathbb{Z}[\ell^{1/2}, \ell^{-1/2}]$ -algebra and recall the Satake transform

(2.2)
$$R[X^{\bullet}(\widehat{T})]^{W_G} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{T}_{G,\ell,R}$$
$$\lambda \mapsto [c_{\lambda}].$$

(1) If $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_{G,\ell,R}$ is a maximal ideal with residue field k, the *Satake parameter* for \mathfrak{m} is the unique element

$$\operatorname{Sat}_{G,\ell}(\mathfrak{m}) \in \widehat{T}(\overline{k})/W_G$$

such that, for any $\lambda \in R[X^{\bullet}(\widehat{T})]^{W_G}$, $\lambda(\operatorname{Sat}_{G,\ell}(\mathfrak{m})) = [c_{\lambda}] \pmod{\mathfrak{m}}$. A maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_{G,R}^S$ defines a maximal ideal of each $\mathbb{T}_{G,\ell,R}$ with $\ell \notin S$; we denote by $\operatorname{Sat}_{G,\ell}(\mathfrak{m})$ the corresponding element of $\widehat{T}(\overline{k})/W_G$ for each $\ell \notin S$.

(2) Let $\rho_G \in X_{\bullet}(\widehat{T}) = X^{\bullet}(T)$ be the half-sum of positive roots. A *normalization* of the Satake transform for G (cf. [41, §8]) is a choice of element $\omega_G \in X_{\bullet}(Z_{\widehat{G}})$ such that

$$\omega_G \equiv \rho_G \pmod{2X_{\bullet}(T)}.$$

2.1.5. For the rest of this subsection, we assume that R is a \mathbb{Z}_{p^2} -algebra, with a fixed choice of square root $\ell^{1/2} \in \mathbb{Z}_{p^2}$ for any $\ell \neq p$.

Definition 2.1.6. Let $S \supset S_0$ be a finite set of primes.

(1) Given a maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_{G,R}^S$ with residue field k, a semisimple Galois representation

$$\overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{m}}: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to G(k)$$

is said to be *associated* to \mathfrak{m} (with respect to a normalization ω_G of the Satake transform) if for all but finitely many $\ell \notin S$, $\overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{m}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}}$ is unramified and

$$\overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{m}}(\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell^{-1}})^{ss} \sim \omega_G(\ell^{-1/2}) \cdot \operatorname{Sat}_{G,\ell}(\mathfrak{m});$$

here ~ denotes $\widehat{G}(\overline{k})$ -conjugacy. If this holds for all $\ell \notin S \cup \{p\}$, then $\overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is said to be *strongly* associated with \mathfrak{m} .

(2) If there exists a Galois representation (strongly) associated to m, then m is said to be (strongly) of *Galois type*.

Note that whether m is (strongly) of Galois type is independent of the choice of normalization; the corresponding representations $\overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{m}}$ differ by the composite of χ_p^{cyc} and an algebraic cocharacter of $Z_{\widehat{G}}$.

Example 2.1.7. Suppose π is an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$, unramified outside S, and fix an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. This determines a distinguished square root $\ell^{1/2} \in \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ for all ℓ . Moreover, the Hecke action on $\iota^{-1}\pi^S$ defines a maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}_{\pi} \subset \mathbb{T}^S_{\operatorname{GSp}_4, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}$. If π is relevant in the sense of Definition 2.2.5 below, then the representation $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ of Theorem 2.2.10 is strongly associated to \mathfrak{m}_{π} with respect to the normalization given by the scalar subgroup $\mathbb{G}_m \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GSp}_4$.

Definition 2.1.8. Let $S \supset S_0$ be a finite set of primes. A maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}^S_{G,R}$ with residue field k is said to be *Eisenstein* if there exists an associated $\overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{m}}$ (with respect to any normalization) which factors as

$$\overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{m}}: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \widehat{M}(\overline{k}) \hookrightarrow \widehat{G}(\overline{k})$$

for some standard parabolic subgroup $P = MN \subsetneq G$.

Proposition 2.1.9. Let $S \supset S_0$ be a finite set of primes. Suppose for some proper parabolic subgroup $P = MN \subsetneq G$, $\mathfrak{m}_M \subset \mathbb{T}^S_{M,R}$ is a maximal ideal of Galois type. Then $\mathfrak{m} = (S^G_M)^*\mathfrak{m}_M \subset \mathbb{T}^S_{G,R}$ is Eisenstein.

Proof. Fix normalizations ω_M and ω_G of the Satake transform for M and G, respectively. Also let $d_P \in X_{\bullet}(Z_{\widehat{M}})$ be the dual of the character

$$\det(\mathrm{ad}(-)|N): M \to \mathbb{G}_m.$$

By the well-known compatibility of the Satake transform with *normalized* parabolic induction, combined with Proposition 2.1.2, $\operatorname{Sat}_{G,\ell}(\mathfrak{m}) \in \widehat{T}(\overline{k})/W_G$ is represented by any representative of $\operatorname{Sat}_{M,\ell}(\mathfrak{m}_M)$. $d_P(\ell^{1/2}) \in \widehat{T}(\overline{k})/W_M$. It follows that

$$\overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{m}} \coloneqq \overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{m}_M} \otimes (\chi_p^{\mathrm{cyc}})^{\alpha} : G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \widehat{M}(\overline{k}) \hookrightarrow \widehat{G}(\overline{k})$$

is associated to m, where

$$\alpha \coloneqq \frac{\omega_G - \omega_M - d_P}{2} \in X_{\bullet}(Z_{\widehat{M}})$$

Hence m is Eisenstein.

2.1.10. The case of $G = GSp_4$. When $G = GSp_4$, the Hecke algebra $\mathbb{T}_{G,\ell,R}$ can be identified with the polynomial algebra $R[T_{\ell,1}, T_{\ell,2}, \langle \ell \rangle]$, where the generators correspond to the following double coset operators:

$$T_{\ell,1} = \mathbb{1} \left(\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Z}_\ell) \begin{pmatrix} \ell & & \\ & 1 & \\ & & \ell^{-1} \\ & & 1 \end{pmatrix} \operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Z}_\ell) \end{pmatrix},$$
$$T_{\ell,2} = \mathbb{1} \left(\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Z}_\ell) \begin{pmatrix} \ell & & \\ & \ell & \\ & & 1 \\ & & 1 \end{pmatrix} \operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Z}_\ell) \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\langle \ell \rangle = \mathbb{1} \left(\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Z}_\ell) \begin{pmatrix} \ell & & \\ & \ell & \\ & & \ell \end{pmatrix} \operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Z}_\ell) \end{pmatrix}.$$

The Satake parameter of a maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_{\mathrm{GSp}_4,\ell,R}$ with residue field k can be identified with the data of an element $\nu \in k$ – the similitude factor of $\mathrm{Sat}_{\mathrm{GSp}_4,\ell}(\mathfrak{m})$ – together with the multi-set $\{\alpha, \beta, \nu/\alpha, \nu/\beta\}$ of elements of \overline{k} – the eigenvalues of $\mathrm{Sat}_{\mathrm{GSp}_4,\ell}(\mathfrak{m})$ in the standard four-dimensional representation of $\widehat{\mathrm{GSp}}_4 = \mathrm{GSp}_4$. We will abusively write the Satake parameter as $\{\alpha, \beta, \nu/\alpha, \nu/\beta\}$; in general, ν is not always determined by this unordered set.

The relation to Hecke eigenvalues is given explicitly in this case by

(2.3)
$$T_{\ell,1} = \ell^2 \left(\alpha \beta / \nu + \alpha / \beta + \beta / \alpha + \nu / \alpha \beta \right) + (\ell^2 - 1) \pmod{\mathfrak{m}}$$
$$T_{\ell,2} = \ell^{3/2} \left(\alpha + \beta + \nu / \alpha + \nu / \beta \right) \pmod{\mathfrak{m}}$$
$$\langle \ell \rangle = \nu \pmod{\mathfrak{m}}.$$

When it is clear from context that $G = GSp_4$, the subscript G in Hecke algebras and Satake parameters may be omitted from the notation.

2.2. Automorphic forms and Galois representations. Let F be a totally real field. If we fix a prime p and an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$, then to each archimedean place $v \mid \infty$ of F, we can associate an embedding $\iota^* v : F \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$.

Theorem 2.2.1. Suppose π is a unitary, cuspidal automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ associated to a Hilbert modular form of weight $(2k_v)_{v|\infty}$, where v runs over archimedean places of F and $k_v \ge 1$ for all v. Then for every isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$, with p a prime, there exists a Galois representation

$$\rho_{\pi,\iota}: G_F \to \mathrm{GL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$$

with the following properties.

(1) $\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{F_n}}$ is potentially semistable for all v|p, and for all nonarchimedean primes v of F:

$$\iota WD(\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{F_v}})^{F-ss} \simeq \operatorname{rec}(\pi_v \otimes |\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}}).$$

Moreover this Weil-Deligne representation is pure of weight -1.

- (2) For each place $v \mid \infty$ of F, the Hodge-Tate weights of $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ with respect to the embedding $\iota^* v : F \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ are $1 k_v$ and k_v .
- (3) The similate character of $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is $\iota^{-1} \operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi}) \chi_{p,cyc}$, where ω_{π} is the central character.

Here rec is the usual local Langlands correspondence for GL_n , normalized to coincide with the reciprocity map of local class field theory when n = 1.

Proof. Note that the purity in (1) follows immediately from the claimed identity of Weil-Deligne representations and the Ramanujan conjecture for π [8].

The existence of $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ with the property (1) for all $v \nmid p$ was proved by Carayol [19] under the assumption that either $[F : \mathbb{Q}]$ is odd, or π_v is square-integrable for some finite prime v of F. In general, $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ was constructed by Taylor [107], and the proof of (1) for $v \nmid p$ follows the argument of [127, Theorem 2.1.3]. Finally, the property (1) for v|p, along with (2), were established in general by Skinner [103] (except that our normalizations of Hodge-Tate weights and reciprocity maps are inverted from *loc. cit.*). The property (3) is an immediate corollary of (1).

Definition 2.2.2. An automorphic representation π of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ has (strong) coefficient field $E_0 \subset \mathbb{C}$ if E_0 is a number field and, for all primes p and isomorphisms $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$, $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is defined over the p-adic closure of $\iota^{-1}(E_0)$. In this case, it depends only on the prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 induced by \mathbb{C} , and we obtain a well-defined $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} : G_F \to \operatorname{GL}_2(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}})$ such that $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is the extension of scalars of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$.

Remark 2.2.3. The argument of [23, Proposition 3.2.5] shows that strong coefficient fields exist in the situation of Theorem 2.2.1.

Notation 2.2.4. Let π be as in Theorem 2.2.1, and let E_0 be a strong coefficient field of π . Fix a prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 with residue field $k(\mathfrak{p})$.

- (1) Write $V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ for the underlying $E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}[G_F]$ -module of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$.
- (2) Let $T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \subset V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ be a G_F -stable $O_{E_0,\mathfrak{p}}$ -lattice. Then the $k(\mathfrak{p})[G_F]$ -module $\overline{T}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ depends only on $V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ up to semisimplification. We write

$$\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}: G_F \to \mathrm{GL}_2(k(\mathfrak{p}))$$

for the corresponding semisimple Galois representation.

(3) When p is clear from context, it may be dropped from all subscripts in the above notations.

We now turn to automorphic representations of GSp_4 .

Definition 2.2.5. An automorphic representation π of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A})$ will be called *relevant* if:

- π is cuspidal and not CAP, and has unitary central character.
- π_{∞} belongs to the discrete series *L*-packet of weight (3, 3).

2.2.6. If π is an automorphic representation of $\mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$, then for all ℓ such that π_ℓ is unramified, recall that we write the Satake parameter of π_ℓ as a multiset of four complex numbers of the form $\{\alpha, \beta, \nu\alpha^{-1}, \nu\beta^{-1}\}$. If π has central character ω_{π} , then $\nu = \omega_{\pi}(\langle \ell \rangle) = \operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi})(\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}^{-1})$.

Definition 2.2.7. A cuspidal, non-CAP automorphic representation π of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A})$ is *endoscopic* associated to an unordered pair (π_1, π_2) of cuspidal automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$ with the same central

character if the following holds: for all but finitely many primes ℓ , if $\pi_{i,\ell}$ are both unramified with Satake parameters $\{\alpha_i, \nu/\alpha_i\}$, then π_ℓ is unramified with Satake parameter $\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \nu/\alpha_1, \nu/\alpha_2\}$.

2.2.8. In this case, π_1 and π_2 are necessarily distinct by [126, Lemma 5.2], and the central character of π is the common central character of the π_i . In the literature, the property in Definition 2.2.7 is often called being *weakly* endoscopic, and being endoscopic requires a stronger compatibility condition of local Langlands parameters at all finite places; however, the distinction is unimportant, cf. the results of [126, §5].

Lemma 2.2.9. Suppose π is an endoscopic automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A})$, associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$. Then π is relevant if and only if π_1 and π_2 are unitary with discrete series archimedean components of weights 2 and 4 in some order.

Proof. Recall π is cuspidal and not CAP by definition. Also, π clearly has unitary central character if and only if π_1 and π_2 are unitary, so it suffices to consider the archimedean weights.

Consider the representation $\pi_{1,\infty} \boxtimes \pi_{2,\infty}$ of $\text{GSO}_{2,2}(\mathbb{R}) = (\text{GL}_2(\mathbb{R}) \times \text{GL}_2(\mathbb{R}))/\mathbb{R}^{\times}$; by [126, Lemma 5.6], π_{∞} belongs to the local *L*-packet attached to $\pi_{1,\infty} \boxtimes \pi_{2,\infty}$ via the known Langlands parametrization for real groups and the map of dual groups

$$^{L}\operatorname{GSO}_{2,2} = (\operatorname{GL}_{2} \times_{\mathbb{G}_{m}} \operatorname{GL}_{2})(\mathbb{C}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GSp}_{4}(\mathbb{C}) = ^{L}\operatorname{GSp}_{4,\mathbb{R}}$$

We conclude that π_{∞} belongs to the desired discrete series *L*-packet if and only if $\pi_{1,\infty}$ and $\pi_{2,\infty}$ are discrete series of weights 2 and 4 in some order.

Theorem 2.2.10. Let π be a relevant automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A})$, and fix a prime p along with an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. Then there exists a semisimple Galois representation

$$\rho_{\pi,\iota}: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Q}_p)$$

with the following properties.

(1) $\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}}$ is potentially semistable, and for all primes ℓ ,

$$\mu WD(\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}})^{F-ss} \simeq \operatorname{rec}_{\mathrm{GT}}(\pi_{\ell} \otimes |\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}}).$$

Moreover this Weil-Deligne representation is pure of weight -1.

- (2) The Hodge-Tate weights of $\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}}$ are $\{-1, 0, 1, 2\}$.
- (3) The similate character of $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is $\iota^{-1} \operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi}) \chi_{p,\text{cyc}}$, where ω_{π} is the central character.

Here $\operatorname{rec}_{\mathrm{GT}}$ is the Gan-Takeda local Langlands correspondence of [36], which associates to an irreducible admissible representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$ a $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{C})$ -valued Weil-Deligne representation.

Proof. Suppose first that π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$. By Lemma 2.2.9 and Theorem 2.2.1, we can take

$$\rho_{\pi,\iota} \coloneqq \rho_{\pi_1,\iota} \oplus \rho_{\pi_2,\iota}$$

under the natural embedding $GL_2 \times_{\mathbb{G}_m} GL_2 \to GSp_4$; this satisfies (1) by Theorem 2.2.1(1) combined with [126, Corollary 5.1, Theorem 5.2(3)] and the construction of rec_{GT} in [36]. Then (2) and (3) are satisfied by Theorem 2.2.1(2, 3).

Now suppose π is not endoscopic. By [96, Proposition 10.1] combined with [125, Theorem 1], we may assume without loss of generality that π is globally generic. Under the extra hypothesis that π_v is Steinberg for some $v \neq p$, and omitting the case $\ell = p$ of (1), the theorem then follows from the main result of [105], except that we have twisted the $\rho_{\pi,\ell}$ of *loc. cit.* by $(\chi_p^{\text{cyc}})^2$. The extra hypothesis in [105] is needed only to appeal to the results of Taylor-Yoshida [109], and has since been removed by work of Caraiani [17]. Similarly, the proof in [105] of (1) for $\ell \neq p$ extends to the case $\ell = p$ with the additional input of [18]. **Notation 2.2.11.** In the setting of Theorem 2.2.10, we write $V_{\pi,\iota}$ for the underlying four-dimensional Galois module of $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$.

Lemma 2.2.12. In the situation of Theorem 2.2.10, suppose p > 3. Then $V_{\pi,\iota}$ is reducible if and only if π is endoscopic.

Proof. This is [123, Theorem 3.1].

Definition 2.2.13. A relevant automorphic representation π of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$ has (strong) coefficient field $E_0 \subset \mathbb{C}$ if E_0 is a number field and, for all primes p and isomorphisms $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$, $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is defined over the p-adic closure of $\iota^{-1}(E_0)$. In this case, it depends only on the prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 induced by ι , and we obtain a well-defined $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} : G_F \to \operatorname{GSp}_4(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}})$ such that $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is the extension of scalars of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$.

Lemma 2.2.14. If π is a relevant automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A})$, then a strong coefficient field E_0 exists for π .

Proof. If π is endoscopic, this is clear from Remark 2.2.3, so assume otherwise.

Let $r: \operatorname{GSp}_4 \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_4$ be the natural embedding, and let $\overline{\iota^{-1}(E_0)}$ be the *p*-adic closure for any $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. By the argument of [23, Proposition 3.2.5], there exists a number field E_0 such that, for all $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$, $r \circ \rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is defined over $\overline{\iota^{-1}(E_0)}$ and $\rho_{\pi,\iota}(g)$ has distinct eigenvalues in $\overline{\iota^{-1}(E_0)}^{\times}$ for some $g \in G_{\mathbb{O}}$.

It suffices to check $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is defined over $\overline{\iota^{-1}(E_0)}$ whenever p > 3. For this, let G be the absolute Galois group of $\overline{\iota^{-1}(E_0)}$. For all $\sigma \in G$, we have

$$\rho_{\pi,\iota}^{\sigma} = h(\sigma)\rho_{\pi,\iota}h(\sigma)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

for some $h(\sigma) \in \operatorname{GL}_4(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$. Using the absolute irreducibility from Lemma 2.2.12 and Schur's lemma, we conclude $h(\sigma) \in \operatorname{GSp}_4(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$, and $\sigma \mapsto h(\sigma)$ defines a cocycle $h \in H^1(G, \operatorname{PGSp}_4(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p))$. The class of h determines an inner form H of GSp_4 over $\overline{\iota^{-1}(E_0)}$ such that $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ can be conjugated to lie in $H(\overline{\iota^{-1}(E_0)})$. However, since $\rho_{\pi,\iota}(g)$ has distinct eigenvalues in $\overline{\iota^{-1}(E_0)}$ for some $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$, H must be split, and this completes the proof.

2.2.15. Analogously to Notation 2.2.4, we make the following notations.

Notation 2.2.16. Let π be as in Theorem 2.2.10, and let E_0 be a strong coefficient field of π . Fix a prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 with residue field $k(\mathfrak{p})$.

- (1) Write $V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ for the four-dimensional underlying $E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ -module of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$.
- (2) Let $T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \subset V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ be any $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -stable $O_{\mathfrak{p}}$ -lattice; we define $\overline{T}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \coloneqq (T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}/\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}})^{ss}$, which depends only on $V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$. We also write

$$\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}: G_F \to \mathrm{GL}_4(k(\mathfrak{p}))$$

for the corresponding semisimple Galois representation.

(3) When p is clear from context, it may be dropped from all subscripts in the above notations.

Lemma 2.2.17. Suppose π is a relevant automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A})$. Then there exists a base change $BC(\pi)$ to an automorphic representation of $GL_4(\mathbb{A})$, such that for each place v,

$$\operatorname{rec}(\operatorname{BC}(\pi)_v) = r \circ \operatorname{rec}_{\operatorname{GT}}(\pi_v)$$

where

$$r: {}^{L}\operatorname{GSp}_{4} = \operatorname{GSp}_{4}(\mathbb{C}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_{4}(\mathbb{C}) = {}^{L}\operatorname{GL}_{4}$$

is the natural embedding of dual groups. Moreover $BC(\pi)$ is cuspidal if and only if π is non-endoscopic.

Proof. If π is endoscopic associated to (π_1, π_2) , then there exists a non-cuspidal base change, which is the isobaric sum $\pi_1 \boxplus \pi_2$; the compatibility with local Langlands parameters is by the same reasoning as the endoscopic case of Theorem 2.2.10.

In the non-endoscopic case, the lemma follows from [96, Proposition 10.1] and its proof; note that the endoscopic transfer to $GL_4 \times GL_1$ used in *loc. cit.* is compatible with the Gan-Takeda local Langlands paremeters by the main result of [21].

Lemma 2.2.18. Suppose π is a relevant automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A})$. If $BC(\pi)$ is a symmetric cube lift of a non-CM automorphic representation π_0 of $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$, then π_0 has discrete series archimedean component of weight 2.

Proof. This follows from matching archimedean L-parameters using [49, Theorem B] and Lemma 2.2.17.

Lemma 2.2.19. Suppose π is a relevant automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$. If $\operatorname{BC}(\pi)$ is the automorphic induction of a non-CM automorphic representation π_0 of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_K)$ with K real quadratic, then π_0 has discrete series archimedean components of weights 2 and 4, in some order. Moreover the central characters ω_{π_0} of π_0 and ω_{π} of π satisfy

$$\omega_{\pi} \circ \operatorname{Nm}_{K/\mathbb{O}} = \omega_{\pi_0}.$$

Proof. The assertion on archimedean components follows from Lemma 2.2.17 and the compatibility of automorphic induction with local Langlands parameters [3, Chapter 3, Theorem 5.1]. To check the relation of central characters, fix some prime p along with an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. Let π_0^{tw} denote the $\text{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$ -twist. Then we have

$$V_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_K} = \rho_{\pi_0,\iota} \oplus \rho_{\pi_0^{\mathrm{tw}},\iota}.$$

Using the identities

$$V_{\pi,\iota} = V_{\pi,\iota}^{\vee} \otimes \iota^{-1} \operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi}) \otimes \chi_{p,\text{cyc}}, \ \ \rho_{\pi_{0},\iota} = \rho_{\pi_{0},\iota}^{\vee} \otimes \iota^{-1} \operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi_{0}}) \otimes \chi_{p,\text{cyc}},$$

and likewise for π_0^{tw} , it follows that

$$\rho_{\pi_0,\iota} \otimes \iota^{-1} \left(\operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi})|_{G_K} / \operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi_0}) \right) \oplus \rho_{\pi_0^{\operatorname{tw}},\iota} \otimes \iota^{-1} \left(\operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi})|_{G_K} / \operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi_0^{\operatorname{tw}}}) \right) \cong \rho_{\pi_0,\iota} \oplus \rho_{\pi_0^{\operatorname{tw}},\iota}.$$

Since $\rho_{\pi_0,\iota}$ and $\rho_{\pi_0^{\text{tw}},\iota}$ are absolutely irreducible by Theorem C.3.2, and have different Hodge-Tate weights by Theorem 2.2.1(2), this implies $\operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi})|_{G_K} = \operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi_0})$, i.e. $\omega_{\pi} \circ \operatorname{Nm}_{K/\mathbb{Q}} = \omega_{\pi_0}$.

In the next lemma, if K is a quadratic field, we write $BC_{K/\mathbb{Q}}$ for the base change of an automorphic representation of $GL_n(\mathbb{A})$ to $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_K)$, which exists by [3].

Lemma 2.2.20. Suppose π is a relevant, non-endoscopic automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A})$. If $BC(\pi)$ is the automorphic induction of an automorphic representation π_0 of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_K)$ with K imaginary quadratic and π_0 is not itself an automorphic induction, then π_0 is of the form $BC_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\sigma) \otimes \chi$, where σ is the unitary automorphic representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$ corresponding to a non-CM classical modular form of weight k = 2 or 3, and χ is a Hecke character of K.

Proof. By hypothesis, $BC_{K/\mathbb{Q}} \circ BC(\pi)$ is an isobaric sum $\pi_0 \boxplus \pi_0^{tw}$, where tw denotes the $Gal(K/\mathbb{Q})$ -twist.

Considering archimedean L-parameters and using Lemma 2.2.17 combined with [3, Chapter 3, Theorem 5.1], we see that the local L-parameter of π_0 at the unique archimedean place of K is of the form

(2.4)
$$z \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} (z/\overline{z})^{\epsilon_1 \frac{1}{2}} & \\ & (z/\overline{z})^{\epsilon_2 \frac{3}{2}} \end{pmatrix}$$

for $\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2 \in \{\pm 1\}$. Let $\omega_{\pi} : \mathbb{A}^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ and ω_{π_0} be the central characters of π and π_0 , respectively; then because $BC(\pi) \cong BC(\pi)^{\vee} \otimes \omega_{\pi}$, we have

$$\pi_0^{\vee} \boxplus (\pi_0^{\mathrm{tw}})^{\vee} \cong \pi_0 \otimes \omega_{\pi} \circ \mathrm{Nm}_{K/\mathbb{Q}} \boxplus \pi_0^{\mathrm{tw}} \otimes \omega_{\pi} \circ \mathrm{Nm}_{K/\mathbb{Q}}$$
$$\cong \pi_0 \otimes \omega_{\pi_0}^{-1} \boxplus \pi_0^{\mathrm{tw}} \otimes \omega_{\pi_0}^{-\mathrm{tw}}.$$

The archimedean *L*-parameter (2.4) shows that $\pi_0^{\vee} \not\cong \pi_0 \otimes \omega_{\pi} \circ \operatorname{Nm}_{K/\mathbb{Q}}$, and hence

(2.5)
$$\pi_0^{\vee} \cong \pi_0^{\operatorname{tw}} \otimes \omega_{\pi} \circ \operatorname{Nm}_{K/\mathbb{Q}} \cong \pi_0 \otimes \omega_{\pi_0}^{-1}$$

On the other hand, computing the central character of $BC(\pi)$, we have:

(2.6)
$$\omega_{\pi}^2 = \omega_{\pi_0}|_{\mathbb{A}^{\times}}.$$

In particular, $(\omega_{\pi} \circ \operatorname{Nm}_{K/\mathbb{Q}})/\omega_{\pi_0}$ is trivial when restricted to \mathbb{A}^{\times} , hence of the form χ/χ^{tw} for an automorphic character χ of \mathbb{A}_K^{\times} . Then $(\pi_0 \otimes \chi^{-1})$ is isomorphic to its $\operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$ -twist by (2.5), hence arises as the base change of a cuspidal automorphic representation σ of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A})$ by [3, Chapter 3, Theorem 4.2]. Without loss of generality, we may assume σ is unitary; considering the archimedean local *L*-parameter of σ and again using [3, Chapter 3, Theorem 5.1], the archimedean component of σ is discrete series of weight 2 or 3. We have $\pi_0 = \operatorname{BC}_{K/\mathbb{Q}}(\sigma) \otimes \chi$ by construction.

2.3. Shimura varieties and Shimura sets.

2.3.1. Let V be a quadratic space over \mathbb{Q} , and recall the algebraic group $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)$ from (1.1.5).

2.3.2. Indefinite case. Suppose $V \otimes \mathbb{R}$ has signature (n, 2). If $V^- \subset V_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a negative definite 2-plane, one obtains a map

$$C^+(V^-) \simeq \mathbb{C} \to C^+(V_{\mathbb{R}}),$$

which induces a Shimura datum

$$h : \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{G}_m \to \operatorname{GSpin}(V)_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

For a neat compact open subgroup $K \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)$, the resulting Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}_K(V)$ is a smooth quasi-projective variety over \mathbb{Q} .

2.3.3. Definite case. If V is a positive definite quadratic space over \mathbb{Q} , then $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{R})$ is compact. For a compact open subgroup $K \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)$, let $\operatorname{Sh}_K(V)$ denote the finite double coset space

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V) := \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_{f})/K$$

2.3.4. *Hecke algebras.* Suppose $V = V_D$ is one of the quadratic spaces from (1.1.6), and let O be a coefficient ring. If $K = \prod_{\ell} K_{\ell} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)$ is a neat compact open subgroup and S is a finite set of primes of \mathbb{Q} containing all those such that K_{ℓ} is not hyperspecial, then $\mathbb{T}_O^S = \mathbb{T}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4,O}^S$ acts on $H_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}^*(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O)$; the cohomology is interpreted as $O[\operatorname{Sh}_K(V)]$ in the definite case. We denote by $\mathbb{T}_{K,V_D,O}^S$ the quotient of \mathbb{T}_O^S defined by this action, and may drop the subscript O when it is clear from context.

2.4. Automorphic representations of $GSpin_5$ groups.

2.4.1. Recall the five-dimensional quadratic spaces V_D from (1.1.6).

Definition 2.4.2. An automorphic representation π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ is *Eisenstein* if there exists a parabolic subgroup $P \subset \operatorname{GSp}_4$, with Levi factor L, and an automorphic representation σ of $L(\mathbb{A})$ such that π is nearly equivalent to a constituent of $\operatorname{Ind}_{P(\mathbb{A})}^{\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})} \sigma$.

The following generalizes Definitions 2.2.5 and 2.2.7.

Definition 2.4.3. For a squarefree integer $D \ge 1$, an automorphic representation π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ will be called *relevant* if:

NAOMI SWEETING

- (1) π is not Eisenstein (in particular is cuspidal), and has unitary central character.
- (2) π_{∞} is trivial if $\sigma(D)$ is odd (in which case $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{R})$ is a compact group); or belongs to the discrete series *L*-packet of weight (3, 3) if $\sigma(D)$ is even (in which case $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{R}) = \operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{R})$).

A non-Eisenstein automorphic representation π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ is called *endoscopic* associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A})$ if the condition in Definition 2.2.7 is satisfied for all but finitely many $\ell \nmid D$.

Lemma 2.4.4. Fix a squarefree $D \ge 1$ such that $\sigma(D)$ is even, and suppose π is an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ that is not Eisenstein. Then for any neat compact open subgroup $K = \prod K_{\ell}$ of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f)$:

(1) The natural map induces an isomorphism

$$H^i_c(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D), \mathbb{C})[\pi_f] \xrightarrow{\sim} H^i(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D), \mathbb{C})[\pi_f].$$

(2) We have

$$H^{i}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{D}),\mathbb{C})[\pi_{f}] = \bigoplus_{\pi'_{\infty}} m(\pi_{f} \otimes \pi'_{\infty}) \cdot \pi_{f}^{K} \otimes H^{i}(\mathfrak{gsp}_{4}, U(2); \pi'_{\infty}) \neq 0,$$

where $U(2) \subset \operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{R})$ is the maximal compact subgroup, π'_{∞} runs over cohomological representations of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{R})$, and $m(\pi_f \otimes \pi'_{\infty})$ is the multiplicity in the discrete (equivalently cuspidal) automorphic spectrum of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$.

(3) If π is relevant and $H^i(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_D), \mathbb{C})[\pi_f] \neq 0$, then i = 3.

Proof. The first part is well-known, cf. [43, Chapter 9]. Then (2) is immediate from Matsushima's formula and the diagram in [108, p. 293]. We now show (3). Without loss of generality, we may assume that $\pi_f^K \neq 0$; in particular, because π is relevant, (2) implies that

(2.7)
$$H^{3}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V_{D}), \mathbb{C})[\pi_{f}] \neq 0.$$

Now let S be a finite set of places of \mathbb{Q} such that K_{ℓ} is hyperspecial for $\ell \notin S$, and fix a prime $p \notin S \cup \{2, 3\}$ along with an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. It suffices to show

(2.8)
$$H^{i}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{D})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p})[\pi_{f}] \neq 0 \implies i = 3.$$

For this, we argue as in [108], with the additional input of the Fontaine-Mazur conjecture for GL₂. Set W^i to be the π^S -isotypic component⁷ of $H^i_{\text{ét}}(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ with respect to the natural action of $\mathbb{T}^S_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}$; then W^i is a $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -module. We have the following facts:

- (1) By Margulis' superrigidity theorem [73, Chapter IX, Corollary 7.15(iii)], $W^1 = 0$, and clearly $W^0 = W^6 = 0$ because π_f is not one-dimensional.
- (2) For each $\ell \notin S \cup \{p\}$, $\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}$ satisfies the Eichler-Shimura relation on $H^*(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ by [122]; in particular, if π_{ℓ} has Satake parameters $\{\alpha, \beta, \nu \alpha^{-1}, \nu \beta^{-1}\}$, then

(2.9)
$$(\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}^{-1} - \ell^{3/2} \alpha) (\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}^{-1} - \ell^{3/2} \beta) (\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}^{-1} - \ell^{3/2} \nu \alpha^{-1}) (\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}^{-1} - \ell^{3/2} \nu \beta^{-1}) = 0 \text{ on each } W^i.$$

(3) By Poincaré duality and part (1) of the theorem there are perfect pairings

$$W^i \times W^{6-i} \to \operatorname{rec}(\omega_\pi)(-3)$$

for all *i*, where ω_{π} is the central character of π , cf. [108, p. 297].

(4) Again by (1) of the theorem, for all $\ell \notin S \cup \{p\}$, the eigenvalues of $\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}$ on W^i are Weil numbers of weight *i*.

⁷Defined using ι . We elide ι from the discussion to ease the burden of notation.

Now suppose $W^i \neq 0$ for some $i \neq 3$. By (1), $i \neq 0, 1$, and then by (3) we conclude that $W^2 \neq 0$. If $\ell \notin S \cup \{p\}$ is a prime such that $\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}$ has n distinct eigenvalues on W^2 , it has n distinct eigenvalues on W^4 as well by (3), and at least one eigenvalue on W^3 by (2.7). In particular, by (4) and the fact that $\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}$ has at most 4 total eigenvalues by (2), we conclude that n = 1 and $\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}$ also has at most two eigenvalues on W^3 . Now the same argument as [108, Proposition 3] shows that there is a two-dimensional representation $R: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \operatorname{GL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ – possibly reducible – with distinct Hodge-Tate weights such that $(W^3)^{ss} = R^{\oplus e}$ for some $e \geq 1$, and a character $\chi: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$ such that $(W^2)^{ss} = \chi^{\oplus d}$ and $(W^4)^{ss} = (\operatorname{rec}(\omega_{\pi})\chi_{p,\operatorname{cyc}}^{-3}\chi^{-1})^{\oplus d}$ for some $d \geq 1$. Note that ω_{π} is even because the central character of π_{∞} is trivial, so R is odd by (3) above. Hence by [86, Theorem 1.0.4], R is automorphic. Comparing with (2), we see that there exists an automorphic character ω of \mathbb{A}^{\times} and an automorphic representation σ of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A})$ such that π is nearly equivalent to a constituent of the representation

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{P(\mathbb{A})}^{\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})} \sigma \boxtimes \omega,$$

where $P \subset GSp_4$ is the Siegel parabolic subgroup with Levi factor $GL_2 \boxtimes GL_1$. Hence π is Eisenstein, which contradicts the assumption that π is relevant and completes the proof.

We will require some information about Jacquet-Langlands transfers of relevant automorphic representations between the various $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$.

Definition 2.4.5. For a tempered irreducible admissible representation π_{ℓ} of $GSp_4(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$, we say π_{ℓ} is *trans-ferrable* if it does not belong to the types I, IIIa, VIa, VIb, VII, VIIIa, VIIIb, or IXa in the notation of [95].

In particular, if π_{ℓ} is unramified, it is not transferrable.

Theorem 2.4.6. Let $D \ge 1$ be squarefree. Then:

- (1) For each relevant, non-endoscopic automorphic representation $\Pi = \otimes' \Pi_v$ of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}), \Pi_f^D := \otimes'_{\ell \nmid D} \Pi_\ell$ can be completed to a relevant automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$.
- (2) Conversely, suppose $\pi = \otimes' \pi_v$ is a relevant, non-endoscopic automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$. Then $\pi_f^D := \otimes'_{\ell \nmid D} \pi_\ell$ can be completed to a relevant automorphic representation Π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ if and only if π_ℓ is transferrable for all primes $\ell \mid D$.
- (3) Let $\pi = \otimes' \pi_{\ell}$ be a relevant, non-endoscopic automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$, and assume π_{ℓ} is transferrable for all $\ell | D$. Then any relevant automorphic representation Π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ with $\Pi_f^D \cong \pi_f^D$ has automorphic multiplicity one. The set of all such Π is a Cartesian product of local *L*-packets for $v | D \infty$, where the nonarchimedean *L*-packets are determined only by the corresponding local factors of π . The archimedean *L*-packet is the discrete series packet of weight (3,3) when $\sigma(D)$ is even and the trivial representation when $\sigma(D)$ is odd.

Proof. When $\sigma(D)$ is odd, so that $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{R})$ is compact, this is [96, Theorem 11.4]. To prove these assertions when $\sigma(D)$ is even, we follow the sketch indicated in the discussion following *loc. cit.* The following fact will be used repeatedly:

The following fact will be used repeatedly.

(2.10) If π_{∞} is an irreducible admissible representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{R})$ with $H^3(\mathfrak{gsp}_4, U(2); \pi_{\infty}) \neq 0$, then π_{∞} lies in the discrete series *L*-packet of weight (3,3).

This fact follows from the calculations in [108, p. 293].

To prove (1), suppose first that $\Pi = \otimes' \Pi_v$ is a relevant automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$. By [96, Corollary 7.4] combined with Lemma 2.4.4(3), we conclude that Π_f^D can be completed to a cohomological automorphic representation π of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$. Moreover π_f necessarily contributes to cohomology in degree 3 by [96, Proposition 8.2], and in particular π is relevant by (2.10) combined with Lemma 2.4.4(2), so this proves (1).

NAOMI SWEETING

To prove (2) and (3), we need some preparation. Fix a relevant automorphic representation $\pi = \otimes' \pi_v$ of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$. For each prime $\ell | D$ such that π_ℓ is transferrable, there is a local L-packet of irreducible admissible representations of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$ determined by the character relations of Lemma 11.1 of *op. cit.* Let $\mathbb{A}_D = \prod_{\ell \mid D} \mathbb{Q}_\ell$; by an irreducible admissible representation of $\mathrm{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_D)$ we mean a direct product of irreducible admissible representations of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$ for $\ell | D$.

If π_{ℓ} is transferrable for all $\ell | D$, let S be the set of irreducible admissible representations of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_D)$ obtained by taking the Cartesian product of the local L-packets. If π_{ℓ} is not transferrable for some $\ell | D$, then let S be the empty set.

The comparison of cohomological trace formulas from the proof of [96, Theorem 11.4] shows the following identity: for all irreducible admissible representations Π_D of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_D)$, we have

(2.11)
$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{\pi_{\infty}}m(\pi^D\otimes\Pi_D\otimes\pi_{\infty})\chi(\pi_{\infty}) = \begin{cases} 2, & \Pi_D\in S, \\ 0, & \Pi_D\notin S. \end{cases}$$

Here the notation is as follows:

- The sum over π_{∞} runs over cohomological representations of $GSp_4(\mathbb{R})$, and $\chi(\pi_{\infty})$ is the negative Euler characteristic $\sum (-1)^{i+1} \dim H^i(\mathfrak{gsp}_4, U(2); \pi_\infty)$. • π^D is the representation $\otimes'_{\ell \nmid D} \pi_\ell$ of $\mathrm{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}^D)$.
- $m(\pi^D \otimes \Pi_D \otimes \pi_\infty)$ is the multiplicity in the discrete (equivalently cuspidal, since π is relevant) automorphic spectrum of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$.

We can further manipulate the left-hand side of (2.11). Let π_{∞}^{W} and π_{∞}^{H} be the generic and holomorphic members, respectively, of the discrete series *L*-packet of weight (3,3). We then claim that

(2.12)
$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{\pi_{\infty}}m(\pi^D\otimes\Pi_D\otimes\pi_{\infty})\chi(\pi_{\infty})=m(\pi^D\otimes\Pi_D\otimes\pi_{\infty}^W)+m(\pi^D\otimes\Pi_D\otimes\pi_{\infty}^H).$$

To prove (2.12), suppose first that the right-hand side is positive. Then any cohomological π_{∞} with Π = $\pi_f^D \otimes \Pi_D \otimes \pi_\infty$ automorphic can have Lie algebra cohomology only in degree 3 by Lemma 2.4.4(2, 3). In particular, if $m(\pi^D \otimes \Pi_D \otimes \pi_\infty)\chi(\pi_\infty) \neq 0$ then π_∞ is either π_∞^W or π_∞^H by (2.10), so – combined with the fact that $\chi(\pi_\infty^W) = \chi(\pi_\infty^H) = 2$ by [108, p. 293] – we have shown (2.12) when the right-hand side is positive. On the other hand, suppose the right-hand side of (2.12) vanishes; then each summand on the left-hand side of (2.12) is non-positive by (2.10) because Lie algebra cohomology vanishes for $GSp_4(\mathbb{R})$ outside degrees 0, 2, 3, 4, and 6. But the left-hand side of (2.12) is also non-negative by (2.11), so we conclude that it is zero, hence (2.12) again holds.

In particular, by (2.12) and (2.11) together, we have

(2.13)
$$m(\pi^D \otimes \Pi_D \otimes \pi^W_\infty) + m(\pi^D \otimes \Pi_D \otimes \pi^H_\infty) = \begin{cases} 2, & \Pi_D \in S, \\ 0, & \Pi_D \notin S. \end{cases}$$

From (2.13), it is clear that π^D can be completed to a relevant automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ if and only if S is nonempty, i.e. if and only if π_{ℓ} is transferrable for all $\ell | D$; this shows (2).

We also see from (2.13) that (3) is equivalent to the assertion that $m(\pi^D \otimes \Pi_D \otimes \pi^W_\infty) = m(\pi^D \otimes \Pi_D \otimes \pi^H_\infty)$ $\pi^H_\infty) = 1$ for all $\Pi_D \in S$. Suppose for contradiction that $m(\pi^D \otimes \Pi_D \otimes \pi^W_\infty)$ and $m(\pi^D \otimes \Pi_D \otimes \pi^H_\infty)$ are 0 and 2, in some order. Let $K = \prod K_\ell \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$ be a neat compact open subgroup such that $\Pi_f^K \neq 0$, and let p > 3 be a prime such that K_p is hyperspecial. Fix as well an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. Then by the discussion in [108, p. 296], $H^3_{\text{ét}}(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)[\Pi_f^K]$ is nonzero and has exactly two distinct Hodge-Tate weights as a representation of $G_{\mathbb{O}_n}$.

On the other hand, by (2) from the proof of Lemma 2.4.4 combined with the irreducibility of $V_{\pi,\iota}$ (Lemma 2.2.12), up to semisimplification $H^3_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)[\Pi_f^K]$ is a sum of copies of $V_{\pi,\iota}$, which is a contradiction because $V_{\pi,\iota}$ has distinct Hodge-Tate weights by Theorem 2.2.10(2). This completes the proof of (3). **Remark 2.4.7.** One can similarly prove Theorem 2.4.6 in all regular weights, by considering cohomology of Siegel threefolds with coefficients in more general local systems; we omit the details for concision.

2.5. Relevant endoscopic automorphic representations.

2.5.1. Relevant endoscopic automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ can be constructed as follows. Fix unitary cuspidal automorphic representations π_1 and π_2 of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A})$ with the same central character, and whose archimedean components are discrete series of weights 4 and 2, in some order. Let D_1 and D_2 be squarefree positive integers, such that π_i admits a Jacquet-Langlands transfer $\pi_i^{D_i}$ to $B_{D_i}^{\times}(\mathbb{A})$ for i = 1, 2 (notation as in (1.1.6)).

Define $D_1 * D_2 := D_1 D_2 / \operatorname{gcd}(D_1, D_2)^2$, which is a squarefree positive integer. Then as in [21, §3.3], there is a global theta lift,

(2.14)
$$\Theta(\pi_1^{D_1} \boxtimes \pi_2^{D_2}) = \Theta(\pi_2^{D_2} \boxtimes \pi_1^{D_1}).$$

which is either zero or a cuspidal automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D_1*D_2})(\mathbb{A})$.

Theorem 2.5.2. With notation as above, relabel π_1 and π_2 if necessary so that π_1 has weight 2 and π_2 has weight 4.

- (1) The theta lift $\Theta(\pi_1^{D_1} \boxtimes \pi_2^{D_2})$ is nonzero if and only if either $\sigma(D_2)$ or $\sigma(D_1 * D_2)$ is even. When nonzero, $\Theta(\pi_1^{D_1} \boxtimes \pi_2^{D_2})$ is always relevant and endoscopic associated to the pair (π_1, π_2) , and these representations are all distinct.
- (2) Conversely, each relevant endoscopic automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ arises in this way, and appears with automorphic multiplicity one in the discrete (equivalently cuspidal) spectrum.

Proof. This follows from the results of [21, §3], combined with the discussion of the local archimedean theta lift in §2.4 of *op. cit.*. \Box

Corollary 2.5.3. For any relevant automorphic representation Π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$, there exists a relevant automorphic representation π of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$ such that:

- (1) For each prime $\ell \nmid D$, $\Pi_{\ell} \cong \pi_{\ell}$.
- (2) For each prime $\ell | D, \pi_{\ell}$ is transferrable, and Π_{ℓ} lies in the corresponding local packet of representations of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ from Theorem 2.4.6(3).

Proof. If Π is not endoscopic, this follows from Theorem 2.4.6. If Π is endoscopic, (1) is immediate from Theorem 2.5.2. For (2), it follows because the Langlands correspondences of [36, 37] are constructed to be compatible with theta lifting, and the correspondence of local representations in [96, Table 3] respects Langlands parameters by Lemma 11.1 of *op. cit.*

Remark 2.5.4. By Corollary 2.5.3, we can associate to each relevant automorphic representation Π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ a compatible system of Galois representations $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}$ as in Theorem 2.2.10.

2.6. Local representations with paramodular fixed vectors.

Notation 2.6.1. For all primes q (whether or not q|D), the *paramodular subgroup* of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ is a maximal compact subgroup described in [104, p. 918]. To avoid confusion, we denote this subgroup by K_q^{Pa} when $q \nmid D$ and by K_a^{ram} when q|D.

Lemma 2.6.2. Let π be a relevant automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$, and suppose $q \nmid D$ is a prime such that π_q has a K_q^{Pa} -fixed vector. Then:

(1) π_q is either spherical or of type IIa in the notation of [95].

NAOMI SWEETING

- (2) π is the unique completion of $\pi_f^q \otimes \pi_\infty$ to an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$.
- (3) If π_q is of type IIa, then for any $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ with $q \neq p$, the action of $I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$ on $V_{\pi,\iota}$ is unipotent with monodromy of rank one. Moreover, the corresponding local packet of representations of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ in Theorem 2.4.6(3) is a single representation with a unique K_q^{ram} -fixed vector.

Proof. By Corollary 2.5.3, $\pi_f^D = \bigotimes_{\ell \nmid D} \pi_\ell$ can be completed to a relevant automorphic representation of

 $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$. In particular, π_q is tempered (by Theorem 2.2.10(1)), so (1) follows from [95, Tables A.1, A.13]. If $\pi_f^q \otimes \pi_q' \otimes \pi_\infty$ is automorphic for some π_q' , then $\pi_f^{Dq} \otimes \pi_q'$ can be completed to an automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A})$ by the same reasoning as for π_f^D . Hence by Theorem 2.2.10(1), π'_a and π_q belong to the same Gan-Takeda local L-packet. But the L-packets of type I and IIa are singletons, so this shows (2).

Finally, suppose π_q is the type IIa representation denoted $\chi \operatorname{St}_{\operatorname{GL}(2)} \rtimes \sigma$ in *loc. cit.* Because π_q has a K_q^{Pa} -fixed vector, χ and σ are unramified characters of \mathbb{Q}_q^{\times} . This implies the assertions on $\rho_{\pi,\iota}|_{I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}}$ in (3) by Theorem 2.2.10(1) and the explicit local Langlands paremeters found in [95, Table A.7]. The final claim in (3) follows from [96, Table 3] combined with [104, Theorem B]. \square

2.7. Generic maximal ideals and cohomology of GSpin₅ Shimura varieties.

2.7.1. For this subsection, fix a coefficient field $E \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ with E a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p , and let $O \subset E$ be the ring of integers with uniformizer ϖ . Also fix an isomorphism $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$, a squarefree $D \ge 1$, a neat compact open subgroup $K = \prod_{\ell} K_{\ell} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f)$, and a set S of places of \mathbb{Q} containing all ℓ such that K_{ℓ} is not hyperspecial.

Lemma 2.7.2. Suppose $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_{Q}^{S}$ is non-Eisenstein and $\sigma(D)$ is even. Then for all *i*, the natural maps induce isomorphisms:

(2.15)
$$\begin{aligned} H^{i}_{c}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{D}), O)_{\mathfrak{m}} \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{i}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{D}), O)_{\mathfrak{m}}, \\ H^{i}_{c}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{D}), \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p})_{\mathfrak{m}} \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{i}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{D}), \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p})_{\mathfrak{m}}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. We show the second isomorphism; the first follows formally. Let $P = MN \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$ be a parabolic subgroup. Then we may fix an identification $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}^S) \simeq \operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}^S)$ such that $P(\mathbb{A}^S) =$ $P_1(\mathbb{A}^S)$ for a parabolic subgroup $P_1 = M_1 N_1 \subset \mathrm{GSp}_4$.

The Levi factor M is abstractly isomorphic to either $B_D^{\times} \times \mathrm{GL}_1$ or GL_1^3 (the latter occurring only if D = 1). To any compact open subgroup $K_M \subset M(\mathbb{A}_f)$ we can associate a locally symmetric space $S_{K_M}(M) = M(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus M(\mathbb{A})/K_M \cdot K_{\infty}$, where $K_{\infty} \subset M(\mathbb{R})$ is the product of the center and a maximal compact subgroup. In particular, each connected component of $S_{K_M}(M)$ is either a Shimura curve or an isolated point.

Using the Borel-Serre compactification of $Sh_K(V_D)$ and the argument of [82, §4], it suffices to show the following: for any parabolic subgroup $P = MN \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$ as above and any compact open subgroup $K_M = \prod_{\ell} K_{M,\ell} \subset M(\mathbb{A}_f)$ with $K_{M,\ell}$ hyperspecial for $\ell \notin S$, the support of the $\mathbb{T}^S_{\mathrm{GSp}_4, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p}$ module $(S_M^{GSp_4})^* H^i(S_{K_M}(M), \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ is Eisenstein for all *i*. But this follows from Proposition 2.1.9 because, as $M = B_D^{\times} \times \operatorname{GL}_1$ or GL_1^3 , every maximal ideal of $\mathbb{T}_{M,\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p}^S$ in the support of $H^i(S_{K_M}(M), \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ is clearly of Galois type.

Definition 2.7.3.

- (1) A maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_{\ell,O}$ is called *generic* if $p \nmid 2\ell(\ell^4 1)$, and the Satake parameter $\{\alpha, \beta, \nu/\alpha, \nu/\beta\}$ of \mathfrak{m} is multiplicity-free with no two elements having ratio ℓ .
- (2) A maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S}$ is called *generic* if there exist infinitely many $\ell \notin S$ such that the induced maximal ideal of $\mathbb{T}_{\ell,O}$ is generic. For any quotient \mathbb{T} of \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S} , a maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}$ is called generic if its pullback to \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S} is so.

(3) A Galois representation p

: G_Q → GSp₄(F

p), unramified outside a finite set S, is called generic if there exists a prime ℓ ∉ S with p ∤ 2ℓ(ℓ⁴ − 1), such that p

(Frob_ℓ) has distinct eigenvalues, no two having ratio ℓ.

Remark 2.7.4. If $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_O^S$ has an associated Galois representation $\overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{m}}$, clearly \mathfrak{m} is generic if and only if $\overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is so.

Theorem 2.7.5. Suppose $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_O^S$ is a generic maximal ideal and $\sigma(D)$ is even. Then:

(1) For all i < 3, we have

$$H^{i}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{D}), \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p})_{\mathfrak{m}} = H_{c}^{6-i}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{D}), \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\mathfrak{p}})_{\mathfrak{m}} = 0.$$

(2) If \mathfrak{m} is also non-Eisenstein, then

$$H^i_c(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D), O)_{\mathfrak{m}} = H^i(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D), O)_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

is ϖ -torsion-free for all *i*, and vanishes unless i = 3.

Proof. Part (1) is immediate from [42, Theorem 1.16] and our definition of genericity. Using Lemma 2.7.2, (2) is a standard consequence of (1). \Box

Lemma 2.7.6. Suppose $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}^{S}_{K,V_{D},O}$ is non-Eisenstein and generic, and suppose π is an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D})(\mathbb{A})$ such that $\pi_{f}^{K} \neq 0$, and the action of \mathbb{T}^{S}_{O} on $\iota^{-1}\pi_{f}^{K}$ factors through $\mathbb{T}^{S}_{K,V_{D},O,\mathfrak{m}}$. Then π is not Eisenstein (in the sense of Definition 2.4.2).

With a bit more care, the genericity assumption can be dropped; we leave the details to the reader.

Proof. Suppose first that D = 1, so π is an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$, and let $\mathfrak{m}_{\pi} \subset \mathbb{T}^S_{\operatorname{GSp}_4, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}$ be the maximal ideal determined by the Hecke action on $\iota^{-1}\pi^S$. Then by hypothesis, \mathfrak{m}_{π} is in the support of the Hecke module $H^3(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_1), \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)_{\mathfrak{m}}$. By Lemma 2.7.2 combined with the diagram in [108, p. 293], we conclude that π^S can be completed to an automorphic representation π' of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$ that appears in the discrete spectrum. Suppose for contradiction that π is Eisenstein; then π' is either CAP or a residual representation. In either case, it follows that the Satake parameter of π_ℓ contains a pair of the form $\{\alpha, \alpha \ell\}$ for all $\ell \notin S$: when π' is CAP, this uses [88, Theorems 2.5, 2.6] and [106, Theorem C], and when π' is residual it uses well-known results on the irreducibility of principal series representations for GSp_4 . But these Satake parameters are inconsistent with the genericity of \mathfrak{m} , so π cannot be Eisenstein, as desired.

We now handle the case of general D; the argument is a mild refinement of the trace formula method used in [96]. We abbreviate $G_D := \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$ and fix a minimal parabolic subgroup $P_0 \subset G_D$ (which will be all of G_D if $\sigma(D)$ is odd). Let $f_D \in C_c^{\infty}(G_D(\mathbb{A}_f), \mathbb{C})$ be a test function with regular support, and define (2.16)

$$T(f_D) = \sum_{P_0 \subset P = MN \subset G_D} (-1)^{\operatorname{rank}(M) - \operatorname{rank}(G_D)} \sum_{w \in W^P} (-1)^{\ell(w)} \operatorname{tr} \left(\overline{f}_D^P \cdot \chi_P^G, \varinjlim_{K_M} H^*(S_{K_M}(M), V_{w \cdot \rho_{G_D} - \rho_M}) \right)$$

Here W^P is the set of minimal-length coset representatives for the Weyl group of G_D modulo that of M, tr is the supertrace, \overline{f}^P and $\chi_P^{G_D}$ are defined as in [126, §2.6], $S_{K_M}(M)$ is the symmetric space from the proof of Lemma 2.7.2, ρ_{G_D} and ρ_M are the half-sums of positive roots, and $V_{w \cdot \rho_{G_D} - \rho_M}$ is the complex local system on $S_{K_M}(M)$ of weight $w \cdot \rho_{G_D} - \rho_M$. Although $w \cdot \rho_{G_D} - \rho_M$ might not be integral, we interpret $V_{w \cdot \rho_{G_D} - \rho_M}$ as the twist of $V_{w \cdot \rho_{G_D} - \rho_{G_D}}$ by the real character $\delta_P^{1/2}$ of $M(\mathbb{R})$, i.e.

(2.17)
$$H^*(S_{K_M}(M), V_{w \cdot \rho_{G_D} - \rho_M}) = \delta_P^{-1/2} \otimes H^*(S_{K_M}(M), V_{w \cdot \rho_{G_D} - \rho_{G_D}})$$

as Hecke modules.

For test functions $f_1 \in C_c^{\infty}(G_1(\mathbb{A}_f), \mathbb{C})$ with regular support, we define $T(f_1)$ analogously to (2.16). If f_D and $f_1 \in C_c^{\infty}(G_1(\mathbb{A}_f), \mathbb{C})$ are matching functions in the sense of [96, §5], then it follows from combining [126, Lemma 2.10] with [96, Theorem 5.3] that

$$(2.18) T(f_D) = T(f_1)c_D$$

for a nonzero constant c_D depending only on D.

Shrinking K_S if necessary, we can fix a K_S -biinvariant test function $f_{D,S} \in C_c^{\infty}(G_D(\mathbb{A}_S))$ with regular support such that

(2.19)
$$\operatorname{tr}\left(f_{D,S}, H^*(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_D), \mathbb{C})[\pi^S]\right) \neq 0;$$

when $\sigma(D)$ is even, we use Theorem 2.7.5(2) to ensure that contributions from π in different degrees do not cancel.Let $f_{1,S} \in C_c^{\infty}(G_1(\mathbb{A}_S))$ be a matching function, and let $K_{1,S} \subset G_1(\mathbb{A}_S)$ be a compact open subgroup such that $f_{1,S}$ is $K_{1,S}$ -biinvariant. We also fix an isomorphism $G_D(\mathbb{A}_f^S) \simeq G_1(\mathbb{A}_f^S)$, and let $K_1 = K^S K_{1,S} \subset G_1(\mathbb{A}_f)$, which is a compact open subgroup. Let

$$\Pi(D) = \bigoplus_{P_0 \subset P = MN \subset G_D} \bigoplus_{w \in W^P} \operatorname{Ind}_{P(\mathbb{A}_f)}^{G_D(\mathbb{A}_f)} \varinjlim_{K_M} H^*(S_{K_M}(M), V_{w \cdot \rho_{G_D} - \rho_M}),$$

and let \mathcal{P}_D be the set of irreducible $G_D(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -constituents occurring in $\Pi(D)$ with a K-fixed vector. Likewise, we define $\Pi(1)$ and \mathcal{P}_1 , where now we consider constituents with K_1 -fixed vectors, and set $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}_D \sqcup \mathcal{P}_1$.

Then \mathcal{P} contains finitely many near equivalence classes, cf. [126, p. 45]. We can therefore fix a finite set T of primes of \mathbb{Q} , disjoint from S, so that two representations $\sigma, \tau \in \mathcal{P}$ are nearly equivalent if and only if $\sigma_T \cong \tau_T$. Now fix a $K_T = \prod_{\ell \in T} K_\ell$ -biinvariant test function $f_T \in C_c^{\infty}(G_D(\mathbb{A}_T), \mathbb{C}) = C_c^{\infty}(G_1(\mathbb{A}_T), \mathbb{C})$, such that for all $\tau \in \mathcal{P}$, tr $(f_T | \tau_T) = 0$ unless $\tau_T \cong \pi_T$, and tr $(f_T | \pi_T) = 1$.

Also fix an auxiliary prime $v_0 \notin S \cup T$, and for a large constant C > 0 to be chosen later, let $f_{v_0,C} \in \mathbb{T}_{GSp_4,v_0,\mathbb{C}}$ be a test function satisfying the conclusion of [96, Lemma 3.9] for the representation π_{v_0} ; in particular, tr $(f_{v_0,C}|\pi_{v_0}) = 1$.

We consider the global test function

$$f_D = f_{D,S} f_T f_{v_0,C} f^{S \cup T \cup \{v_0\}} \in C_c^{\infty}(G_D(\mathbb{A}_f)),$$

where $f^{S \cup T \cup \{v_0\}}$ is the indicator function of $K^{S \cup T \cup \{v_0\}}$. The matching function is

$$f_1 = f_{1,S} f_T f_{v_0,C} f^{S \cup T \cup \{v_0\}} \in C_c^{\infty}(G_1(\mathbb{A}_f)).$$

Claim. For all $P_0 \subset P = MN \subsetneq G_1$ and all $w \in W^P$, we have

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\overline{f}_{1}^{P} \cdot \chi_{P}^{G}, \ \delta_{P}^{-1/2} \varinjlim_{\overline{K_{M}}} H^{*}(S_{K_{M}}(M), V_{w \cdot \rho_{G_{1}} - \rho_{G_{1}}})\right) = 0$$

and likewise for all $P_0 \subset P = MN \subsetneq G_D$.

Proof of claim. To ease notation, we prove the claim for G_1 ; the proof for G_D is identical. Let τ be an irreducible constituent of $\varinjlim H^*(S_{K_M}(M), V_{w \cdot \rho_{G_1} - \rho_{G_1}})$. It suffices to show that

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\overline{f}_{1}^{P}\cdot\chi_{P}^{G_{1}},\tau\otimes\delta_{P}^{-1/2}\right)=0.$$

Now by the argument of [96, Proposition 3.10], if C is chosen sufficiently large, then

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\overline{f}_{1}^{P} \cdot \chi_{P}^{G}, \tau \otimes \delta_{P}^{-1/2}\right) = \operatorname{tr}\left(\overline{f_{1,S}f_{T}f^{S \cup T \cup \{v_{0}\}}}^{P} \cdot f_{v_{0}}^{P}, \tau \otimes \delta_{P}^{-1/2}\right)$$

for an auxiliary spherical test function $f_{v_0}^P$ on $M(\mathbb{Q}_{v_0})$. In particular, because \overline{f}^P is invariant under $K_1 \cap M(\mathbb{A}_f)$, we may assume without loss of generality that τ contains a fixed vector for $K_1 \cap M(\mathbb{A}_f)$. Moreover it suffices to show

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\overline{f}_{T}^{P},\tau_{T}\otimes\delta_{P}^{-1/2}\right)=0.$$

By [96, Proposition 3.5(2)], the latter trace coincides with

(2.20)
$$\operatorname{tr}\left(f_{T}, \natural - \operatorname{Ind}_{M(\mathbb{A}_{T})}^{G_{1}(\mathbb{A}_{T})} \tau\right)$$

We will show (2.20) vanishes. Indeed, since each constituent of $\natural - \operatorname{Ind}_{M(\mathbb{A}_f)}^{G_1(\mathbb{A}_f)} \tau$ lies in \mathcal{P}_1 , if (2.20) is nonzero then π is nearly equivalent to a constituent of $\natural - \operatorname{Ind}_{M(\mathbb{A}_f)}^{G_1(\mathbb{A}_f)} \tau$ by the choice of f_T . Now, the maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}_\tau \subset \mathbb{T}^S_{M,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}$ defined by the Hecke action on $\iota^{-1}\tau$ is of Galois type because τ is cohomological and $M = \operatorname{GL}_1^3$ or $\operatorname{GL}_2 \times \operatorname{GL}_1$. Hence by Propositions 2.1.2 and 2.1.9, the maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}_\pi \subset \mathbb{T}^S_{\operatorname{GSp}_4,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}$ defined by $\iota^{-1}\pi$ is Eisenstein, which one can easily check contradicts the hypothesis that \mathfrak{m} is non-Eisenstein. \Box

In particular, the claim combined with (2.19) and the choice of f_T shows that $T(f_D) \neq 0$, so $T(f_1) \neq 0$ by (2.18). Using the claim again, we see that

$$\operatorname{tr}(f_1, H^*(\operatorname{Sh}_{K_1}(V_1), \mathbb{C})) \neq 0.$$

By Franke's theorem [32] and our choice of f_T , we conclude there exists an automorphic representation π' of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$ which is nearly equivalent to π and unramified outside S, such that the Hecke eigensystem of π'^S appears in $H^*(\operatorname{Sh}_{K_1}(V_1), \mathbb{C})$. Expand S to a larger set S' such that $\pi^{S'} \cong \pi'^{S'}$. Then the maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}^{S'} \subset \mathbb{T}^{S'}_{\operatorname{GSp}_4,O}$ formed by restricting \mathfrak{m} descends to $\mathbb{T}^{S'}_{K_1,V_1,O}$. By the case D = 1 of the lemma for $\mathfrak{m}^{S'}$ and π', π' is not Eisenstein, hence π is not either.

Corollary 2.7.7. Suppose $\sigma(D)$ is even, and $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}^S_{K,V_D,O}$ is a generic, non-Eisenstein maximal ideal. Also fix an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. Then

$$H^3_{\text{\'et}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)_{\mathfrak{m}} = \bigoplus_{\pi_f} \iota^{-1} \pi_f^K \otimes \rho_{\pi_f},$$

where:

- π_f runs over the finite parts of relevant automorphic representations π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f)$ such that the \mathbb{T}_O^S -action on π_f^K factors through $\mathbb{T}_{K,V_D,O,\mathfrak{m}}^S$.
- If π is not endoscopic, then $\rho_{\pi_f} = \rho_{\pi,\iota}(-2)$, cf. Remark 2.5.4.
- If π is endoscopic associated to a pair π_1, π_2 of automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A})$ with discrete series archimedean components of weights 2 and 4, respectively, we can write $\pi = \Theta(\pi_1^{D_1} \boxtimes \pi_2^{D_2})$ by Theorem 2.5.2. Then

$$\rho_{\pi_f} = \begin{cases} \rho_{\pi_1,\iota}(-2), & \sigma(D_1) \text{ even}, \\ \rho_{\pi_2,\iota}(-2), & \sigma(D_1) \text{ odd}. \end{cases}$$

Proof. It follows from Lemmas 2.7.6 and 2.4.4(2) that

$$H^3_{\text{\'et}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)_{\mathfrak{m}} \cong \bigoplus_{\pi_f} \iota^{-1} \pi_f^K \otimes \rho_{\pi_f}$$

as Hecke modules, where π_f runs over the finite parts of non-Eisenstein automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f)$ with Hecke action factoring through $\mathbb{T}^S_{K,V_D,O,\mathfrak{m}}$, and ρ_{π_f} is some Galois representation with

$$\dim \rho_{\pi_f} = \sum_{\pi'_{\infty}} m(\pi_f \otimes \pi'_{\infty}) \dim H^3(\mathfrak{gsp}_4, U(2); \pi'_{\infty}).$$

In particular, by (2.10), the only π_f with $\rho_{\pi_f} \neq 0$ are the finite parts of *relevant* automorphic representations π .

We first consider the non-endoscopic case. As in [108, p. 296], we see from Theorem 2.4.6(3) that ρ_{π_f} is four-dimensional with Hodge-Tate weights $\{0, -1, -2, -3\}$ if π is not endoscopic. Since for all but finitely

NAOMI SWEETING

many $\ell \notin S$, $\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}$ satisfies the Eichler-Shimura relation (2.9) on ρ_{π_f} , we conclude that $\rho_{\pi_f} = \rho_{\pi,\iota}(-2)$. It remains to consider the endoscopic case, when $\pi = \Theta(\pi_1^{D_1} \boxtimes \pi_2^{D_2})$. Then π is the unique completion of π_f to an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ by Theorem 2.5.2. Moreover, by the local archimedean theta lift described in [44, Proposition 4.3.1], π_{∞} is the generic or holomorphic member of the discrete series L-packet in the case that $\sigma(D_1)$ is even or odd, respectively. Hence we conclude as above that ρ_{π_f} is two-dimensional, with Hodge-Tate weights $\{-1, -2\}$ or $\{0, -3\}$ when $\sigma(D_1)$ is even or odd, respectively. Since we still have the Eichler-Shimura relation (2.9), it follows that ρ_{π_f} is either $\rho_{\pi_1,\iota}(-2)$ or $\rho_{\pi_2,\iota}(-2)$ depending on the Hodge-Tate weights, and the corollary follows.

Corollary 2.7.8. Let $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}^S_{K,V_D,O}$ be a generic and non-Eisenstein maximal ideal, and let \mathcal{T} be the set of relevant automorphic representations π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ such that $\pi_f^K \neq 0$ and the Hecke action on $\iota^{-1}\pi_f^K$ factors through $\mathbb{T}^S_{K,V_D,O,\mathfrak{m}}$. Then we have a natural embedding of $\mathbb{T}^S_{K,V_D,O,\mathfrak{m}}$ -algebras

$$\mathbb{T}^{S}_{K,V_{D},O,\mathfrak{m}} \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{\pi \in \mathcal{T}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}(\pi)$$

where $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(\pi)$ is $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ with Hecke action through the eigenvalues on $\iota^{-1}\pi_f^K$.

Proof. If $\sigma(D)$ is odd, this is immediate from Lemma 2.7.6. If $\sigma(D)$ is even, it follows from Theorem 2.7.5(2) combined with Corollary 2.7.7.

3. Special cycles and theta lifts

3.1. Special cycles.

3.1.1. In this subsection, we explain the construction of special cycles $Z(T, \varphi)$, due to Kudla in the indefinite case [54].

Construction 3.1.2. Let V be a quadratic space over \mathbb{Q} of signature (m, 2) or (m, 0).

(1) If $V_0 \subset V$ is a positive definite subspace, then for any $g \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_0)(\mathbb{A}_f) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)/K$, we obtain a canonical finite morphism

(3.1)
$$\operatorname{Sh}_{K_{0,g}}(V_0^{\perp}) \xrightarrow{\cdot g} \operatorname{Sh}_K(V),$$

with $K_{0,g} \coloneqq gKg^{-1} \cap \operatorname{GSpin}(V_0^{\perp})(\mathbb{A}_f)$.

(i) If V has signature (m, 2) and dim $V_0 = n$, then we write

$$Z(g, V_0, V)_K \in CH^n(Sh_K(V))$$

for the pushforward of the fundamental class on $\operatorname{Sh}_{K_{0,q}}(V_0^{\perp})$ under (3.1).

(ii) If V has signature (m, 0), then we write

$$Z(g, V_0, V)_K \in \mathbb{Z} \left[\operatorname{Sh}_K(V) \right]$$

for the pushforward of the constant function 1 on $\operatorname{Sh}_{K_{0,g}}(V_0^{\perp})$ under (3.1). (2) For any $T \in \operatorname{Sym}_n(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}$, let

$$\Omega_{T,V} = \{ (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in V^n : x_i \cdot x_j = T_{ij} \ \forall \ 1 \le i, j \le n \},\$$

viewed as an affine algebraic variety over \mathbb{Q} .

(3) Now suppose given a neat compact open subgroup $K \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)$, along with a test function

$$\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, R)^K$$

for some $n \leq m$ and some ring R. (The action of K is the natural one, factoring through the map to $\mathrm{SO}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)$.) For any $T \in \mathrm{Sym}_n(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}$, if $\Omega_{T,V}(\mathbb{Q}) = \emptyset$, then the special cycle $Z(T,\varphi)_K$, in $\mathrm{CH}^n(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V), R) := \mathrm{CH}^n(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R$ or $R[\mathrm{Sh}_K(V)]$, is defined to vanish. Otherwise: (i) If V is positive definite, then fix a base point $(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \Omega_{T,V}(\mathbb{Q})$, and let

$$V_0 = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{O}} \{ x_1, \dots, x_n \} \subset V.$$

Then we define

(3.2)
$$Z(T,\varphi)_K = \sum_{g \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_0^{\perp})(\mathbb{A}_f) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)/K} \varphi(g^{-1}x_1, \dots, g^{-1}x_n) Z(g, V_0, V)_K \in R[\operatorname{Sh}_K(V)].$$

(ii) If V has signature (m, 2) and T is positive definite, we define

$$Z(T,\varphi)_K \in \operatorname{CH}^n(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V),R)$$

by the same formula (3.2). If T is not positive definite (and still $\Omega_{T,V}(\mathbb{Q}) \neq 0$), we define $Z(T,\varphi)_K \in CH^n(Sh_K(V), R)$ by the recipe in [54, p. 61]; the details will not be needed.

Remark 3.1.3. By transitivity of the $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q})$ -action on $\Omega_{T,V}(\mathbb{Q})$, $Z(T,\varphi)_K$ is independent of the choice of base point for $\Omega_{T,V}(\mathbb{Q})$.

Proposition 3.1.4. For neat compact open subgroups $K' \subset K \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)$, if $\operatorname{pr}_{K,K'} : \operatorname{Sh}_{K'}(V) \to \operatorname{Sh}_K(V)$ is the natural map, then $\operatorname{pr}_{K,K'}^* Z(T,\varphi)_K = Z(T,\varphi)_{K'}$.

Proof. This is [54, Proposition 5.10] in the indefinite case; the definite case is proved in the same way. \Box

Notation 3.1.5. For any compact open subgroup $K \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)$, and any ring R, we define $\operatorname{SC}_K^n(V, R)$ to be the R-span of the special cycles $Z(T, \varphi)_K$ for $T \in \operatorname{Sym}_n(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, R)$. When $R = \mathbb{Z}$ it may be dropped from the notation.

Remark 3.1.6. Note that $SC_K^n(V,\mathbb{Z})$ contains all of the special cycles $z = Z(g, V_0, V)_K$ from (3.1.1) with $\dim V_0 = n$. Indeed, choose a basis $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$ for V_0 , and set $T_{ij} := e_i \cdot e_j$. Then one can choose $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, \mathbb{Z})^K$ such that $\varphi|_{\Omega_{T,V}(\mathbb{A}_f)}$ is the indicator function of $K \cdot g^{-1}(e_1, \ldots, e_n)$, and it follows that $Z(T, \varphi)_K = Z(g, V_0, V)_K$.

3.1.7. We will later need the following proposition to understand the double coset space appearing in (3.2).

Proposition 3.1.8. Suppose $K_{\ell} \subset SO(V)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ is the stabilizer of a self-dual lattice $L \subset V \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$, and $V = V_0 \oplus V_1$ be an orthogonal decomposition of V. Then the natural map

$$SO(V_0)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) \setminus SO(V)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) / K_{\ell} \to \{ lattices \ L_1 \subset V_1 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell} \}$$
$$g \mapsto g \cdot L \cap V_1$$

is injective. If $\dim(V_1) < \dim(V_0)$, then its image consists of all L_1 on which the pairing is \mathbb{Z}_{ℓ} -valued.

Proof. This follows from (the proof of) [26, Propositions 3.1.5, 3.1.6].

3.2. Symplectic and metaplectic groups. In this section, we set up basic notions for symplectic and metaplectic groups, mostly following the exposition of [34].

Notation 3.2.1. (1) For an integer $n \ge 1$, we define the standard symplectic lattice W_{2n} with basis $e_1, \ldots, e_n, e_1^*, \ldots, e_n^*$ and pairing determined by

(3.3)
$$\langle e_i, e_j \rangle = 0, \quad \langle e_i^*, e_j^* \rangle = 0, \quad \langle e_i, e_j^* \rangle = \delta_{ij}.$$

The symplectic group Sp_{2n} as defined in (1.1.4) is the isometry group of W_{2n} .

NAOMI SWEETING

(2) The Siegel parabolic subgroup P = MN ⊂ Sp_{2n} is the stabilizer of Span_Z {e₁,..., e_n} ⊂ W_{2n}. We identify N with Sym_n, the space of n × n symmetric matrices, and M with GL_n via the embedding

$$g \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} g & 0\\ 0 & g^{-t} \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}, \ g \in \operatorname{GL}_n.$$

(3) If k is a local field of characteristic zero, the metaplectic group $Mp_{2n}(k)$ is defined as the unique non-split central extension of $Sp_{2n}(k)$ by μ_2 :

$$0 \to \mu_2 \to \operatorname{Mp}_{2n}(k) \xrightarrow{g \mapsto \overline{g}} \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(k) \to 0.$$

The double cover $Mp_{2n}(k) \to Sp_{2n}(k)$ splits uniquely over N(k), with P = MN the Siegel parabolic as above. The preimage $\tilde{P}(k)$ of P(k) therefore has a Levi decomposition

$$\widetilde{P}(k) = \widetilde{M}(k)N(k)$$

with $\widetilde{M}(k)$ a nonsplit double cover of M(k).

- (4) If k is non-archimedean with ring of integers O and the residue characteristic of O is odd, let Mp_{2n}(O) ⊂ Mp_{2n}(k) be the unique lifting of Sp_{2n}(O) [35, §6].
- (5) Let $U(n) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ be the embedding defined by

$$A + iB \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ -B & A \end{pmatrix}.$$

We fix the Cartan decomposition

$$\mathfrak{sp}_{2n,\mathbb{C}} = \mathfrak{u}(n)_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \mathfrak{p}^+ \oplus \mathfrak{p}^-,$$

such that \mathfrak{p}^+ is isomorphic to the symmetric square of the defining representation of U(n).

- (6) Let Ũ(n) ⊂ Mp_{2n}(ℝ) be the preimage of U(n). If j^{1/2}(g, z) is the half-integral weight automorphy factor of [101, p. 25], then we let det^{1/2} : Ũ̃(n) → ℂ[×] be the restriction of j^{1/2}(g, i), which is a square root of the determinant character. We set det^k := (det^{1/2})^{2k} for all k ∈ ½Z.
- (7) Globally, let

$$\operatorname{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{A}) = \prod_{v}' \operatorname{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_{v})$$

be the restricted product with respect to the subgroups $Mp_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_v) \subset Mp_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_v)$ for $v \neq 2, \infty$. The inclusion $Sp_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}) \hookrightarrow Sp_{2n}(\mathbb{A})$ lifts naturally to

$$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{A}),$$

by which we will view $\text{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q})$ as a subgroup of $\text{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{A})$.

Definition 3.2.2. For $k \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$, define the space M_k^{2n} of adelic Siegel modular forms of degree 2n and weight k, consisting of smooth functions

$$f: \mathrm{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}) \backslash \mathrm{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{A}) \to \mathbb{C}$$

such that:

(1) $f(gz) = \det^k(z)f(g)$ for any $z \in \widetilde{U}(n) \subset \operatorname{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$. (2) $X \cdot f(g) = 0$ for any $X \in \mathfrak{p}^- \subset \mathfrak{sp}_{2n,\mathbb{R}}$.

Remark 3.2.3. Note that M_k^{2n} is naturally an $Mp_{2n}(\mathbb{A}_f)$ -module.

Notation 3.2.4.

(1) Let ψ be the additive character of $\mathbb{Q}\setminus\mathbb{A}$ which is unramified at all finite places and satisfies

$$\psi(x_{\infty}) = e^{2\pi i x_{\infty}}$$

for $x_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R} \subset \mathbb{A}$. (2) For $T \in \text{Sym}_n(\mathbb{Q})$, define

$$\psi_T \coloneqq \psi \circ \left(\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}(T-)\right),$$

a unitary character of $N(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus N(\mathbb{A})$ (where N is the unipotent radical of the Siegel parabolic).

From basic Fourier analysis, one deduces the following proposition.

Proposition 3.2.5. Let $f \in M_k^{2n}$. Then we have an identity of functions on $N(\mathbb{A}) \subset Mp_{2n}(\mathbb{A})$:

$$f = \sum_{T \in \operatorname{Sym}_n(\mathbb{Q})} a_T(f) q_{\mathbb{A}}^T$$

where $q_{\mathbb{A}}^T \coloneqq e^{-\operatorname{tr}(T)} \cdot \psi_T$ and

$$a_T(f) \coloneqq \frac{e^{\operatorname{tr}(T)}}{\operatorname{Vol}([N])} \int_{[N]} f(n)\psi_T^{-1}(n) \mathrm{d}n$$

Definition 3.2.6. For any subring $R \subset \mathbb{C}$, define

$$M_{k,R}^{2n} = \left\{ f \in M_k^{2n} : a_T(f) \in R \text{ for all } T \in \operatorname{Sym}_n(\mathbb{Q}) \right\}.$$

3.3. Weil representation.

3.3.1. Let k be a local field, and let V be a quadratic space over k of odd dimension and trivial discriminant. Also fix an even integer $2n \ge 2$. For any nontrivial additive character ψ of k, the Weil representation ω_{ψ} of $SO(V)(k) \times Mp_{2n}(k)$ is realized on the complex Schwartz space $\mathcal{S}(V^n, \mathbb{C})$, and is determined by the following formulas.

$$\begin{cases} \omega_{\psi}(g,1)\varphi(x) = \varphi(g^{-1}x), & g \in \mathrm{SO}(V)(k).\\ \omega_{\psi}(1,u)\varphi(x) = \psi(\frac{1}{2}u(x) \cdot x)\varphi(x), & u \in N(k) \cong \mathrm{Sym}_{n}(k).\\ \omega_{\psi}(1,m)\varphi(x) = \chi_{\psi}(m) |\det(\overline{m})|^{\frac{\dim V}{2}}\varphi(\overline{m}^{t}x), & m \in \widetilde{M}(k).\\ \omega_{\psi}(1,w)\varphi(x) = \gamma_{w} \int_{V^{n}} \varphi(y)\psi(x \cdot y)\mathrm{d}y. \end{cases}$$

 $= OO(\mathbf{U})(\mathbf{I})$

Here, the notation is as follows:

- $\circ P = MN$ is the Siegel parabolic.
- χ_{ψ} is a μ_8 -valued genuine character of $\widetilde{M}(k)$ described in [34, p. 1661].
- $w \in Mp_{2n}(k)$ is a certain Weyl element such that $\overline{w}P\overline{w}^{-1} = P^{op}$.
- $\circ \gamma_w$ is a certain eighth root of unity.
- The pairing on V^n in the second and fourth equations is

$$(x_1,\ldots,x_n)\cdot(y_1,\ldots,y_n)=\sum x_i\cdot y_i.$$

 $\circ dx$ in the fourth equation is a self-dual Haar measure.

3.3.2. If k is non-archimedean of residue characteristic ℓ and $R \subset \mathbb{C}$ is a $\mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{\ell}\right]$ -algebra containing all eighth and ℓ th power roots of unity, then the same formulas give a well-defined action of $SO(V)(k) \times Mp_{2n}(k)$ on the space $\mathcal{S}(V^n, R)$ of *R*-valued Schwartz functions.

3.3.3. Globally, if V is a quadratic space over \mathbb{Q} , we have Weil representations $\mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_v, \mathbb{C})$ for all places v, defined using the localizations of the fixed global additive character ψ of $\mathbb{Q}\setminus\mathbb{A}$. Similarly, we have the Weil representations $\mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{A}, \mathbb{C})$, $\mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, \mathbb{C})$, etc., defined as restricted tensor products.

3.4. Classical theta lifting.

Notation 3.4.1. For a Schwartz function $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{A}, \mathbb{C})$ and a cuspidal automorphic form α on $SO(V)(\mathbb{A})$, we write $\theta_{\varphi}(\alpha)$ for the automorphic form on $Mp_{2n}(\mathbb{A})$ defined by

(3.5)
$$\theta_{\varphi}(\alpha)(h) = \int_{[\mathrm{SO}(V)]} \alpha(g) \sum_{x \in V^n} \omega_{\psi}(g, h) \varphi(x) \mathrm{d}g.$$

The normalization depends on a choice of Haar measure.

3.4.2. Suppose V is positive definite and let $K \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be a neat compact open subgroup. For $\alpha : \operatorname{Sh}_K(V) \to \mathbb{C}$, define an automorphic form $\overline{\alpha}$ on $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A})$, which descends to $\operatorname{SO}(V)(\mathbb{A})$, by

$$\overline{\alpha}(g_f g_{\infty}) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{Vol}(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times})} \int_{\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times}} \alpha(g_f z) \mathrm{d}z, \quad \forall g = g_f g_{\infty} \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}).$$

Lemma 3.4.3. Let $\varphi_{\infty} \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$ be the Gaussian

$$\varphi_{\infty}(x) = e^{-x \cdot x}.$$

Then for $\alpha : \operatorname{Sh}_K(V) \to \mathbb{C}$ and

$$\varphi_f \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, \mathbb{C})^K,$$

 $heta_{arphi_f\otimesarphi_\infty}(\overline{lpha})$ lies in $M^{2n}_{rac{\dim(V)}{2}}$ and

$$a_T\left(\theta_{\varphi_f\otimes\varphi_\infty}(\overline{\alpha})\right) = C_K \cdot \alpha\left(Z(T,\varphi_f)_K\right),$$

where the constant is

$$C_K = \frac{\operatorname{Vol}\left(\operatorname{SO}(V)(\mathbb{R}) \cdot \operatorname{Im}\left(K \to \operatorname{SO}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)\right)\right)}{[K \cdot \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}^{\times} : K]}.$$

Proof. In the Fock model of the $(\mathfrak{sp}_{2n\dim(V)}, \widetilde{U}(n\dim(V)))$ -module associated to $\mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}), \varphi_{\infty}$ has degree zero, hence is annihilated by $\mathfrak{p}^- \subset \mathfrak{sp}_{2n}$; cf. [46, (2.2)]. By comparing degrees with [1, Proposition 2.1(2)], we also conclude that $\widetilde{U}(n)$ acts on $\theta_{\varphi_f \otimes \varphi_{\infty}}(\overline{\alpha})$ by $\det^{\underline{\dim(V)}}_2$, which proves $\theta_{\varphi_f \otimes \varphi_{\infty}}(\overline{\alpha}) \in M^{2n}_{\underline{\dim(V)}}_{2}$.

It remains to compute the Fourier coefficients. We calculate:

$$\begin{split} a_T(\theta_{\varphi_f \otimes \varphi_\infty}(\overline{\alpha})) &= \frac{e^{\operatorname{tr} T}}{\operatorname{Vol}([N])} \int_{[N]} \psi_T^{-1}(u) \int_{[\operatorname{SO}(V)]} \overline{\alpha}(g) \sum_{x \in V^n(\mathbb{Q})} \omega_\psi(g, u) \varphi_f \otimes \varphi_\infty(x) \mathrm{d}g \mathrm{d}u \\ &= \frac{e^{\operatorname{tr} T}}{\operatorname{Vol}([N])} \int_{[\operatorname{SO}(V)]} \overline{\alpha}(g) \sum_{x \in V^n(\mathbb{Q})} \int_{[N]} \psi_T^{-1}(u) \psi\left(\frac{1}{2}u(x) \cdot x\right) \omega_\psi(g, 1) \varphi_f \otimes \varphi_\infty(x) \mathrm{d}g \mathrm{d}u \\ &= \int_{[\operatorname{SO}(V)]} \overline{\alpha}(g) \sum_{x \in \Omega_{T,V}(\mathbb{Q})} \omega_\psi(g, 1) \varphi_f(x) \mathrm{d}g. \end{split}$$

Fix a base point $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in \Omega_{T,V}(\mathbb{Q})$ and let $V_0 = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{Q}} \{x_1, \ldots, x_m\}$. Then, since $\Omega_{T,V}(\mathbb{Q})$ is a single $\operatorname{SO}(V)(\mathbb{Q})$ -orbit, we may rewrite the final equation as

$$a_T(\theta_{\varphi_f \otimes \varphi_\infty}(\alpha)) = \int_{\mathrm{SO}(V_0^{\perp})(\mathbb{A}) \setminus \mathrm{SO}(V)(\mathbb{A})} \varphi_f(g^{-1}x) \int_{[\mathrm{SO}(V_0^{\perp})]} \overline{\alpha}(hg) \mathrm{d}h \mathrm{d}g.$$

This coincides with the claimed formula by definition of $\alpha(Z(T, \varphi_f)_K)$.

3.4.4. As a special case, suppose $V = \mathbb{Q}$ is the one-dimensional space with quadratic form $a \mapsto a^2$. Then SO(V) is the trivial group and we take the unit Haar measure on $SO(V)(\mathbb{A}) = \{id\}$. For each prime ℓ , let

$$\varphi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \mathbb{Z})$$

be the indicator function of the lattice

$$\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}^n \subset \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}^n = V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$$

and let $\varphi_f = \otimes_{\ell} \varphi_{\ell}$. Let $\mathbb{1}$ be the unit automorphic form on $SO(V)(\mathbb{A})$. We write (3.6) $\theta_{\frac{1}{2}} \coloneqq \theta_{\varphi_f \otimes \varphi_{\infty}}(\mathbb{1}).$

Lemma 3.4.5. Let ℓ be an odd prime, and suppose $R \subset \mathbb{C}$ is a $\mathbb{Z}\begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\ell} \end{bmatrix}$ -algebra containing all eighth and ℓ th power roots of unity. Then for any $g \in \operatorname{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$, $g \cdot \theta_{\frac{1}{2}}$ lies in $M^{2n}_{\frac{1}{2},R}$, and the constant term $a_0(g \cdot \theta_{\frac{1}{2}})$ of its Fourier expansion lies in R^{\times} .

Proof. By the obvious equivariance of the theta lift, we have

$$g \cdot \theta_{\frac{1}{2}} = \theta_{\omega_{\psi}(1,g)\varphi_f \otimes \varphi_{\infty}}(1)$$

Since

$$\mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_\ell, R) \subset \mathcal{S}(V^n, \mathbb{C})$$

is $Mp_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ -stable, Lemma 3.4.3 shows

$$g \cdot \theta_{\frac{1}{2}} \in M^{2n}_{\frac{1}{2},R}.$$

Also, $\theta_{\frac{1}{2}}$ is $Mp_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$ -invariant by construction.

By the Iwasawa decomposition

$$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) = P(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) \cdot \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$$

it suffices to show $a_0(g \cdot \theta_{\frac{1}{2}}) \in R^{\times}$ for $g \in \widetilde{P}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$. Now, by Lemma 3.4.3 again,

$$a_0(g \cdot \theta_{\frac{1}{2}}) = \omega_{\psi}(1,g) \cdot \varphi_f(0),$$

and it follows from the explicit formulas in (3.3.1) that

$$\omega_{\psi}(1,g) \cdot \varphi_f(0) \in R^{\times}$$

for all $g \in \widetilde{P}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$; this proves the lemma.

Proposition 3.4.6. Let $R \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a $\mathbb{Z}\begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\ell} \end{bmatrix}$ -algebra containing all eighth and ℓ th power roots of unity. Then for all $k \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$,

$$M_{k,R}^{2n} \subset M_k^{2n}$$

is stable under the action of $Mp_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$.

Proof. If $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ is integral, this is a consequence of the *q*-expansion principle for classical Siegel modular forms [30, Chapter 5, Proposition 1.8]. In general, for any $f \in M_{k,R}^{2n}$ and $f' \in M_{k',R}^{2n}$, the product $ff' \in M_{k+k',R}^{2n}$ has formal *q*-expansion:

(3.7)
$$(ff')|_{N(\mathbb{A})} = \sum_{T \in \operatorname{Sym}_n(\mathbb{Q})} \sum_{S \in \operatorname{Sym}_n(\mathbb{Q})} a_T(f) a_S(f') q_{\mathbb{A}}^{S+T}.$$

(This expression make sense because $a_T(f)$ and $a_S(f')$ are each supported on positive semi-definite matrices with bounded denominators in their entries, see [101, Proposition 1.1].)

We apply this to $f \in M_{k,R}^{2n}$, with $k \in \frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z}$, and $f' = \theta_{\frac{1}{2}}$. Since $k + \frac{1}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have

$$g(f\theta_{\frac{1}{2}}) = g(f)g(\theta_{\frac{1}{2}}) \in M^{2n}_{k+\frac{1}{2},R}$$

for any $g \in Mp_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$.

Now, by Lemma 3.4.5 above, the q-expansion of $g(\theta_{\frac{1}{2}})$ has an inverse power series

$$\sum_{T \in \operatorname{Sym}_n(\mathbb{Q})} b_T q_{\mathbb{A}}^T$$

with $b_T \in R$. Hence, by the uniqueness of q-expansions, the Fourier coefficients of g(f) lie in R as well. \Box

3.5. Formal theta lifts.

3.5.1. Suppose V has signature (m, 0) or (m, 2) for some $m \ge 1$, and let

$$K = \prod K_{\ell} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f)$$

be a neat compact open subgroup. For any subring $R \subset \mathbb{C}$, we define $\text{Test}_K(V, R)$ to be

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V)], R) = \operatorname{Hom}_{R}(R[\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V)], R)$$

in the positive definite case, or

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\operatorname{CH}^*(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V)), R) = \operatorname{Hom}_R(\operatorname{CH}^*(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V), R), R)$$

in the indefinite case.

3.5.2. Now fix $1 \le n \le m$. For any *K*-invariant Schwartz function $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, R)$ and any $\alpha \in \text{Test}_K(V, R)$, we define the formal theta lift

$$\Theta(\alpha,\varphi)_K \coloneqq \sum_{T \in \operatorname{Sym}_n(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}} \alpha \left(Z(T,\varphi)_K \right) q_{\mathbb{A}}^T.$$

The subscript K will be omitted when there is no risk of confusion.

3.5.3. Let ℓ be a prime such that K_{ℓ} has pro-order invertible in R, and let

$$\operatorname{Test}_{K^{\ell}}(V,R) \coloneqq \varinjlim_{K'_{\ell}} \operatorname{Test}_{K^{\ell}K'_{\ell}}(V),$$

where the transition maps are induced by pushforward. Note that $\text{Test}_{K^{\ell}}(V, R)$ has a natural action of $\text{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$, dual to the one described in [129, p. 41]. For $\alpha \in \text{Test}_{K^{\ell}}(V)$ and a K^{ℓ} -invariant Schwartz function $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, R)$, we define the renormalized formal theta lift

(3.8)
$$\Theta_{K^{\ell}}(\alpha,\varphi) \coloneqq \frac{\Theta(\alpha,\varphi)_{K^{\ell}K'_{\ell}}}{[K_{\ell}:K'_{\ell}]}$$

for any $K'_{\ell} \subset K_{\ell}$ fixing both α and φ . Because the cycles $Z(T, \varphi)_{K^{\ell}K'_{\ell}}$ are compatible under pullback, $\Theta_{K^{\ell}}(\alpha, \varphi)$ does not depend on the choice of K'_{ℓ} .

Proposition 3.5.4. Suppose R is a $\mathbb{Z}[1/\ell]$ -algebra containing all eighth and ℓ th power roots of unity, and the pro-order of K_{ℓ} is invertible in R. Then $\Theta_{K^{\ell}}$ defines a $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) \times \operatorname{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ -equivariant map

$$\operatorname{Test}_{K^{\ell}}(V,R) \otimes \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{A}_f,R)^{K^{\ell}} \to M^{2n}_{\frac{\dim(V)}{2},R}.$$

Proof. Note that both modularity and equivariance can be checked after extending scalars, so without loss of generality suppose $R = \mathbb{C}$. In the definite case, the proposition is a formal consequence of Lemma 3.4.3 above. In the indefinite case, the modularity of the formal theta lift is [15, Theorem 6.2] and the equivariance is [54, Corollary 5.11] combined with [129, Corollary 2.12].

4. Construction of Galois cohomology classes and special periods

Before beginning this section, we establish the notation that will be in force for most of the rest of the paper.

Notation 4.0.1.

- (1) Fix a relevant automorphic representation π of GSp_4 with trivial central character. Fix as well a strong coefficient field E_0 for π (Definition 2.2.13). If π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$, then we also assume without loss of generality that E_0 is a strong coefficient field for π_1 and π_2 .⁸
- (2) We fix a finite set S of finite primes, containing 2 and all ℓ such that π_{ℓ} is ramified.
- (3) For all primes p of E₀, let O_p ⊂ E_{0,p} be the ring of integers, and let ϖ_p ∈ O_p be a uniformizer, with residue field k_p = O_p/ϖ_p. We drop the subscript p when there is no risk of confusion. For a finite set of primes S' ⊃ S, we write m^{S'}_{π,p} ⊂ T^{S'}_{O_p} for the maximal ideal defined by the Hecke eigenvalues of π, and drop the decorations when they are clear from context.
- (4) Notation 2.2.16 remains in force.

Remark 4.0.2. We assume $2 \in S$ so that 2 is not admissible under Definition 4.2.1 below, and to prove the (convenient but not essential) Lemma 4.4.7.

4.1. Assumptions on p. We now define some assumptions on primes p of E_0 . Let p denote the residue characteristic.

Assumption 4.1.1.

- (1) p does not lie in S.
- (2) There exists a rational prime $\ell \notin S \cup \{p\}$ such that $\ell^4 \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p}$ and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell})$ has distinct eigenvalues, no two having ratio ℓ .

The final assumption depends on whether π is endoscopic.

- (3) If π is not endoscopic, then $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is absolutely irreducible.
 - If π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$, then $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_1, \mathfrak{p}}$ and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_2, \mathfrak{p}}$ are both absolutely irreducible.

Remark 4.1.2. Assumption 4.1.1(2) implies that p > 5.

Notation 4.1.3. Under Assumption 4.1.1(3):

- (1) Let $T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ be an $O_{\mathfrak{p}}[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ -module such that $T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p = V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$; Assumption 4.1.1(3) implies that $T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is unique up to isomorphism.
- (2) For all $n \ge 1$, we write $T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p},n} \coloneqq T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}/\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}}^n T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$. Also let $\overline{T}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \coloneqq T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p},1}$.
- (3) When p is clear from context, it may be dropped from the above notations.

Remark 4.1.4. Under Assumption 4.1.1(3), $T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is isomorphic to its $O_{\mathfrak{p}}$ -dual; we use this to view $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ as valued in $\mathrm{GSp}_4(O_{\mathfrak{p}})$, and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ as valued in $\mathrm{GSp}_4(k_{\mathfrak{p}})$.

Lemma 4.1.5. Assumption 4.1.1 holds for all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 .

Proof. That Assumption 4.1.1(3) holds for all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} follows from [123, Theorem 1.2(i)] in the non-endoscopic case; in the endoscopic case, it follows from [94, Theorem 2.1]. It is also obvious that Assumption 4.1.1(1) holds for cofinitely many \mathfrak{p} . We consider Assumption 4.1.1(2).

⁸In fact, it is not difficult to check that this last assumption is automatic. The main point is to use Hodge-Tate theory to verify that, for all $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$, $\rho_{\pi_1,\iota}$ and $\rho_{\pi_2,\iota}$ cannot differ by a Galois twist.

NAOMI SWEETING

First fix an arbitrary \mathfrak{p} with residue characteristic p. The image of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ contains an element with distinct eigenvalues by [99, Theorem 1] and Theorem 2.2.10(2). Hence by the Chebotarev density theorem, there exists a prime $\ell \notin S \cup \{p\}$ such that $\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}$ has distinct eigenvalues on $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$. The Satake parameter of π_{ℓ} is therefore multiplicity-free and of the form $\{\alpha, \beta, \alpha^{-1}, \beta^{-1}\}$ with $|\alpha| = |\beta| = 1$. Let $E_1 = E_0(\alpha, \beta)$, which is a finite extension because the Hecke eigenvalues of π_{ℓ} lie in E_0 . For all but finitely many primes $\mathfrak{p}_1 \nmid \ell$ of E_1 , we will have

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha^2 &\not\equiv 1, \ell, \ell^{-1} \pmod{\mathfrak{p}_1} \\ \beta^2 &\not\equiv 1, \ell, \ell^{-1} \pmod{\mathfrak{p}_1} \\ \alpha\beta &\not\equiv 1, \ell, \ell^{-1} \pmod{\mathfrak{p}_1} \\ \alpha/\beta &\not\equiv 1, \ell, \ell^{-1} \pmod{\mathfrak{p}_1}, \\ \ell^4 &\not\equiv 1, \pmod{\mathfrak{p}_1}. \end{aligned}$$

For such a \mathfrak{p}_1 , let $\mathfrak{p}' = \mathfrak{p}_1|_{E_0}$ and let p' be the residue characteristic of \mathfrak{p}' . Then we have $\ell^4 \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p'}$ and the eigenvalues of $\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}$ on $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}'}$ are distinct and not of ratio ℓ , i.e. Assumption 4.1.1(2) holds for \mathfrak{p}' . \Box

Lemma 4.1.6. Assume p satisfies Assumption 4.1.1(3). Then:

- (1) $H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi})$ is ϖ -torsion-free.
- (2) Suppose given $c \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi})$ and $a \ge 1$ such that $c \notin \varpi^a H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi})$. Then for all $n \ge 1$, the image $c_n \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n})$ satisfies

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} c_n > n - a.$$

Proof. The assumption implies that $H^0(\mathbb{Q}, \overline{T}_{\pi}) = 0$. The long exact sequence in Galois cohomology associated to

$$0 \to T_\pi \xrightarrow{\varpi} T_\pi \to \overline{T}_\pi \to 0$$

therefore gives (1). For (2), a similar argument to (1) shows that the map $H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,a}) \xrightarrow{\varpi^{n-a}} H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n})$ is injective, so the kernel of

$$\varpi^{n-a}: H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n}) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n})$$

coincides with the kernel of $H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n}) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,a})$. Hence it suffices to show that $c_a \neq 0$, which is clear from the assumption $c \notin \varpi^a H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi)$ and the long exact sequence in Galois cohomology associated to

$$0 \to T_{\pi} \xrightarrow{\varpi^a} T_{\pi} \to T_{\pi,a} \to 0.$$

Lemma 4.1.7. Suppose \mathfrak{p} satisfies Assumption 4.1.1. Then $\mathfrak{m}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \subset \mathbb{T}_O^S$ is non-Eisenstein and generic.

Proof. Recall from Remark 4.1.4 that $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$ is valued in $\operatorname{GSp}_4(k)$. Then $\mathfrak{m}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is clearly of Galois type associated to $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$. The genericity of $\mathfrak{m}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ (Definition 2.7.3) therefore follows from Assumption 4.1.1(2). From Assumption 4.1.1(3), it follows that $\overline{T}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$ contains no Galois-stable line. So if $\mathfrak{m}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ were Eisenstein, $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ would have to factor through a Siegel parabolic subgroup. In particular, then $\overline{T}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p = \rho_0 \oplus \rho_0 \otimes \det \rho_0^{-1} \otimes \omega_p$, where $\rho_0 : G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \operatorname{GL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ is some irreducible representation, and ω_p is the mod-p cyclotomic character. This is clearly impossible by Assumption 4.1.1(3) and Lemma 4.1.8 below.

Lemma 4.1.8. Let $\mathfrak{p}|p$ be a prime of E_0 such that p > 5 and π_p is unramified. If π is endoscopic associated to (π_1, π_2) , then $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_1}$ and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_2}$ are not isomorphic.

Proof. Recall that ρ_{π_1} and ρ_{π_2} have Hodge-Tate weights $\{-1, 2\}$ and $\{0, 1\}$ up to reording, by Lemma 2.2.9 and Theorem 2.2.1(2). The lemma then follows from Fontaine-Laffaille theory [31, Théorème 6.1].

4.2. Admissible primes. In this section, $\mathfrak{p}|p$ is a prime of E_0 .

Definition 4.2.1.

- (1) We say a prime $q \notin S \cup \{p\}$ is *admissible* for $\rho_{\pi} = \rho_{\pi,p}$ if $q^4 \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p}$ and the generalized eigenvalues of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ are of the form $\{q, \alpha, 1, q/\alpha\}$, with $\alpha \neq \pm q, \pm 1, q^2, q^{-1}$.
- (2) If q is admissible, define $n(q) \ge 1$ to be the greatest integer such that $\det(\operatorname{Frob}_q q|V_{\pi}) \equiv 0 \pmod{(m \circ d \, \varpi^{n(q)})}$.
- (3) We say q is *n*-admissible if it is admissible and $n(q) \ge n$.
- (4) If $Q \ge 1$ is squarefree, we say Q is *admissible* (resp. *n-admissible*) if all primes q|Q are so.
- (5) Analogously, an element $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is called *admissible* for ρ_{π} if $\nu_g \coloneqq \chi_{p,cyc}(g)$ satisfies $\nu_g^4 \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p}$, and g acts on V_{π} with generalized eigenvalues $\{\nu_q, 1, \alpha, \nu_q/\alpha\}$ for some

$$\alpha \not\equiv \pm \nu_g, \pm 1, \nu_q^2, \nu_q^{-1} \pmod{\varpi}.$$

Lemma 4.2.2. Suppose \mathfrak{p} satisfies Assumption 4.1.1(3). Then a prime q is n-admissible for $\rho_{\pi} = \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ if and only if there exists a $G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$ -stable decomposition

$$T_{\pi,n} = M_{0,n} \oplus M_{1,n}$$

such that:

- (1) $M_{0,n}$ and $M_{1,n}$ are each free of rank two over O/ϖ^n , and $\operatorname{Frob}_q|_{M_{0,n}} = \begin{pmatrix} q \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$ in some basis.
- (2) $\operatorname{Frob}_{q}^{2}-1$, $\operatorname{Frob}_{q}^{2}-q^{2}$, $\operatorname{Frob}_{q}-q^{2}$, and $\operatorname{Frob}_{q}-q^{-1}$ all act invertibly on $M_{1,n}^{2}$.

Proof. Immediate from Definition 4.2.1.

Lemma 4.2.3. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of E_0 . The following are equivalent:

- (1) There exist admissible primes for ρ_{π} .
- (2) For all n, there exist n-admissible primes for ρ_{π} .
- (3) There exists an admissible element $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ for ρ_{π} .

Proof. Clearly (2) implies (1), and (3) implies (2) by the Chebotarev density theorem. The proof that (1) implies (2) follows the same argument of [69, Lemma 2.7.1], and (2) implies (3) by compactness. \Box

4.2.4. Now suppose π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$.

Definition 4.2.5.

- (1) A prime $q \notin S \cup \{p\}$ is called *BD-admissible* for $\rho_{\pi_i} = \rho_{\pi_i,\mathfrak{p}}$, with i = 1 or 2, if $q^2 \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p}$ and the generalized eigenvalues of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_i}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ are $\{1, q\}$.
- (2) If q is BD-admissible for ρ_{π_i} , define $n(q) \ge 1$ to be the greatest integer such that $\det(\operatorname{Frob}_q q | V_{\pi_i}) = \equiv 0 \pmod{\varpi^{n(q)}}$.
- (3) We say q is *n*-BD-admissible if it is BD-admissible and $n(q) \ge 1$.
- (4) If $Q \ge 1$ is squarefree, we say Q is BD-admissible (resp n-BD-admissible) for ρ_{π_i} if all q|Q are so.
- (5) Likewise, an element $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is called BD-admissible for ρ_{π_i} if $\chi_{p,\text{cyc}}(g)^2 \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p}$ and g acts on V_{π_i} with eigenvalues $\chi_{p,\text{cyc}}(g)$ and 1.

Remark 4.2.6.

- (1) Definition 4.2.5 is adapted from [7, p. 18], but there it is allowed that the eigenvalues of Frob_q on $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_i}$ are -1 and -q.
- (2) If q is *n*-admissible for ρ_{π} , then it is *n*-BD-admissible for exactly one of ρ_{π_1} and ρ_{π_2} ; and if $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is admissible for ρ_{π} , then it is BD-admissible for exactly one of ρ_{π_1} and ρ_{π_2} . In particular, if $Q \ge 1$

is admissible for ρ_{π} , there is a unique factorization $Q = Q_1 \cdot Q_2$ with $Q_1, Q_2 \ge 1$, such that all $q|Q_i$ are BD-admissible for ρ_{π_i} .

4.2.7. For any prime $q \notin S \cup \{p\}$, recall that $H_f^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n}) = H_{\text{unr}}^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n})$, and set $H_{/f}^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n}) = H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n})/H_f^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n})$.

Proposition 4.2.8. Suppose q is n-admissible. Then $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n})$ and $H^1_{/f}(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n})$ are each free of rank one over \mathcal{O}/ϖ^n , and local Poitou-Tate duality induces a perfect pairing

$$H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n}) \times H^1_{/f}(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n}) \to O/\varpi^n.$$

Proof. First note that the induced pairing is perfect because $H_f^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n})$ is self-annihilating under the Tate pairing, and one can check $\lg_O H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n}) = 2 \lg_O H_f^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n})$ using the local Euler characteristic formula and local duality. So it suffices to prove that

$$H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n}) = T_{\pi,n}/(\operatorname{Frob}_q - 1)T_{\pi,n}$$

is free of rank one over O/ϖ^n . Indeed, this is immediate from Lemma 4.2.2.

Notation 4.2.9. If q is n-admissible and $S' \supset S$ is a finite set with $q \notin S'$, then by Proposition 4.2.8 we have the localization and residue maps:

$$\log_q : H^1(\mathbb{Q}^{S'}/\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n}) \to H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n}) \simeq O/\varpi^n$$
$$\partial_q : H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n}) \to H^1_{/f}(\mathbb{Q}_q, T_{\pi,n}) \simeq O/\varpi^n$$

4.3. Level structures and test vectors. Fix a prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 of residue characteristic p.

Definition 4.3.1. For any squarefree $D \ge 1$, an *S*-level structure for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$ is a compact open subgroup $K = \prod K_{\ell} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f)$ such that:

- (1) K is neat in the sense of [89, §0.1].
- (2) For all $\ell \notin S \cup \operatorname{div}(D)$, K_{ℓ} is hyperspecial.

An S-tidy level structure is an S-level structure satisfying:

(3) If $K_Z \subset \mathbb{A}_f^{\times}$ is the intersection of K with the center of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f)$, then the finite group $\mathbb{Q}^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_f^{\times} / K_Z$ has order coprime to p.

The reason for the final condition of Definition 4.3.1 is the following convenient lemma:

Lemma 4.3.2. Suppose K is an S-tidy level structure for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$. Then for all finite sets $S' \supset S$ and all $\ell \notin S \cup \operatorname{div}(D)$, we have

$$\langle \ell \rangle = 1 \text{ on } H^*(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D), O)_{\mathfrak{m}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}^{S'}}.$$

Proof. By Definition 4.3.1(3), after replacing O by a finite extension we can write

$$H^*(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D), O) = \bigoplus_{\chi} H^*(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D), O)_{\chi},$$

where χ runs over O-valued characters of the finite group $\mathbb{Q}^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_{f}^{\times} / K_{Z}$ and

$$\langle \ell \rangle = \chi(\ell) \text{ on } H^*(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D), O)_{\chi}.$$

The characters χ are distinct modulo ϖ , and the lemma follows because π has trivial central character. \Box

Definition 4.3.3. Let $D \ge 1$ be squarefree, let K be an S-level structure for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$, and let R = O or O/ϖ^n , viewed as a \mathbb{T}_O^S -module via the Hecke eigenvalues of π . We define $\operatorname{Test}_K(V_D, \pi, R)$ as follows.

(1) If $\sigma(D)$ is *even* and p satisfies Assumption 4.1.1, then

$$\operatorname{Fest}_{K}(V_{D}, \pi, R) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{T}_{O}^{S \cup \operatorname{div}(D)}[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]} \left(H^{3}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V_{D})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2)), T_{\pi} \otimes_{O} R \right).$$

(2) If $\sigma(D)$ is *odd*, then

$$\operatorname{Test}_{K}(V_{D}, \pi, R) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{T}_{O}^{S \cup \operatorname{div}(D)}}(O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V_{D})\right], R).$$

Remark 4.3.4. The definition of $\text{Test}_K(V_D, \pi, R)$ depends only on K, and not on S; one can check this using Theorem 2.4.6(3), and Corollary 2.7.8 when $\sigma(D)$ is even.

4.4. **Constructions.** Fix a prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 of residue characteristic p.

Construction 4.4.1. Let $D \ge 1$ be squarefree, and let $Q \ge 1$ be admissible and coprime to D, such that $\sigma(DQ)$ is odd. For any S-level structure K for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$:

(1) We define

$$\lambda_n^D(Q;K) \subset O/\varpi^n$$

- to be the submodule spanned by the elements $\alpha(z)$, where:
 - α lies in $\operatorname{Test}_K(V_{DQ}, \pi, O/\varpi^n)$.
- *z* lies in SC²_K(V_{DQ}, O) (Notation 3.1.5).
 (2) If φ ∈ S(V²_{DQ} ⊗ A_f, O)^K is a test function, then we define

$$\lambda_n^D(Q,\varphi;K) \subset \lambda_n^D(Q;K)$$

to be the submodule spanned by elements $\alpha(Z(T,\varphi)_K)$, where:

- α lies in Test_K($V_{DQ}, \pi, O/\varpi^n$).
- T lies in Sym₂(Q)_{≥0}, and Z(T, φ)_K was defined in Construction 3.1.2.
 (3) If Q = 1, then we define λ^D(1; K) ⊂ O and λ^D(1, φ; K) ⊂ λ^D(1; K) analogously, where now α ranges over $\operatorname{Test}_K(V_D, \pi, O)$.
- (4) We write $\lambda_n^D(Q) \subset O/\varpi^n$ for the submodule spanned by $\lambda_n^D(Q;K)$ as K varies, and likewise $\lambda^D(1).$

In all of the above constructions, we include a subscript p only when it is necessary for clarity.

4.4.2. Let $D \ge 1$ be squarefree with $\sigma(D)$ even, and suppose p satisfies Assumption 4.1.1. Let $\mathfrak{m} :=$ $\mathfrak{m}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}^{S\cup\operatorname{div}(D)} \subset \overline{\mathbb{T}}_{O}^{S\cup\operatorname{div}(D)}$. It follows from Lemma 4.1.7 and Theorem 2.7.5(2) that the étale realization map

$$\operatorname{CH}^{2}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V_{D}), O)_{\mathfrak{m}} \to H^{4}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V_{D})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}$$

is trivial. We therefore obtain a well-defined Abel-Jacobi map

$$\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} : \mathrm{CH}^2(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D), O)_{\mathfrak{m}} \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}).$$

For any $\alpha \in \text{Test}_K(V_D, \pi, R)$ with R = O or O/ϖ^n , we obtain an induced map

(4.1)
$$\operatorname{CH}^{2}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V_{D}), O)_{\mathfrak{m}} \xrightarrow{\partial_{\operatorname{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}} H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}, H^{3}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V_{D})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}) \xrightarrow{\alpha_{*}} H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi} \otimes_{O} R).$$

Construction 4.4.3. Let $D \ge 1$ be squarefree, and let $Q \ge 1$ be admissible and coprime to D, such that $\sigma(DQ)$ is even. Suppose p satisfies Assumption 4.1.1, and let K be an S-level structure for $GSpin(V_{DQ})$.

(1) We define

$$\kappa_n^D(Q;K) \subset H^1(\mathbb{Q},T_{\pi,n})$$

to be the submodule spanned by $\alpha_* \circ \partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(z)$, where:

• α lies in Test_K($V_{DQ}, \pi, O/\varpi^n$).

◦ z lies in $\mathrm{SC}^2_K(V_{DQ}, O)$ (Notation 3.1.5). (2) For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V^2_{DQ} \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, O)^K$, we define

$$\kappa_n^D(Q,\varphi;K) \subset \kappa_n^D(Q;K)$$

to be the submodule spanned by elements $\alpha_* \circ \partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(Z(T,\varphi)_K)$, where:

• α lies in $\operatorname{Test}_K(V_{DQ}, \pi, O/\varpi^n)$.

- T lies in $\operatorname{Sym}_2(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}$, and $Z(T, \varphi)_K$ was defined in Construction 3.1.2. (3) If Q = 1, then we define $\kappa^D(1; K) \subset H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi)$ and $\kappa^D(1, \varphi; K) \subset \kappa^D(1; K)$ analogously, with now $\alpha \in \text{Test}_K(V_D, \pi, O)$.
- (4) We write $\kappa_n^D(Q) \subset H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n})$ for the submodule spanned by $\kappa_n^D(Q; K)$ as K varies, and likewise $\kappa^D(1)$.

In all of the above constructions, we include a subscript p only when it is necessary for clarity.

Remark 4.4.4. The only reason to distinguish between D and Q in Constructions 4.4.1 and 4.4.3 is to define $\lambda^D(1)$ and $\kappa^D(1)$ when $\sigma(D)$ is odd and even, respectively; moreover, one can check using Corollary 2.5.3 that $\lambda^D(1)$ or $\kappa^D(1)$ is trivial unless π_ℓ is transferrable for all $\ell|D$.

Now we prove some basic properties of Constructions 4.4.1 and 4.4.3.

Proposition 4.4.5. Suppose $L(1/2, \pi, \text{spin}) \neq 0$. If D > 1 is squarefree with $\sigma(D)$ odd and π_f^D can be completed to an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$, then for any prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , $\lambda^D(1)_{\mathfrak{p}} \neq 0$. *Moreover, for all but finitely many* p, we have

$$\lambda^D(1)_{\mathfrak{p}} \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}}}.$$

Proof. Let Π be any automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ with $\Pi_f^D \simeq \pi_f^D$. Because π has trivial central character, Π descends to an automorphic representation of SO(V_D)(Å). By [39, Theorem 1.1], the global theta lift of Π to Mp₄(\mathbb{A}) is nonzero; i.e., the map

(4.2)
$$\mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}, \mathbb{C}) \otimes \Pi \to \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Sp}_4(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{Mp}_4(\mathbb{A}), \mathbb{C})$$
$$\varphi \otimes \alpha \mapsto \theta_{\varphi}(\alpha)$$

is not identically zero (Notation 3.4.1). Also, the image of (4.2) lies in the space of cusp forms by the global tower property of the theta lift [91]: otherwise, Π would occur in the restriction to SO(V_D)(\mathbb{A}) of the theta lift of an automorphic representation of $Mp_2(\mathbb{A})$, which is ruled out by the Shimura-Waldspurger correspondence and the relevance of π . In particular, by the local-global compatibility of the theta correspondence (see the proof of [91, Theorem I.2.2]), if $\varphi = \otimes \varphi_v \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}, \mathbb{C})$ and $\alpha = \otimes \alpha_v \in \Pi$ are factorizable, then

(4.3)
$$\theta_{\varphi}(\alpha) \neq 0 \iff \langle \rho_{v}(\varphi_{v}), \alpha_{v} \rangle \neq 0 \ \forall v,$$

where by definition

$$\rho_v: \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_v, \mathbb{C}) \to (\Pi_v)^{\vee} \boxtimes \Theta_v(\Pi_v)$$

is the maximal $(\Pi_v)^{\vee}$ -isotypic quotient of the Weil representation of $SO(V_D)(\mathbb{Q}_v) \times Mp_4(\mathbb{Q}_v)$ on $\mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes$ \mathbb{Q}_v, \mathbb{C}).

When $v = \infty$, then $\alpha_{\infty} \in \Pi_{\infty}$ is unique up to scalar, and we take $\varphi_{\infty} \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C})$ to be the Gaussian from Lemma 3.4.3. Then α_{∞} and φ_{∞} satisfy the local condition in (4.3) by the theory of joint harmonics [1, Proposition 2.1(2), §5]. In particular, (4.3) implies that we can fix an S-level structure K and data

$$\alpha \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{set}}(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_D), O_{E_0}) \cap \Pi \subset C_c^{\infty}(\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}), \mathbb{C}), \ \varphi_f \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, O_{E_0})^K$$

such that

$$\theta_{\varphi_f \otimes \varphi_\infty}(\alpha) \neq 0.$$

By Lemma 3.4.3, this means that

$$0 \neq \alpha(Z(T,\varphi_f)_K) \in O_{E_0}$$

for some $T \in \text{Sym}_2(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}$. Now we note that α has the Hecke eigenvalues of π away from S by construction. In particular, for all primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , α lies in $\text{Test}_K(V_D, \pi, O_{\mathfrak{p}})$, and

$$0 \neq \alpha(Z(T,\varphi_f)_K) \in \lambda^D(1,\varphi_f)_{\mathfrak{p}} \subset \lambda^D(1)_{\mathfrak{p}}.$$

Since $\alpha(Z(T, \varphi_f)_K) \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}$ for all but finitely many \mathfrak{p} , this completes the proof.

Proposition 4.4.6. Suppose $D \ge 1$ is squarefree and p satisfies Assumption 4.1.1.

(1) For all admissible Q coprime to D with $\sigma(DQ)$ even and all $\ell \notin S \cup \operatorname{div}(DQ)$, we have

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\ell} \kappa_n^D(Q) \subset H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, T_{\pi, n}).$$

(2) If $\sigma(D)$ is even, then we have

$$\kappa^D(1) \subset H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi).$$

Proof. Write Q = 1 in case (2). We claim that, for all S-level structures K and all $z \in CH^2(Sh_K(V_{DQ}))$,

(4.4)
$$\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}(z) \in H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}).$$

Note here that $H^3_{\text{ét}}(\text{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is *p*-torsion-free by Lemma 4.1.7 and Theorem 2.7.5(2), so the Bloch-Kato Selmer group is defined as in Notation 1.5.2(1). Observe as well that (4.4) implies the proposition: indeed, it clearly implies (2) by the functoriality of the Bloch-Kato local conditions; and it also implies (1) by Remark 1.5.3 and Proposition 1.5.5.

Now note that, for all primes ℓ , $H^3_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\text{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is pure of weight one as a $G_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}$ -module by Corollary 2.7.7 combined with Theorem 2.2.10(1); hence

$$H^1\left(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, H^3_{\text{ét}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) = 0$$

for all $\ell \neq p$ and

$$H^1_g\left(\mathbb{Q}_p, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) = H^1_f\left(\mathbb{Q}_p, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right).$$

Thus (4.4) follows from [81, Theorem 5.9] combined with the proof of [79, Theorem 3.1(ii)].

Lemma 4.4.7. Let $D \ge 1$ be squarefree, and let $Q \ge 1$ be admissible and coprime to D. Then:

- (1) If $\sigma(DQ)$ is even and \mathfrak{p} satisfies Assumption 4.1.1, then $\kappa_n^D(Q)$ is generated by $\kappa_n^D(Q;K)$ as K ranges over S-tidy level structures for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$.
- (2) If $\sigma(DQ)$ is odd and p > 5, then $\lambda_n^D(Q)$ is generated by $\lambda_n^D(Q; K)$ as K ranges over S-tidy level structures for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$.

Proof. We prove the first statement, as the two are similar. Let K be an S-level structure for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$, and note that $K_2 = K_{\ell=2}$ has pro-order prime to p.⁹ After fixing a sufficiently small compact open subgroup $K'_2 \subset K_2$, we can ensure that $K' := K'_2 \cdot \prod_{\ell \neq 2} (K_\ell \mathbb{Z}_\ell^{\times})$ is neat; it is then clearly S-tidy as well. Let $\operatorname{pr}_{K,K'\cap K} : \operatorname{Sh}_{K'\cap K}(V_{DQ}) \to \operatorname{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})$ and $\operatorname{pr}_{K',K'\cap K} : \operatorname{Sh}_{K'\cap K}(V_{DQ}) \to \operatorname{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})$ be the natural maps. For R = O or O/ϖ^n and $\alpha_K \in \operatorname{Test}_K(V_{DQ}, \pi, R)$, we set

$$\alpha_{K'} \coloneqq \frac{\alpha_K \circ \operatorname{pr}_{K,K' \cap K,*} \circ \operatorname{pr}_{K',K' \cap K}^*}{[K:K' \cap K]} \in \operatorname{Test}_{K'}(V_{DQ}, \pi, R).$$

⁹To see this, one first observes that K_2 stabilizes some lattice $L \subset V_{DQ} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_2$ such that $2L \subset L^{\vee} \subset L$, where L^{\vee} is the \mathbb{Z}_2 -linear dual. One obtains a natural map $f : K_2 \to SO(L^{\vee}/2L) \times SO(L/L^{\vee})$, where $L^{\vee}/2L$ and L/L^{\vee} are naturally nondegenerate symmetric spaces over \mathbb{F}_2 of dimension at most 5. Since p > 5 by Remark 4.1.2, the image of f then has order prime to p, and the kernel of f is clearly pro-2.

If $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V_{DQ}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, O)$ is fixed by K, it is also fixed by K', and we have $\alpha_{K',*} \circ \partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(Z(T,\varphi)_{K'}) = \alpha_{K,*} \circ \partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(Z(T,\varphi)_K)$ by Proposition 3.1.4; the lemma follows. \Box

Finally, we introduce some notation that will be used in the endoscopic case.

Notation 4.4.8. Suppose π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) . Then for any squarefree $D \ge 1$ with $\sigma(D)$ even, any S-level structure K for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$, any $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, O)^K$, and j = 1 or 2, we define $\kappa^D(1, \varphi; K)^{(j)} \subset H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_j})$ as the image of $\kappa^D(1)$ under the natural projection $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi) \to$ $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_j})$. We similarly write $\kappa^D(1; K)^{(j)}$ and $\kappa^D(1)^{(j)}$. It is easy to check that

$$\kappa^D(1,\varphi;K) = \kappa^D(1,\varphi;K)^{(1)} \oplus \kappa^D(1,\varphi;K)^{(2)},$$

etc. As usual, a subscript p is included when necessary for clarity.

5. Nonvanishing criteria for changing test functions

5.1. Setup and notation.

5.1.1. Fix a prime q, and let $k = \mathbb{C}$ or $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$, for an odd prime $p \neq q$. In the latter case we also assume fixed an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$, and assume throughout this section that

$$(5.1) q-1 \neq 0 \text{ in } k.$$

We denote by $|\cdot|^{1/2} : \mathbb{Q}_q^{\times} \to k^{\times}$ the unramified character such that $|q|^{1/2} = q^{-1/2} \in k^{\times}$, using the isomorphism ι when $k = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$.

5.1.2. Let V_m be the split quadratic space of dimension 2m+1 over \mathbb{Q}_q , with basis $v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_m, v_1^*, \ldots, v_m^*$ and pairing given by:

$$v_i \cdot v_j^* = \delta_{ij}, \quad v_i^* \cdot v_j^* = 0, \quad v_i \cdot v_j = \delta_{i0}\delta_{j0}.$$

Then $L \coloneqq \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{Z}_q} \{v_0, v_1, \dots, v_m, v_1^*, \dots, v_m^*\}$ is a self-dual lattice $L \subset V_m$. Abbreviate

(5.2)
$$G_m = \mathrm{SO}(V_m)(\mathbb{Q}_q), \ G'_n = \mathrm{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_q).$$

For any parabolic subgroup $P \subset G_m$ (resp. $P' \subset G'_n$), we write R_P (resp. $R_{P'}$) for the normalized Jacquet module functor with respect to P (resp. P').

5.1.3. Fix an integer $n \ge 1$, and consider the Weil representation on $\mathcal{S}(V^n, \mathbb{C})$ with respect to the localization, also written ψ , of our fixed global additive character of \mathbb{Q} (Notation 3.2.4). If $k = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$, we have fixed an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$, and it follows from the discussion in (3.3.2) that $\mathcal{S}(V^n, \mathbb{Z}_p) \subset \mathcal{S}(V^n, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$ is stable under $G_m \times G'_n$; reducing modulo p, we obtain the Weil representation on $\mathcal{S}(V^n, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$. Whether $k = \mathbb{C}$ or $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$, we abbreviate $\Omega_{m,n} = \mathcal{S}(V^n, k)$.

5.1.4. If π is an irreducible, admissible k-linear representation of G_m , define $\Theta_{m,n}(\pi)$ to be the $k[G'_n]$ -module such that

$$\Omega_{m,n} \twoheadrightarrow \pi \boxtimes \Theta_{m,n}(\pi)$$

is the maximal π -isotypic quotient of $\Omega_{m,n}$. Similarly, if π' is an irreducible, admissible, genuine k-linear representation of G'_n , define $\Theta_{n,m}(\pi')$ to be the $k[G_m]$ -module such that

$$\Omega_{m,n} \twoheadrightarrow \Theta_{n,m}(\pi') \boxtimes \pi'$$

is the maximal π' -isotypic quotient of $\Omega_{m,n}$.

5.1.5. Let

(5.3)
$$\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_1(\mathbb{Q}_q) \xrightarrow{g \mapsto g} \mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}$$

be the double cover described in [34, p. 1661], with canonical genuine character $\chi_{\psi} : \widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_1(\mathbb{Q}_q) \to \mu_8 \subset k^{\times}$.

5.2. The structure of the Weil representation. Consider the Schwartz spaces $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q, k)$ and $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}, k)$, viewed as representations of $\mathbb{Q}_q^\times\times\mathbb{Q}_q^\times$ via

$$(g_1, g_2) \cdot \varphi(x) = \varphi(g_1^{-1}xg_2),$$

Lemma 5.2.1. *Fix a character* $\chi : \mathbb{Q}_q^{\times} \to k^{\times}$ *.*

(1) The maximal quotient of $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}, k)$ on which the first factor of \mathbb{Q}_q^{\times} acts by χ is realized by the map

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times},k) &\to \chi \boxtimes \chi^{-1} \\ \varphi &\mapsto \int_{\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}} \varphi(t) \chi(t) \mathrm{d}^{\times} t. \end{split}$$

(2) Assume χ is nontrivial. Then the map in (1) extends uniquely to a map $f_{\chi} : S(\mathbb{Q}_q, k) \to \chi \boxtimes \chi^{-1}$ via

$$\varphi \mapsto \frac{1}{1 - \chi(g_0)} \int_{\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}} \left(\varphi(t) - \varphi(g_0^{-1}t) \right) \chi(t) \mathrm{d}^{\times}t,$$

where $g_0 \in \mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}$ is any element such that $\chi(g_0) \neq 1$. (3) For integers $a \leq b$, let $S_{a,b} \subset S(q^a \mathbb{Z}_q, k)$ be the subspace of Schwartz functions that are invariant under multiplication by \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times} and translation by $q^b\mathbb{Z}_q$. Then for distinct, nontrivial, and unramified characters $\chi_1, \ldots, \chi_m : \mathbb{Q}_q^{\times} \to k^{\times}$ with $m \leq b - a + 1$, $f_{\chi_1}, \ldots, f_{\chi_m}$ are linearly independent as functions on $S_{a,b}$.

Proof. Part (1) is elementary. For (2), we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}, k) \to \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q, k) \xrightarrow{\varphi \mapsto \varphi(0)} k \to 0,$$

which is equivariant for the trivial $\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times} \times \mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}$ -action on k. Since

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times} \times \mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}}(k, \chi \boxtimes \chi^{-1}) = 0,$$

there is at most one extension of the map in (1) to $S(\mathbb{Q}_q, k)$, and the formula given in (2) exhibits it.

For (3), let $x_i = \chi_i(q)$. A direct calculation shows that, for $\varphi \in S_{a,b}$,

$$f_{\chi_i}(\varphi) = \frac{1}{1 - x_i} \operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}) \bigg(\varphi(q^a) (x_i^a - x_i^{a+1}) + \varphi(q^{a+1}) (x_i^{a+1} - x_i^{a+2}) + \dots + \varphi(q^{b-1}) (x_i^{b-1} - x_i^b) + \varphi(q^b) x_i^b \bigg).$$

So it suffices to show that the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_1^a - x_1^{a+1} & \cdots & x_1^{b-1} - x_1^b & x_1^b \\ x_2^a - x_2^{a+1} & \cdots & x_2^{b-1} - x_2^b & x_2^b \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ x_m^a - x_m^{a+1} & \cdots & x_m^{b-1} - x_m^b & x_m^b \end{pmatrix}$$

is nondegenerate, and this follows from the Vandermonde determinant formula.

5.2.2. Assuming that $m \ge 1$, let

$$P = MN \subset G_m$$

be the parabolic subgroup stabilizing the isotropic line $\langle v_1 \rangle$. Then M is isomorphic to $\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times} \times G_{m-1}$; we normalize the isomorphism such that

(5.4)
$$(\alpha, g) \cdot v_1 = \alpha v_1, \text{ for } (\alpha, g) \in M.$$

Similarly, let $P' = M'N' \subset G'_n$ be the preimage of the stabilizer of $e_1 \in W_{2n}$ (Notation 3.2.1(1)); then M' is isomorphic to $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_1(\mathbb{Q}_q) \times_{\mu_2} G'_{n-1}$. We normalize the isomorphism so that

(5.5)
$$(\alpha, g) \cdot e_1 = \overline{\alpha} e_1, \text{ for } (\alpha, g) \in M'.$$

Lemma 5.2.3.

(1) The normalized Jacquet module $R_P(\Omega_{m,n})$ fits into an exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ind}_{M \times P'}^{M \times G'_n} \chi_{\psi} \cdot \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}, k) \boxtimes \Omega_{m-1, n-1} \to R_P(\Omega_{m, n}) \to |\cdot|^{\frac{2n-2m+1}{2}} \Omega_{m-1, n} \to 0,$$

where $|\cdot|$ is the canonical character of M, and $\chi_{\psi} \cdot S(\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}, k)$ is a $\operatorname{GL}_1(\mathbb{Q}_q) \times \widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_1(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -module with action defined by $(g, h) \cdot \varphi(t) = \chi_{\psi}(h)\varphi(g^{-1}t\overline{h})$.

(2) Similarly, the normalized Jacquet module $R_{P'}(\Omega_{m,n})$ fits into a canonical exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ind}_{P \times M'}^{G_m \times M'} \chi_{\psi} \cdot \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}, k) \boxtimes \Omega_{m-1, n-1} \to R_{P'}(\Omega_{m, n}) \to \chi_{\psi} |\cdot|^{\frac{2m-2n+1}{2}} \boxtimes \Omega_{m, n-1} \to 0.$$

Proof. When $k = \mathbb{C}$, this is [53, Theorem 2.8]; see also [34, Proposition 7.3] for our more convenient normalizations. When $k = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$, the proof in [53] applies without change because $p \neq q$.

Corollary 5.2.4.

(1) Let π_{m-1} be an irreducible admissible representation of G_{m-1} , and let $\chi_0 : \mathbb{Q}_q^{\times} \to k^{\times}$ be a character with $\chi_0 \neq |\cdot|^{\frac{2n-2m+1}{2}}$. Then for all admissible $k[G'_n]$ -modules \mathcal{M} ,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G_m \times G'_n} \left(\operatorname{Ind}_P^{G_m} \chi_0 \boxtimes \pi_{m-1} \right) \boxtimes \mathcal{M} \right) = \operatorname{Hom}_{G'_n} \left(\operatorname{Ind}_{P'}^{G'_n} \chi_{\psi} \cdot \chi_0^{-1} \boxtimes \Theta_{m-1,n-1}(\pi_{m-1}), \mathcal{M} \right)$$

In particular, if

$$\pi_m \coloneqq \operatorname{Ind}_P^{G_m} \chi_0 \boxtimes \pi_{m-1}$$

is irreducible, then

$$\Theta_{m,n}(\pi_m) = \operatorname{Ind}_{P'}^{G'_n} \chi_{\psi} \cdot \chi_0^{-1} \boxtimes \Theta_{m-1,n-1}(\pi_{m-1}).$$

(2) Similarly, let π'_{n-1} be an irreducible admissible genuine representation of G'_{n-1} and $\chi_0 \neq |\cdot|^{\frac{2m-2n+1}{2}}$ a character of \mathbb{Q}_a^{\times} . Then for all $k[G_m]$ -modules \mathcal{M} ,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G_m \times G'_n} \left(\Omega_{m,n}, \mathcal{M} \boxtimes \left(\operatorname{Ind}_{P'}^{G'_n} \chi_{\psi} \cdot \chi_0 \boxtimes \pi'_{n-1} \right) \right) = \operatorname{Hom}_{G_m} \left(\operatorname{Ind}_{P}^{G_m} \chi_0^{-1} \boxtimes \Theta_{m-1,n-1}(\pi'_{n-1}), \mathcal{M} \right).$$

In particular, if

$$\pi'_n \coloneqq \operatorname{Ind}_{P'}^{G'_n} \chi_{\psi} \chi_0 \boxtimes \pi'_{n-1}$$

is irreducible, then

$$\Theta_{n,m}(\pi'_n) = \operatorname{Ind}_P^{G_m} \chi_0^{-1} \boxtimes \Theta_{n-1,m-1}(\pi'_{n-1}).$$

Proof. This is immediate from Lemma 5.2.3 and Lemma 5.2.1(1).

5.3. Principal series over k for orthogonal and metaplectic groups. Some of the arguments in this subsection were inspired by the work of Zorn [130]. The results are new only if $k = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$.

5.3.1. Continuing the notation of (5.1.2), we now assume m = n.

Notation 5.3.2.

- (1) Let $B \subset G_n$ be the stabilizer of the maximal isotropic flag
- (5.6)

and let $B' \subset G'_n$ be the preimage of the stabilizer of the maximal isotropic flag

 $0 \subset \langle e_1 \rangle \subset \langle e_1, e_2 \rangle \subset \cdots \subset \langle e_1, \dots, e_n \rangle.$

 $0 \subset \langle v_1 \rangle \subset \langle v_1, v_2 \rangle \subset \cdots \subset \langle v_1, \dots, v_n \rangle$

(2) The Levi factor T of B is identified with $(\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^n$ via its action on the associated graded of (5.6), and similarly the Levi factor T' of B' is identified with

$$\underbrace{\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_1(\mathbb{Q}_q) \times_{\mu_2} \cdots \times_{\mu_2} \widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_1(\mathbb{Q}_q)}_{n \text{ times}}.$$

(3) For any character

$$\chi: (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^n \to k^{\times},$$

we define (normalized) principal series representations

$$I(\chi) = \operatorname{Ind}_{B}^{G_n} \chi, \quad I'(\chi) = \operatorname{Ind}_{B'}^{G'_n} \chi_{\psi} \cdot \chi.$$

(4) We write $W = S_n \rtimes (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^n$ for the Weyl group of T in G_n , which is also the Weyl group of T' in G'_n .

Lemma 5.3.3. The semi-simplified normalized Jacquet modules are

$$R_B(I(\chi))^{ss} = \bigoplus_{w \in W} \chi^w, \quad R_{B'}(I'(\chi))^{ss} = \bigoplus_{w \in W} \chi^w \chi_\psi.$$

Proof. Over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, this follows from the well-known result for \mathbb{C} ; see [130, Lemma 4.8]. Since $p \neq q$, the *p*-modular case follows by the proof of [113, Lemma 34].

Lemma 5.3.4.

(1) Any nontrivial quotient $I(\chi) \rightarrow \pi$ extends to a nontrivial intertwining operator

$$I(\chi) \twoheadrightarrow \pi \to I(\chi^w)$$

for some $w \in W$.

(2) Similarly, any nontrivial quotient $I'(\chi) \rightarrow \pi'$ extends to a nontrivial intertwining operator

$$I'(\chi) \twoheadrightarrow \pi' \to I'(\chi^w)$$

for some $w \in W$.

Proof. Let $\overline{B} \subset G_n$ and $\overline{B}' \subset G'_n$ be the opposite Borel subgroups to B, B'. Recall the "second Frobenius reciprocity"

(5.7)
$$\operatorname{Hom}(I(\chi),\pi) = \operatorname{Hom}(\chi, R_{\overline{B}}(\pi)), \quad \operatorname{Hom}(I'(\chi),\pi') = \operatorname{Hom}(\chi_{\psi}\chi, R_{\overline{B}'}(\pi')).$$

In the orthogonal case, this is [114, II.3.8(2)]. Although the result there is only stated for reductive groups, the proof can be adapted verbatim to the metaplectic case. (The key technical points are the existence of arbitrarily small compact open subgroups admitting an Iwahori factorization, and the conditions in Lemma I.8.13 of *op. cit.* All of the fundamental results on Hecke algebras in Chapter I of *op. cit.* apply to general locally profinite groups.)

Returning to the proof of the lemma, note that

$$R_{\overline{B}}(\pi) \neq 0 \iff R_B(\pi) \neq 0$$

and likewise in the metaplectic case. Hence it follows from (5.7) that any quotient $I(\chi) \twoheadrightarrow \pi$ extends to a nontrivial map

$$I(\chi) \to \pi \to I(\rho)$$

for some character ρ of $(\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^n$; by Lemma 5.3.3, ρ is a Weyl conjugate of χ , so (1) holds. The argument for (2) is identical.

Lemma 5.3.5. Suppose n = 1 and $\chi^2 \neq |\cdot|^{\pm 1}$. Then $I(\chi)$ and $I'(\chi)$ are both irreducible and $\Theta_{1,1}(I(\chi)) = I'(\chi)$.

Proof. First of all, $I(\chi)$ is irreducible by [113, Théorème 3]. Then

$$\Theta_{1,1}(I(\chi)) = I'(\chi^{-1})$$

by Corollary 5.2.4(1). Since the intertwining map $I(\chi) \to I(\chi^{-1})$ is an isomorphism by irreducibility, we have

$$I'(\chi^{-1}) \cong \Theta_{1,1}(I(\chi)) \cong \Theta_{1,1}(I(\chi^{-1})) \cong I'(\chi)$$

If $\chi^2 \neq 1$, this shows $I'(\chi)$ is irreducible by Lemma 5.3.3 and Lemma 5.3.4. If $\chi^2 = 1$, we instead use Corollary 5.2.4(1,2) to obtain

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}_{G'_1}(I'(\chi), I'(\chi)) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{G_1 \times G'_1}(\Omega_{1,1}, I(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi))$$
$$= \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{G_1}(I(\chi), I(\chi))$$
$$= 1$$

since $I(\chi) = I(\chi^{-1})$ is irreducible. This shows that the intertwining operator $I'(\chi) \to I'(\chi)$ is unique, so the lemma follows from Lemma 5.3.4.

Lemma 5.3.6. Let $\chi = \chi_1 \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_n$ be a character such that $\chi_i^2 = 1$ for some $1 \le i \le n$. Then for any submodule $\pi \subset I(\chi)$, we have

$$\chi^{\oplus 2} \subset R_B(\pi)^{ss}.$$

Similarly, for any submodule $\pi' \subset I'(\chi)$, we have

$$\chi_{\psi}\chi^{\oplus 2} \subset R_{B'}(\pi')^{ss}.$$

Proof. The orthogonal and metaplectic cases are identical, so we just prove the result for $\pi' \subset I'(\chi)$. Let $Q_i = L_i U_i \subset G'_n$ be the rank one standard parabolic subgroup corresponding to the *i*th long root of T'. Then

$$L_i \cong \underbrace{\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_1(\mathbb{Q}_q) \times_{\mu_2} \cdots \times_{\mu_2} \widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_1(\mathbb{Q}_q)}_{i-1 \text{ times}} \times_{\mu_2} G'_1 \times_{\mu_2} \underbrace{\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_1(\mathbb{Q}_q) \times_{\mu_2} \cdots \times_{\mu_2} \widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_1(\mathbb{Q}_q)}_{n-i \text{ times}},$$

Let

$$\rho = \chi_{\psi} \cdot (\chi_1 \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_{i-1}), \ \sigma = \chi_{\psi} \cdot (\chi_{i+1} \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_n).$$

Since π' admits a nonzero map to $I'(\chi)$, χ is a quotient of $R_{B'}(\pi') = R_{B'\cap L_i}R_{Q_i}(\pi')$, so we have a nontrivial intertwining operator

$$R_{Q_i}(\pi') \to \operatorname{Ind}_{B' \cap L_i}^{L_i} \chi_{\psi} \chi = \rho \boxtimes I'(\chi_i) \boxtimes \sigma.$$

This is surjective since $I'(\chi_i)$ is irreducible by Lemma 5.3.5 above. (By (5.1), we have $\chi_i^2 = \mathbb{1} \neq |\cdot|^{\pm 1}$.) By the exactness of the Jacquet functor, we conclude

$$R_{B'}(\pi')^{ss} \twoheadrightarrow R_{B'\cap L_i}(\rho \boxtimes I'(\chi_i) \boxtimes \sigma)^{ss} = \chi_{\psi}\chi^{\oplus 2}.$$

Lemma 5.3.7. Suppose $\chi = \chi_1 \boxtimes \cdots \chi_n : (\mathbb{Q}_a^{\times})^n \to k^{\times}$ is a character such that χ_i are all distinct and $\chi_i^2 = 1$ for at most one $1 \le i \le n$. Then

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(I(\chi), I(\chi^w)) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(I'(\chi), I'(\chi^w)) = 1$$

for all $w \in W$.

Proof. If the Weyl conjugates of χ are all distinct, this is automatic from Lemma 5.3.3; so assume without loss of generality that $\chi_i^2 = 1$ for exactly one $1 \le i \le n$. Then the stabilizer of χ in W has order exactly two. The argument is the same for $I(\chi)$ and $I'(\chi)$, so we consider $I(\chi)$ in order to minimize notation.

Claim. Any nontrivial map $f: I(\chi) \to I(\chi)$ is an isomorphism.

Proof of claim. Indeed, if f has nontrivial kernel, then $R_B(\ker f)^{ss}$ contains $\chi^{\oplus 2}$ by Lemma 5.3.6. But χ appears with multiplicity exactly two in $R_B(I(\chi))^{ss}$ by Lemma 5.3.3, so then $R_B(\text{Im } f)^{ss}$ does not contain χ , which is impossible since we are assuming that f is nontrivial. Hence f is injective, so

$$R_B(f): R_B(I(\chi)) \to R_B(I(\chi))$$

is injective. Since $R_B(I(\chi))$ has finite length, $R_B(f)$ is also surjective. But then coker f has trivial Jacquet module, which means coker f = 0 by Lemma 5.3.4. So f is also surjective. \square

Now by the claim, $\operatorname{End}(I(\chi))$ is a division algebra over k, and also a k-vector space of dimension

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(I(\chi), I(\chi)) \le 2$$

Since k is algebraically closed, we conclude

(5.8)
$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(I(\chi), I(\chi)) = 1.$$

Next observe that there are no non-split extensions of distinct characters of T over k. In particular, we may decompose

$$R_B(I(\chi)) = \bigoplus_{\chi^w} R_B(I(\chi))_{\chi^w},$$

where χ^w runs over the (distinct) Weyl conjugates of χ , and (5.8) implies that $R_B(I(\chi))_{\chi}$ is a non-split extension of χ by χ . The same argument applies to show $R_B(I(\chi^w))_{\chi^w}$ is a non-split extension of χ^w by χ^w for all $w \in W$. Now for any nonzero intertwining map

$$f: I(\chi) \to I(\chi^w)$$

 $R_B(\text{Im } f)^{ss}$ contains $(\chi^w)^{\oplus 2}$ by Lemma 5.3.6. Hence the induced map

$$R_B(f): R_B(I(\chi))_{\chi^w} \to R_B(I(\chi^w))_{\chi^w}$$

is surjective, in particular an isomorphism since both sides have dimension two over k. Since $R_B(I(\chi^w))_{\chi^w}$ is non-split, so is $R_B(I(\chi))_{\chi^w}$. Hence

$$\dim \operatorname{Hom}(I(\chi), I(\chi^w)) = \dim \operatorname{Hom}(R_B(I(\chi)), \chi^w) = 1$$

for all $w \in W$.

5.3.8. To state the next lemma, we use the following explicit generators for the Weyl group W:

- (i) The inversion s sending a character χ = χ₁ ⊠ · · · ⊠ χ_n to χ^s = χ₁⁻¹ ⊠ · · · ⊠ χ_n.
 (ii) For 1 ≤ i < n, the transposition w_i sending a character χ = χ₁ ⊠ · · · ⊠ χ_n to χ^{w_i} = χ₁ ⊠ · · · ⊠ $\chi_{i-1} \boxtimes \chi_{i+1} \boxtimes \chi_i \boxtimes \chi_{i+2} \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_n$

Lemma 5.3.9. Let $\chi = \chi_1 \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_n : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^n \to k^{\times}$ be a character.

(1) Suppose $\chi_1^2 \neq |\cdot|^{\pm 1}$. Then

$$I(\chi) \cong I(\chi^s)$$
 and $I'(\chi) \cong I'(\chi^s)$.

(2) Suppose
$$\chi_i/\chi_{i+1} \neq |\cdot|^{\pm 1}$$
 for some $1 \leq i < n$. Then
 $I(\chi) \cong I(\chi^{w_i})$ and $I'(\chi) \cong I'(\chi^{w_i})$.

Proof. Once again, the orthogonal and metaplectic cases are identical. We give the proof in the orthogonal case. For (1), let $P = MN \subset G_n$ be the rank one standard parabolic subgroup such that the Weyl group of M is generated by s. Then

 $M \cong G_1 \times (\mathbb{Q}_q)^{n-1}.$ Also write $\rho = \chi_2 \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_n : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^{n-1} \to k^{\times}$. Then

(5.9)
$$I(\chi) = \operatorname{Ind}_P^{G_n} \operatorname{Ind}_{B \cap M}^M \chi = \operatorname{Ind}_P^{G_n} I(\chi_1) \boxtimes \rho$$

and similarly

(5.10)
$$I(\chi^s) = \operatorname{Ind}_P^{G_n} I(\chi_1^{-1}) \boxtimes \rho.$$

By Lemma 5.3.5, $I(\chi_1)$ is irreducible, with an intertwining isomorphism to $I(\chi_1^{-1})$. By (5.9) and (5.10), this induces an isomorphism $I(\chi) \cong I(\chi^s)$. The proof of (2) is similar: let $Q_i = L_i U_i \subset G_n$ be the rank one standard parabolic with Weyl group generated by w_i . Then

$$L_i \cong \left(\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}\right)^{i-1} \times \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Q}_q) \times \left(\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}\right)^{n-i-1}$$

By [113, Théorème 3] applied to the $GL_2(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -factor of L_i , we conclude

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{B\cap L_i}^{L_i} \chi \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{B\cap L_i} \chi^{w_i}.$$

(In the metaplectic case, L_i has a $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_2(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ factor, to which we may still apply the results of *loc. cit.* with a twist by χ_{ψ} .) Then as above we obtain an isomorphism

$$I(\chi) = \operatorname{Ind}_{Q_i}^{G_n} \operatorname{Ind}_{B \cap L_i}^{L_i} \chi \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{Q_i}^{G_n} \operatorname{Ind}_{B \cap L_i}^{L_i} \chi^{w_i} = I(\chi^{w_i}).$$

Definition 5.3.10. Let $\chi = \chi_1 \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_n : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^n \to k^{\times}$ be a character.

- (1) We say χ is generic if $\chi_i \chi_j \notin \{ |\cdot|^{\pm 1}, \mathbb{1} \}$ for all $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ and $\chi_i / \chi_j \notin \{ |\cdot|^{\pm 1}, \mathbb{1} \}$ for all $1 \leq i < j \leq n$.
- (2) We say χ is almost generic if $\chi_i \chi_j, \chi_i / \chi_j \notin \{ |\cdot|^{\pm 1}, \mathbb{1} \}$ for all $1 \le i < j \le n, \chi_i^2 \neq |\cdot|^{\pm 1}$ for all $1 \le i \le n$, and $\chi_i^2 = 1$ for at most one $1 \le i \le n$.

Corollary 5.3.11. Let $\chi : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^n \to k^{\times}$ be generic or almost generic. Then:

- (1) $I(\chi) \cong I(\chi^w)$ and $I'(\chi) \cong I'(\chi^w)$ for all $w \in W$.
- (2) $I(\chi)$ and $I'(\chi)$ are both irreducible.
- (3) $\Theta(I(\chi)) = I'(\chi)$.

Proof. (1) follows from writing w as a product of generators and repeatedly applying Lemma 5.3.9. (2) follows from (1) combined with Lemmas 5.3.4 and 5.3.7. Once we have (2), it follows from repeated applications of Corollary 5.2.4(1) that

$$\Theta(I(\chi)) = I'(\chi^{-1}).$$

Then (3) follows from (1).

Definition 5.3.12. Let $\chi = \chi_1 \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_n : (\mathbb{Q}_q)^{\times} \to k^{\times}$ be a character.

- (1) We say χ is *level-raising generic* if:
 - (i) For exactly one $1 \le i_0 \le n, \chi_{i_0} = |\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}}$.
 - (ii) For all $1 \leq i < j \leq n$, $\chi_i \chi_j, \chi_i / \chi_j \notin \{|\cdot|^{\pm 1}, 1\}$. (iii) For all $i \neq i_0, \chi_i^2 \notin \{|\cdot|^{\pm 1}, 1\}$.

(2) We say χ is *almost level-raising generic* if it satisfies (i) and (ii) above, and moreover:
(iii') For all i ≠ i₀, χ_i² ≠ | · |^{±1}; and χ_i² = 1 for at most i ≠ i₀.

Notation 5.3.13. For χ almost level-raising generic, the set of Weyl conjugates $W(\chi)$ is naturally divided into two subsets: those $\chi^w = \chi'_1 \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi'_n$ such that $\chi'_i = |\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}}$ for some *i*; and those such that $\chi'_i = |\cdot|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ for some *i*. We denote these subsets by $W(\chi)^+$ and $W(\chi)^-$, respectively.

Lemma 5.3.14. Fix $\delta = + \text{ or } -$. Then for any $\chi^{w_1}, \chi^{w_2} \in W(\chi)^{\delta}$, we have $I(\chi^{w_1}) \cong I(\chi^{w_2})$ and $I'(\chi^{w_1}) \cong I'(\chi^{w_2})$.

Proof. For any $\chi^{w_1}, \chi^{w_2} \in W(\chi)^{\delta}$, we may write $w_1^{-1}w_2 = s_1 \cdots s_k$ where each s_i is one of the generators in (5.3.8) and $\chi^{w_1s_1\cdots s_i} \in W(\chi)^{\delta}$ for all $1 \le i \le k$. The lemma then follows from repeated applications of Lemma 5.3.9.

Construction 5.3.15. For any χ which is almost level-raising generic, there is a quotient $J(\chi)$ of $I(\chi)$ defined as follows. Let $Q_{i_0} = L_{i_0}U_{i_0} \subset G_n$ be the standard rank one parabolic corresponding to the short root indexed by i_0 . Then we have

(5.11)
$$L_{i_0} \cong (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^{i_0 - 1} \times G_1 \times (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^{n - i_0},$$

and by [113, Théorème 3], $\operatorname{Ind}_{T}^{L_{i_0}} \chi$ has a one-dimensional quotient

(5.12)
$$J_{i_0}(\chi) \coloneqq \chi_1 \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_{i_0-1} \boxtimes \mathbb{1} \boxtimes \chi_{i_0+1} \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_n$$

where $\mathbb{1}$ denotes the trivial representation of G_1 . We let

(5.13)
$$J(\chi) = \operatorname{Ind}_{Q_{i_0}}^{G_n} J_{i_0}(\chi).$$

To study the theta lift of $J(\chi)$, we first have the following calculation in the rank-one case.

Lemma 5.3.16. If $\mathbb{1}$ is the trivial representation of $SO(V_1)(\mathbb{Q}_q) = PGL_2(\mathbb{Q}_q)$, then

$$\Theta_{1,1}(\mathbb{1}) = I'(|\cdot|^{1/2}),$$

with the corresponding quotient

$$\mathcal{S}(V_1,k) \to \mathbb{1} \boxtimes \Theta_{1,1}(\mathbb{1})$$

induced by

$$\varphi \mapsto (g \mapsto \omega_{\psi}(1,g)\varphi(0)), \ g \in \mathrm{Mp}_2(\mathbb{Q}_q).$$

Proof. Using the injection $\mathbb{1} \hookrightarrow I(|\cdot|^{-1/2})$, we obtain by Corollary 5.2.4(1) an embedding

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G_1'}(\Theta_{1,1}(\mathbb{1}),\mathcal{M}) = \operatorname{Hom} G_1 \times G_1'(\Omega_{1,1},\mathbb{1} \boxtimes \mathcal{M}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{G_1 \times G_1'}(\Omega_{1,1}, I(|\cdot|^{-1/2}) \boxtimes \mathcal{M})$$
$$= \operatorname{Hom}_{G_1'}(I'(|\cdot|^{1/2},\mathcal{M}))$$

functorial in $k[G'_1]$ -modules \mathcal{M} . In particular, $\Theta_{1,1}(\mathbb{1})$ is a quotient of $I'(|\cdot|^{1/2})$. On the other hand, it is clear that the map in the lemma defines a nontrivial homomorphism $\Theta_{1,1}(\mathbb{1}) \to I'(|\cdot|^{1/2})$, so we have a nontrivial composite

$$I'(|\cdot|^{1/2}) \twoheadrightarrow \Theta_{1,1}(1) \to I'(|\cdot|^{1/2}).$$

This must be an isomorphism by Lemma 5.3.7, and the lemma follows.

Corollary 5.3.17. If χ is almost level-raising generic, then $J(\chi)$ is irreducible and $\Theta_{n,n}(J(\chi)) = I'(\chi)$.

Proof. First note that, by [113, p. 44], $J(\chi)$ is the image of a nonzero intertwining operator $I(\chi) \to I(\rho)$, where

$$\rho = \chi_1 \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_{i_0-1} \boxtimes \chi_{i_0}^{-1} \boxtimes \chi_{i_0+1} \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_n \in W(\chi)^-$$

If $J(\chi) \rightarrow \pi$ is a nonzero quotient, then we obtain, by Lemma 5.3.4, a nonzero intertwining operator

$$I(\chi) \twoheadrightarrow J(\chi) \twoheadrightarrow \pi \to I(\chi^w)$$

for some $w \in W$. However, Lemmas 5.3.7 and 5.3.14 show that this composite (since it is not an isomorphism) must coincide with the intertwining operator $I(\chi) \to I(\rho)$ whose image defines $J(\chi)$. In particular $J(\chi) = \pi$. So indeed $J(\chi)$ is irreducible. Then $\Theta_{n,n}(J(\chi)) = I'(\rho^{-1})$ by Lemma 5.3.16 and repeated applications of Corollary 5.2.4(1). Since $\rho^{-1} \in W(\chi)^+$, we also have $I'(\rho^{-1}) = I'(\chi)$ by Lemma 5.3.14, and this completes the proof.

5.4. Explicit theta lifting over k for principal series.

Notation 5.4.1. Given $\varphi \in \Omega_{n,n}$ and $t_1, \dots, t_n \in \mathbb{Q}_q$, define (5.14) $\overline{\varphi}(t_1, \dots, t_n) = \int_{\mathbb{Q}_q} \frac{n(n-1)}{2} \varphi(t_1v_1, t_2v_2 + a_1v_1, t_3v_3 + a_2v_1 + a_3v_2, \dots, t_nv_n + \dots + a_{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}}v_{n-1}) \mathrm{d}a_1 \cdots \mathrm{d}a_{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}},$

with v_1, \ldots, v_n as in (5.1.2) above.

A direct calculation shows that:

Lemma 5.4.2. The map $\varphi \mapsto \overline{\varphi}$ defines a morphism of $T \times T'$ -modules

$$R_{B\times B'}(\Omega_{n,n}) \to \left((|\cdot|^{-\frac{1}{2}})^{\boxtimes n} \boxtimes \chi_{\psi} \cdot (|\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\boxtimes n} \right) \otimes \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^n, k),$$

where $T \times T'$ acts on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^n, k)$ by

(5.15)
$$(x_1, \dots, x_n) \times (y_1, \dots, y_n)(f)(t_1, \dots, t_n) = f(x_1^{-1} t_1 \overline{y}_1, \dots, x_n^{-1} t_n \overline{y}_n).$$

Definition 5.4.3. For any character $\chi = \chi_1 \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \chi_n : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^n \to k^{\times}$ with $\chi_i \neq |\cdot|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ for all *i*, we consider the following condition on $\varphi \in \Omega_{n,n}$:

$$(C_{\chi}) \quad \text{There exists } g \in G'_n \text{ such that } f_{\chi}(\overline{\omega_{\psi}(1,g)\varphi}) \neq 0, \text{ where} \\ f_{\chi} : \left((|\cdot|^{-\frac{1}{2}})^{\boxtimes n} \boxtimes \chi_{\psi} \cdot (|\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\boxtimes n} \right) \otimes \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^n,k) \to \chi \boxtimes \chi_{\psi} \cdot \chi^{-1}$$

is the unique projection deduced from Lemma 5.2.1.

The map f_{χ} also exists and is unique without the assumption $\chi_i \neq |\cdot|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$, so (C_{χ}) makes sense for all χ ; this is elementary but not needed in our applications.

5.4.4. Let $K \subset G_n$ be the hyperspecial subgroup stabilizing the self-dual lattice $L \subset V_n$ (5.1.2).

Lemma 5.4.5. Let $\chi : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^n \to k^{\times}$ be almost generic and unramified, and suppose $\varphi \in \Omega_{n,n}^K$ satisfies condition (C_{χ}) . Also let \mathcal{M} be any admissible $k[G'_n]$ -module. Then, for any nonzero map

$$\theta:\Omega_{n,n}\to I(\chi)\boxtimes\mathcal{M}$$

of $k[G_n \times G'_n]$ -modules, we have

$$\theta(\varphi) \neq 0.$$

Proof. Since $I(\chi)$ is irreducible, Corollary 5.3.11 implies that θ factors as

$$\Omega_{n,n} \xrightarrow{\theta_0} I(\chi) \boxtimes \Theta_{n,n}(I(\chi)) \cong I(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi) \xrightarrow{f} I(\chi) \boxtimes \mathcal{M}$$

for some map of G'_n -modules

$$f: I'(\chi) \to \mathcal{M}.$$

Then since $I'(\chi)$ is also irreducible, it suffices to show $\theta_0(\varphi) \neq 0$. Now, by Lemma 5.4.2, the map

$$\chi \mapsto \left((h,g) \mapsto f_{\chi}(\overline{\omega_{\psi}(h,g)\varphi}) \right)$$

gives a $(G_n \times G'_n)$ -intertwining map

$$F_{\chi}: \Omega_{n,n} \to I(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi^{-1}) \cong I(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi).$$

Since F_{χ} is not identically zero, Corollary 5.3.11 shows that θ_0 coincides with F_{χ} up to a nonzero scalar; in particular $\theta_0(\varphi) \neq 0$ if and only if $F_{\chi}(\varphi) \neq 0$. Then because φ is *K*-spherical, $F_{\chi}(\varphi) \neq 0$ if and only if there exists $g \in G'_n$ with $f_{\chi}(\overline{\omega_{\psi}(1,g)\varphi}) \neq 0$, which is condition (C_{χ}) .

Similarly, we have:

Lemma 5.4.6. Let $\chi : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^n \to k^{\times}$ be almost level-raising generic and unramified, and suppose $\varphi \in \Omega_{n,n}^K$ satisfies condition (C_{χ}) . Then, for any nonzero map

$$\theta:\Omega_{n,n}\to J(\chi)\boxtimes\mathcal{M}$$

of $k[G_n \times G'_n]$ -modules, we have

$$\theta(\varphi) \neq 0.$$

Proof. Since $J(\chi)$ is irreducible by Corollary 5.3.17, the map θ factors as

$$\Omega_{n,n} \twoheadrightarrow J(\chi) \boxtimes \Theta_{n,n}(J(\chi)) \cong J(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi) \xrightarrow{J} J(\chi) \boxtimes \mathcal{M}$$

for some map of G'_n -modules

$$f: I'(\chi) \to \mathcal{M}.$$

By Lemma 5.3.4, we may assume without loss of generality that $f : I'(\chi) \to I'(\chi^w)$ is an intertwining operator. Then by Lemmas 5.3.7 and 5.3.14, we see that it suffices to show φ has nonzero image under the map

$$\theta_0: \Omega_{n,n} \to J(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi) \to J(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi^{-1}).$$

By Lemma 5.4.2, the map

$$\varphi \mapsto \left((h,g) \mapsto f_{\chi}(\overline{\omega_{\psi}(h,g)\chi}) \right)$$

gives a $(G_n \times G'_n)$ -intertwining map

$$F_{\chi}: \Omega_{n,n} \to I(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi^{-1}).$$

As in the proof of Lemma 5.4.5, since φ is K-invariant, condition (C_{χ}) is equivalent to $F_{\chi}(\varphi) \neq 0$. Now project to obtain a composite

$$F'_{\chi}: \Omega_{n,n} \xrightarrow{F_{\chi}} I(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi^{-1}) \to J(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi^{-1}).$$

Now we observe that any K-spherical vector in $I(\chi)$ has nonzero image in $J(\chi)$; indeed, by the construction of $J(\chi)$ it suffices to show this when n = 1, in which case it is clear from the explicit intertwining operator in [113, p. 44] and the assumption $q^2 - 1 \neq 0$ in k. In particular, we have $F'_{\chi}(\varphi) \neq 0$ if and only if $F_{\chi}(\varphi) \neq 0$. On the other hand, F'_{χ} must factor as

$$F'_{\chi}: \Omega_{n,n} \to J(\chi) \boxtimes \Theta_{n,n}(J(\chi)) \to J(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi^{-1});$$

the map $\Theta_{n,n}(J(\chi)) = I'(\chi) \to I'(\chi^{-1})$ is unique by Lemma 5.3.7, so F'_{χ} coincides with θ_0 up to a nonzero scalar. Hence $\theta_0(\chi) \neq 0$ is equivalent to (C_{χ}) .

5.4.7. We end this subsection with a convenient shortcut that we will use to check condition (C_{χ}) in the characteristic zero, non-level-raising case.

Lemma 5.4.8. Suppose $k = \mathbb{C}$ and let $\chi : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^2 \to k^{\times}$ be generic and unramified. Assume that $\varphi \in \Omega_{2,2}^K$ satisfies:

- (1) For all $x, y \in V$, we have $\varphi(x, y) \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$.
- (2) φ is supported on $L \times q^{-1}L$ and invariant under translations by $qL \times q^2L$.
- (3) There exist elements $x, y \in V$ with $y \cdot v_1 = 0$ and $\varphi(x, y) \neq 0$.

Then there exists $\chi^w \in W(\chi)$ such that φ satisfies condition (C_{χ^w}) .

Proof. Let w_0 be the Weyl element in (3.3.1); then

$$\overline{\omega_{\psi}(1,w_0)\varphi} \in \left((|\cdot|^{-\frac{1}{2}})^{\boxtimes 2} \boxtimes \chi_{\psi} \cdot (|\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\boxtimes 2} \right) \otimes \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^2,k)$$

is a unit multiple of the function

$$c(t_1, t_2) = \int_{V^2} \int_{\mathbb{Q}_q} \varphi(x, y) \psi \left(t_1 x \cdot v_1 + t_2 y \cdot v_2 + a y \cdot v_1 \right) \mathrm{d}a \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y$$

= $\mathrm{Vol} \left\{ q^{-2} \mathbb{Z}_q \right\} \int_{V^2} \varphi(x, y) \psi \left(t_1 x \cdot v_1 + t_2 y \cdot v_2 \right) \cdot \mathbb{1}_{y \cdot v_1 \in q^2 \mathbb{Z}_q} \mathrm{d}a \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y.$

By condition (2) of the lemma, c is supported on $q^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_q \times q^{-2}\mathbb{Z}_q$ and invariant under translations by $\mathbb{Z}_q \times q\mathbb{Z}_q$. Note that the conditions of the lemma together imply that $c(\mathbb{Z}_q, q\mathbb{Z}_q) \neq 0$. From this, we will deduce that $f_{\chi^w}(c) \neq 0$ for some Weyl conjugate χ^w of χ , which will show the lemma.

Indeed, write $\chi = \chi_1 \boxtimes \chi_2$ and $\chi^w = \chi_1^w \boxtimes \chi_2^w$ for $w \in W$. Then

$$f_{\chi^w}(c) = f_{|\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}}\chi_1^w} \left(f_{|\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}}\chi_2^w} c(t_1, \cdot) \right)$$

(where the functions on the right are defined in Lemma 5.2.1(2)). Now, because $c(\mathbb{Z}_q, q\mathbb{Z}_q) \neq 0$, $c(1, \cdot)$ is a nonzero element of the four-dimensional k-vector space $S_{-2,1}$ from Lemma 5.2.1(3). Since $\chi_2^w |\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}}$ takes on four distinct nontrivial values as w ranges over W, we may therefore replace χ with a Weyl conjugate such that $d \coloneqq f_{|\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}}\chi_2} c(t_1, \cdot)$ is not identically zero. Since d lies in $S_{-1,0}$ as a function of t_1 , Lemma 5.2.1(3) again implies that either $f_{|\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}}\chi_1}(d)$ or $f_{|\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}}\chi_1^{-1}}(d)$ is nonzero. This concludes the proof because $\chi_1^{-1} \boxtimes \chi_2$ is Weyl-conjugate to χ .

5.5. Applications to formal theta lifts.

5.5.1. For this subsection, fix the following data:

- A quadratic space V of trivial discriminant and dimension $2n + 1 \ge 3$.
- A neat compact open subgroup $K = \prod K_{\ell} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A})$.
- An odd prime q such that K_q is hyperspecial.
- A subring R ⊂ C which is either C, or a finite flat extension of Z
 _p (embedded into C by a choice of isomorphism ι : Q
 _p ~ C). In the latter case we assume the pro-order of K_q is prime to p. Let ware constrained in the maximal ideal (so ware 0 if R = C), and write k := R/ware.
- A character $\chi : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^n \to k^{\times}$ that is either almost generic or almost level-raising generic (Definition 5.3.10 and Definition 5.3.12).

With these data, we make the following notation:

Notation 5.5.2.

- (1) Write $\mathbb{T}_q := \mathbb{T}_{\mathrm{GSpin}_{2n+1},q,R}$. Let $\mathfrak{m}_{\chi} \subset \mathbb{T}_q$ be the maximal ideal corresponding to χ ; explicitly, \mathfrak{m}_{χ} is the annihilator of the unique spherical vector in $I(\chi)$.
- (2) For any ring A, $\mathbb{1}_A$ denotes the trivial $A[K_q]$ -module.

Lemma 5.5.3. We have

$$\operatorname{c-Ind}_{K_q}^{\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)} \mathbb{1}_R \otimes_{\mathbb{T}_q,\mathfrak{m}_{\chi}} k \cong I(\chi)$$

as k-linear representations of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$.

Proof. Write

$$\pi_{\chi} \coloneqq \operatorname{c-Ind}_{K_q}^{\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)} \mathbb{1}_R \otimes_{\mathbb{T}_q, \mathfrak{m}_{\chi}} k.$$

Then we have a map $f : \pi_{\chi} \to I(\chi)$, sending the generator of π_{χ} to the unique spherical vector. The first claim is that f is surjective. Indeed, if χ is almost generic, this is automatic by Corollary 5.3.11. If χ is almost level-raising generic, then $I(\chi)$ has no K_q -spherical submodules: since taking the K_q -invariants is exact, $J(\chi)$ is the unique K_q -spherical constituent, and it cannot be both a quotient and a submodule by Lemma 5.3.7. So indeed f is surjective.

It remains to prove f is injective. Because π_{χ} is generated by K_q -spherical vectors, every $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ stable subspace $V \subset \pi_{\chi}$ satisfies $R_B(V) \neq 0$; for instance, this follows from [114, Corollaire II.3.5] combined with (I.3.15) of *op. cit.* Thus it suffices to show $R_B(f)$ is injective, or equivalently that

$$\dim_k R_B(\pi_\chi) = \dim_k R_B(I(\chi)) = |W| = n! \cdot 2^n.$$

To compute the dimension of $R_B(\pi_{\chi})$, note that $R_B(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{K_q}^{\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)} \mathbb{1}_k) = k[X^{\bullet}(\widehat{T})]$ by the Iwasawa decomposition for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$, and the action of $\mathbb{T}_q \otimes_R k$ is the natural one under the Satake isomorphism

$$\mathbb{T}_q \otimes_R k \xrightarrow{\sim} k[X^{\bullet}(\widehat{T})]^W$$

Since $k[X^{\bullet}(\widehat{T})]$ is a finite flat $k[X^{\bullet}(\widehat{T})]^W$ -algebra of degree |W|, we have

$$\dim R_B(\pi_{\chi}) = \dim \left(k[X^{\bullet}(\widehat{T})] \otimes_{k[X^{\bullet}(\widehat{T})]^W, \mathfrak{m}_{\chi}} k \right) = |W|$$

as desired.

Notation 5.5.4. For all $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, R)$, let $\overline{\varphi}$ be its image in $\mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, k)$.

(Despite the conflict with Notation 5.4.1, we hope that the meaning will always be clear from context.)

5.5.5. For the next proposition, recall the notation on formal theta lifts from §3.5.

Proposition 5.5.6. Let $\alpha \in \text{Test}_K(V, R)$ be a test vector and $n_0 \ge 1$ an integer such that:

- (1) $\Theta(\alpha, \varphi) \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\varpi_R^{n_0}}$ for some $\varphi = \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, R)^K$.
- (2) For all $h \in \mathfrak{m}_{\chi} \subset \mathbb{T}_q$ and all $\varphi'_q \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, R)^{K_q}$,

$$\Theta(h \cdot \alpha, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi'_q) \equiv 0 \pmod{\varpi_R^{n_0}}.$$

Then for any $\varphi_q^{\circ} \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, R)^{K_q}$ such that $\overline{\varphi}_q^{\circ}$ satisfies condition (C_{χ}) ,

$$\Theta(\alpha, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^\circ) \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\varpi_R^{n_0}}.$$

Proof. For all $f \in \text{c-Ind}_{K_q}^{\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)} \mathbb{1}_R$, we can consider the convolution

$$f * \alpha \in \operatorname{Test}_{K^q}(V, R)$$

(notation as in (3.5.3)). By Proposition 3.5.4, the map

defined by

$$(f, \varphi'_q) \mapsto \Theta(f * \alpha, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi'_q)$$

is $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q) \times \operatorname{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -equivariant. By condition (2) of the proposition applied to $h = \varpi_R \in \mathfrak{m}_{\chi}$, the image of (5.16) is contained in $\varpi_R^{n_0-1}M_{n+\frac{1}{2},R}^n$. Abbreviate

$$\mathcal{M} \coloneqq \frac{\varpi_R^{n_0-1} M_{n+\frac{1}{2},R}^n}{\varpi_R^{n_0} M_{n+\frac{1}{2},R}^n}$$

Reducing modulo ϖ_R , (5.16) induces a map

which remains a map of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q) \times \operatorname{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -modules by Proposition 3.4.6. Now note that condition (2) of the proposition implies (5.17) factors through the quotient

$$\operatorname{c-Ind}_{K_q}^{\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)} \mathbbm{1}_k \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{c-Ind}_{K_q}^{\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)} \mathbbm{1}_k \otimes_{\mathbb{T}_q, \mathfrak{m}_{\chi}} k \cong I(\chi)$$

(Lemma 5.5.3). By duality [114, p. 96, Propriété (vi)], (5.17) is equivalent to a nonzero map

 $\theta: \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, k) \to I(\chi^{-1}) \otimes \mathcal{M}$

and, for $\varphi_q^{\circ} \in \mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, R)^{K_q}$, we have

$$\Theta(\alpha, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^\circ) \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\varpi_R^{n_0}} \iff \theta(\overline{\varphi}_q^\circ) \neq 0$$

If χ is almost generic, the proposition therefore follows from Corollary 5.3.11 and Lemma 5.4.5. So assume instead that χ is almost level-raising generic.

Claim. Let \mathcal{M} be any admissible $k[\operatorname{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_q)]$ -module. Then every map of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q) \times \operatorname{Mp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -modules

$$\mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, k) \to I(\chi^{-1}) \boxtimes \mathcal{M}$$

factors as

$$\mathcal{S}(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, k) \to J(\chi) \boxtimes \mathcal{M} \to I(\chi^{-1}) \boxtimes \mathcal{M}.$$

Given the claim, the proposition follows from Lemma 5.4.6, because $J(\chi) \hookrightarrow I(\chi^{-1})$ is injective (cf. the proof of Corollary 5.3.17).

Let us now prove the claim. Since the statement is purely local in nature, we resume our local abbreviation $\Omega_{n,n} = S(V^n \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, k)$. The claim is also insensitive to replacing χ with any $\chi^w \in W(\chi)^+$ (by Lemma 5.3.14), so suppose without loss of generality that $\chi = |\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}} \boxtimes \rho$ for some almost generic character $\rho : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^n \to k^{\times}$. Apply Corollary 5.2.4(1) with $\chi_0 = |\cdot|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ and $\pi_{m-1} = I(\rho) \cong I(\rho^{-1})$. Since $\Theta_{n-1,n-1}(I(\rho)) = I'(\rho)$ by Corollary 5.3.11, we obtain an isomorphism

(5.18)
$$\operatorname{Hom}(\Omega_{n,n}, I(\chi^{-1}) \boxtimes \mathcal{M}) = \operatorname{Hom}(I'(\chi), \mathcal{M})$$

that is functorial in \mathcal{M} . So it suffices to show the claim with $\mathcal{M} = I'(\chi)$. But in this case, (5.18) combined with Lemma 5.3.7 shows that there is a unique non-zero map

(5.19)
$$\Omega_{n,n} \to I(\chi^{-1}) \boxtimes I'(\chi).$$

Since $J(\chi)$ injects into $I(\chi^{-1})$, we also have the map induced by the theta lift

$$\Omega_{n,n} \to J(\chi) \boxtimes \Theta_{n,n}(J(\chi)) \cong J(\chi) \boxtimes I'(\chi) \to I(\chi^{-1}) \boxtimes I'(\chi);$$

this must coincide with (5.19) up to a nonzero scalar, which shows the claim.

5.6. Main result on changing test functions.

61

5.6.1. Let π , S, and E_0 be as in Notation 4.0.1, and fix a prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , which we suppress from all the notation in this subsection. Fix an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ inducing the prime \mathfrak{p} , and let $R \subset \overline{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ be the ring of integers of the maximal unramified extension of $O = O_{\mathfrak{p}}$.

We apply the results of §5.5 to study the behavior of $\lambda_n^D(Q, \varphi; K)$ and $\kappa_n^D(Q, \varphi; K)$ as φ changes locally at a prime $q \nmid Q$.

Proposition 5.6.2. Suppose q is an admissible prime. Then there exists an unramified character $\chi : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^2 \to \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p^{\times}$ such that χ is almost level-raising generic, and the corresponding maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}_{\chi} \subset \mathbb{T}_{q,R}$ contains the kernel of the Hecke action on the unique spherical vector of π_q .

Proof. Because π_q is unramified with trivial central character, we have $\pi_q = I(\tilde{\chi})$ for an unramified character $\tilde{\chi} : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^2 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, uniquely determined up to Weyl action. Write $\alpha = \iota^{-1}\tilde{\chi}(q, 1), \beta = \iota^{-1}\tilde{\chi}(1, q)$; then by Theorem 2.2.10(1), $\rho_{\pi}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ has eigenvalues $\alpha q^{1/2}, \beta q^{1/2}, \alpha^{-1}q^{1/2}, \beta^{-1}q^{1/2}$, which lie in $\overline{\mathbb{Z}}_p^{\times} \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{\times}$. By the admissibility of q, we may assume without loss of generality that

(5.20)
$$\alpha q^{1/2} \equiv q \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}, \ \beta q^{1/2} \not\equiv \pm q, \pm 1, q^2, q^{-1} \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}.$$

We define the character χ to be the reduction modulo p of $\iota^{-1}\tilde{\chi}$, and the conditions (5.20) exactly correspond to χ being almost level-raising generic.

Corollary 5.6.3. Suppose Qq is admissible with $\nu(DQ)$ odd, and fix an S-level structure K for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$. Let $\varphi_q^{\circ} \in \mathcal{S}(V_{DQ}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, O)^{K_q}$ be a test function whose image in $\mathcal{S}(V_{DQ}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ satisfies condition (C_{χ}) , where $\chi : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^2 \to \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p^{\times}$ is the almost level-raising generic character of Proposition 5.6.2. Then for all $n \ge 1$ and all $\varphi = \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q \in \mathcal{S}(V_{DQ}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, O)^K$, we have

$$\lambda_n^D(Q, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^\circ; K) \supset \lambda_n^D(Q, \varphi; K).$$

Remark 5.6.4. The same corollary holds for $\kappa_n^D(Q, -)$ if $\nu(DQ)$ is even, but this version will not be used for the main results.

Proof. Suppose $\lambda_n^D(Q,\varphi;K) = (\varpi^{n_0-1})$ for some $1 \le n_0$; without loss of generality we may assume $n_0 \le n$ and that

$$\lambda_n^D(Q,\varphi^q\otimes\varphi_q';K)\equiv 0 \pmod{\varpi^{n_0-1}}$$

for all $\varphi'_q \in \mathcal{S}(V_{DQ}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, O)^{K_q}$.

Now choose a vector $\alpha \in \text{Test}_K(V_{DQ}, \pi, O/\varpi^n)$ such that $\alpha(Z(T, \varphi)_K)$ generates $\lambda_n^D(Q, \varphi; K)$ for some $T \in \text{Sym}_2(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}$. Lift α arbitrarily to an O-valued test function $\tilde{\alpha} \in \text{Test}_K(V_{DQ}, O)$. Recall $R \subset \overline{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ is the ring of integers of the maximal unramified extension of O, and let $f_\pi : \mathbb{T}_{q,R} \to R$ be the character associated with the Hecke eigenvalues of π_q , so that $f_\pi(h) \in (\varpi)$ for all $h \in \mathfrak{m}_{\chi} \subset \mathbb{T}_{q,R}$. Then for $h \in \mathfrak{m}_{\chi}$ and $\varphi'_q \in \mathcal{S}(V_{DQ}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, O)^{K_q}$, we have

$$\Theta(h \cdot \widetilde{\alpha}, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi'_q) \equiv f_{\pi}(h) \Theta(\widetilde{\alpha}, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi'_q) \equiv 0 \pmod{\varpi^{n_0}}$$

so we may apply Proposition 5.5.6 to conclude. (Note that because $q^4 \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p}$, p does not divide the pro-order of K_{q} .)

We now give an analogue of Corollary 5.6.3 in characteristic zero, which requires Q = 1.

Proposition 5.6.5. Suppose $q \notin S$ is a prime such that $\rho_{\pi}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ has distinct eigenvalues. Let $\chi : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^2 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be the unramified character, well-defined up to W-action, such that π_q is a constituent of $I(\chi)$. Then χ is generic.

Proof. The proof is similar to Proposition 5.6.2, using that $|\alpha| = |\beta| = 1$ because π_q is tempered by Theorem 2.2.10(1).

Corollary 5.6.6. Let $D \ge 1$ be squarefree with $\nu(D)$ even, and suppose $q \notin S \cup \operatorname{div}(D)$ is a prime such that $\rho_{\pi}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ has distinct eigenvalues. Fix an S-level structure K for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$, and let $\varphi_q^{\circ} \in S(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \mathbb{Z})^{K_q}$ be a test function whose image in $S(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \mathbb{C})^{K_q}$ satisfies the hypotheses of Lemma 5.4.8, or more generally condition (C_{χ}) , where $\chi : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^2 \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ is the generic character of Proposition 5.6.5. Then for all $\varphi = \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q \in S(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, O)^K$,

$$\kappa^D(1,\varphi;K) \neq 0 \implies \kappa^D(1,\varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^\circ;K) \neq 0$$

Proof. The argument is similar to Corollary 5.6.3. First fix a vector $\alpha \in \text{Test}_K(V_D, \pi, O)$ with $\alpha_* \circ \partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(Z(T,\varphi)_K) \neq 0$ for some $T \in \text{Sym}_2(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}$. Because $H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi)$ is torsion-free by Lemma 4.1.6(1), we may choose a linear functional $\beta : H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi) \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ such that $\beta(\alpha_* \circ \partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(Z(T,\varphi)_K)) \neq 0$. Let $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \text{Test}_K(V_D, \mathbb{C})$ denote the composite map

$$\operatorname{CH}^{2}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V_{D})) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\operatorname{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}} H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}, H^{3}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V_{D})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}) \xrightarrow{\alpha_{*}} H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi}) \xrightarrow{\beta} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p} \xrightarrow{\iota} \mathbb{C}.$$

Then $\widetilde{\alpha}$ is Hecke-equivariant because α is so. Let $\varphi'_q \in \mathcal{S}(V_{DQ}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \mathbb{C})^{K_q}$ be any vector. By the Heckeequivariance of $\widetilde{\alpha}$, we have $\Theta(h \cdot \widetilde{\alpha}, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi'_q) = 0$ for all $h \in \mathfrak{m}_{\chi}$ (Notation 5.5.2), with $R = \mathbb{C}, \varpi_R = 0$. We can now apply Proposition 5.5.6 to conclude.

With essentially the same proof, we have the following in the endoscopic case:

Corollary 5.6.7. With the setup of Corollary 5.6.6, suppose π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) . Then for all $\varphi = \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, O)^K$ and j = 1 or 2, we have

$$\kappa^D(1,\varphi;K)^{(j)} \neq 0 \implies \kappa^D(1,\varphi^q \otimes \varphi_a^\circ;K)^{(j)} \neq 0.$$

6. The ramified GSpin₅ Rapoport-Zink space

6.1. The moduli problem.

6.1.1. Fix a prime q > 2, and let \mathcal{O}_q be the unique maximal order in the non-split quaternion algebra B over \mathbb{Q}_q . Suppose given a q-divisible group \mathbb{X} over $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ of dimension 4 and height 8, equipped with an action $\iota_{\mathbb{X}} : \mathcal{O}_q \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{X})$ and a principal polarization $\lambda_{\mathbb{X}} : \mathbb{X} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{X}^{\vee}$ such that the Rosati involution * of $\operatorname{End}(\mathbb{X})$ induces a nebentype involution on \mathcal{O}_q of *unit type* (Definition 1.2.9).

Definition 6.1.2. Let Nilp be the category of schemes over \mathbb{Z}_q on which q is locally nilpotent. Let \mathcal{N} : Nilp \rightarrow Set be the functor sending $S \in$ Nilp to the set of isomorphism classes of tuples $(X, \iota, \lambda, \rho)$ where:

- (i) X is a q-divisible group of dimension 4 and height 8 over S.
- (ii) $\iota : \mathcal{O}_q \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(X/S)$ is an \mathcal{O}_q -action such that

$$\det(T - \iota(\alpha) | \operatorname{Lie}(X)) = (T^2 - \operatorname{tr}(\alpha)T + N(\alpha))^2, \quad \forall \alpha \in \mathcal{O}_q.$$

- (iii) $\lambda : X \xrightarrow{\sim} X^{\vee}$ is a principal polarization such that the Rosati involution on End(X/S) extends the involution * on \mathcal{O}_q .
- (iv) If $\overline{S} = S \times_{\mathbb{Z}_q} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ denotes the mod q fiber, then ρ is an \mathcal{O}_q -linear quasi-isogeny

$$\rho: X \times_S \overline{S} \to \mathbb{X} \times_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_a} \overline{S}$$

such that $\rho^{\vee} \circ \lambda_{\mathbb{X}} \circ \rho = c(\rho)\lambda$ for some $c(\rho) \in \mathbb{Q}_q^{\times}$.

The functor \mathcal{N} is studied in [118]; in this section, we will recall the key points, and prove additional properties needed for our applications.

6.1.3. The functor \mathcal{N} is represented by a formal scheme over $\operatorname{Spf} \mathbb{Z}_q$, locally formally of finite type, which admits a decomposition into open and closed formal subschemes

(6.1)
$$\mathcal{N} = \sqcup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{N}(i)$$

according to the q-adic valuation of $c(\rho)$.

6.1.4. Let $\sigma : \mathbb{Z}_q \to \mathbb{Z}_q$ denote the *arithmetic* Frobenius, lifting the *q*th power map on \mathbb{F}_q . The formal scheme \mathcal{N} is equipped with a canonical Weil descent datum $\varphi : \mathcal{N} \xrightarrow{\sim} \sigma^* \mathcal{N}$ over \mathbb{Z}_q , which we now recall. On *S*-points, φ is given by the isomorphism $\varphi(S) : \mathcal{N}(S) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{N}((\sigma^{-1})^*S)$, which sends $(X, \iota, \lambda, \rho) \in \mathcal{N}(S)$ to $((\sigma^{-1})^*X, (\sigma^{-1})^*\iota, (\sigma^{-1})^*\lambda, \rho \circ F_{X/\overline{S}})$, where

$$F_{X/\overline{S}}: (\sigma^{-1})^* X_{\overline{S}} \to X_{\overline{S}}$$

is the relative Frobenius. Since $c(\rho \circ F_{X/\overline{S}}) = c(\rho) + 1$, φ restricts to an isomorphism

$$\varphi_i : \mathcal{N}(i) \xrightarrow{\sim} \sigma^* \mathcal{N}(i+1)$$

for each $i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

6.2. The Bruhat-Tits stratification.

6.2.1. Let \mathcal{M} denote the underlying reduced scheme of $\mathcal{N}(0)$. We now recall the description in [118] of the stratification of \mathcal{M} in terms of lattices in the isocrystal N of our fixed q-divisible group X. By the assumption that the involution * on \mathcal{O}_q is of unit type, we may choose coordinates

$$\mathcal{O}_q = \mathbb{Z}_{q^2} \oplus \Pi \mathbb{Z}_{q^2},$$

where $\alpha^* = \Pi \alpha \Pi^{-1} = \sigma \alpha$ for $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{q^2}$, $\Pi^* = \Pi$, and $\Pi^2 = q$.

6.2.2. Label the two embeddings of \mathbb{Z}_{q^2} into \mathbb{Z}_q by j_{\bullet} and j_{\circ} . Then we have a decomposition

$$(6.3) N = N_{\bullet} \oplus N_{\circ}$$

where $\iota(\alpha) = j_?(\alpha)$ on $N_?$ for $? = \bullet, \circ$. Each of N_{\bullet} and N_{\circ} is an isocrystal of dimension 4 and slope $\frac{1}{2}$. The polarization λ_X induces a pairing

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : N \otimes N \to \check{\mathbb{Q}}_q = \check{\mathbb{Z}}_q \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q$$

with respect to which N_{\bullet} and N_{\circ} are each isotropic (since * is nontrivial on $\mathbb{Z}_{q^2} \subset \mathcal{O}_q$). Define a new pairing

(6.4)
$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\bullet} : N_{\bullet} \otimes N_{\bullet} \to \check{\mathbb{Q}}_{q}$$

by

 $\langle x, y \rangle_{\bullet} = \langle x, \Pi y \rangle.$

Then $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\bullet}$ is symplectic and non-degenerate.

The operators Π and V on N both interchange N_{\bullet} and N_{\circ} , so the operator

(6.5)
$$\tau \coloneqq \Pi V^{-1}$$

stabilizes N_{\bullet} ; moreover

(6.6)
$$\langle \tau x, \tau y \rangle_{\bullet} = \langle x, y \rangle_{\bullet}^{\sigma}$$

where again σ is the arithmetic Frobenius of $\check{\mathbb{Q}}_q$. Hence $W \coloneqq N_{\bullet}^{\tau=1}$ is a 4-dimensional \mathbb{Q}_q -vector space equipped with a \mathbb{Q}_q -valued symplectic form, such that $N_{\bullet} = W \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_q} \check{\mathbb{Q}}_q$.

Definition 6.2.3. For a lattice $\Lambda \subset W$, denote the \mathbb{Z}_q -dual lattice by Λ^{\vee} . We define the following families of lattices in W:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}} &= \left\{ \text{lattices } \Lambda \subset W \text{ s.t. } \Lambda = \Lambda^{\vee} \right\}. \\ \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}} &= \left\{ \text{lattices } \Lambda \subset W \text{ s.t. } \Lambda = q\Lambda^{\vee} \right\}. \\ \mathcal{L}_{\{02\}} &= \left\{ \text{pairs of lattices } \Lambda_0, \Lambda_2 \subset W \text{ s.t. } q\Lambda_0 = q\Lambda_0^{\vee} \subset_2 q\Lambda_2^{\vee} = \Lambda_2 \subset_2 \Lambda_0 \right\} \\ \mathcal{L}_{\{1\}} &= \left\{ \text{lattices } \Lambda_1 \subset W \text{ s.t. } q\Lambda_1^{\vee} \subset_2 \Lambda_1 \subset_2 \Lambda_1^{\vee} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Here, the notation $\Lambda \subset_n \Lambda'$ was defined in (1.1.8).

Theorem 6.2.4. The underlying reduced scheme \mathcal{M} of $\mathcal{N}(0)$ admits a stratification

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}^0_{\{0\}} \sqcup \mathcal{M}^0_{\{2\}} \sqcup \mathcal{M}^0_{\{02\}} \sqcup \mathcal{M}^0_{\{1\}},$$

with a decomposition into open and closed subschemes

$$\mathcal{M}^0_? = \bigsqcup_{y \in \mathcal{L}_?} \mathcal{M}^0_?(y)$$

for each ? = {0}, {2}, {02}, {1}, satisfying the following conditions (where $\mathcal{M}_{?}$ and $\mathcal{M}_{?}(y)$ denote the Zariski closures of $\mathcal{M}_{?}^{0}$ and $\mathcal{M}_{?}^{0}(y)$, respectively):

(1) For $? = \{0\}$ or $\{2\}$ and each $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_?$, $\mathcal{M}_?(\Lambda)$ is isomorphic to the smooth projective hypersurface in $\mathbb{P}^3_{\mathbb{R}_+}$ defined by the equation

$$X_3^q X_0 - X_0^q X_3 + X_2^q X_1 - X_1^q X_2.$$

The scheme \mathcal{M} *is the union* $\mathcal{M}_{\{0\}} \cup \mathcal{M}_{\{2\}}$ *.*

(2) Given $\Lambda_0 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}$ and $\Lambda_2 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$, $\mathcal{M}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda_0)$ meets $\mathcal{M}_{\{2\}}(\Lambda_2)$ if and only if $(\Lambda_0, \Lambda_2) \in \mathcal{L}_{\{02\}}$, in which case the intersection is transverse and

$$\mathcal{M}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda_0) \cap \mathcal{M}_{\{2\}}(\Lambda_2) = \mathcal{M}_{\{02\}}(\Lambda_0, \Lambda_2).$$

For each $(\Lambda_0, \Lambda_2) \in \mathcal{L}_{\{02\}}$, $\mathcal{M}_{\{02\}}(\Lambda_0, \Lambda_2)$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}^1_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$, and both of the resulting embeddings $\mathbb{P}^1_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^3_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ are linear.

- (3) For each $\Lambda_1 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{1\}}$, $\mathcal{M}^0_{\{1\}}(\Lambda_1) = \mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}(\Lambda_1)$ is an isolated point. Given $\Lambda_0 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}$ and $\Lambda_2 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$, $\mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}(\Lambda_1)$ lies on $\mathcal{M}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda_0)$ if and only if $\Lambda_1 \subset \Lambda_0$, and on $\mathcal{M}_{\{2\}}(\Lambda_2)$ if and only if $\Lambda_2 \subset \Lambda_1$.
- (4) For a pair of distinct $\Lambda_0, \Lambda'_0 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}, \mathcal{M}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda_0)$ meets $\mathcal{M}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda'_0)$ if and only if $\Lambda_0 \cap \Lambda'_0 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{1\}}$; in this case the intersection is transverse and we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda_0)\cap\mathcal{M}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda_0')=\mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}(\Lambda_0\cap\Lambda_0').$$

(5) For a pair of distinct $\Lambda_2, \Lambda'_2 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}, \mathcal{M}_{\{2\}}(\Lambda_2)$ meets $\mathcal{M}_{\{2\}}(\Lambda'_2)$ if and only if $\Lambda_2 + \Lambda'_2 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{1\}}$; in this case the intersection is transverse and we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{\{2\}}(\Lambda_2) \cap \mathcal{M}_{\{2\}}(\Lambda'_2) = \mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}(\Lambda_2 + \Lambda'_2).$$

(6) The stratum $\mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}$ is precisely the nonsmooth locus of $\mathcal{N}(0)$, and the complete local ring of $\mathcal{N}(0)$ at each point in $\mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}$ is isomorphic to

$$\mathbb{Z}_q[\![X, Y, Z, W]\!]/q - XY + ZW$$

Proof. Each point except (6) is contained in [118], and (6) is [85, Corollary 4.2].

6.2.5. For later use, we recall the meaning of each of the strata in Theorem 6.2.4 on the level of $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ -points.

Given $s = (X, \iota, \lambda, \rho) \in \mathcal{N}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$, the covariant Dieudonné module of X gives rise to an \mathcal{O}_q -stable lattice $M \subset N$. Such an M admits a decomposition

$$M = M_{\bullet} \oplus M_{\circ} \subset N_{\bullet} \oplus N_{\circ}$$

as in (6.2.2); here we are using $q \neq 2$. For a lattice $\Lambda \subset W$, define $\check{\Lambda} := \Lambda \otimes \check{\mathbb{Z}}_q \subset M_{\bullet}$. Then we have, for any $s \in \mathcal{M}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$ and any lattices $\Lambda_0 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}, \Lambda_2 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}, \Lambda_1 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{1\}}$:

- s lies in $\mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}$ if and only if $M_{\bullet} = \tau M_{\bullet}$, and is the point $\mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}(\Lambda_1)$ if and only if $M_{\bullet} = \check{\Lambda}_1$.
- s lies in $\mathcal{M}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda_0) \mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}$ if and only if $M_{\bullet} + \tau M_{\bullet} = \breve{\Lambda}_0$.
- s lies in $\mathcal{M}_{\{2\}}(\Lambda_2) \mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}$ if and only if $M_{\bullet} \cap \tau M_{\bullet} = \breve{\Lambda}_2$.

By Theorem 6.2.4, at least one of these three options occurs for any point $s \in \mathcal{M}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$.

Notation 6.2.6. From now on, to ease the notation we shall abbreviate $\mathcal{M}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda_0)$ as $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_0)$, etc.

6.3. Deformation theory and the geometry of \mathcal{N} .

6.3.1. Let $(X, \lambda, \iota, \rho)$ be an S-valued point of \mathcal{N} , for some $S \in \text{Nilp.}$ To X we associate the (covariant) Dieudonné crystal $\mathbb{D}(X)$ [74]; thus for any thickening $S \hookrightarrow \widehat{S}$ in Nilp admitting locally nilpotent divided powers, we obtain a locally free sheaf $\mathbb{D}(\widehat{S})$ of $\mathcal{O}_{\widehat{S}}$ -modules, such that $D(X) \coloneqq \mathbb{D}(X)(S)$ fits into a canonical exact sequence

(6.7)
$$0 \to \omega_{X^{\vee}} \to D(X) \to \text{Lie}(X) \to 0$$

of locally free \mathcal{O}_S -modules.

6.3.2. As in (6.2.5) above, the action of $\mathbb{Z}_{q^2} \subset \mathcal{O}_q$ on $\mathbb{D}(X)$ induces a decomposition

$$\mathbb{D}(X) = \mathbb{D}(X)_{\bullet} \oplus \mathbb{D}(X)_{\circ},$$

and likewise for D(X), $\omega_{X^{\vee}}$, and Lie X; the action of Π interchanges the two components in each case. The polarization λ induces a perfect alternating pairing

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \mathbb{D}(X) \otimes \mathbb{D}(X) \to \mathcal{O}_S^{\mathrm{cris}}.$$

Since both $\mathbb{D}(X)_{\bullet}$ and $\mathbb{D}(X)_{\circ}$ are isotropic, $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ identifies $\mathbb{D}(X)_{\bullet}$ with the dual of $\mathbb{D}(X)_{\circ}$. Finally, the submodule $\omega_{X^{\vee}}$ of D(X) is also isotropic, so that λ induces perfect pairings of locally free \mathcal{O}_S -modules:

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \omega_{X^{\vee}, \bullet} \otimes \operatorname{Lie} X_{\circ} \to \mathcal{O}_{S} \\ \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \omega_{X^{\vee}, \circ} \otimes \operatorname{Lie} X_{\bullet} \to \mathcal{O}_{S}$$

If $S = \operatorname{Spec} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$, then $\mathbb{D}(X)$ is equivalent to the data of the Dieudonné module M of X; the exact sequence (6.7) becomes

$$0 \to VM/pM \to M \to M/VM \to 0.$$

6.3.3. Let $S \hookrightarrow \widehat{S}$ be a thickening in Nilp admitting locally nilpotent divided powers, and fix $x = (X, \lambda, \iota, \rho) \in \mathcal{N}(S)$. Denote by Lift(x) the set of isomorphisms classes of lifts of x to $\widehat{x} = (\widehat{X}, \widehat{\lambda}, \widehat{\iota}, \widehat{\rho}) \in \mathcal{N}(\widehat{S})$, and denote by $\overline{\text{Lift}}(x)$ the set of locally free, \mathcal{O}_q -stable, totally isotropic $\mathcal{O}_{\widehat{S}}$ -submodules $\widehat{\omega}_{X^{\vee}} \subset \mathbb{D}(X)(\widehat{S})$ lifting $\omega_{X^{\vee}}$. From the well-known deformation theory of q-divisible groups [76], one has:

Proposition 6.3.4. The canonical map

$$\widehat{x} = (X, \lambda, \widehat{\iota}, \widehat{\rho}) \mapsto \omega_{\widehat{X}^{\vee}} \subset D(X) = \mathbb{D}(X)(S)$$

defines a bijection

$$\operatorname{Lift}(x) \xrightarrow{\sim} \overline{\operatorname{Lift}}(x).$$

6.3.5. Let \mathcal{N}^{sm} denote the formally smooth locus of $\mathcal{N}(0)$, which by Theorem 6.2.4(6) is the complement of $\bigsqcup_{\Lambda_1 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{1\}}} \mathcal{M}(\Lambda_1)$. Before we can calculate the tangent bundle to the mod q fiber of \mathcal{N}^{sm} in Theorem 6.3.7 below, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 6.3.6. Suppose given $(X, \lambda, \iota, \rho) \in \mathcal{N}^{sm}(S)$, for some $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ -scheme S. Then Π induces isomorphisms of line bundles on S:

$$\Pi : \frac{\operatorname{Lie} X_{\bullet}}{\Pi \operatorname{Lie} X_{\circ}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Pi \operatorname{Lie} X_{\bullet} \subset \operatorname{Lie} X_{\circ}$$
$$\Pi : \frac{\omega_{X^{\vee}, \bullet}}{\Pi \omega_{X^{\vee}, \circ}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Pi \omega_{X^{\vee}, \bullet} \subset \omega_{X^{\vee}, \circ},$$

and likewise with \bullet and \circ reversed.

Proof. We consider the first map; the second, and the versions with • and \circ reversed, are all similar to this case. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $S = \operatorname{Spf} R$ is affine and formally of finite type, and that R is a local ring with maximal ideal m such that $R/\mathfrak{m} = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$. Then Lie X_{\bullet} and Lie X_{\circ} are each free of rank two over R by the Kottwitz condition, and the map $\Pi_{\bullet} : \operatorname{Lie} X_{\bullet} \to \operatorname{Lie} X_{\circ}$ is nonzero modulo m; indeed, this amounts to the assertion that $\Pi M_{\bullet} \neq V M_{\bullet}$ for the Dieudonné module $M = M_{\bullet} \oplus M_{\circ}$ corresponding to the special fiber of X, and this holds because we are away from the nonsmooth locus of $\mathcal{N}(0)$, cf. (6.2.5).

In particular, we can choose bases of Lie X_{\bullet} and Lie X_{\circ} such that

$$\Pi_{\bullet} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{pmatrix} : \operatorname{Lie} X_{\bullet} \to \operatorname{Lie} X_{\bullet}$$

for some $d \in R$. Now, we also know that $\Pi^2 = q = 0$ on Lie(X), so the matrix g for $\Pi_\circ : \text{Lie} X_\circ \to \text{Lie} X_\bullet$ must satisfy

$$g\begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&d\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}1&0\\0&d\end{pmatrix}g = 0$$

A direct calculation shows that $g = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & w \end{pmatrix}$ for some $w \in R$, where wd = 0; but the same reasoning as for Π_{\bullet} shows that Π_{\circ} is nonzero modulo m, so w is a unit and we conclude d = 0. From these coordinates for Π_{\bullet} and Π_{\circ} , it is clear that Π Lie X_{\bullet} and Lie X_{\bullet}/Π Lie X_{\circ} are both free of rank one over R and that the map in the lemma is indeed an isomorphism.

Theorem 6.3.7. Let \mathcal{T} denote the tangent bundle on the mod q fiber $\mathcal{N}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\mathrm{sm}}$. Then we have a canonical exact sequence:

$$0 \to \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{H}\!\mathit{om}(\omega_{\mathcal{X}^{\vee},\bullet},\operatorname{Lie} \mathcal{X}_{\bullet}) \to \mathcal{H}\!\mathit{om}(\Pi \omega_{\mathcal{X}^{\vee},\circ},\operatorname{Lie} \mathcal{X}_{\bullet}/\Pi\operatorname{Lie} \mathcal{X}_{\circ}) \to 0,$$

where \mathcal{X} is the universal q-divisible group.

Proof. It suffices to consider deformations of a point $(X, \iota, \lambda, \rho) \in \mathcal{N}^{\mathrm{sm}}(R)$ to points of $\mathcal{N}^{\mathrm{sm}}(R[\epsilon]/\epsilon^2)$, for R an \mathbb{F}_q -algebra. Let $S = \operatorname{Spec} R$ and $\widehat{S} = \operatorname{Spec} R[\epsilon]/\epsilon^2$. By Proposition 6.3.4, we need to consider lifts of $\omega_{X^{\vee}}$ to locally free submodules $\widehat{\omega}_{X^{\vee}} \subset \mathbb{D}(X)(\widehat{S})$ which are \mathcal{O}_q -stable and isotropic; this is equivalent to lifting $\omega_{X^{\vee},\bullet} \subset D(X)_{\bullet}$ and $\omega_{X^{\vee},\circ} \subset D(X)_{\circ}$ to locally free submodules $\widehat{\omega}_{X^{\vee},\bullet} \subset \mathbb{D}(X)_{\bullet}(\widehat{S})$ and $\widehat{\omega}_{X^{\vee},\circ} \subset \mathbb{D}(X)_{\circ}(\widehat{S})$, subject to the following conditions.

- (i) $\langle \widehat{\omega}_{X^{\vee},\bullet}, \widehat{\omega}_{X^{\vee},\circ} \rangle = 0.$
- (ii) $\Pi \widehat{\omega}_{X^{\vee}, \bullet} \subset \widehat{\omega}_{X^{\vee}, \circ}$.
- (iii) $\Pi \widehat{\omega}_{X^{\vee},\circ} \subset \widehat{\omega}_{X^{\vee},\bullet}$.

Now, lifts of $\omega_{X^{\vee},\bullet}$ correspond to maps of *R*-modules $f_{\bullet}: \omega_{X^{\vee},\bullet} \to \operatorname{Lie} X_{\bullet}$ via

 $f_{\bullet} \mapsto \operatorname{span} \left\{ x + \epsilon f_{\bullet}(x) + \epsilon \omega_{X^{\vee}, \bullet} : x \in \omega_{X^{\vee}, \bullet} \right\},$

and likewise for $\omega_{X^{\vee},\circ}$. The conditions (i)-(iii) translate to:

- (i)' $\langle x, f_{\bullet}(y) \rangle = \langle y, f_{\circ}(x) \rangle$, for all $x \in \omega_{X^{\vee}, \circ}, y \in \omega_{X^{\vee}, \bullet}$.
- (ii)' $\Pi f_{\bullet}(x) = f_{\circ}(\Pi x)$ for all $x \in \omega_{X^{\vee}, \bullet}$.
- (iii)' $\Pi f_{\circ}(x) = f_{\bullet}(\Pi x)$ for all $x \in \omega_{X^{\vee}, \circ}$.

If we specify f_{\bullet} , then (i)' can be taken as a *definition* of f_{\circ} . In terms of f_{\bullet} only, conditions (ii)' and (iii)' correspond to:

- (ii)" $\langle y, \Pi f_{\bullet}(x) \rangle = \langle x, \Pi f_{\bullet}(y) \rangle$, for all $x, y \in \omega_{X^{\vee}, \bullet}$.
- (iii)" $\langle y, f_{\bullet}(\Pi x) \rangle = \langle x, f_{\bullet}(\Pi y) \rangle$, for all $x, y \in \omega_{X^{\vee}, \circ}$.

Now, since we are outside the singular locus, Lemma 6.3.6 implies that $\Pi \omega_{X^{\vee},\bullet}$ and $\Pi \omega_{X^{\vee},\circ}$ are locally rankone direct summands of the rank-two projective *R*-modules $\omega_{X^{\vee},\circ}$ and $\omega_{X^{\vee},\bullet}$, respectively. In particular, using that (ii)" and (iii)" are clearly satisfied when *x* and *y* are linearly dependent, it suffices to check (ii)" and (iii)" for $x \in \Pi \omega_{X^{\vee},\circ}$ and $x \in \Pi \omega_{X^{\vee},\bullet}$, respectively. Using $\langle \Pi z, \Pi w \rangle = q \langle z, w \rangle = 0$, we find that both conditions (ii)" and (iii)" are equivalent to $\Pi f_{\bullet}(\Pi \omega_{X^{\vee},\circ}) = 0$. Again by Lemma 6.3.6, the kernel of Π on Lie X_{\bullet} is Π Lie X_{\circ} , so we are just requiring

$$f_{\bullet}(\Pi \omega_{X^{\vee},\circ}) \subset \Pi \operatorname{Lie} X_{\circ}$$

as desired.

6.3.8. Scheme-theoretic description of the strata $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_0)$, $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_2)$. Fix a lattice $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}} \sqcup \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$; we recall the construction of $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)$ as a subscheme of \mathcal{N} given in [118, §4]. Let $\check{\Lambda} = \Lambda \otimes \mathbb{Z}_q \subset N_{\bullet}$, and let Y denote the q-divisible group over \mathbb{F}_q associated to the lattice

$$\check{\Lambda} \oplus q^{\delta} \Pi^{-1} \check{\Lambda} \subset N_{ullet} \oplus N_{\circ},$$

where $\delta = 0$ if $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}$ and $\delta = 1$ if $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$. The group Y comes with a natural quasi-isogeny

$$t: Y \to \mathbb{X}$$

For any $(X, \lambda, \iota, \rho) \in \mathcal{N}(S)$ with S an $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ -scheme, consider the two quasi-isogenies:

$$\rho_{+}: X \xrightarrow{\rho} \mathbb{X}_{S} \xrightarrow{q^{\delta}t^{-1}} Y_{S},$$
$$\rho_{-}: Y_{S} \xrightarrow{q^{1-\delta}t} \mathbb{X}_{S} \xrightarrow{\rho^{-1}} X$$

where $\delta = 0$ if $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}$ and $\delta = 1$ if $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$.

Then the scheme $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)$ is constructed as the locus where ρ_+ and ρ_- are both isogenies. In fact, since the dual lattice to $\check{\Lambda} \oplus \Pi^{-1}\check{\Lambda}$ is $q^{1-2\delta}(\check{\Lambda} \oplus \Pi^{-1}\check{\Lambda})$, we may identify $Y \xrightarrow{\sim} Y^{\vee}$ by $q^{1-2\delta}t^{\vee} \circ \lambda_{\mathbb{X}} \circ t$; with respect to this polarization, ρ_+ and ρ_- are duals, so ρ_- is an isogeny if and only if ρ_+ is.

Proposition 6.3.9. Let $\mathcal{O}(1)$ be the line bundle on $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)$ corresponding to the embedding into $\mathbb{P}^3_{\mathbb{F}_q}$ of Theorem 6.2.4 (2). Then, if $(X, \lambda, \iota, \rho)$ is the universal q-divisible group over $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)$, we have isomorphisms of line bundles on $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)^{sm} := \mathcal{M}(\Lambda) \cap \mathcal{N}^{sm}$:

$$\mathcal{O}(-q) \cong \prod \operatorname{Lie} X_{\circ} \cong \operatorname{Lie} X_{\bullet} / \prod \operatorname{Lie} X_{\circ}$$

Proof. We give the proof in the case $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}$; for $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$, the roles of \bullet and \circ are interchanged. Let $S := \mathcal{M}(\Lambda)^{sm}$, and let Y_S be the constant q-divisible group Y on S.

We need to recall the construction of the projective embedding from [118, §4]. First of all, one has the Dieudonné crystal

$$\mathbb{D}(Y_S) = \mathbb{D}(Y_S)_{\bullet} \oplus \mathbb{D}(Y_S)_{\circ},$$

with notation as in (6.3.2), and

$$D(Y_S)_{\circ} = D(Y)_{\circ} \otimes \mathcal{O}_S$$

is a free \mathcal{O}_S -module of rank 4. The submodule $\rho_{+,*}D(X)_{\circ} \subset D(Y_S)_{\circ}$ is locally a free summand of rank 1, and this is the tautological bundle $\mathcal{O}(-1)$ under the map $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^3_{\mathbb{F}_a}$. The canonical Verschiebung map

$$\mathbb{V}: D(Y_S)_{\circ} \to D(Y_S^{(q)})_{\circ} \simeq D(Y_S)_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_S} \mathcal{O}_{S^{(q)}}$$

is given by the *q*th power map $\mathcal{O}_S \to \mathcal{O}_{S^{(q)}}$ tensored with the isomorphism

$$V: D(Y)_{\circ} = \Pi^{-1} \breve{\Lambda} / \Pi \breve{\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\sim} \breve{\Lambda} / q \breve{\Lambda} = D(Y)_{\bullet},$$

so we have an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{O}(-q) \simeq \mathsf{V}(\rho_{+,*}(D(X)_\circ).$$

Now we note that the map

(6.8)
$$\mathbb{V} \circ \rho_{+,*} : D(X)_{\circ} \to D(Y_S)_{\bullet} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_S} \mathcal{O}_{S(q)}$$

annihilates both $\Pi D(X)_{\bullet}$ and $\omega_{X^{\vee},\circ}$, because $\mathbb{V}(\omega_{Y_S^{\vee},\circ}) = \mathbb{V} \circ \Pi(D(Y_S)_{\circ}) = 0$ by the definition of Y. In particular, (6.8) induces a surjection

(6.9)
$$\mathbb{V} \circ \rho_{+,*} : \frac{\operatorname{Lie} X_{\circ}}{\prod \operatorname{Lie} X_{\bullet}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{O}(-q),$$

which is a map of line bundles by Lemma 6.3.6 and therefore an isomorphism. Combined with Lemma 6.3.6 for the other isomorphism, this completes the proof.

Theorem 6.3.10. For any $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}} \sqcup \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$, the normal bundle to $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)^{\mathrm{sm}}$ inside $\mathcal{N}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\mathrm{sm}}$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{O}(-2q)$ for the embedding into $\mathbb{P}^3_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ given in Theorem 6.2.4.

Proof. For simplicity, we continue to assume $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}$; the other case is similar.

The first step is to compute the tangent bundle to $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)^{\mathrm{sm}}$. We wish to consider the lifts of $(X, \lambda, \iota, \rho) \in \mathcal{M}(\Lambda)^{\mathrm{sm}}(R)$ to points of $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)^{\mathrm{sm}}(R[\epsilon]/\epsilon^2)$ for R an $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ -algebra, which we may take to be reduced since $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)$ is reduced. Continuing the notation of (6.3.8), such lifts correspond to the pairs

$$\begin{cases} f_{\bullet} : \omega_{X^{\vee}, \bullet} \to \operatorname{Lie} X_{\bullet} \\ f_{\circ} : \omega_{X^{\vee}, \circ} \to \operatorname{Lie} X_{\circ} \end{cases}$$

satisfying (i)'-(iii)' from the proof of Theorem 6.3.7, subject to the additional condition that

$$f_{\bullet}(\rho_{-,*}(\omega_{Y_R^{\vee},\bullet})) = f_{\circ}(\rho_{-,*}(\omega_{Y_R^{\vee},\circ})) = 0.$$

By the definition of Y, we have $\omega_{Y_R^{\vee},\circ} = 0$, so the second condition is automatic.

Claim. On $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)^{sm}$ we have

(6.10)
$$\rho_{-,*}(\omega_{Y_{\mathcal{P}}^{\vee},\bullet}) = \Pi \omega_{X^{\vee},\circ}.$$

Given the claim, we conclude by comparing with the proof of Theorem 6.3.7 that the tangent bundle \mathcal{T}_{Λ} to $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)^{sm}$ is canonically isomorphic to

$$\mathcal{H}om(\omega_{X^{\vee},\bullet}/\Pi\omega_{X^{\vee},\circ},\operatorname{Lie} X_{\bullet})$$

The normal bundle is the quotient T/T_{Λ} , which by Theorem 6.3.7 is

$$\mathcal{H}om(\Pi\omega_{X^{\vee},\circ},\Pi\operatorname{Lie} X_{\circ}).$$

Since $\Pi \omega_{X^{\vee},\circ}$ is dual to Lie X_{\bullet}/Π Lie X_{\circ} on $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)^{\mathrm{sm}}$, the theorem then follows from Proposition 6.3.9. Now we turn to the proof of the claim. We have

$$\rho_{-,*}(\omega_{Y_R^{\vee},\bullet}) = \rho_{-,*}(D(Y_R)_{\bullet}) = (\ker\left(\rho_{+,*}: D(X)_{\circ} \to D(Y_R)_{\circ}\right))^{\perp}$$

because ρ_+ and ρ_- are duals; the orthogonal complement is with respect to the perfect pairing on D(X). Because R is reduced, the Verschiebung $\mathbb{V}: D(Y_R)_{\circ} \to D(Y_R)_{\bullet}$ is injective, so (6.9) implies that

$$\ker\left(\rho_{+,*}:D(X)_{\circ}\to D(Y_R)_{\circ}\right)=\omega_{X^{\vee},\circ}+\Pi D(X)_{\circ}$$

Arguments similar to Lemma 6.3.6 show that $(\Pi D(X)_{\circ})^{\perp} = \Pi D(X)_{\bullet}$, and so we conclude

$$\rho_{-,*}(\omega_{Y_R^{\vee},\bullet}) = \left(\omega_{X^{\vee},\circ} + \Pi D(X)_{\bullet}\right)^{\perp} = \omega_{X^{\vee},\bullet} \cap \Pi D(X)_{\circ}.$$

Now it follows from Lemma 6.3.6 and the snake lemma for the diagram

that $\omega_{X^{\vee},\bullet} \cap \Pi D(X)_{\bullet} = \Pi \omega_{X^{\vee},\circ}$, so the proof of the claim is complete.

6.4. Regularization of ${\cal M}$ and intersection theory.

Notation 6.4.1. Let $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}(0)$ be the blowup of $\mathcal{N}(0)$ along $\mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}$, and let $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ be the strict transform of the reduced locus \mathcal{M} ; then $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ is smooth. We denote by $C(\Lambda_1)$ the exceptional divisor of $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ above $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_1)$ for each $\Lambda_1 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{1\}}$. For any $\Lambda_0 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}$ and $\Lambda_2 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$, let $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda_0)$ and $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda_2)$ be the strict transforms of $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_0)$ and $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_2)$, respectively.

Lemma 6.4.2. For any $\Lambda_1 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{1\}}$, there exists an isomorphism $C(\Lambda_1) \cong \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{F}_q} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{F}_q}$ such that:

- (1) For any $\Lambda_0 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}$ with $\Lambda_1 \subset_1 \Lambda_0$, $\widetilde{M}(\Lambda_0)$ meets $C(\Lambda_1)$ transversely along a divisor with class (1,0).
- (2) For any $\Lambda_2 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$ with $\Lambda_2 \subset_1 \Lambda_1$, $\widetilde{M}(\Lambda_2)$ meets $C(\Lambda_1)$ transversely along a divisor with class (0,1).

Proof. By Theorem 6.2.4(6), we may fix one isomorphism $C(\Lambda_1) \cong \mathbb{P}^1_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$. Let $\mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda_1)$ be the set of $\Lambda_0 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}$ with $\Lambda_1 \subset_1 \Lambda_0$, and likewise $\mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}(\Lambda_1)$. The actions of $\mathrm{Stab}(\Lambda_1) \subset \mathrm{Sp}(W)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ on $\mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda_1)$ and $\mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}(\Lambda_1)$ are transitive, and compatible with the natural $\mathrm{Sp}(W)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -action on $\mathcal{N}(0)$ (see (6.5.1)). For distinct $\Lambda_0, \Lambda'_0 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}(\Lambda_1)$, it follows that the divisor classes

$$D_{\Lambda_0} \coloneqq \mathcal{M}(\Lambda_0) \cap C(\Lambda_1)$$

and

$$D_{\Lambda'_0} \coloneqq \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda'_0) \cap C(\Lambda_1)$$

differ by an automorphism of $C(\Lambda_1)$. In particular, if $D_{\Lambda_0} = (\alpha, \beta)$, then $D_{\Lambda'_0} = (\alpha, \beta)$ or (β, α) . On the other hand, since $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_0)$ meets $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda'_0)$ transversely at $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_1)$, we have

$$D_{\Lambda_0} \cdot D_{\Lambda_0} = 0$$

for the intersection product on $C(\Lambda_1)$. Since $(\alpha, \beta) \cdot (\beta, \alpha) = \alpha^2 + \beta^2$, which can only vanish if $\alpha = \beta = 0$, it follows that $D_{\Lambda_0} = D_{\Lambda'_0} = (\alpha, \beta)$ with $\alpha\beta = 0$; without loss of generality, assume $\beta = 0$. By the same reasoning, for any $\Lambda_2 \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}(\Lambda_1)$,

$$D_{\Lambda_2} \coloneqq \mathcal{M}(\Lambda_2) \cap C(\Lambda_1)$$

has divisor class (γ, δ) with $\gamma \delta = 0$. However, $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_0)$ meets $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_2)$ transversely along $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_0, \Lambda_2)$, so we have

$$D_{\Lambda_0} \cdot D_{\Lambda_2} = 1.$$

This implies $\alpha \delta = 1$, so we have $D_{\Lambda_0} = (1,0)$ and $D_{\Lambda_2} = (0,1)$, as desired.

Notation 6.4.3. Let $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}} \sqcup \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$. We denote by $\mathcal{O}(1)$ the line bundle on $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda)$ arising from the pullback of $\mathcal{O}(1)$ along the composite

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda) \to \mathcal{M}(\Lambda) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^3_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}.$$

Lemma 6.4.4. For any $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}} \sqcup \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$, the normal bundle to $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda)$ inside $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}(0)$ is $\mathcal{O}(-2q)$.

Proof. Let $\{\Lambda_1^{(0)}, \ldots, \Lambda_1^{(n)}\}$ be the set of lattices Λ_1 in $\mathcal{L}_{\{1\}}$ such that $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_1)$ lies on $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)$. Then the projection $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda) \to \mathcal{M}(\Lambda)$ is the blowup along the points $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_1^{(i)})$, with exceptional divisors

$$E_i \coloneqq C(\Lambda_1^{(i)}) \cap \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda).$$

Since $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda)$ is a smooth surface, we have $E_i \cdot E_j = -\delta_{ij}$ for the intersection pairing on $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda)$.

Now, the normal bundle to $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda)$ inside $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}(0)$ is locally free of rank one, and Lemma 6.3.6 implies it is isomorphic to

$$\mathcal{O}(-2q+\alpha_0 E_0+\ldots+\alpha_n E_n)$$

for some $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{Z}$. On the other hand, as $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}(0)$ is formally smooth, we can compute the triple intersection number

$$m_i = \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda) \cdot \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda) \cdot C(\Lambda_1^{(i)})$$

in two ways, for each $0 \le i \le n$:

$$m_{i} = \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda) \cdot C(\Lambda_{1}^{(i)})\right) \cdot_{C(\Lambda_{1}^{(i)})} \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda) \cdot C(\Lambda_{1}^{(i)})\right) = 0 \quad \text{(Lemma 6.4.2)}$$
$$= \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda) \cdot \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda)\right) \cdot_{\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda)} \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}(\Lambda) \cdot C(\Lambda_{1}^{(i)})\right) = -\alpha_{i}.$$

So we find $\alpha_i = 0$ for all *i*, as desired.

6.5. The GSpin action on \mathcal{N} .

6.5.1. The endomorphism algebra $\operatorname{End}(W)$ is equipped with an involution \dagger given by the adjoint with respect to $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\bullet}$, and

$$V \coloneqq \operatorname{End}(W)^{\dagger=1,\operatorname{tr}=0} = \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{X},\iota_{\mathbb{X}})^{*=1,\operatorname{tr}=0}$$

is a split orthogonal space of dimension 5, where * denotes the Rosati involution. There is a natural projection

(6.11)
$$\pi : \operatorname{GSp}(W) \to \operatorname{SO}(V)$$

inducing an isomorphism $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q) \cong \operatorname{GSp}(W)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$. There is also a canonical action of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ on \mathcal{N} (by modifying ρ); when restricted to $\operatorname{Spin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$, the resulting action of $\operatorname{Sp}(W)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ on \mathcal{M} is compatible with the natural actions on $\mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}, \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}, \mathcal{L}_{\{02\}}$, and $\mathcal{L}_{\{1\}}$.

Definition 6.5.2. Define the sets of lattices

$$\mathscr{L} = \left\{ \Lambda \subset W : \Lambda = q^n \Lambda^{\vee} \text{ for some } n \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}$$
$$\mathscr{L}_{\operatorname{Pa}} = \left\{ \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}} \subset W : q^{n+1} \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}}^{\vee} \subset_2 \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}} \subset_2 p^n \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}}^{\vee} \text{ for some } n \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$

Remark 6.5.3. Both \mathscr{L} and \mathscr{L}_{Pa} are homogeneous spaces for $GSp(W)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$; the stabilizer of a point in \mathscr{L} is a hyperspecial subgroup, and the stabilizer of a point in \mathscr{L}_{Pa} is a paramodular subgroup.

Using \mathscr{L} and \mathscr{L}_{Pa} rather than $\mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}$, $\mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$, and $\mathcal{L}_{\{1\}}$, we can extend the combinatorial description of \mathcal{M} to all of \mathcal{N}_{red} .

Definition 6.5.4. For any $\Lambda \in \mathscr{L}$, choose an arbitrary $g \in \mathrm{GSp}(W)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ such that $g\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}} \subset \mathscr{L}$, and define

$$\mathcal{M}_{+}(\Lambda) \coloneqq g^{-1}\mathcal{M}_{\{0\}}(g\Lambda)$$

Similarly, choose $g' \in \mathrm{GSp}(W)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ such that $g'\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}} \subset \mathscr{L}$, and define

$$\mathcal{M}_{-}(\Lambda) \coloneqq (g')^{-1} \mathcal{M}_{\{2\}}(g'\Lambda).$$

For any $\Lambda_{\text{Pa}} \in \mathscr{L}_{\text{Pa}}$, choose $g \in \text{GSp}(W)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ such that $g\Lambda_{\text{Pa}} \in \mathcal{L}_{\{1\}} \subset \mathscr{L}_{\text{Pa}}$, and define $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_{\text{Pa}}) = g^{-1}\mathcal{M}_{\{1\}}(g\Lambda_{\text{Pa}})$.

Proposition 6.5.5. (1) Definition 6.5.4 yields bijections

 $\mathscr{L} \times \{\pm\} \xrightarrow{\sim} \{irreducible \ components \ of \ \mathcal{N}_{red}\}$

and

$$\mathscr{L}_{\operatorname{Pa}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \{ singular \ points \ of \ \mathcal{N}_{\operatorname{red}} \}$$

(2) Choose any $\Lambda \in \mathscr{L}$. For the Weil descent datum in (6.1.4), we have

$$\varphi\left(\mathcal{M}_{+}(\Lambda)\right) = \sigma^{*}\mathcal{M}_{-}(q\Lambda)$$

and

$$\varphi\left(\mathcal{M}_{-}(\Lambda)\right) = \sigma^*\mathcal{M}_{+}(\Lambda).$$

Proof. For (1), it suffices to show there are two $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -orbits of irreducible components of $\mathcal{N}_{\operatorname{red}}$, and only one orbit of singular points. However, since

$$g \cdot \mathcal{N}(i) = \mathcal{N}(i + \operatorname{ord}_q \nu(g))$$

for $g \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$, it suffices to show that there are two $\operatorname{Spin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -orbits of irreducible components of \mathcal{M} , and one $\operatorname{Spin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -orbit of singular points on \mathcal{M} . This follows from the transitivity of the $\operatorname{Sp}(W)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -actions on $\mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}, \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$, and $\mathcal{L}_{\{1\}}$.

For (2), note that $\varphi^2(\mathcal{M}_+(\Lambda)) = (\sigma^2)^* \mathcal{M}_+(q\Lambda)$, so it suffices to show the first relation. Without loss of generality, assume $\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{0\}}$. By definition, $\varphi(\mathcal{M}_+(\Lambda))(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$, viewed as a subset of $\mathcal{N}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$, is the Zariski closure of the set of points corresponding to lattices $M \subset N$ such that

$$(V^{-1}(M + \tau M))_{\bullet} = \check{\Lambda}$$

and

 $\Pi^{-1}M_{\circ} = qM_{\bullet}^{\vee}.$

Since $V \breve{\Lambda} = \Pi \breve{\Lambda}$, the first condition is equivalent to $\Pi^{-1} M_{\circ} + \Pi^{-1} \tau M_{\circ} = \breve{\Lambda}$, or dually

$$M_{\bullet} \cap \tau M_{\bullet} = q \check{\Lambda}$$

Now choose any $g \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ with $\nu(g) = q^{-1}$; we have $qg\Lambda \in \mathcal{L}_{\{2\}}$. The locus

$$g\varphi(\mathcal{M}_+(\Lambda))(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)\subset \mathcal{M}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$$

is the Zariski closure of the set of points corresponding to lattices with $M_{\bullet} \cap \tau M_{\bullet} = qg\Lambda$ and $\Pi^{-1}M_{\circ} = M_{\bullet}^{\vee}$. But this is exactly the stratum $\mathcal{M}_{\{2\}}(qg\Lambda)(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q) = \mathcal{M}_{-}(qg\Lambda)(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$, so we conclude $\varphi(\mathcal{M}_{+}(\Lambda)) = \sigma^*g^{-1}\mathcal{M}_{-}(qg\Lambda) = \sigma^*\mathcal{M}_{-}(q\Lambda)$, as desired.

From Theorem 6.2.4, we immediately deduce the following relations among the components $\mathcal{M}_{\pm}(\Lambda)$ and the points $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_{Pa})$.

Corollary 6.5.6. *For any* $\Lambda_{Pa} \in \mathscr{L}_{Pa}$ *and* $\Lambda, \Lambda' \in \mathscr{L}$ *, we have:*

- (1) $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}})$ lies on $\mathcal{M}_{+}(\Lambda)$ if and only if $\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \subset_{1} \Lambda$.
- (2) $\mathcal{M}(\Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}})$ lies on $\mathcal{M}_{-}(\Lambda)$ if and only if $\Lambda \subset_{1} \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}}$.
- (3) $\mathcal{M}_+(\Lambda)$ meets $\mathcal{M}_-(\Lambda')$ if and only if $q\Lambda \subset_2 \Lambda' \subset_2 \Lambda$.

NAOMI SWEETING

(4) If
$$\Lambda \neq \Lambda'$$
, then for $\delta = +$ or $-$, $\mathcal{M}_{\delta}(\Lambda)$ and $\mathcal{M}_{\delta}(\Lambda')$ can meet only in singular points of \mathcal{N}_{red} .

7. The first explicit reciprocity law: geometric inputs

7.1. Abel-Jacobi maps for schemes with ordinary quadratic singularities.

7.1.1. Let R_0 be a Henselian discrete valuation ring with uniformizer π , algebraically closed residue field k, and fraction field K_0 . The inertia subgroup I_{K_0} of $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{K}_0/K_0)$ has the canonical tame character $t_p : I_{K_0} \to \mathbb{Z}_p(1)$ for any $p \neq \operatorname{char}(k)$. Let R be the quadratic extension $R_0[\pi^{1/2}]$, and K its field of fractions, with inertia subgroup $I_K \subset I_{K_0}$. We write s_0, s, η_0, η for the closed points and the generic points of Spec R_0 and Spec R, with corresponding geometric points $\overline{\eta}_0 = \overline{\eta}$. Let X be an irreducible scheme of finite type and pure relative dimension 2r - 1 over Spec R_0 , for some integer $r \ge 1$. We assume X has ordinary quadratic singularities: this means that X is smooth outside a finite set of closed points $\{x_i\}_{i\in I}$ in X_{s_0} , and, étale locally near each x_i, X is isomorphic to Spec $R_0[y_0, \ldots, y_{2r-1}]/(Q - \pi)$, with Q the equation of a smooth quadric in $\mathbb{P}_{R_0}^{2r-1}$.

7.1.2. The blowup Y of X_R at the points $\{x_i\}_{i \in I}$ is strictly semistable in the sense of [97], with a particularly simple form [47]. The irreducible components of the special fiber Y_s of Y are \widetilde{X}_s , the strict transform of X_s , and the exceptional divisors D_i . Each D_i is isomorphic to the smooth projective quadric in $\mathbb{P}_k^{2r} =$ $\operatorname{Proj}(k[y_0, \ldots, y_{2r-1}, t])$ cut out by $Q - t^2$, and the intersection $C_i = D_i \cap \widetilde{X}_s$ is the hyperplane section t = 0, so that C_i is a smooth quadric in \mathbb{P}_k^{2r-1} . Since Y is semistable, we have

(7.1)
$$\mathcal{N}_{C_i/\widetilde{X}_s} = -\mathcal{N}_{C_i/D_i} = \mathcal{O}(-1)$$

in the Picard group of C_i .

7.1.3. Let O be a finite flat extension of \mathbb{Z}_p with p odd and $p \neq \operatorname{char}(k)$, and let $\varpi \in O$ be a uniformizer. We fix a coefficient ring $\Lambda = O$ or O/ϖ^m for some $m \geq 1$. We recall the definition of the nearby cycles complex: let $\overline{j}: Y_{\overline{\eta}} \to Y$ and $\overline{i}: Y_s \to Y$ denote the inclusions of the geometric generic and special fibers, respectively. Then $R\Psi\Lambda = \overline{i}^* \circ \overline{j}_* \circ \overline{j}^* \Lambda$, an element of the bounded derived category of sheaves on Y_s ; it has a canonical action of $I_K \subset I_{K_0}$ factoring through the tame character t_p , and the (increasing) monodromy filtration $M_{\bullet}R\Psi\Lambda$. Fix $T \in I_K$ such that $t_p(T)$ generates $\mathbb{Z}_p(1)$; then the monodromy operator T - 1 on $R\Psi\Lambda$ induces compatible maps

$$T-1: M_i R \Psi \Lambda \to M_{i-2} R \Psi \Lambda$$

for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Proposition 7.1.4 (Saito). Let

$$i_0: \widetilde{X}_s \sqcup \bigsqcup_{i \in I} D_i \to Y_s$$

and

$$i_1:\bigsqcup_{i\in I}C_i\to Y_s$$

be the natural maps. Then the graded pieces of $M_{\bullet}R\Psi\Lambda$ are given by:

$$\begin{split} &\operatorname{gr}_{i}^{M} R\Psi\Lambda=0, \qquad \qquad |i|>1, \\ &\operatorname{gr}_{1}^{M} R\Psi\Lambda=i_{1*}\Lambda(-1)[-1], \\ &\operatorname{gr}_{0}^{M} R\Psi\Lambda=i_{0*}\Lambda, \\ &\operatorname{gr}_{-1}^{M} R\Psi\Lambda=i_{1*}\Lambda[-1]. \end{split}$$

Proof. This is [97, Proposition 2.2.3].

Lemma 7.1.5. The following composite map is an isomorphism:

$$H^{2r}(Y_s, M_0 R \Psi \Lambda) \to H^{2r}(Y_s, \operatorname{gr}_0^M R \Psi \Lambda) = H^{2r}(\widetilde{X}_s, \Lambda) \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in I} H^{2r}(D_i, \Lambda) \twoheadrightarrow H^{2r}(\widetilde{X}_s, \Lambda).$$

Proof. First, consider the tautological distinguished triangle

(7.2)
$$M_{-1}R\Psi\Lambda \to M_0R\Psi\Lambda \to \operatorname{gr}_0^M R\Psi\Lambda \to M_{-1}R\Psi\Lambda[+1].$$

This yields an exact sequence

$$H^{2r}(Y_k, M_{-1}R\Psi\Lambda) \to H^{2r}(Y_k, M_0R\Psi\Lambda) \to H^{2r}(Y_k, \operatorname{gr}_0^M R\Psi\Lambda) \to H^{2r+1}(Y_k, M_{-1}R\Psi\Lambda).$$

Applying Proposition 7.1.4 and using $H^{2r-1}(C_i, \Lambda) = 0$ for all $i \in I$, we obtain

$$0 \to H^{2r}(Y_k, M_0 R \Psi \Lambda) \to H^{2r}(\widetilde{X}_k, \Lambda) \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in I} H^{2r}(D_i, \Lambda) \to H^{2r}(C_i, \Lambda).$$

However, $H^{2r}(D_i, \Lambda) \to H^{2r}(C_i, \Lambda)$ is an isomorphism for each $i \in I$ by the Lefschetz hyperplane theorem, and the lemma follows.

7.1.6. Let $R\Psi_X \Lambda$ be the nearby cycles complex for X, defined as in (7.1.3); it also coincides with the nearby cycles complex for X_R . From now on, we will assume:

(BC_X) the base change map
$$H^i(X_{\overline{\eta}_0}, \Lambda) \to H^i(X_{s_0}, R\Psi_X\Lambda)$$
 is an isomorphism for all *i*

Since the blowup map $f: Y \to X_R$ is proper and is an isomorphism on generic fibers, we have a canonical isomorphism

$$f_*R\Psi\Lambda = R\Psi_X\Lambda$$

by [28, $\S2.1.7$]. In particular, (BC_X) implies:

 $(\mathrm{BC}_Y) \qquad \text{the base change map } H^i(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda) = H^i(Y_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda) \to H^i(Y_s,R\Psi\Lambda) \text{ is an isomorphism for all } i.$

Lemma 7.1.7. Let $j: \bigsqcup_{i \in I} C_i \hookrightarrow \widetilde{X}_s$ be the natural embedding. Then the monodromy operator T-1 on $H^{2r-1}(Y_s, R\Psi\Lambda)$ fits into a commutative diagram with exact rows:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda) & \stackrel{\alpha}{\longrightarrow} \oplus_{i \in I} H^{2r-2}(C_{i},\Lambda(-1)) & \stackrel{j_{*}}{\longrightarrow} H^{2r}(\widetilde{X}_{s},\Lambda) & \stackrel{\gamma}{\longrightarrow} H^{2r}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda) \\ & \downarrow_{T-1} & \downarrow_{t} \\ H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda) & \xleftarrow{\beta} & \oplus_{i \in I} H^{2r-2}(C_{i},\Lambda) & \xleftarrow{j^{*}} H^{2r-2}(\widetilde{X}_{s},\Lambda) & \xleftarrow{H^{2r-2}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda) \end{array}$$

Here, t is the isomorphism $- \otimes t_p(T)$.

Proof. From the vanishing of $\operatorname{gr}_{i}^{M} R\Psi\Lambda$ for |i| > 1 (Proposition 7.1.4), we have a canonical factorization (7.3) $T - 1 : R\Psi\Lambda \to \operatorname{gr}_{1}^{M} R\Psi\Lambda \to M_{-1}R\Psi\Lambda \to R\Psi\Lambda;$

taking cohomology and applying Proposition 7.1.4, (7.3) induces a commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^{2r-1}(Y_s, R\Psi\Lambda) & \stackrel{\alpha}{\longrightarrow} \oplus_{i \in I} H^{2r-2}(C_i, \Lambda(-1)) \\ & \downarrow^{T-1} & \downarrow^t \\ H^{2r-1}(Y_s, R\Psi\Lambda) & \xleftarrow{\beta} \oplus_{i \in I} H^{2r-2}(C_i, \Lambda). \end{array}$$

The description of t is [97, Corollary 2.2.4.2].

We now explain the exactness of the top row

(7.4)
$$H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda) \xrightarrow{\alpha} \oplus_{i \in I} H^{2r-2}(C_i,\Lambda(-1)) \xrightarrow{j_*} H^{2r}(\widetilde{X}_s,\Lambda) \to H^{2r}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda)$$

of the diagram in the lemma. From the tautological distinguished triangle

(7.5)
$$M_0 R \Psi \Lambda \to R \Psi \Lambda \to \operatorname{gr}_1^M R \Psi \Lambda \to M_0 R \Psi \Lambda [+1],$$

we deduce the exact sequence

(7.6)
$$H^{2r-1}(Y_s, R\Psi\Lambda) \xrightarrow{\alpha} \bigoplus_{i \in I} H^{2r-2}(C_i, \Lambda(-1)) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{2r}(Y_s, M_0 R\Psi\Lambda) \to H^{2r}(Y_s, R\Psi\Lambda).$$

Combined with Lemma 7.1.5 and (BC_Y) , it suffices to show that the composite

(7.7)
$$\oplus_{i \in I} H^{2r-2}(C_i, \Lambda(-1)) \xrightarrow{\delta} H^{2r}(Y_s, M_0 R \Psi \Lambda) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{2r}(\widetilde{X}_s, \Lambda)$$

is the pushforward map, and this follows from [97, Proposition 2.2.6]. The argument for the exactness of the bottom row

$$H^{2r-2}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda) \to H^{2r-2}(\widetilde{X}_s,\Lambda) \xrightarrow{j^*} \bigoplus_{i \in I} H^{2r-2}(C_i,\Lambda) \xrightarrow{\beta} H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda)$$

is essentially identical.

7.1.8. By (BC_Y) , the monodromy filtration M_{\bullet} of $R\Psi\Lambda$ induces filtrations M_{\bullet} on

$$H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda)$$

and on

$$H^1(I_{K_0}, H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}}, \Lambda)) = H^1(I_K, H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}}, \Lambda))$$

(using $p \neq 2$).

Proposition 7.1.9. The diagram in Lemma 7.1.7 induces an exact sequence

$$0 \to M_{-1}H^1(I_{K_0}, H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}}, \Lambda)) \xrightarrow{\zeta} \frac{H^{2r}(X_s, \Lambda)}{\operatorname{Im}(j_* \circ t^{-1} \circ j^*)} \xrightarrow{\gamma} \frac{H^{2r}(X_{\overline{\eta}}, \Lambda)}{\operatorname{Im}(\gamma \circ j_* \circ t^{-1} \circ j^*)},$$

such that $\zeta(c) = j_* \circ t^{-1}(y)$ for any $y \in \bigoplus_{i \in I} H^{2r-2}(C_i, \Lambda)$ such that $c(T) = \beta(y)$.

Proof. By definition, $M_{-1}H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda)$ is the image of

$$\beta: \bigoplus_{i\in I} H^{2r-2}(C_i, \Lambda) \to H^{2r-1}(Y_s, R\Psi\Lambda) \cong H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}}, \Lambda).$$

Then, by the left half of the commutative diagram in Lemma 7.1.7, the map $c \mapsto c(T)$ identifies

$$M_{-1}H^1(I_{K_0}, H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}}, \Lambda)) \simeq \frac{\operatorname{Im} \beta}{\operatorname{Im}(\beta \circ t \circ \alpha)}.$$

Using the exactness of the rows in Lemma 7.1.7, we also have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \frac{\operatorname{Im} \beta}{\operatorname{Im} (\beta \circ t \circ \alpha)} \xrightarrow{j_* \circ t^{-1}} \frac{H^{2r}(X_s, \Lambda)}{\operatorname{Im} (j_* \circ t^{-1} \circ j^*)} \xrightarrow{\gamma} \frac{H^{2r}(X_{\overline{\eta}}, \Lambda)}{\operatorname{Im} (\gamma \circ j_* \circ t^{-1} \circ j^*)},$$

and the proposition follows.

7.1.10. Let $CH^r(X_{\eta_0})^0$ denote the Chow group of cohomologically trivial algebraic cycles of pure codimension r. We have the Abel-Jacobi map

$$\partial_{\mathrm{AJ}} : \mathrm{CH}^r(X_{\eta_0})^0 \to H^1(I_{K_0}, H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}}, \Lambda(r))),$$

which we are now ready to compute in terms of the geometry of the special fiber of X.

If Z_{η_0} is a closed irreducible subvariety of X_{η_0} , then write Z for its Zariski closure in X, Z_Y for the strict transform of Z_R under the blowup $Y \to X_R$, and Z_{Y_s} for $Z_Y \times_Y Y_s$. The intersection $Z_{Y_s} \times_Y \widetilde{X}_s$ is \widetilde{Z}_s , the strict transform of Z_{s_0} under the blowup $\widetilde{X}_s \to X_{s_0}$. Extending this construction linearly, for any algebraic cycle $z_\eta = \sum n_j Z_{\eta}^{(j)}$ of pure codimension r, we obtain a codimension-r algebraic cycle

$$\widetilde{z}_s = \Sigma n_j \widetilde{Z}_s^{(j)}$$

on \widetilde{X}_s .

(7.8)

Theorem 7.1.11. Let z_{η_0} be an algebraic cycle of codimension r on X_{η_0} , whose class in $\operatorname{CH}^r(X_{\eta_0})$ is cohomologically trivial, and assume (BC_X) . Then $\partial_{AJ}(z)$ lies in $M_{-1}H^1(I_{K_0}, H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}}, \Lambda(r)))$. If, for each irreducible component Z_{η} of the support of z_{η} , Z_{Y_s} is generically smooth, then

$$\zeta\left(\partial_{\mathrm{AJ}}(z)\right) \in \frac{H^{2r}(X_s, \Lambda(r))}{j_* \circ t^{-1} \circ j^* \left(H^{2r-2}(\widetilde{X}_s, \Lambda(r-1))\right)}$$

coincides with the algebraic cycle class of \tilde{z}_s , where ζ is the map from Proposition 7.1.9.

Proof. In the proof of [67, Theorem 2.18] there is constructed:

• An element F of the bounded derived category of abelian sheaves on Y_s fitting into a commutative diagram:

$$F \xrightarrow{T-1} R\Psi\Lambda$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$R\Psi\Lambda/M_0R\Psi\Lambda \xrightarrow{T-1} R\Psi\Lambda/M_{-2}R\Psi\Lambda$$

• A class $[z^{\sharp}]'_0 \in H^{2r-1}(Y_s, F(r))$ such that $\partial_{AJ}(z)|_{I_K}$ is represented by the cocycle that factors through $t_p: I_K \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_p(1)$ and satisfies

$$\partial_{\mathrm{AJ}}(z)(T) = (T-1)[z^{\sharp}]_0' \in H^{2r-1}(Y_s, R\Psi\Lambda(r)) = H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}}, \Lambda(r)).$$

In our context, since $\operatorname{gr}_i^M R\Psi\Lambda=0$ for |i|>1, the diagram (7.8) becomes

$$F \xrightarrow{T-1} R\Psi\Lambda$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \uparrow$$

$$R\Psi\Lambda/M_0 R\Psi\Lambda \xrightarrow{T-1} M_{-1}R\Psi\Lambda.$$

In particular, $(T-1)H^{2r-1}(Y_s, F(r))$ lies inside $M_{-1}H^{2r-1}(X_{\overline{\eta}}, \Lambda(r))$, and by construction $\zeta(\partial_{AJ}(z))$ is represented by the image of $[z^{\sharp}]'_0$ under the composite map

(7.9)
$$H^{2r-1}(Y_s, F(r)) \to H^{2r-1}(Y_s, \operatorname{gr}_1^M R\Psi\Lambda(r)) \to H^{2r}(Y_s, \operatorname{gr}_0^M R\Psi\Lambda(r)) = H^{2r}(\widetilde{X}_s, \Lambda(r)) \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in I} H^{2r}(D_i, \Lambda(r) \twoheadrightarrow H^{2r}(\widetilde{X}_s, \Lambda(r))).$$

By [67, Proposition 2.19], under the generic smoothness assumption of the theorem, this image is exactly the cycle class of \tilde{z}_s .

7.1.12. We conclude this section with a related lemma.

Lemma 7.1.13. In addition to (BC_X) , assume

(BC_{X,c}) the base change map $H^i_c(X_{\overline{\eta}_0}, \Lambda) \to H^i_c(X_{s_0}, R\Psi_X\Lambda)$ is an isomorphism for all *i*.

Suppose \mathcal{H} is a commutative O-algebra (not necessarily finitely generated) of correspondences on X, such that the singular locus of X is stable under \mathcal{H} . Let $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathcal{H}$ be a maximal ideal such that the natural map induces an isomorphism

$$H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t},c}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda)_{\mathfrak{m}} \to H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\eta}},\Lambda)_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

for all *i*. Then for all *i*, the natural map

$$H^i_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t},c}(\widetilde{X}_s,\Lambda)_{\mathfrak{m}} \to H^i_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_s,\Lambda)_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

is an isomorphism as well.

Proof. The tautological distinguished triangle (7.5) gives a commutative diagram of long exact sequences

The first marked isomorphism is by (BC_X) and $(BC_{X,c})$, and the second is by Proposition 7.1.4 and the compactness of each C_i . By the five lemma, we have an isomorphism

$$H^i_c(Y_s, M_0 R \Psi \Lambda)_{\mathfrak{m}} \xrightarrow{\sim} H^i(Y_s, M_0 R \Psi \Lambda)_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

for all i. Arguing similarly with the distinguished triangle (7.2), we find a natural isomorphism

$$H^i_c(Y_s, \operatorname{gr}^M_0 R\Psi\Lambda)_{\mathfrak{m}} \xrightarrow{\sim} H^i(Y_s, \operatorname{gr}^M_0 R\Psi\Lambda)_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

for all *i*, which implies the lemma by Proposition 7.1.4 once again.

7.2. Semistable reduction of GSpin₅ Shimura varieties.

7.2.1. Let $D \neq 1$ be a squarefree product of an even number of primes, and fix an odd prime q|D. With V_D as in (1.1.6), we suppose fixed a q-adic uniformization datum $(*, A_0, \iota_0, \lambda_0, i_D, i_{D/q})$ for V_D (Definition 1.4.4(2)); we will choose this uniformization datum more precisely in Construction 7.6.4 below.

Let \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{D} be the associated PEL data and self-dual q-integral refinement from Definition 1.4.2.

7.2.2. For the entirety of this section, we fix a neat level subgroup

$$K^q = \prod_{\ell \neq q} K_\ell \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f^q) \cong \prod_{\ell \neq q} \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{A}_f^q),$$

with the isomorphism arising from Remark 1.4.5(2); then we obtain a flat, quasi-projective scheme $X = \mathcal{M}_{K^q}$ over $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ representing the PEL-type moduli problem defined by \mathscr{D} at level K^q . The generic fiber $X_{\mathbb{Q}}$ of X is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{ram}}}(V_D)$, where $K_q^{\operatorname{ram}} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ is a paramodular subgroup in the sense of Notation 2.6.1.

Lemma 7.2.3. Let $R\Psi_X O$ denote the nearby cycles complex on $X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_a}$. Then the natural maps

$$H^{i}_{c,\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O) \to H^{i}_{c,\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, R\Psi_{X}O)$$

and

$$H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}}, O) \to H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{a}}, R\Psi_{X}O)$$

are isomorphisms for all *i*.

Proof. This is a special case of [57, Theorem 6.8].

Let $O_D \subset B_D$ be the unique maximal $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ -order. We now take the q-divisible group $\mathbb{X} := \overline{A}_0[q^{\infty}]$, with its induced polarization and $(O_D \otimes \mathbb{Z}_q)$ -action, to be the base point for the Rapoport-Zink space \mathcal{N} (Definition 6.1.2).

Theorem 7.2.4.

(1) Let \mathcal{X} be the completion of X along the supersingular locus $X^{ss}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$. Then we have a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathcal{X} \cong \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{A}_f^q) \times \mathcal{N}/K^q,$$

where $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{Q}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ acts on \mathcal{N} as described in §6.5. (2) The singular locus of $X_{\overline{\mathbb{R}}_n}$ is the discrete set of points

$$X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\operatorname{sing}} = \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{A}_f^q) \times \mathcal{N}_{\operatorname{red}}^{\operatorname{sing}}/K^q.$$

The complete local ring of X at any point of $X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{a}}^{\text{sing}}$ is isomorphic to

$$\check{\mathbb{Z}}_q[\![x, y, z, w]\!]/(xy - zw - q).$$

Proof. Part (1) is the Rapoport-Zink uniformization theorem for X; part (2) follows from (1) and Theorem 6.2.4(6), after noting that all singularities of $X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_a}$ lie in the supersingular locus by [85, Theorem 7.5].

7.2.5. In particular, Theorem 7.2.4(2) asserts that X has ordinary quadratic singularities, so that the results of §7.1 apply. Following the notation therein, let $\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ be the blowup of $X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ along the singular locus; note that $\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ inherits an action of the full prime-to-q Hecke algebra.

7.3. Tate classes. The goal of this subsection is to show that the full cohomology group $H^2_{\text{ét}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O)$ is generated by Tate classes from the supersingular locus, after a Hecke localization.

Notation 7.3.1. Recall the sets \mathscr{L} and \mathscr{L}_{Pa} from Definition 6.5.2.

(1) For

 $g = (g^q, \Lambda) \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{A}_f^q) \times \mathscr{L}/K^q,$

let $B_{\pm}(g)$ be the image of $(g^q, \mathcal{M}_{\pm}(\Lambda))$ under the uniformization in Theorem 7.2.4, and let $\widetilde{B}_{\pm}(g)$ be its strict transform under the blowup $\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q} \to X_{\mathbb{F}_q}$.

(2) For

 $g = (g^q, \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}}) \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{A}_f^q) \times \mathscr{L}_{\operatorname{Pa}}/K^q,$

let $y(g) \in X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\text{sing}}$ be the image of $(g^q, \mathcal{M}(\Lambda_{\text{Pa}}))$, and let C(g) be the exceptional divisor of $\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ over the point y(g).

(3) Recall that \mathscr{L} and \mathscr{L}_{Pa} are homogeneous spaces for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{Q}_q) \cong \operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Q}_q)$, with the stabilizer of any point a hyperspecial or paramodular subgroup, respectively. We will therefore abbreviate the two sets in (1) and (2) by $\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q})$ and $\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q^{Pa}}(V_{D/q})$, respectively, even though the identifications actually depend on a non-canonical choice of base point which we do not need to make.

Remark 7.3.2. Notation 7.3.1 identifies $\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q}) \times \{\pm\}$ and $\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})$ with the set of irreducible components of $X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{ss}$ and the set of points of $X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\operatorname{sing}}$, respectively.

To study the intersections of the divisors $\widetilde{B}_{\pm}(g)$ and C(g), we need to define some additional Hecke operators.

Definition 7.3.3. Let

$$\delta_{\pm}: O[\mathrm{Sh}_{K^q K^{\mathrm{Pa}}_q}(V_{D/q})] \to O[\mathrm{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})]$$

be the maps defined by

$$\delta_{+}: (g^{q}, \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}}) \mapsto \sum_{\substack{\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \subset 1\Lambda \\ \Lambda \in \mathscr{L}}} (g^{q}, \Lambda),$$
$$\delta_{-}: (g^{q}, \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}}) \mapsto \sum_{\substack{\Lambda \subset 1\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \\ \Lambda \in \mathscr{L}}} (g^{q}, \Lambda).$$

Similarly, let

$$\theta_{\pm}: O[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})] \to O[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})]$$

be the maps defined by

$$\theta_{+} : (g^{q}, \Lambda) \mapsto \sum_{\substack{\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \subset 1\Lambda \\ \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \in \mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Pa}}}} (g^{q}, \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}}), \quad \theta_{-} : (g^{q}, \Lambda) \mapsto \sum_{\substack{\Lambda \subset 1\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \\ \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \in \mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Pa}}}} (g^{q}, \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}}).$$

These are incarnations of the level-lowering and level-raising operators in [95, §3].

Definition 7.3.4. We define the natural composite maps

$$(7.10) \quad \operatorname{inc}^* : H^4_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(2)) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{g \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})} H^4_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(C(g), O(2)) \oplus \bigoplus_{g \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})} \left(H^4_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{B}_+(g), O(2)) \oplus H^4_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{B}_-(g), O(2)) \right) \\ \xrightarrow{\sim} O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q}) \right] \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q}) \right]^{\oplus 2}$$

and

$$(7.11) \quad \operatorname{inc}_{c,*}: O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})\right] \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]^{\oplus 2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \\ \bigoplus_{g \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})} H^{0}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(C(g), O) \oplus \bigoplus_{g \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})} \left(H^{0}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{B}_{+}(g), O) \oplus H^{0}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{B}_{-}(g), O)\right) \\ \longrightarrow H^{2}_{c,\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(1)).$$

We also denote by inc_c^* the composite

$$\operatorname{inc}_{c}^{*}: H^{4}_{c,\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(2)) \to H^{4}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(2)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{inc}^{*}} O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K^{\operatorname{Pa}}_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right] \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]^{\oplus 2}$$

and likewise by inc_* the composite

$$\operatorname{inc}_*: O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K^{\operatorname{Pa}}_q}(V_{D/q})\right] \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]^{\oplus 2} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{inc}_{c,*}} H^2_{c,\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(1)) \longrightarrow H^2_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(1)).$$

Notation 7.3.5. For $\alpha \in O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q})\right]$ and $g \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q})$, let $m(g; \alpha) \in O$ denote the coefficient of g in α , and similarly for $\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})$.

Lemma 7.3.6. Fix $g \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})$.

- (1) There exists an isomorphism $C(g) \cong \mathbb{P}^1_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ with the following property: for $h \in \mathrm{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q})$, the intersection $\widetilde{B}_+(h) \cdot C(g)$ has the cycle class $(m(h; \delta_+(g)), 0)$ on C(g); and the intersection $\widetilde{B}_-(h) \cdot C(g)$ has the cycle class $(0, m(h; \delta_-(g)))$.
- (2) Let $\iota_g : C(g) \hookrightarrow \widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ be the natural inclusion. If we fix an isomorphism $C(g) \cong \mathbb{P}^1_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q} \times \mathbb{P}^1_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ as in (1), then we have

$$\operatorname{inc}^*(\iota_g)_*[(1,0)] = (-g, 0, \delta_-(g))$$

and

$$\operatorname{inc}^*(\iota_g)_*[(0,1)] = (-g, \delta_+(g), 0).$$

Proof. (1) is immediate from Lemma 6.4.2 and Corollary 6.5.6; (2) follows from (1), using that the Chern class of the normal bundle on C(g) is (-1, -1) (by (7.1)) to compute the first coordinate.

Notation 7.3.7. For any $g \in \text{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q})$, let

$$[\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{B}_{\pm}(g)}(1)] \in H^4_{\text{\'et},c}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(2))$$

denote the pushforward of the class of the line bundle $\mathcal{O}(1)$ on $\widetilde{B}_{\pm}(g)$ (which is the one induced by Notation 6.4.3).

Recall the explicit Hecke algebra generators from (2.1.10).

Lemma 7.3.8. For all $g \in \text{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q})$, we have

$$\operatorname{inc}_{c}^{*}[\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{B}_{+}(g)}(1)] = (0, -2q(q+1) \cdot g, T_{q,2} \cdot g)$$

and

$$\operatorname{inc}_{c}^{*}[\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{B}_{-}(g)}(1)] = (0, \langle q \rangle^{-1} T_{q,2} \cdot g, -2q(q+1) \cdot g).$$

Proof. The two calculations are similar, so we consider $\left[\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{B}_{+}(g)}(1)\right]$. We must calculate the intersection pairings with divisor classes [C(h)] and $\left[\widetilde{B}_{\pm}(g')\right]$, for $h \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})$ and $g' \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})$.

Since $C(h) \cdot \widetilde{B}_+(g)$ always lies in the exceptional divisor of the blowup $\widetilde{B}_+(g) \to B_+(g)$, we have

(7.12)
$$\left[\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{B}_{+}(g)}(1)\right] \cdot \left[C(h)\right] = \left[\mathcal{O}(1)\right] \cdot_{\widetilde{B}_{+}(g)} \left[C(h) \cdot \widetilde{B}_{+}(g)\right] = 0.$$

Now, $\widetilde{B}_+(g)$ and $\widetilde{B}_+(g')$ meet only if g = g', in which case we find

(7.13)
$$\left[\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{B}_{+}(g)}(1)\right] \cdot \left[\widetilde{B}_{+}(g)\right] = \left[\mathcal{O}(1)\right] \cdot_{\widetilde{B}_{+}(g)} \left[\mathcal{N}_{\widetilde{B}_{+}(g)/\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}}\right] = -2q(q+1)$$

since the normal bundle to $\widetilde{B}_+(g)$ is $\mathcal{O}(-2q)$ (Lemma 6.4.4) and $B_+(g)$ has degree q+1 (Theorem 6.2.4(1)). Finally, we compute

(7.14)
$$\left[\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{B}_{+}(g)}(1)\right] \cdot \left[\widetilde{B}_{-}(g')\right] = \left[\mathcal{O}(1)\right] \cdot_{\widetilde{B}_{+}(g)} \left[\widetilde{B}_{+}(g) \cdot \widetilde{B}_{-}(g')\right] = m(g'; T_{q,2} \cdot g),$$

since $B_+(g) \cap B_-(g')$ consists of $m(g'; T_{q,2} \cdot g)$ linearly embedded copies of $\mathbb{P}^1_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ inside $B_+(g) \subset \mathbb{P}^3_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ (by Theorem 6.2.4(2) and Corollary 6.5.6). Combining these calculations gives

$$\operatorname{inc}_{c}^{*}\left[\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{B}_{+}(g)}(1)\right] = (0, -2q(q+1) \cdot g, T_{q,2} \cdot g)$$

as desired.

Definition 7.3.9. Fix a finite set S of places of \mathbb{Q} containing q, and all primes $\ell \neq q$ such that K_{ℓ} is not hyperspecial. A maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S}$ will be called *weakly q-generic* if the map

$$\langle q \rangle^{-1} T_{q,2}^2 - 4q^2 (q+1)^2 : O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}} \to O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

is an isomorphism.

Remark 7.3.10. Using (2.3), one calculates the following: if π is a relevant automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$ unramified at q with trivial central character and $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ is any isomorphism with $p \neq q$, then $\langle q \rangle^{-1} T_{q,2}^2 - 4q^2(q+1)^2$ acts on the spherical vector of π_q with eigenvalue

$$q^2 \left(\iota \operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{Frob}_q | V_{\pi,\iota})^2 - 4(q+1)^2\right)$$

Lemma 7.3.11. Let \mathfrak{m} be a weakly q-generic maximal ideal of \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S} . Then the map

$$\operatorname{inc}_{c,\mathfrak{m}}^{*}: H_{c,\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}^{4}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \to O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}} \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2}$$

is surjective.

We note that Lemma 7.3.11 is slightly stronger than the corresponding statement for inc_m^{*}.

Proof. By Lemma 7.3.6, it suffices to show that the image of $\operatorname{inc}_{c,\mathfrak{m}}^*$ contains $O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2}$. Define a map

(7.15)
$$\mu = (\mu_+, \mu_-) : O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]^{\oplus 2}_{\mathfrak{m}} \to H^4_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t},c}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

by linearly extending

(7.16)
$$\mu_{\pm}(g) = \left[\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{B}_{\pm}(g)}(1)\right]$$

Then by Lemma 7.3.8, the composite $\operatorname{inc}_{c,\mathfrak{m}}^* \circ \mu$ is given by the matrix map

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -2q(q+1) & \langle q \rangle^{-1} T_{q,2} \\ T_{q,2} & -2q(q+1). \end{pmatrix}$$

Since

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} -2q(q+1) & \langle q \rangle^{-1} T_{q,2} \\ T_{q,2} & -2q(q+1) \end{pmatrix} = 4q^2(q+1)^2 - \langle q \rangle^{-1} T_{q,2}^2$$

and \mathfrak{m} is weakly q-generic, we have

$$\operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{inc}_{c,\mathfrak{m}}^{*}) \supset \operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{inc}_{c,\mathfrak{m}}^{*} \circ \mu) = O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2}$$

as desired.

In Theorem 7.3.14, we will see that $inc_{c,m}^*$ also has torsion kernel.

Lemma 7.3.12. Let \mathfrak{m} be a generic and non-Eisenstein maximal ideal of \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S} . There is a canonical injection induced by pullback

$$H^2(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(1))_{\mathfrak{m}} \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{g \in \mathrm{Sh}_{K^q K_{\sigma}^{\mathrm{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})} H^2_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(C(g), O(1)) \simeq O\left[\mathrm{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\mathrm{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2}$$

and a canonical surjection induced by pushforward

$$O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K^{\operatorname{Pa}}_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2} \simeq \bigoplus_{g \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K^{\operatorname{Pa}}_{q}}(V_{D/q})} H^{2}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(C(g), O(1))_{\mathfrak{m}} \twoheadrightarrow H^{4}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}.$$

Proof. This follows from Lemma 7.1.7 and Theorem 2.7.5(2).

Corollary 7.3.13 (Ihara's Lemma). Let \mathfrak{m} be a generic, non-Eisenstein, and weakly q-generic maximal ideal of \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S} . Then the degeneracy map

$$(\delta_+, \delta_-): O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K^{\operatorname{Pa}}_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}} \longrightarrow O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2}$$

is surjective.

Proof. Combining Lemmas 7.3.12 and 7.3.11, we see that the composite map

$$O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2} \simeq \oplus H^{2}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(C(g), O(1))_{\mathfrak{m}} \longrightarrow H^{4}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t},c}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{inc}_{c,\mathfrak{m}}^{*}} O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}} \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2}$$

is surjective. On the other hand, by Lemma 7.3.6, this composite is given as a matrix by

$$\begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & \delta_{-} \\ -1 & \delta_{+} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and the corollary follows by restricting to the preimage of $O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2}$.

Theorem 7.3.14. Let \mathfrak{m} be a generic, non-Eisenstein, and weakly q-generic maximal ideal of \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S} . Then

$$\operatorname{inc}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{*}: H^{4}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \to O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K^{\operatorname{Pa}}_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}} \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2}$$

and

$$\operatorname{inc}_{*,\mathfrak{m}}: O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}} \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2} \to H^{2}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(1))_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

are both surjective. Moreover $\operatorname{inc}_{*,\mathfrak{m}}$ is injective, and $\operatorname{inc}_{\mathfrak{m}}^*$ is injective modulo O-torsion.

In fact, only the surjectivity of $inc_{*,m}$ is needed for the main result.

Proof. We claim that it suffices to show

(7.17)
$$\dim H^4_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)_{\mathfrak{m}} \leq \dim \left(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K^{\operatorname{Pa}}_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) + 2\dim \left(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}\right)$$

indeed, this combined with Lemma 7.3.11 implies that $\operatorname{inc}_{\mathfrak{m}}^*$ is injective modulo torsion as well as surjective, and the other assertions follow by duality along with Lemma 7.1.13 and Theorem 2.7.5(2). (We also use that $H^2(\widetilde{X}_{\mathbb{F}_q}, O)_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is *O*-torsion-free by Lemma 7.3.12.) Inspecting the diagram in Lemma 7.1.7 and using Theorem 2.7.5(2), we see that

$$\dim H^4(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)_{\mathfrak{m}} = 2 \dim \left(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \left[\mathrm{Sh}_{K^q K^{\mathrm{Pa}}_q}(V_{D/q}) \right]_{\mathfrak{m}} \right) - \operatorname{rank} \left(T - 1 | H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}} \left(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \right)_{\mathfrak{m}} \right),$$

where $T \in I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$ is a generator of tame inertia, so we wish to show (7.18)

$$\dim\left(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) \leq 2\dim\left(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) + \operatorname{rank}\left(T - 1|H_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}^3\left(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p\right)_{\mathfrak{m}}\right).$$

Fix an isomorphism $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. Applying Lemma 2.7.6, it suffices to show

(7.19)
$$\dim\left(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})\right]\left[\iota^{-1}\pi_{f}^{q}\right]\right) \leq 2\dim\left(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]\left[\iota^{-1}\pi_{f}^{q}\right]\right) + \operatorname{rank}\left(T-1|H_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}^{3}\left(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}},\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}\right)\left[\iota^{-1}\pi_{f}^{q}\right]\right)$$

for all relevant automorphic representations π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{A})$ such that $\pi_f^{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}} \neq 0$ and the Hecke action on $\iota^{-1} \pi_f^{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}$ factors through $\mathbb{T}_{O,\mathfrak{m}}^S$.

By Lemma 2.6.2(1,2), π_q is uniquely determined by π_f^q , and is either spherical or of type IIa. Assume first that π_q is spherical. Then π_f^q cannot be completed to a relevant automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ (by Corollary 2.5.3), so by Corollary 2.7.7 the final term in (7.19) vanishes. Since $\dim \pi_q^{K_q} = 1$ and $\dim \pi_q^{K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}} = 2$ by [95, Table A.13], both sides of (7.19) are 2.

On the other hand, suppose that π_q is of type IIa.

Case 1: π is non-endoscopic. Then π_f^q can be completed to a relevant automorphic representation π' of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ by Theorem 2.4.6. By Lemma 2.6.2(3), π'_q has a unique fixed vector for $K_q^{\operatorname{ram}} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$, so by Corollary 2.7.7,

$$H^{3}_{\text{\'et}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p})\left[\iota^{-1}\pi_{f}^{q}\right] = \rho_{\pi,\iota}(-2) \otimes \iota^{-1}(\pi_{f}^{q})^{K^{q}}.$$

By Lemma 2.6.2(3), $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$ is tamely ramified at q with monodromy of rank one. On the other hand, π_q has a unique paramodular fixed vector, and π has automorphic multiplicity one for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{A})$ by Theorem 2.4.6(3). So in this case we see that both sides of (7.19) are 1.

Case 2: π is endoscopic, associated to a pair of cuspidal automorphic representations (π_1, π_2) of GL₂ with discrete series archimedean components of weights 2 and 4, respectively. Theorem 2.5.2 implies that there exist (uniquely determined) quaternion algebras B_1 and B_2 such that π is the theta lift $\Theta(\pi_1^{B_1} \boxtimes \pi_2^{B_2})$, with $\pi_i^{B_i}$ the Jacquet-Langlands transfers. Moreover, $B_1 \otimes \mathbb{R}$ is ramified and $B_2 \otimes \mathbb{R}$ is split. Since π_q is of type IIa with a paramodular fixed vector, we can conclude from Lemma 2.6.2(3) and Theorem 2.2.1(1) that exactly one of $\pi_{i,q}$ is a twist of a Steinberg representation, and the other is unramified. Let B'_i be the quaternion algebras obtained from B_i by changing invariants at q and ∞ . Then π_f^q has a unique completion to an automorphic representation of GSpin(V_D), which is

(7.20)
$$\begin{cases} \Theta(\pi_1^{B_1} \boxtimes \pi_2^{B_2}), & \pi_{1,q} \text{ ramified}, \\ \Theta(\pi_1^{B_1} \boxtimes \pi_2^{B_2'}), & \pi_{2,q} \text{ ramified}. \end{cases}$$

We therefore have (applying Corollary 2.7.7)

$$H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) \left[\pi^q_f\right] \cong (\pi^q_f)^{K^q} \otimes \rho$$

with

$$\rho = \begin{cases} \rho_{\pi_1,\iota}(-2), & \pi_{1,q} \text{ ramified,} \\ \rho_{\pi_2,\iota}(-2), & \pi_{2,q} \text{ ramified.} \end{cases}$$

In particular, the monodromy at q has rank one in either case, so again both sides of (7.19) are 1.

7.4. Level-raising and potential map.

Lemma 7.4.1. The Hecke operators θ_{\pm} , δ_{\pm} satisfy:

$$\delta_{+} \circ \theta_{+} = \delta_{-} \circ \theta_{-} = T_{q,1} + (q+1)(q^{2}+1)$$

$$\delta_{-} \circ \theta_{+} = (q+1)T_{q,2}$$

$$\delta_{+} \circ \theta_{-} = \langle q \rangle^{-1}(q+1)T_{q,2}.$$

Proof. By definition, $\delta_+ \circ \theta_+$ is induced by

$$(g^{q}, \Lambda) \mapsto \delta_{+} \left(\sum_{\substack{\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \subset 1\Lambda \\ \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \in \mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Pa}}}} (g^{q}, \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}}) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \subset 1\Lambda' \\ \Lambda' \in \mathscr{L}}} \sum_{\substack{\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \subset 1\Lambda' \\ \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \in \mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Pa}}}} (g^{q}, \Lambda')$$
$$= \sum_{\Lambda' \in \mathscr{L}} e(\Lambda, \Lambda')(g^{q}, \Lambda'),$$

where

$$e(\Lambda,\Lambda') = \# \left\{ \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}} \in \mathscr{L}_{\operatorname{Pa}} \, : \, \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}} \subset_1 \Lambda, \, \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}} \subset_1 \Lambda' \right\}$$

If $e(\Lambda, \Lambda') \neq 0$, then either $\Lambda = \Lambda'$ or $\Lambda' \in T_{q,1} \cdot \Lambda$. In the latter case, $\Lambda_{Pa} = \Lambda \cap \Lambda'$ is uniquely determined, so $e(\Lambda, \Lambda') = 1$. On the other hand, $e(\Lambda, \Lambda)$ is the number of lattices $\Lambda_{Pa} \subset_1 \Lambda$, or equivalently the number of rational 3-planes in the symplectic space $\Lambda/q\Lambda$. Thus

$$e(\Lambda,\Lambda) = \#\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{F}_q) = (q+1)(q^2+1).$$

This shows

$$\delta_+ \circ \theta_+ = T_{q,1} + (q+1)(q^2+1)$$

and the calculation for $\delta_{-} \circ \theta_{-}$ is similar. We now compute $\delta_{-} \circ \theta_{+}$, which is induced by

$$(g^{q}, \Lambda) \mapsto \delta_{-} \left(\sum_{\substack{\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \subset 1\Lambda \\ \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \in \mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Pa}}}} (g^{q}, \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}}) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \subset 1\Lambda \\ \lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \in \mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Pa}}}} \sum_{\substack{\Lambda' \subset 1\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \\ \Lambda' \in \mathscr{L}}} (g^{q}, \Lambda')$$
$$= \sum_{\Lambda' \in \mathscr{L}} e'(\Lambda, \Lambda')(g^{q}, \Lambda'),$$

where

$$e'(\Lambda,\Lambda') = \# \left\{ \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}} \in \mathscr{L}_{\operatorname{Pa}} \, : \, \Lambda' \subset_1 \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}} \subset_1 \Lambda
ight\}.$$

If $e'(\Lambda, \Lambda') \neq 0$, then $\Lambda' \in T_{q,2} \cdot \Lambda$. On the other hand, given $\Lambda' \in T_{q,2} \cdot \Lambda$, then the choices of Λ_{Pa} with $\Lambda' \subset_1 \Lambda_{\text{Pa}} \subset_1 \Lambda$ are in bijection with rational lines in the 2-dimensional \mathbb{F}_q -vector space Λ/Λ' ; hence

$$e'(\Lambda, \Lambda') = \# \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{F}_q) = q + 1.$$

This shows $\delta_{-} \circ \theta_{+} = (q+1)T_{q,2}$, and the computation of $\delta_{+} \circ \theta_{-}$ is similar.

7.4.2. Recall from Lemma 7.1.7 the natural embedding

$$j: \bigsqcup C(g) \hookrightarrow \widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$$

Lemma 7.4.3. The composite map

$$\operatorname{inc}^* \circ j_* \circ j^* \circ \operatorname{inc}_* : O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})\right] \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]^{\oplus 2} \longrightarrow O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})\right] \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]^{\oplus 2}$$

is given by the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & -\theta_{+} & -\theta_{-} \\ -\delta_{+} & 0 & (q+1)\langle q \rangle^{-1} T_{q,2} \\ -\delta_{-} & (q+1)T_{q,2} & 0. \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. We begin by calculating $\operatorname{inc}^* \circ j_* \circ j^*[C(g)]$, for $g \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})$. Let $\iota_g : C(g) \hookrightarrow \widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ be the natural embedding. Since the C(g) are all disjoint,

$$j_* \circ j^* [C(g)] \in H^4_{ ext{ét},c}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(2))$$

is the pushforward of the class of the normal bundle, i.e. $\iota_{g*}[(-1, -1)]$ in the notation of Lemma 7.3.6. Then

$$\operatorname{inc}^* \iota_{g*}[(-1,-1)] = -\operatorname{inc}^* \iota_{g*}[(1,0)] - \operatorname{inc}^* \iota_{g*}[(0,1)] = (2 \cdot g, -\delta_+(g), -\delta_-(g))$$

by Lemma 7.3.6 (2), which gives the first column of the matrix.

For the second column, we must calculate $\operatorname{inc}^* \circ j_* \circ j^* \left[\widetilde{B}_+(g) \right]$, for $g \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})$. By Lemma 7.3.6 (1), the class

$$j_* \circ j^* \left[\widetilde{B}_+(g) \right] \in H^4_{\text{\'et}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(2))$$

is

$$\sum_{h \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_a^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})} m(h; \theta_+(g)) \iota_{h*} [(1,0)]$$

Then by Lemma 7.3.6 (2),

$$\operatorname{inc}^* \circ j_* \circ j^* \left[\widetilde{B}_+(g) \right] = \left(-\theta_+(g), 0, \delta_- \circ \theta_+(g) \right).$$

By Lemma 7.4.1, $\delta_{-} \circ \theta_{+} = (q+1)T_{q,2}$, so this gives the second column of the matrix; the third column is similar.

Definition 7.4.4. Define the potential map

$$\nabla: H^4_{\text{\'et}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(2)) \to O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]$$

as the composite

$$H^{4}_{\text{\'et}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(2)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{inc}^{*}} O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K^{\operatorname{Pa}}_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right] \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]^{\oplus 2} \xrightarrow{M} O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]$$

with M the matrix map

$$\begin{pmatrix} \delta_+ + \delta_- & 2 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$
.

Definition 7.4.5. The level-raising Hecke operator T_q^{lr} is defined by

$$\mathbf{T}_q^{\rm lr} \coloneqq T_{q,1} + (q+1)(q^2+1) - T_{q,2}(q+1).$$

Remark 7.4.6. Using (2.3), one calculates the following: If π is a relevant automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$ unramified at q with trivial central character and $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ is any isomorphism with $p \neq q$, then $\operatorname{T}_q^{\operatorname{lr}}$ acts on the spherical vector of π_q with eigenvalue

$$q^{-1}\iota \det(\operatorname{Frob}_q - q|V_{\pi,\iota}).$$

Theorem 7.4.7. Let \mathfrak{m} be a generic, non-Eisenstein, and weakly q-generic maximal ideal of \mathbb{T}_O^S . The composite map

$$\nabla \circ j_* \circ t^{-1} \circ j^* : H^2_{\text{\'et}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \to O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

has image contained in

$$\left(\langle q \rangle^{-1} - 1, \mathbb{T}_q^{\mathrm{lr}}\right) \cdot O\left[\mathrm{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}.$$

In particular, $\nabla \circ \zeta$ gives a well-defined surjection

$$\nabla \circ \zeta : M_{-1}H^1\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\text{\'et}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) \twoheadrightarrow \frac{O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}}{\left(\langle q \rangle^{-1} - 1, \mathsf{T}_q^{\operatorname{lr}}\right)},$$

where ζ is the map from Proposition 7.1.9.

Proof. By Theorem 7.3.14, the image of $\nabla \circ j_* \circ t^{-1} \circ j^*$ coincides with the image of

$$\nabla \circ j_* \circ j^* \circ \operatorname{inc}_{*,\mathfrak{m}} : O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K^{\operatorname{Pa}}_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}} \oplus O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\oplus 2} \to O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}.$$

By Lemma 7.4.3, this is the composite of matrix maps

$$\begin{pmatrix} \delta_{+} + \delta_{-} & 2 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \circ \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -\theta_{+} & -\theta_{-} \\ -\delta_{+} & 0 & (q+1)\langle q \rangle^{-1} T_{q,2} \\ -\delta_{-} & (q+1)T_{q,2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

= $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\mathbf{T}_{q}^{\mathrm{lr}} & -\mathbf{T}_{q}^{\mathrm{lr}} + (\langle q \rangle^{-1} - 1) & (q+1)T_{q,2} \end{pmatrix}$

(using Lemma 7.4.1 to compute $\delta_{\pm} \circ \theta_{\pm}$).

7.5. Siegel cycles on the special fiber.

Definition 7.5.1. Recall the set \mathscr{L} from Definition 6.5.2. We define

$$\mathscr{L}_{\text{Sie}} \coloneqq \left\{ \text{pairs} \left(\Lambda_{+}, \Lambda_{-} \right) \in \mathscr{L}^{2} : q \Lambda_{+} \subset_{2} \Lambda_{-} \subset_{2} \Lambda_{+} \right\}.$$

Notation 7.5.2. Note that \mathscr{L}_{Sie} is a homogeneous space for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$, where the stabilizer of any point is a Siegel parahoric subgroup. As in Notation 7.3.1, we abbreviate

(7.21)
$$\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Sie}}}(V_{D/q}) = \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{A}_f^q) \times \mathscr{L}_{\operatorname{Sie}}/K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Sie}}$$

although the identification depends on a choice of base point of $\mathscr{L}_{\rm Sie}$ which is not necessary for our discussion.

Definition 7.5.3.

(1) We define degeneracy maps

$$\delta^{\mathrm{Sie}}_{\pm}:\mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Sie}}\to\mathscr{L}$$

by

$$\delta^{\mathrm{Sie}}_{\pm}(\Lambda_+,\Lambda_-) = \Lambda_{\pm}.$$

(2) We define the operator

$$\theta_{\mathrm{Sie}}^{\mathrm{Pa}}:\mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Sie}}\to\mathbb{Z}\left[\mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Pa}}\right]$$

by

$$heta_{\mathrm{Sie}}^{\mathrm{Pa}}(\Lambda_+,\Lambda_-) = \sum_{\substack{\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \in \mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Pa}} \\ \Lambda_- \subset \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \subset \Lambda_+}} \left[\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}}\right].$$

(3) We extend these maps linearly to

$$\delta_{\pm}^{\operatorname{Sie}}: O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Sie}}}(V_{D/q})\right] \to O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q})\right]$$

and

$$\theta_{\mathrm{Sie}}^{\mathrm{Pa}}: O\left[\mathrm{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\mathrm{Sie}}}(V_{D/q})\right] \to O\left[\mathrm{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\mathrm{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})\right]$$

Notation 7.5.4. For each $g \in \text{Sh}_{K^q K_a^{\text{Sie}}}(V_{D/q})$, let

$$D(g) = B_+(\delta_1^{\operatorname{Sie}}(g)) \cap B_-(\delta_2^{\operatorname{Sie}}(g)),$$

which is a closed subscheme of $X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}^1_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$. We write $\widetilde{D}(g) \hookrightarrow \widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ for the strict transform of D(g) under the blowup $\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q} \to X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$, and $[\widetilde{D}(g)] \in H^4_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(2))$ for its algebraic cycle class.

Lemma 7.5.5. For $g \in \text{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\text{Sie}}}(V_{D/q})$, we have

$$\nabla \left[\widetilde{D}(g) \right] = (\delta_+ + \delta_-) \circ \theta_{\operatorname{Sie}}^{\operatorname{Pa}}(g) - 4q \delta_+^{\operatorname{Sie}}(g) - 4q \delta_-^{\operatorname{Sie}}(g).$$

Proof. We first calculate $\operatorname{inc}^*\left[\widetilde{D}(g)\right]$. For $g' \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q})$, we have

$$\left[\widetilde{D}(g)\right] \cdot \left[\widetilde{B}_{+}(g')\right] = \left[\widetilde{B}_{+}(\delta_{1}^{\mathrm{Sie}}(g))\right] \cdot \left[\widetilde{B}_{-}(\delta_{2}^{\mathrm{Sie}}(g))\right] \cdot \left[\widetilde{B}_{+}(g')\right] = 0$$

unless $g' = \delta_1^{\text{Sie}}(g)$, in which case the intersection number is -2q (cf. the proof of Lemma 7.3.8). Similarly,

$$\left[\widetilde{D}(g)\right] \cdot \left[\widetilde{B}_{-}(g')\right] = \begin{cases} -2q, & g' = \delta_2^{\mathrm{Sie}}(g) \\ 0, & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Now consider the intersections with C(h), for $h \in \text{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\text{Pa}}}(V_{D/q})$. We see from Lemma 7.3.6 that D(g) meets C(h) transversely with multiplicity $m(h; \theta_{\text{Sie}}^{\text{Pa}}(g))$. Hence

$$\operatorname{inc}^*\left[\widetilde{D}(g)\right] = \left(\theta_{\operatorname{Sie}}^{\operatorname{Pa}}(g), -2q\delta_1^{\operatorname{Sie}}(g), -2q\delta_2^{\operatorname{Sie}}(g)\right).$$

The claimed formula then follows from the formula for ∇ in Definition 7.4.4.

7.6. Special cycles on ramified $GSpin_5$ Shimura varieties. The goal of this section is to compute the local ramification of Abel-Jacobi images of special cycles $Z(T, \varphi)$ on the generic fiber of X, by applying the results of §7.1. However, our first task is to make a good choice of the uniformization datum from (7.2.1).

Notation 7.6.1. Fix a matrix $T \in \text{Sym}_2(\mathbb{Z}_{(q)})_{\geq 0}$ such that

$$T \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \alpha \\ \alpha & 0 \end{pmatrix} \pmod{q},$$

for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$. Then we make the following notations.

- (1) Let V_{\star} be the two-dimensional quadratic space over \mathbb{Q}_q with basis $\{e_1^{\star}, e_2^{\star}\}$ and pairing matrix given by T.
- (2) Let B_{\star} be the quaternion algebra $C(V_{\star})$, with its natural positive nebentype involution *.
- (3) Let d be the discriminant of the unique quaternion algebra B_d such that $B_D \otimes B_\star \simeq M_2(B_d)$, and let $O_d \subset B_d$ be the unique maximal $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ -order.

Remark 7.6.2. Because B_{\star} is split at q and ∞ , B_d is ramified at q and split at ∞ . In particular, O_d is well-defined.

Proposition 7.6.3. Fix a nebentype involution * on O_D , of unit type. Then there exists an isomorphism

$$\beta: B_D \otimes B_\star \xrightarrow{\sim} M_2(B_d)$$

such that:

(1)
$$\beta(O_D) \subset M_2(O_d).$$

(2) The induced involution \dagger on $M_2(B_d)$ stabilizes $M_2(O_d)$, and is of non-unit type.

(3) If $\Pi_D \in O_D$ and $\Pi_d \in O_d$ are uniformizers, then

$$\beta(\Pi_D) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \Pi_d^{-1} & 0\\ 0 & \Pi_d^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

lies in
$$\operatorname{GL}_2(O_d)$$
.
(4) The $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ -lattice $\Lambda_{\star} := M_2(O_d)^{\dagger=1, \operatorname{tr}=0} \cap B_{\star} \subset V_{\star}$ has basis $\{e_1^{\star}, qe_2^{\star}\}$

Proof. Let

$$X = \text{Isom}(B_D \otimes B_\star, M_2(B_d)),$$

viewed as algebraic variety over \mathbb{Q} ; X is a (split) torsor for the algebraic group $GL_2(B_d)$. Note that all the conditions of the proposition can be checked after tensoring with \mathbb{Z}_q , and define an open subset $U \subset X(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ in the q-adic topology. Since $X(\mathbb{Q})$ is dense in $X(\mathbb{Q}_q)$, it suffices to show $U \neq \emptyset$.

Since the involution * on B_D is nebentype and of unit type, we can fix a unit $j \in O_D^{\times}$ such that $j^{*_D} = -j^{*_D}$ and $\alpha^* = j(\alpha^{*_D})j^{-1}$ for $\alpha \in B_D$ (recall $*_D$ is the canonical involution on B_D). Also choose a uniformizer $\Pi \in O_D$ satisfying tr $\Pi = 0$ and $\Pi j = -j\Pi$, and let $K := \mathbb{Q}(\Pi) \subset B_D$. We have a decomposition

$$B_D = K \oplus j \cdot K,$$

which defines an embedding

$$\iota: B_D \hookrightarrow M_2(K) \hookrightarrow M_2(B_D)$$

satisfying $\alpha(O_D) \subset M_2(O_D)$. Now let \dagger be the non-unit type involution on O_D defined by

$$j^{\dagger} = j, \ \Pi^{\dagger} = \Pi, \ \text{and} \ (\Pi j)^{\dagger} = -\Pi j.$$

We extend \dagger to an involution of non-unit type on $M_2(B_D)$ by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ \gamma & \delta \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^{\dagger} & -\gamma^{\dagger}j^2 \\ -\beta^{\dagger}/j^2 & \delta^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}$$

A simple calculation shows $\iota(\alpha)^{\dagger} = \iota(\alpha^*)$, for all $\alpha \in B_D$. Moreover, the centralizer Z of $\iota(B_D)$ inside $M_2(B_D)$ satisfies

$$L \coloneqq Z \cap M_2(O_D)^{\dagger=1,\mathrm{tr}=0} = \mathbb{Z}_{(q)} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \Pi & 0\\ 0 & \Pi \end{pmatrix} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{(q)} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Pi j\\ \Pi j^{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

We have a natural quadratic form $x \mapsto x^2$ on L, which is represented by $\begin{pmatrix} q\alpha & 0\\ 0 & -q\alpha \end{pmatrix}$ in the basis above, for a unit $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{(q)}^{\times}$. Let $L_{\mathbb{Q}} = L \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}} \mathbb{Q}$.

We may then choose the following two isomorphisms:

- (i) An isomorphism $\beta_{1,q}: Z \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q = C(L_{\mathbb{Q}}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q \xrightarrow{\sim} C(V_{\star}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q = B_{\star} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q$ compatible with the involutions, such that $\beta_{1,q}(L \otimes \mathbb{Z}_q) \subset V_{\star} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q$ is the lattice spanned by e_1^{\star} and qe_2^{\star} .
- (ii) An isomorphism $\beta_{2,q}: M_2(O_D) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_q \xrightarrow{\sim} M_2(O_d) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_q$.

. One checks readily that the induced isomorphism

$$\beta_q : (B_D \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q) \otimes (B_\star \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \otimes \beta_{1,q}^{-1}} B_D \otimes Z \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q \xrightarrow{\iota} M_2(B_D) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q \xrightarrow{\beta_{2,q}} M_2(B_d) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q$$

$$\downarrow U, \text{ so indeed } U \neq \emptyset.$$

lies in U, so indeed $U \neq \emptyset$.

Now we use Proposition 7.6.3 to construct some particular integral models of special cycles on $X_{\mathbb{O}}$ = $\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_D).$

Construction 7.6.4. Fix once and for all a positive, unit type involution on B_D , and a choice of β as in Proposition 7.6.3 for this choice. We will now also write * for the induced involution on $M_2(B_d)$.

(1) By Corollary 1.3.5 and Remark 7.6.2, we fix an abelian scheme A_0 over \mathbb{Z}_q with supersingular reduction, equipped with an embedding $\iota_0^\diamond: M_2(O_d) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A_0) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ and a polarization $\lambda_0: A_0 \to A_0^{\vee}$ such that

$$\iota_0^{\diamond}(\alpha)^{\vee} \circ \lambda_0 = \lambda_0 \circ \iota_0^{\diamond}(\alpha^*).$$

We choose our q-uniformization datum for V_D in (7.2.1) to be of the form $(*, A_0, \iota_0^{\diamond} \circ \beta, \lambda_0, i_D, i_{D/q})$. With notation as in Definition 1.4.4, we also obtain the PEL datum $\mathcal{D}^{\diamond} = (M_2(B_d), \dagger, H, \psi)$, with self-dual q-integral refinement $\mathscr{D}^{\diamond} = (M_2(O_d), \dagger, \Lambda, \psi)$.

(2) We observe that, following Remark 1.4.5(2), our choice of q-adic uniformization datum defines an orthogonal decomposition

$$V_D \xrightarrow{i_D} \operatorname{End}(H, B_D)^{\dagger=1, \operatorname{tr}=0} = V_{\star} \oplus V_d^{\diamond}$$

where

$$V_d^\diamond \coloneqq \operatorname{End}(H, M_2(B_d))^{\dagger=1, \operatorname{tr}=0}$$

(3) Now fix an element

$$g^q = \prod_{\ell \neq q} g_\ell \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f^q).$$

Let

$$K_{\ell}^{\diamond} \coloneqq g_{\ell} K_{\ell} g_{\ell}^{-1} \cap \operatorname{GSpin}(V_d^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$$

for each $\ell \neq q$; we define

$$K^{q\diamond} = \prod_{\ell \neq q} K^{\diamond}_{\ell},$$

a neat compact open subgroup by [89, §0.1]. We let $Z(g^q, V_\star, V_D)$ be the $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ -scheme representing the moduli functor $\mathcal{M}_{K^{q\diamond}}^{\diamond}$ associated to \mathscr{D}^{\diamond} at level $K^{q\diamond}$, with special fiber $Z(g^q, V_\star, V_D)_{\mathbb{F}_q}$.

Remark 7.6.5. Note that (by Corollary 1.3.4 combined with Proposition 1.2.4), $Z(g^q, V_{\star}, V_D)$ is the usual integral model of the quaternionic Shimura curve associated to B_d at level $K^{q\diamond}$, with maximal compact level structure at q.

7.6.6. We have the obvious forgetful finite morphism

$$(7.22) j: \mathbf{Z}(g^q, V_\star, V_D) \to X$$

defined on the moduli problems by $(A, \iota^{\diamond}, \lambda, \eta^q) \mapsto (A, \iota^{\diamond} \circ \beta, \lambda, g^q \cdot \eta^q).$

Lemma 7.6.7. The generic fiber of (7.22) coincides with the special cycle

$$Z(g^q, V_\star, V_D)_{K^q K_a^{\operatorname{ram}}} \to \operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_a^{\operatorname{ram}}}(V_D).$$

Proof. See the proof of [56, Proposition 2.5].

Notation 7.6.8. We now consider the special fiber $Z(g^q, V_{\star}, V_D)_{\mathbb{F}_q}$.

(1) Similarly to Construction 7.6.4(2), we obtain a natural orthogonal decomposition

$$V_{D/q} \xrightarrow{i_{D/q}} \operatorname{End}^0(\overline{A}_0, B_D)^{\dagger=1, \operatorname{tr}=0} = V_{\star} \oplus V_{d/q}^{\diamond},$$

with

$$V_{d/q}^{\diamond} \coloneqq \operatorname{End}^0(\overline{A}_0, M_2(B_d))^{\dagger=1, \operatorname{tr}=0}$$

a three-dimensional quadratic space whose Hasse invariant coincides with that of $B_{d/q}$.

(2) Let N[◊] be the Rapoport-Zink space parametrizing framed, polarized deformations of the q-divisible group A₀[q[∞]], with action of M₂(O_d ⊗ Z_q). (The details are analogous to Definition 6.1.2). Let j^{loc} : N[◊] ↔ N be the natural closed immersion induced by β ⊗ Z_q : O_D ⊗ Z_q ↔ M₂(O_d ⊗ Z_q), and let

$$\mathcal{N}^{\diamond} = \sqcup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{N}^{\diamond}(i)$$

be the decomposition defined analogously to (6.1), or equivalently defined by $\mathcal{N}^{\diamond}(i) = \mathcal{N}^{\diamond} \cap \mathcal{N}(i)$.

Remark 7.6.9. By the local analogue of Corollary 1.3.4, \mathcal{N}^{\diamond} is isomorphic to the formal scheme considered in [12, §I.3], which is the one encountered in the well-known Čerednik-Drinfeld uniformization of quaternionic Shimura curves.

Lemma 7.6.10. The image of $\mathcal{M}^{\diamond} \coloneqq \mathcal{N}^{\diamond}_{red}(0)$ under j^{loc} is contained in $\mathcal{M}_{\{02\}}$ (cf. Theorem 6.2.4).

Proof. It suffices to consider $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ -valued points, so suppose given $x = (X_x, \iota_x, \lambda_x, \rho_x) \in \mathcal{M}^{\diamond}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$, with $\iota : M_2(O_d) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_q \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(X_x)$ an embedding compatible with involutions. By (6.2.5), it suffices to show the Dieudonné module M of X_x satisfies $M + \tau M = \tau M + \tau^2 M$ for $\tau = (\iota \circ \beta(\Pi_D)) \cdot V^{-1}$. (Since M is self-dual, $M \cap \tau M$ is then τ -stable as well.) If $\tau' = \iota \begin{pmatrix} \Pi_d & 0 \\ 0 & \Pi_d \end{pmatrix} \cdot V^{-1}$, then we have

$$(\tau')^n M = \tau^n M$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ by Proposition 7.6.3(3). So it suffices to show $M + \tau' M$ is τ' -stable. The action of

$$M_2(\mathbb{Z}_q) \subset M_2(O_d) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_q$$

on M defines a decomposition $M = M_0 \oplus M_0$, where M_0 inherits an action ι_0 of O_d . We can further decompose $M_0 = M_{0,\bullet} \oplus M_{0,\circ}$ according to the eigenvalues of the action of $\mathbb{Z}_{q^2} \subset O_d \otimes \mathbb{Z}_q$. Then $M_{0,\bullet}$ and $M_{0,\circ}$ are both free of rank two over \mathbb{Z}_q and stable under $\tau_0 \coloneqq \iota_0(\Pi_d)V^{-1}$. Hence $M_0 + \tau_0M_0$ is τ_0 -stable by [93, Proposition 2.17]; so $M + \tau'M$ is τ' -stable, as desired.

Definition 7.6.11. We define a subset $\mathscr{L}^{\diamond} \subset \mathscr{L}_{Sie}$ by

$$j^{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathcal{N}^\diamond_{\mathrm{red}}) = \bigcup_{(\Lambda_+,\Lambda_-) \in \mathscr{L}^\diamond} \left(\mathcal{M}_+(\Lambda_+) \cap \mathcal{M}_-(\Lambda_-) \right),$$

which makes sense by Lemma 7.6.10.

By [12, Proposition III.2] (and Remark 7.6.5), the special fiber $Z(g^q, V_\star, V_D)_{\mathbb{F}_q}$ is purely supersingular. Hence by Rapoport-Zink uniformization, we have:

Proposition 7.6.12. The special fiber $Z(g^q, V_\star, V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ is isomorphic to

$$\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{d/q}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{d/q}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{A}_f^q) \times \mathcal{N}_{\operatorname{red}}^{\diamond}/K_{q^q}^{q\diamond},$$

in such a way that the special fiber of $j : \mathbf{Z}(g^q, V_\star, V_D) \to X$ is given by $(h^q, x) \mapsto (h^q g^q, j^{\text{loc}}(x))$ under the uniformization of Theorem 7.2.4.

Notation 7.6.13. Let

(7.23)

$$j: Z(g^q, V_\star, V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q} \to X_{\overline{\mathbb{I}}}$$

be the strict transform of

$$Z(g^q, V_\star, V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q} \to X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q},$$

and

(7.24)
$$\left[\widetilde{Z}(g^q, V_\star, V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}\right] \in H^4_{\text{\'et}, c}(\widetilde{X}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(2))$$

its algebraic cycle class.

Corollary 7.6.14. We have

$$\nabla \left[\widetilde{Z}(g^q, V_{\star}, V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q} \right] = \sum_{\substack{[(h^q, \Lambda)] \in \\ \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{d/q}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{d/q}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{A}_f^q) \times \mathscr{L}/K_{gq}^{q\diamond}}} m(\Lambda)[(h^q g^q, \Lambda)],$$

where

$$m(\Lambda) = \sum_{y \in \mathscr{L}^{\diamond}} \operatorname{mult}(\Lambda, -4q\delta^{\operatorname{Sie}}_{+}(y) - 4q\delta^{\operatorname{Sie}}_{-}(y) + (\delta_{+} + \delta_{-}) \circ \theta^{\operatorname{Pa}}_{\operatorname{Sie}}(y)).$$

Proof. This is immediate from Lemma 7.5.5, Proposition 7.6.12, and Definition 7.6.11.

To compute the multiplicities $m(\Lambda)$ in the Corollary 7.6.14 above, it is better to work with lattices in the split 5-dimensional quadratic space $V := V_{D/q} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q$ rather than the symplectic space W (see (6.5.1)).

Definition 7.6.15.

(1) A vertex lattice $L \subset V$ is a \mathbb{Z}_q -lattice satisfying

$$L^{\vee} \supset L \supset qL^{\vee}.$$

For $0 \le i \le 2$, set

 $\operatorname{VL}(2i) \coloneqq \left\{ \operatorname{vertex} \operatorname{lattices} L \subset V : \dim_{\mathbb{F}_q} L^{\vee} / L = 2i \right\}.$

(The analogous sets VL(2i + 1) are all empty.)

(2) For any \mathbb{Z}_q -lattice $\Lambda \subset W$, we define

$$L_{\Lambda} = \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Z}_q}(\Lambda) \cap V_q$$

which makes sense because $V = \text{End}(W)^{\dagger=1,\text{tr}=0}$.

Lemma 7.6.16. The map $\Lambda \mapsto L_{\Lambda}$ induces an isomorphism

$$\mathscr{L}/q^{\mathbb{Z}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{VL}(0)$$

and a surjection

$$\mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Pa}}/q^{\mathbb{Z}} \twoheadrightarrow \mathrm{VL}(4)$$

Moreover, the map

$$(\Lambda_+, \Lambda_-) \mapsto L_{\Lambda_+} \cap L_{\Lambda_-}$$

induces a surjection

$$\mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Sie}}/q^{\mathbb{Z}} \twoheadrightarrow \mathrm{VL}(2).$$

Proof. For each $0 \le i \le 2$, VL(2*i*) is a homogeneous space for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$. Since the maps

$$\mathscr{L}/q^{\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathrm{VL}(0)$$

 $\mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Sie}}/q^{\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathrm{VL}(2)$
 $\mathscr{L}_{\mathrm{Pa}}/q^{\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathrm{VL}(4)$

are all $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -equivariant, they are automatically surjective. Finally, for the injectivity of the first map, it suffices to note that the stabilizers coincide, i.e. the hyperspecial subgroup of $\operatorname{SO}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ is the image of a hyperspecial subgroup of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$.

Lemma 7.6.17. The projections of Lemma 7.6.16 fit into the following commutative diagrams:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathscr{L}_{\operatorname{Pa}} & \xrightarrow{\delta_{+}+\delta_{-}} \mathbb{Z}[\mathscr{L}] & \mathscr{L}_{\operatorname{Sie}} & \xrightarrow{\delta_{+}^{\operatorname{Sie}}+\delta_{-}^{\operatorname{Sie}}} \mathbb{Z}[\mathscr{L}] & \mathscr{L}_{\operatorname{Sie}} & \xrightarrow{\theta_{\operatorname{Sie}}^{\operatorname{Pa}}} \mathbb{Z}[\mathscr{L}_{\operatorname{Pa}}] \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{VL}(4) & \xrightarrow{\overline{\delta}} \mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{VL}(0)] & \operatorname{VL}(2) & \xrightarrow{\overline{\delta}^{\operatorname{Sie}}} \mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{VL}(0)] & \operatorname{VL}(2) & \xrightarrow{\overline{\theta}_{\operatorname{Sie}}^{\operatorname{Pa}}} \mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{VL}(4)] \end{array}$$

Here, the bottom maps are:

$$\overline{\delta}(L_4) = \sum_{\substack{L_0 \in \mathrm{VL}(0) \\ L_0 \supset L_4}} [L_0], \qquad \text{for } L_4 \in \mathrm{VL}(4),$$
$$\overline{\delta}^{\mathrm{Sie}}(L_2) = \sum_{\substack{L_0 \in \mathrm{VL}(0) \\ L_0 \supset L_2}} [L_0], \qquad \text{for } L_2 \in \mathrm{VL}(2),$$
$$\overline{\theta}^{\mathrm{Pa}}_{\mathrm{Sie}}(L_2) = \sum_{\substack{L_4 \in \mathrm{VL}(4) \\ L_4 \subset L_2}} [L_4], \qquad \text{for } L_2 \in \mathrm{VL}(2).$$

Proof. Given $\Lambda_{Pa} \in \mathscr{L}_{Pa}$ with

$$q^{n+1}\Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}}^{\vee}\subset_2\Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}}\subset_2 q^n\Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}}^{\vee}$$

and $\Lambda \in \mathscr{L}$ with $\Lambda \in \delta_+(\Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}})$, we first claim $L_\Lambda \supset L_{\Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}}}$. Indeed, for any $\ell \in L_{\Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}}}$, ℓ induces a self-adjoint, trace-zero endomorphism of the two-dimensional symplectic space $q^n \Lambda_{Pa}^{\vee} / \Lambda_{Pa}$; hence $\ell(q^n \Lambda_{Pa}^{\vee}) \subset \Lambda_{Pa}$. Since Λ fits into a chain

$$\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}} \subset_1 \Lambda = q^n \Lambda^{\vee} \subset_1 q^n \Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}}^{\vee},$$

we conclude

$$\ell(\Lambda) \subset \Lambda_{\operatorname{Pa}} \subset \Lambda,$$

so $\ell \in L_{\Lambda}$. Similarly, we see that, for $\Lambda \in \mathscr{L}$ appearing in $\delta_{-}(\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}})$, we have $L_{\Lambda} \supset L_{\Lambda_{\mathrm{Pa}}}$. Now to prove the first diagram commutes, it suffices to show

(7.25)
$$\deg \overline{\delta}(L_{\Lambda_{Pa}}) = \deg(\delta_{+}(\Lambda_{Pa})) + \deg(\delta_{-}(\Lambda_{Pa})).$$

The left-hand side is the number of lattices $L \in VL(0)$ containing $L_{\Lambda_{Pa}}$; such lattices are in bijection with isotropic planes in the split 4-dimensional \mathbb{F}_q -quadratic space $L^{\vee}_{\Lambda_{Pa}}/L_{\Lambda_{Pa}}$, hence there are 2(q+1) of them. Meanwhile $\deg(\delta_{\pm}(\Lambda_{Pa})) = q + 1$, since lattices $\Lambda \supset_1 \Lambda_{Pa}$ (resp. $\Lambda \subset_1 \Lambda_{Pa}$) are in bijection with lines in the 2-dimensional \mathbb{F}_q -symplectic space $q^n \Lambda_{\text{Pa}}^{\vee} / \Lambda_{\text{Pa}}$ (resp. $\Lambda_{\text{Pa}} / q^{n+1} \Lambda_{\text{Pa}}^{\vee}$). This proves (7.25), hence the commutativity of the first diagram; and the rest are similar.

Notation 7.6.18.

(1) For convenience, we now abbreviate

$$V_{\star,q} = V_{\star} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q.$$

Let $L_{\star} \subset V_{\star,q}$ be the \mathbb{Z}_q -lattice spanned by $\{e_1^{\star}, qe_2^{\star}\}$, and let $L_{\star}^{(0)} = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{Z}_q} \{q^{-1}e_1^T, qe_2^T\}$ and $L^{(1)}_{\star} = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{Z}_q} \{ e_1^T, e_2^T \}$ be the two self-dual lattices in $V_{\star,q}$ containing L_{\star} . (2) We write $VL(2)^{\diamond} \subset VL(2)$ for the subset consisting of lattices of the form

$$L_2 = L_\star \oplus L_\diamond$$

where

$$L_{\diamond} \subset V_{\diamond} \coloneqq V_{d/q}^{\diamond} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q$$

is self-dual.

Lemma 7.6.19. \mathscr{L}^{\diamond} consists of two $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{d/q}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -orbits; if $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathscr{L}^{\diamond}$ is one orbit, then the map of Lemma 7.6.16 induces an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{O}/q^{\mathbb{Z}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{VL}(2)^{\diamond}.$$

Proof. By [12, Théorème 9.3] and Remark 7.6.5, \mathscr{L}^{\diamond} consists of two $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{d/q}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -orbits, and the stabilizer of any point in \mathscr{L}^{\diamond} is a hyperspecial subgroup. On the other hand, for any point in \mathscr{L}^{\diamond} with image $L_2 \in \operatorname{VL}(2)$, we know

$$L_2 \cap V_{\star,q} \supset L_{\star}$$

by Proposition 7.6.3(4) and the definition of the strata $\mathcal{M}_+(\Lambda_+)$ and $\mathcal{M}_-(\Lambda_-)$. Since the stabilizer of L_2 in $SO(V_{d/q}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ is hyperspecial, this forces

$$L_2 = L_\star \oplus L_\diamond,$$

for some $L_{\diamond} \subset V_{\diamond}$ self-dual. Hence the image of either orbit $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathscr{L}^{\diamond}$ in VL(2) is contained in VL(2)^{\diamond}; since VL(2)^{\diamond} is a single orbit, we have a surjection $\mathcal{O}/q^{\mathbb{Z}} \twoheadrightarrow VL(2)^{\diamond}$. Finally, we see that this map is an isomorphism because the stabilizers coincide.

Lemma 7.6.20. The multiplicity $m(\Lambda)$ in Corollary 7.6.14 depends only on $L_{\Lambda} \in VL(0)$, and is given by:

$$m(\Lambda) = \begin{cases} 4, & \text{if } L_{\Lambda} \cap V_{\star,q} = L_{\star}, \\ 4 - 4q, & \text{if } L_{\Lambda} \cap V_{\star,q} = L_{\star}^{(0)} \text{ or } L_{\star}^{(1)}, \\ 0, & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Proof. Let \mathcal{O} be one of the two $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{d/q}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -orbits in \mathscr{L}^{\diamond} ; we will compute

$$m_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda) = \sum_{y \in \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{mult} \left(\Lambda, -4q\delta^{\operatorname{Sie}}_{+}(y) - 4q\delta^{\operatorname{Sie}}_{-}(y) + (\delta_{+} + \delta_{-}) \circ \theta^{\operatorname{Pa}}_{\operatorname{Sie}}(y)\right)$$

Let $m(\Lambda, y)$ be the summand above, so that $m_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda) = \sum_{y \in \mathcal{O}} m(\Lambda, y)$. Fix some $y \in \mathcal{O}$ corresponding to $L_y \in VL(2)$. Then

$$m(\Lambda, q^n y) = m(q^{-n}\Lambda, y)$$

is nonzero for at most one n, so

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} m(\Lambda, q^n y) = \operatorname{mult}(L_\Lambda, -4q\overline{\delta}^{\operatorname{Sie}}(L_y) + \overline{\delta} \circ \overline{\theta}_{\operatorname{Sie}}^{\operatorname{Pa}}(L_y))$$

by Lemma 7.6.17. Since $\mathcal{O}/q^{\mathbb{Z}}$ maps isomorphically to VL(2)^{\diamond} by Lemma 7.6.19, we find

$$m_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda) = \sum_{L_2 \in \mathrm{VL}(2)^{\diamond}} \mathrm{mult}\left(L_{\Lambda}, -4q\overline{\delta}^{\mathrm{Sie}}(L_2) + \overline{\delta} \circ \overline{\theta}_{\mathrm{Sie}}^{\mathrm{Pa}}(L_2)\right).$$

Next, we calculate, for any $L_2 \in VL(2)$,

$$\overline{\delta} \circ \overline{\theta}_{\text{Sie}}^{\text{Pa}}(L_2) = \sum_{\substack{L_4 \in \text{VL}(4) \\ L_4 \subset L_2}} \sum_{\substack{L_0 \in \text{VL}(0) \\ L_0 \supset L_4}} [L_0]$$

= $\sum_{\substack{L_0 \in \text{VL}(0) \\ L_0 \supset L_2}} \# \{L_4 \in \text{VL}(4) : L_4 \subset L_2\} + \sum_{\substack{L_0 \in \text{VL}(0) \\ L_0 \cap L_2 \in \text{VL}(4)}} [L_0]$
= $(q+1)\overline{\delta}^{\text{Sie}}(L_2) + \sum_{\substack{L_0 \in \text{VL}(0) \\ L_0 \cap L_2 \in \text{VL}(4)}} [L_0].$

(The q + 1 choices of $L_4 \subset L_2$ correspond to flags

$$qL_2^{\vee} \subset qL_4^{\vee} \subset L_4 \subset L_2$$

hence to complete isotropic flags in the split 3-dimensional \mathbb{F}_q -quadratic space L_2/qL_2^{\vee} .) Hence

(7.26)
$$m_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda) = \sum_{L_2 \in \mathrm{VL}(2)^{\diamond}} \mathrm{mult} \left(L_{\Lambda}, (1 - 3q)\overline{\delta}^{\mathrm{Sie}}(L_2) + \sum_{\substack{L_0 \in \mathrm{VL}(0)\\L_0 \cap L_2 \in \mathrm{VL}(4)}} [L_0] \right).$$

Now observe that, for any $L_2 \in VL(2)^{\diamond}$ and $L_4 \in VL(4)$ with $L_4 \subset L_2$, we have

$$L_4 \supset qL_4^{\vee} \supset qL_2^{\vee} \supset L_{\star}.$$

Hence, if $L_2 \in VL(2)^{\diamond}$, all L_0 appearing in

$$(1 - 3q)\overline{\delta}^{\operatorname{Sie}}(L_2) + \sum_{\substack{L_0 \in \operatorname{VL}(0)\\L_0 \cap L_2 \in \operatorname{VL}(4)}} [L_0]$$

have $L_0 \cap V_{\star,q} \supset L_{\star}$. In particular, if $m_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda) \neq 0$, then

$$L_{\Lambda} \cap V_{\star,q} = L_{\star}^{(0)}, \ L_{\star}^{(1)}, \ \text{or} \ L_{\star},$$

since these are the only lattices containing L_{\star} on which the pairing is \mathbb{Z}_q -valued.

Suppose first $L_{\Lambda} \cap V_{\star,q} = L_{\star}^{(i)}$, for i = 0 or 1. Then we may write

$$L_{\Lambda} = L_{\diamond} \oplus L_{\star}^{(i)}$$

with $L_{\diamond} \subset V_{\diamond}$ self-dual, and

$$m_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda) = (1 - 3q) \# \left\{ L_2 \in \mathrm{VL}(2)^\diamond : L_\Lambda \in \overline{\delta}^{\mathrm{Sie}}(L_2) \right\} + \# \left\{ L_2 \in \mathrm{VL}(2)^\diamond : L_2 \cap L_\Lambda \in \mathrm{VL}(4) \right\}$$

Recall that all $L_2 \in VL(2)^{\diamond}$ are of the form $L'_{\diamond} \oplus L_{\star}$, with $L'_{\diamond} \subset V_{\diamond}$ self-dual, and

$$\overline{\delta}^{\operatorname{Sie}}(L'_{\diamond} \oplus L_{\star}) = \left[L'_{\diamond} \oplus L^{(0)}_{\star}\right] + \left[L'_{\diamond} \oplus L^{(1)}_{\star}\right].$$

Hence

$$m_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda) = (1 - 3q) + \# \left\{ L'_{\diamond} \subset V_{\diamond} \text{ self-dual} : (L'_{\diamond} \cap L_{\diamond}) \oplus L_{\star} \in \mathrm{VL}(4) \right\}$$
$$= (1 - 3q) + (q + 1)$$
$$= 2 - 2q;$$

the (q+1) choices of L'_{\diamond} correspond bijectively to the isotropic lines in the 3-dimensional \mathbb{F}_q -space $L_{\diamond}/qL_{\diamond}$.

Now suppose $L_{\Lambda} \cap V_{\star,q} = L_{\star}$. Then L_{Λ} does not appear in $\overline{\delta}^{\text{Sie}}(L_2)$ for any $L_2 \in \text{VL}(2)^{\diamond}$, so by (7.26), we have

$$n_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda) = \# \{ L_2 \in \mathrm{VL}(2)^{\diamond} : L_{\Lambda} \cap L_2 \in \mathrm{VL}(4) \}$$

Recall that any L_4 contained in $L_2 \in VL(2)^{\diamond}$ satisfies $qL_4^{\vee} \supset L_{\star}$; we first show that there is a unique such L_4 contained in L_{Λ} . Indeed, any such L_4 fits in a chain

$$qL_{\Lambda} \subset_2 qL_4^{\vee} \subset_1 L_4 \subset_2 L_{\Lambda},$$

and so we must have

$$qL_4^{\vee} = L_{\star} + qL_{\Lambda},$$

which determines L_4 . Now, for this L_4 , we claim there are exactly two $L_2 \in VL(2)^{\diamond}$ with $L_2 \supset L_4$. Such an L_2 fits into a chain

$$L_4 \subset_1 L_2 \subset_2 L_2^{\vee} \subset_1 L_4^{\vee}.$$

Since $L_{\star} \subset qL_4^{\vee}$, we have

Thus

$$L_4^{\vee}/L_4 \cong \frac{1}{q}L_{\star}/L_{\star} \oplus \mathbb{H},$$

 $\frac{1}{a}L_{\star} \subset L_4^{\vee}.$

with \mathbb{H} a hyperbolic plane over \mathbb{F}_q . For L_2 to lie in $\mathrm{VL}(2)^\diamond$ is equivalent to $\frac{1}{q}L_\star \subset L_2^\lor$, so choices of L_2 correspond to choices of isotropic lines in L_4^\lor/L_4 orthogonal to $\frac{1}{q}L_\star/L_\star$; these are isotropic lines in \mathbb{H} , so there are exactly two. Hence $m_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda) = 2$ if $L_\Lambda \cap V_{\star,q} = L_\star$. We have now shown

$$m_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda) = \begin{cases} 2, & \text{if } L_{\Lambda} \cap V_{\star,q} = L_{\star}, \\ 2 - 2q, & \text{if } L_{\Lambda} \cap V_{\star,q} = L_{\star}^{(0)} \text{or } L_{\star}^{(1)}, \\ 0, & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Since $m_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda)$ is evidently independent of the choice of orbit \mathcal{O} , we have

$$m(\Lambda) = 2m_{\mathcal{O}}(\Lambda),$$

which completes the proof.

Combining Lemma 7.6.20 and Corollary 7.6.14 gives the following simple formula.

Corollary 7.6.21. We have

$$\nabla \left[\widetilde{Z}(g^{q}, V_{\star}, V_{D})_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}} \right] = 4Z(g^{q}g_{q}^{\star}, V_{\star}, V_{D/q})_{K^{q}K_{q}} + 4(1-q) \left(Z(g^{q}g^{(0)}, V_{\star}, V_{D/q})_{K^{q}K_{q}} \right) + Z(g^{q}g^{(1)}, V_{\star}, V_{D/q})_{K^{q}K_{q}} \right) \in O \left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{D/q}) \right]$$

where g_q^{\star} , $g_q^{(0)}$, $g_q^{(1)} \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ represent the cosets in

$$\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{d/q}^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_q) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{Q}_q)/K_q$$

corresponding to the lattices L_{\star} , $L_{\star}^{(0)}$, $L_{\star}^{(1)}$ under Proposition 3.1.8.

7.7. Interpretation in terms of test functions.

7.7.1. We now define a specific test function $\varphi_q^{\text{tot}} \in \mathcal{S}(V_{D/q}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \mathbb{Z})$ as follows. First, define a subset $X \subset V_{D/q}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q$ by

(7.27)
$$X = \left\{ (x, y) \in V_{D/q}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q \, | \, x \cdot x \in q\mathbb{Z}_q, \, y \cdot y \in q\mathbb{Z}_q, \, x \cdot y \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times} \right\}.$$

Let $L \subset V_{D/q} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q$ be a self-dual lattice, and let $\varphi_q^{(0)}$, $\varphi_q^{(1)}$, $\varphi_q^{\star} \in \mathcal{S}(V_{D/q}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \mathbb{Z})$ be indicator functions of the following compact open subsets of $V_{D/q}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q$:

$$\begin{aligned} X^{(0)} &= \{(x,y) \in X : x, y \in L - qL\} \\ X^{(1)} &= \{(x,y) \in X : x \in qL - q^2L, y \in q^{-1}L - L\} \\ X^{\star} &= \{(x,y) \in X : x \in L - qL, y \in q^{-1}L - L\}. \end{aligned}$$

Let

$$\varphi_q^{\text{tot}} = \varphi_q^{\star} + (1 - q) \left(\varphi_q^{(0)} + \varphi_q^{(1)} \right)$$

Corollary 7.6.21 can then be reformulated as follows:

Theorem 7.7.2. Let $K = \prod K_v \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q})(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be neat with K_q hyperspecial, and let

$$\varphi^q \in \mathcal{S}(V_{D/q}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f^q, O)$$

be a K^q -invariant Schwartz function. Let $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}^S_O$ be a generic, non-Eisenstein, and weakly q-generic maximal ideal.

Then, for all $T \in \text{Sym}^2(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}$, there exists a choice of uniformization datum for V_D and a test function $\varphi_q^{\text{ram}} \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \mathbb{Z})^{K_q^{\text{ram}}}$ such that

$$\nabla \circ \zeta \circ \operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_q} \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} \left(Z(T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\operatorname{ram}})_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{ram}}} \right) = 4Z(T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\operatorname{tot}})_{K^q K_q} \in \frac{O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})(V_Q) \right]_{\mathfrak{m}}}{(\langle q \rangle^{-1} - 1, \mathsf{T}_q^{\operatorname{Ir}})}$$

Remark 7.7.3.

- (1) The map $\partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}$ is defined as in (4.4.2), and we are using Theorem 7.1.11 to apply ζ on the left-hand side of the identity.
- (2) The choice of uniformization datum intervenes in two points in the displayed equation: first in the definition of ∇ , and second in the isomorphism $V_{D/q} \otimes \mathbb{A}_f^q \cong V_D \otimes \mathbb{A}_f^q$ from Remark 1.4.5(2), which we are using to view φ^q as a test function in $\mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f^q, O)$ and $K^q K_q^{\text{ram}}$ as a compact open subgroup of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f)$.
- (3) Without any great difficulty, φ_q^{ram} can be chosen not to depend on T. Since this is not used in the proofs of the main results, we omit the details.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we may assume T is of the form considered in Notation 7.6.1; otherwise $Z(T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\text{tot}})_K = 0$, so $\varphi_q^{\text{ram}} = 0$ satisfies the conclusion of the theorem. We fix the uniformization datum as in Construction 7.6.4(1); in particular, we are identifying V_* with a subspace of V_D , so we may choose $\varphi_q^{\text{ram}} \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \mathbb{Z})$ such that $\varphi_q^{\text{ram}}|_{\Omega_{T,V_D}(\mathbb{Q}_q)}$ is the indicator function of the coset $K_q^{\text{ram}} \cdot (e_1^*, e_2^*)$. For any $\varphi^q \in \mathcal{S}(V_{D/q}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f^q, O)$, write

$$\operatorname{supp}(\varphi^q) \cap \Omega_{T, V_{D/q}}(\mathbb{A}_f^q) = \sqcup \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D/q}^\diamond)(\mathbb{A}_f^q) g_i^q K^q.$$

Then we have

$$Z(T,\varphi^{q}\otimes\varphi_{q}^{\mathrm{ram}})_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\mathrm{ram}}} = \sum_{i} Z(g_{i}^{q},V_{\star},V_{D})_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\mathrm{ram}}}\varphi^{q}((g_{i}^{q})^{-1}e_{1}^{\star},(g_{i}^{q})^{-1}e_{2}^{\star}).$$

Now, by Theorem 7.1.11, we conclude that

$$\nabla \circ \zeta \circ \operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_q} \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} \left(Z(T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\operatorname{ram}})_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{ram}}} \right) \in \frac{O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q}(V_{D/q})(V_Q) \right]_{\mathfrak{m}}}{(\langle q \rangle^{-1} - 1, \mathrm{T}_q^{\operatorname{lr}})}$$

coincides with

$$\sum_{i} \varphi^{q}((g_{i}^{q})^{-1}e_{1}^{\star}, (g_{i}^{q})^{-1}e_{2}^{\star}) \cdot \nabla \left[\widetilde{Z}(g_{i}^{q}, V_{\star}, V_{D})_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\mathrm{ram}}}\right].$$

Then the theorem follows from Corollary 7.6.21 and the construction of φ_q^{tot} .

8. FIRST EXPLICIT RECIPROCITY LAW

For this section, let π , S, and E_0 be as in Notation 4.0.1, fix a prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 satisfying Assumption 4.1.1, and put $\mathfrak{m} := \mathfrak{m}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ as usual. Our goal for this section is to combine Theorem 7.7.2 with Corollary 5.6.3 to prove Theorems 8.5.1 and 8.5.2 below. First we make some deformation-theoretic preparations in §8.1-§8.3; then we check the criterion from Corollary 5.6.3 in §8.4; and we complete the proofs in §8.5.

8.1. **Typic modules.** The following definition is a generalization of [98, Definition 5.2].

Definition 8.1.1. Let G be a group, R a Noetherian local ring with maximal ideal \mathfrak{m}_R , and $\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_m$ a finite collection of representations $\sigma_i : G \to \operatorname{GL}_{n_i}(R)$ such that the residual representations $\overline{\sigma}_i := \sigma \otimes_R R/\mathfrak{m}_R$ are distinct and absolutely irreducible for each $i = 1, \dots, m$.

An R[G]-module M is called σ_i -typic if it is isomorphic to $\sigma_i \otimes_R M_0$ for an R-module M_0 , and $(\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_m)$ -typic if it is isomorphic to a direct sum $\oplus M_i$ with each $M_i \sigma_i$ -typic.

Proposition 8.1.2. With notation as in Definition 8.1.1, let $N \subset M$ be an inclusion of R[G]-modules.

(1) If M is σ_i -typic for some $i \in \{1, \dots, m\}$, then N is σ_i -typic.

(2) If M is $(\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_m)$ -typic, then N is $(\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_m)$ -typic.

Proof. Part (1) is proved in [98, Proposition 5.4]. For (2), as in *loc. cit.* we may assume without loss of generality that M and N are finitely generated. Let $M = \bigoplus M_i$ be the decomposition of M into σ_i -typic parts, and let $\pi_i : M \to M_i$ be the projection map for each $i = 1, \dots, m$. Without loss of generality, we may assume $\pi_i(N) = M_i$. We claim that the natural injection

$$\oplus \pi_i : N \hookrightarrow \oplus M_i$$

is an isomorphism, i.e. $\oplus \pi_i$ is surjective. Let $\overline{N} := N \otimes_R R/\mathfrak{m}_R$ and $\overline{M}_i := M_i \otimes_R R/\mathfrak{m}_R$; by Nakayama's lemma, it suffices to show the induced map

$$\oplus \overline{\pi}_i : \overline{N} \to \oplus \overline{M}_i$$

is surjective. Because the residual representations $\overline{\sigma}_i$ are all distinct, any R[G]-stable submodule of $\oplus \overline{M}_i$ is a direct sum $\oplus \overline{M}'_i$ for some $\overline{M}'_i \subset \overline{M}_i$. So if $\oplus \overline{\pi}_i$ is not surjective, then $\overline{\pi}_i$ is not surjective for some $i = 1, \dots, m$; but this contradicts our assumption that $\pi_i(N) = M_i$ for all i, so $\oplus \pi_i$ is surjective, which shows (2).

8.2. **Deformation theory: non-endoscopic case.** We assume for this subsection that π is not endoscopic. We will apply the results and notations of Appendix B to $\rho_{\pi} = \rho_{\pi,p}$, which we view as valued in $\text{GSp}_4(O)$ via Remark 4.1.4. First note:

Lemma 8.2.1. The representation ρ_{π} satisfies Assumptions B.1.3 and B.1.5 from Appendix B.

Proof. By Assumption 4.1.1, $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$ is absolutely irreducible, so $H^0(\mathbb{Q}, \mathrm{ad}^0 \overline{\rho}_{\pi}) = 0$. Also, $\overline{\rho}_{\pi} \not\cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi}(1)$ by considering the similitude characters (since p > 3). So, again using the absolute irreducibility,

 $H^0(\mathbb{Q}, \mathrm{ad}^0 \,\overline{\rho}_{\pi}(1)) \subset \mathrm{Hom}_{G_0}(\overline{T}_{\pi}, \overline{T}_{\pi}(1)) = 0$

as well. This shows Assumption B.1.3(1). Assumptions B.1.3(2,3) are clear from Theorem 2.2.10. We now consider Assumption B.1.5. By Lemma B.1.6 it suffices to show $H^0(\mathbb{Q}_v, WD(ad^0 \rho_{\pi})) = 0$ for all non-archimedean v. But

$$H^0(\mathbb{Q}_v, \mathrm{WD}(\mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_\pi)) \subset \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{WD}_v}(\mathrm{WD}(V_\pi), \mathrm{WD}(V_\pi(1)))$$

with WD_v the local Weil-Deligne group, which vanishes by purity (Theorem 2.2.10(1)).

8.2.2. Suppose q is an admissible prime, and let \mathcal{D}_q and R_q be as in Notation B.1.4. For any $A \in CNL_O$ and $\rho_A \in \mathcal{D}_q(A)$, let M_A be the free, rank-four A-module with $G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$ action determined by ρ_A . Then by [65, Lemma 3.21], M_A admits a $G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$ -stable decomposition

$$(8.1) M_A = M_0 \oplus M_1,$$

where:

- Each of M_0 and M_1 is free of rank two over A.
- $M_0 \otimes_A k$ has Frob_q eigenvalues 1 and q.

• $M_1 \otimes_A k$ has generalized Frob_q eigenvalues a and q/a, with $a \neq 1, q$. (Here $k = O/\varpi$, and $\operatorname{Frob}_q \in G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$ is any lift of Frobenius.)

Definition 8.2.3. Let $\mathcal{D}_a^{\text{ord}} \subset \mathcal{D}_q$ be the subfunctor of lifts ρ_A such that

$$\det(\rho_A(\operatorname{Frob}_q) - T | M_0) = (1 - T)(q - T).$$

Lemma 8.2.4. The functor $\mathcal{D}_q^{\text{ord}}$ is represented by a formally smooth quotient R_q^{ord} of R_q , of relative dimension 10 over O.

Proof. This follows the same argument as [65, Proposition 3.35] (cf. also [121, Proposition 3.8]). \Box

8.2.5. In light of Lemma 8.2.4, we take the admissible primes in Notation B.2.4 to be the ones of Definition 4.2.1, and the notion of R_q^{ord} to be the one from Lemma 8.2.4; the definitions of *n*-admissible primes in Definition 4.2.1 and Definition B.2.5(3) then coincide.

Notation 8.2.6.

- (1) Let $Q \ge 1$ be admissible, and denote by $\widetilde{R}^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}$ the global GSp_4 -valued deformation ring of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$ as a representation of $G_{\mathbb{Q},S\cup\operatorname{div}(Qp)}$, with fixed similitude character $\chi^{\operatorname{cyc}}_p$. Let R^Q and R_Q be the quotients of $\widetilde{R}^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}$ defined in Notation B.4.4 (identifying Q with $\operatorname{div}(Q)$ for notational convenience).
- (2) Let

$$\rho_Q^{\text{univ}}: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathrm{GSp}_4(R_Q)$$

be a framing of the universal deformation, and let M_Q^{univ} be the free R_Q -module of rank four with G_Q -action defined by ρ_Q^{univ} .

8.2.7. Let $pr_p: I_{\mathbb{Q}_q} \to \mathbb{Z}_p(1)$ be the maximal pro-*p* quotient.

Lemma 8.2.8. Suppose Q is admissible and q|Q is a prime. In the decomposition $M_Q^{\text{univ}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}} = M_0 \oplus M_1$ of (8.1), M_1 is unramified. Moreover, there exists a basis of M_0 and an element $t_q \in R_Q$ such that

$$\rho_Q^{\text{univ}}|_{M_0} = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_{p,\text{cyc}} & * \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$\rho_Q^{\text{univ}}(g)|_{M_0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & t_q \operatorname{pr}_p(g) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \ \forall g \in I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}.$$

Proof. Since M_0 and M_1 are $G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$ -stable, this follows from [102, Propositions 5.3, 5.5].

Definition 8.2.9. Suppose Q and $q \nmid Q$ are admissible. Then:

(1) We set $P_q(T) = \det(\rho_Q^{\text{univ}}(\operatorname{Frob}_q) - T | M_Q^{\text{univ}}) \in R_Q[T].$ (2) We set $R_{Q,q}^{\text{cong}} \coloneqq R_Q \otimes_{R^{Qq}} R_{Qq}.$

Lemma 8.2.10. Suppose $Q \ge 1$ is admissible, and $q \nmid Q$ is an admissible prime. Then

$$R_{Q,q}^{\text{cong}} = R_Q / (P_q(q)) = R_{Qq} / (t_q).$$

Proof. We have $R_{Q,q}^{\text{cong}} = R_Q/(P_q(q))$ because an unramified deformation of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}}$ is ordinary if and only if q is an eigenvalue of Frob_q ; on the other hand, it is clear from Lemma 8.2.8 that $R_{Q,q}^{\text{cong}} = R_{Qq}/(t_q)$. \Box

Lemma 8.2.11. Suppose q is n-admissible. Then:

(1) $H^1_{\text{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n}) + H^1_{\text{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n}) = H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n}).$

(2) The quotients

$$\frac{H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})}{H^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})}, \quad \frac{H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})}{H^1_{\mathrm{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})}$$

are both free of rank one over O/ϖ^n .

In particular, q is standard in the sense of Definition B.4.7.

Proof. First note that

$$\frac{H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})}{H^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})} = \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{Frob}_q}(\mathbb{Z}_p(1), \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})$$

is free of rank one over O/ϖ^n since q is n-admissible. On the other hand, $H^1_{\text{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})$ clearly surjects onto this quotient by definition, which shows (1). Since $Z^1_{\text{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})$ and $Z^1_{\text{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})$ both contain all coboundaries, we see that

$$\frac{Z_{\text{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \text{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi,n})}{Z_{\text{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \text{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi,n}) \cap Z_{\text{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \text{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi,n})} = \frac{H_{\text{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \text{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi,n})}{H_{\text{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \text{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi,n}) \cap H_{\text{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \text{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi,n})} = \frac{H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \text{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi,n})}{H_{\text{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \text{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi,n})}$$

is free of rank 1 over O/ϖ^n . On the other hand, $Z^1_{\text{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})$ and $Z^1_{\text{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})$ are both free of rank 10 over O/ϖ^n because R^{ord}_q and the unramified local deformation ring R^{unr}_q are formally smooth, so we conclude that $Z^1_{\text{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n}) \cap Z^1_{\text{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})$ is free of rank 9 over O/ϖ^n . In particular,

$$\frac{Z_{\text{unr}}^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \text{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})}{Z_{\text{ord}}^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \text{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n}) \cap Z_{\text{unr}}^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \text{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})} = \frac{H_{\text{unr}}^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \text{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})}{H_{\text{ord}}^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \text{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n}) \cap H_{\text{unr}}^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \text{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})} = \frac{H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \text{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})}{H_{\text{ord}}^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \text{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})}$$

is also free of rank one over O/ϖ^n , as desired. \Box

8.2.12. To state the next lemma, we establish some temporary notation. Suppose Q is admissible and let K be an S-tidy level structure K for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$ (Definition 4.3.1). Abbreviate $\mathbb{T} := \mathbb{T}_{K, V_{DQ}, O, \mathfrak{m}}^{S \cup \operatorname{div}(Q)}$, which may be the zero ring. Also fix an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ inducing \mathfrak{p} . Then we write \mathcal{T} for the set of relevant automorphic representations Π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})(\mathbb{A})$ with $\Pi_f^K \neq 0$ such that the Hecke action on $\iota^{-1}\Pi_f^K$ factors through \mathbb{T} . Recall from Corollary 2.7.8 that we have an embedding of \mathbb{T} -algebras

(8.2)
$$\mathbb{T} \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{\Pi \in \mathcal{T}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(\Pi)$$

where $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(\Pi)$ is $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ with Hecke action through the eigenvalues on $\iota^{-1}\Pi_f^K$. By the same argument as [13, Theorem 7.9.4], there exists a Galois representation

$$\rho: G_{\mathbb{Q}, S \cup \operatorname{div}(Qp)} \to \operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{T})$$

such that, for each $\Pi \in \mathcal{T}$, the composite

$$G_{\mathbb{Q},S\cup\operatorname{div}(Q_p)} \xrightarrow{\rho} \operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{T}) \to \operatorname{GSp}_4(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(\Pi))$$

is conjugate to the Galois representation $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}$ from Remark 2.5.4.

Lemma 8.2.13. *With notation as in (8.2.12), we have:*

(1) The composite

$$G_{\mathbb{O}} \xrightarrow{\rho} \mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathbb{T}) \xrightarrow{\nu} \mathbb{T}^{\times}$$

is given by $\chi_{p,cyc}$, and the corresponding O-algebra map $r_{\rho} : \widetilde{R}^Q_{\mathfrak{m}} \to \mathbb{T}$ factors through R_Q . (2) Suppose $\sigma(DQ)$ is even. Then $H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is ρ_Q^{univ} -typic when viewed as a $R_Q[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ module via (1).

Proof. We have $\nu \circ \rho = \chi_{p,cyc}$ because each $\Pi \in \mathcal{T}$ has trivial similitude character by Lemma 4.3.2. To complete the proof of (1), it suffices to show that all the composite maps

$$\widetilde{R}^Q_{\mathfrak{m}} \xrightarrow{r_{\rho}} \mathbb{T} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(\Pi)$$

factor through R_Q for $\Pi \in \mathcal{T}$. Because K_p is hyperspecial, each $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}}$ is crystalline with Hodge-Tate weights $\{-1, 0, 1, 2\}$ by Theorem 2.2.10(2). So it suffices to check that $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}}$ is ordinary for all q|Q. Indeed, $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}}$ is tamely ramified because $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$ is unramified, but ramified by Corollary 2.5.3(2) and Theorem 2.2.10(1). In particular, for any lift of $\operatorname{Frob}_q \in G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$, $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ has a pair of eigenvalues of ratio q. It follows that $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}}$ is ordinary, and this shows (1).

For (2), by Proposition 8.1.2(1) and Theorem 2.7.5(2) it suffices to show $H^3_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\text{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is ρ_Q^{univ} -typic. However, this is immediate from Corollary 2.7.7 and the construction of the map in (1); note that each $\Pi \in \mathcal{T}$ is non-endoscopic because $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$ is absolutely irreducible.

Definition 8.2.14. For any admissible Q with $\sigma(DQ)$ even and any S-tidy level structure K for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$, we define $H_Q(K) = \operatorname{Hom}_{R_Q[G_Q]}\left(M_Q^{\operatorname{univ}}, H^3_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right).$

Remark 8.2.15. In the context of Definition 8.2.14:

(1) By [98, Proposition 5.3] and Lemma 8.2.13(2), we have

$$H^3_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \simeq M^{\operatorname{univ}}_Q \otimes_{R_Q} H_Q(K)$$

as $R_Q[G_{\mathbb{O}}]$ -modules.

(2) Under the isomorphism of (1), we have, for all q|Q:

$$H^1\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\text{\'et}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) \simeq H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, M_Q^{\mathrm{univ}}) \otimes_{R_Q} H_Q(K)$$

Lemma 8.2.16. Suppose Q is admissible with $\sigma(DQ)$ even, and K is an S-tidy level structure for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$. Then for any q|Q, the ϖ -power-torsion of $H^1\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right)$ is contained in

$$H^1\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right)^{\mathrm{Frob}_q=1} \simeq H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, M_Q^{\mathrm{univ}})^{\mathrm{Frob}_q=1} \otimes_{R_Q} H_Q(K) \simeq H_Q(K)/(t_q).$$

(The element $t_q \in R_Q$ was defined in Lemma 8.2.8.)

Proof. By Lemma 8.2.8, we see that

$$H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, M_Q^{\text{univ}}) = R_Q/(t_q) \oplus R_Q(-1) \oplus M_1(-1)$$

as R_Q -modules with Frob_q -action, with $M_0 \oplus M_1$ the decomposition of (8.1) for $M_Q^{\operatorname{univ}}$. In particular, $\operatorname{Frob}_q -1$ acts invertibly on $R_Q(-1) \oplus M_1(-1)$. Since M_1 is free over R_Q and $H_Q(K)$ is ϖ -torsion-free by Theorem 2.7.5(2), it follows that the ϖ -torsion part of $H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, M_Q^{\operatorname{univ}}) \otimes_{R_Q} H_Q(K)$ is contained in

$$\left(H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, M_Q^{\text{univ}}) \otimes_{R_Q} H_Q(K)\right)^{\text{Frob}_q=1} = H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, M_Q^{\text{univ}})^{\text{Frob}_q=1} \otimes H_Q(K) = H_Q(K)/(t_q),$$

as claimed.

Lemma 8.2.17. Suppose Q is n-admissible with $\sigma(DQ)$ even, and K is an S-tidy level structure for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$. Then for all q|Q, all $\alpha_0 \in \operatorname{Hom}_{R_Q}(H_Q(K)/(t_q), O/\varpi^n)$, and all $z \in \operatorname{SC}^2_K(V_{DQ}, O)$, we have

$$\alpha_0 \circ \operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_q} \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}(z) \in \partial_q(\kappa_n(Q;K)).$$

Here $\operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_q} \circ \partial \operatorname{AJ}_{\mathfrak{m}}(z)$ is viewed as an element of $H^1\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right)^{\operatorname{Frob}_q=1}$, which we identify with $H_Q(K)/(t_q)$ by Lemma 8.2.16; O/ϖ^n is viewed as an R_Q -algebra via the map corresponding to $\rho_{\pi,n}$; and ∂_q was defined in Notation 4.2.9.

Proof. By construction, $T_{\pi,n}$ and $M_Q^{\text{univ}} \otimes_{R_Q} O/\varpi^n$ are isomorphic as $O[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ -modules. Given a map $\alpha_0 : H_Q(K)/(t_q) \to O/\varpi^n$, we obtain a corresponding map of Galois modules

$$\alpha = \mathrm{id} \otimes \alpha_0 : H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \simeq M^{\mathrm{univ}}_Q \otimes_{R_Q} H_Q(K) \to M^{\mathrm{univ}}_Q \otimes_{R_Q} O/\varpi^n \simeq T_{\pi,n}.$$

Let $\alpha_* : H^1\left(\mathbb{Q}, H^3_{\text{\'et}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQq})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n})$ be the map induced by α . For any $z \in \mathrm{SC}^2_K(V_{DQq}, O), \kappa_n(Q; K)$ contains $\alpha_*(\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}})(z) \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n})$. So the lemma follows from the commutative diagram

8.3. **Deformation theory: endoscopic case.** For this subsection, we assume π is endoscopic, associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of GL₂ with discrete series archimedean components of weights 2 and 4, in some order. In particular, we have $\rho_{\pi} = \rho_{\pi_1} \oplus \rho_{\pi_2}$.

Notation 8.3.1.

(1) Set $S_{\pi} := T_{\pi_1} \otimes T_{\pi_2}(-1)$ with the diagonal Galois action; for any $n \ge 1$, we also write $S_{\pi,n} := S_{\pi} \otimes_O O/\varpi^n$. Let

(8.3)
$$H^1_{\operatorname{cris}}(\mathbb{Q}_p, S_{\pi,n}) \subset H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, S_{\pi,n})$$

be the subspace of cocycles corresponding to extensions

$$0 \to T_{\pi_1,n} \to \mathcal{E} \to T_{\pi_2,n} \to 0$$

such that \mathcal{E} is torsion crystalline with Hodge-Tate weights in [-1, 2], cf. (1.5.4). (2) For any squarefree $Q \ge 1$ with $p \nmid Q$, define

$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{G}^Q}(\mathbb{Q}, S_{\pi,n}) \coloneqq \ker \left(H^1(\mathbb{Q}, S_{\pi,n}) \to \prod_{\ell \notin S \cup \operatorname{div}(Qp)} H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}, S_{\pi,n}) \times \frac{H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, S_{\pi,n})}{H^1_{\operatorname{cris}}(\mathbb{Q}_p, S_{\pi,n})} \right)$$

When Q = 1 we drop it from the notation.

Lemma 8.3.2. Suppose $Q \ge 1$ is admissible and let $n \ge 1$ be any integer. Then $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{G}Q}(\mathbb{Q}, S_{\pi,n}) = \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{G}}(\mathbb{Q}, S_{\pi,n})$.

Proof. Fix q|Q. Since q is admissible, the eigenvalues of Frob_q on $S_{\pi,n} \otimes O/\varpi = \overline{T}_{\pi_1} \otimes \overline{T}_{\pi_2}(-1)$ are of the form $\{\alpha, \alpha^{-1}, q\alpha^{-1}, \alpha q^{-1}\}$ for some $\alpha \in \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p^{\times}$ with $\alpha \neq 1, q, q^2, q^{-1}$. Thus $H^0(\mathbb{Q}_q, S_{\pi,n}) = H^0(\mathbb{Q}_q, S_{\pi,n}(1)) = 0$ for all n, so $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, S_{\pi,n}) = 0$ for all n by the local Euler characteristic formula, and the lemma follows.

Notation 8.3.3. For an integer $n \ge 1$, recall the notion of pseudorepresentations of degree n from [116, Definition 2.1.1]. We use *op. cit.* as our basic reference for pseudodeformation theory, although some of the relevant results are due to Bellaïche and Chenevier [5].

- (1) Let G be a group and R be a ring. If $\rho: G \to \operatorname{GL}_n(R)$ is any representation, we write $D_\rho: G \to R$ for the associated degree-n pseudorepresentation. A pseudorepresentation $D: G \to R$ of degree n is called *reducible* if it is equal to D_{ρ} for a reducible representation $\rho : G \to GL_n(R)$.
- (2) If $Q \ge 1$ is squarefree, let

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{PsDef}}^Q_\mathfrak{m}:\mathrm{CNL}_O\to\mathrm{Set}$$

be the functor defined by

 $A \mapsto \{ \text{pseudorepresentations } D : G_{\mathbb{Q}, S \cup \text{div}(Qp)} \to A \text{ of degree } 4 : D \otimes_A k = D_{\overline{p}_{\pi}} \},\$

where $k = O/\varpi$ and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$ is viewed as valued in $\operatorname{GL}_4(k)$. Let $\operatorname{PsDef}^Q_{\mathfrak{m}} \subset \widetilde{\operatorname{PsDef}}^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}$ be the subfunctor of pseudorepresentations that are torsion crystalline at p with Hodge-Tate weights in [-1, 2] in the sense of [116, Definition 2.5.4]. By Theorems 2.2.5 and 2.5.5 of *op. cit.*, $\widetilde{PsDef}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{Q}$ and $PsDef_{\mathfrak{m}}^{Q}$ are representable by universal pseudodeformation rings $\widetilde{R}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{Q}$ and $R_{\mathfrak{m}}^{Q}$, respectively. (3) Let $\widetilde{J}_{\mathrm{red}}^{Q} \subset \widetilde{R}_{\mathfrak{m}}^{Q}$ be the reducibility ideal defined in [116, Proposition 4.2.2(2)], and $J_{\mathrm{red}}^{Q} \subset R_{\mathfrak{m}}^{Q}$ its

image under the natural projection $\widetilde{R}^Q_{\mathfrak{m}} \twoheadrightarrow R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}$.

Remark 8.3.4.

- (1) The ideal $\widetilde{J}^Q_{\text{red}}$ is characterized by the property that, for any morphism $f : \widetilde{R}^Q_{\mathfrak{m}} \to A$ in CNL_O corresponding to a pseudorepresentation $D : G_{\mathbb{Q},S\cup \text{div}(Qp)} \to A$, D is reducible if and only if $f(\widetilde{J}_{\mathrm{red}}^Q) = 0.$
- (2) In what follows, we we will apply the results of [116, \$4]. Although the discussion there is carried out for residual representations which are a sum of two characters, as noted in Remark 4.3.6 of op. *cit.*, the results also apply for any residual representation which is multiplicity free with exactly 2 irreducible constituents, which includes $\overline{\rho}_{\pi}$ by Lemma 4.1.8.

For all squarefree $Q \ge 1$, let $p_{\pi}^Q : R_{\mathfrak{m}}^Q \to O$ be the augmentation corresponding to ρ_{π} .

Lemma 8.3.5. Suppose the Bloch-Kato Selmer group $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_1} \otimes V_{\pi_2}(-1))$ vanishes. Then there is a constant $C_{\rm RS} \geq 0$ such that, for any admissible $Q \geq 1$, there exists $j \in {\rm Ann}_{R^Q_{\rm red}}(J^Q_{\rm red})$ with $p^Q_{\pi}(j) \neq 0$ (mod ϖ^C).

Proof. We know $\operatorname{Fitt}_{R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}}(J^Q_{\operatorname{red}}) \subset \operatorname{Ann}_{R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}}(J^Q_{\operatorname{red}})$. Then since Fitting ideals are stable under base change, it suffices to show there exists C with $\varpi^C \in \operatorname{Fitt}_O(J^Q_{\operatorname{red}} \otimes_{p^Q_{\pi}} O)$ for all Q, or equivalently that $J^Q_{\operatorname{red}} \otimes_{p^Q_{\pi}} O$ is finite with uniformly bounded cardinality.

Let B^Q and C^Q be the finitely generated $R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}$ -modules appearing in [116, p. 38] for the deformation problem PsDef^Q_m. By construction in [116, Proposition 4.2.2], we have a surjection $B^Q \otimes C^Q \twoheadrightarrow J^Q_{red}$, so it suffices to show in turn that $B^Q \otimes_{p_2^Q} O$ and $C^Q \otimes_{p_2^Q} O$ are finite of uniformly bounded cardinality. Let M be a finitely generated O-module. Because p_{π}^Q corresponds to the reducible Galois representation ρ_{π} , we have $p_{\pi}^{Q}(J_{\text{red}}^{Q}) = 0$, so [116, Theorem 4.3.5] gives canonical isomorphisms

(8.4)
$$\operatorname{Hom}_{O}(B^{Q} \otimes_{p_{\pi}^{Q}} O, M) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{O[G_{\mathbb{Q}}], \mathcal{C}^{Q}}(T_{\pi_{2}}, T_{\pi_{1}} \otimes_{O} M) \\ \operatorname{Hom}_{O}(C^{Q} \otimes_{q_{\pi}^{Q}} O, M) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{O[G_{\mathbb{Q}}], \mathcal{C}^{Q}}(T_{\pi_{1}}, T_{\pi_{2}} \otimes_{O} M).$$

Here C^Q is the full subcategory of finitely generated $O[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ -modules which are unramified outside $S \cup \operatorname{div}(Qp)$ and all of whose finite subquotients are torsion crystalline with Hodge-Tate weights in [-1, 2].

In particular, for all $n \ge 1$,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{O}(B^{Q} \otimes_{p_{\pi}^{Q}} O, O/\varpi^{n}) = \operatorname{Hom}_{O}(C^{Q} \otimes_{p_{\pi}^{Q}} O, O/\varpi^{n}) = \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{G}^{Q}}(\mathbb{Q}, S_{\pi, n}).$$

We conclude that $B^Q \otimes_{p_{\pi}^Q} O$ and $C^Q \otimes_{p_{\pi}^Q} O$ are isomorphic, and by Lemma 8.3.2, they are also independent of Q; so take Q = 1 without loss of generality. Then by Proposition 1.5.5,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{O}(B^{1} \otimes_{p_{\pi}^{1}} O, O) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{p} = \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{O[G_{\mathbb{Q}}], \mathcal{C}^{1}}(T_{\pi_{2}}, T_{\pi_{1}}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{p} = H^{1}_{f}(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_{1}} \otimes V_{\pi_{2}}(-1)) = 0.$$

Since $B^1 \otimes_{p_{\pi}^1} O$ is a finitely generated O-module, it follows that $B^1 \otimes_{p_{\pi}^1} O$ is finite, as desired.

8.3.6. We now study deformations of each $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_i}$. As in the non-endoscopic case, we will apply the results and notations of Appendix B to ρ_{π_i} , which we view as valued in $GL_2(O)$. In the same way as Lemma 8.2.1, we obtain:

Lemma 8.3.7. For i = 1, 2, the representation ρ_{π_i} satisfies Assumptions B.1.3 and B.1.5 from Appendix B.

8.3.8. For each prime ℓ , let $R_{\ell,i}$ be the local deformation ring for $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_i}$ as in Notation B.1.4. If q is BDadmissible for ρ_{π_i} (Definition 4.2.5), let $R_{q,i}^{\text{ord}}$ be the Steinberg quotient of $R_{q,i}$ in the sense of [72, §2].

Lemma 8.3.9. The ring $R_{q,i}^{\text{ord}}$ is formally smooth over O of dimension 3.

Proof. Immediate from [102, Proposition 5.5].

8.3.10. In light of Lemma 8.3.9, we take the "admissible" primes in Notation B.2.4 to be the BD-admissible ones for ρ_{π_i} . Then the notion of *n*-admissible in Definition B.2.5(3) coincides with the notion of *n*-BDadmissible from Definition 4.2.5; we will always say *n*-BD-admissible to avoid confusion.

Notation 8.3.11.

(1) For i = 1, 2 and a squarefree integer $Q \ge 1$ coprime to p, let $\widetilde{R}^Q_{\mathfrak{m},i}$ be the global deformation ring of

$$\overline{\rho}_{\pi_i}: G_{\mathbb{Q}, S \cup \operatorname{div}(Qp)} \to \operatorname{GL}_2(O/\varpi)$$

- with fixed determinant χ_p^{cyc} . (2) Let R_i^Q and when Q is BD-admissible for $\rho_{\pi_i} R_{Q,i}$ be the quotients of $\widetilde{R}_{\mathfrak{m},i}^Q$ defined in Notation B.4.4(2,3). (We are identifying Q with div(Q) for notational convenience.)
- (3) Let $\rho_{Q,i}^{\text{univ}}: G_{\mathbb{Q},S\cup \text{div}(Qp)} \to \text{GL}_2(R_{Q,i})$ be a framing of the universal deformation, with underlying $R_{Q,i}[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ -module $M_{Q,i}^{\text{univ}}$.

8.3.12. As in the non-endoscopic case, let $pr_p: I_{\mathbb{Q}_q} \to \mathbb{Z}_p(1)$ be the maximal pro-p quotient. By the construction of $R_{q,i}^{\text{ord}}$, we have:

Lemma 8.3.13. Suppose $Q \ge 1$ is BD-admissible for ρ_{π_i} , and q|Q is a prime. Then there exists a basis for $M_{Q,i}^{\text{univ}}$ and an element $t_q \in R_{Q,i}$ such that

$$\rho_{Q,i}^{\text{univ}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}} = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_p^{\text{cyc}} & * \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$\rho_{Q,i}^{\text{univ}}(g) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \text{pr}_p(g)t_q \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \ \forall g \in I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}.$$

Definition 8.3.14. If Q and $q \nmid Q$ are BD-admissible for ρ_{π_i} :

- (1) Define $P_{q,i}(T) = \det(\rho_Q^{\text{univ}}(\operatorname{Frob}_q) T) \in R_{Q,i}[T].$ (2) Define $R_{Q,q,i}^{\operatorname{cong}} \coloneqq R_{Q,i} \otimes_{R_{\mathfrak{m},i}^{Qq}} R_{Qq,i}.$

The same proof as Lemma 8.2.10 shows:

Lemma 8.3.15. Suppose Q and $q \nmid Q$ are BD-admissible for ρ_{π_i} . Then

$$R_{Q,q,i}^{\text{cong}} = R_{Q,i}/(P_{q,i}(q)) = R_{Qq,i}/(t_q).$$

Lemma 8.3.16. Suppose q is n-BD-admissible for ρ_{π_i} . Then

$$H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi_{i}, n}) = H^{1}_{\mathrm{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi_{i}, n}) \oplus H^{1}_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi_{i}, n}),$$

in which each factor is free of rank one over O/ϖ^n . In particular, q is standard in the sense of Definition *B.4.7*.

Proof. Let $\operatorname{Frob}_q \in G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$ be a lift of Frobenius, and let $\tau_q \in I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$ be an element such that $\operatorname{pr}_p(\tau_q) = 1$. Then, with respect to the basis in Lemma 8.3.13, $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi_i, n})$ is spanned by the following two cocycles:

$$\operatorname{Frob}_{q} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tau_{q} \mapsto 0$$

$$\operatorname{Frob}_{q} \mapsto 0, \qquad \qquad \tau_{q} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

The first generates $H^1_{\text{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi_i,n})$ and the second $H^1_{\text{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi_i,n})$; also, both cocycles are clearly not ϖ^{n-1} -torsion, and the lemma follows.

8.3.17. For the next two lemmas, we introduce some temporary notation. Let $Q \ge 1$ be admissible, let K be an S-tidy level structure for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$, and abbreviate $\mathbb{T} := \mathbb{T}_{K,V_{DQ},O,\mathfrak{m}}^{S \cup \operatorname{div}(Q)}$, which may be the zero ring. Also fix an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ inducing the prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 . Then we write \mathcal{T} for the set of relevant automorphic representations Π of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$ such that $\Pi_f^K \neq 0$, and the Hecke action on $\iota^{-1}\Pi_f^K$ factors through \mathbb{T} . By Corollary 2.7.8, we have the embedding of \mathbb{T} -algebras

(8.5)
$$\mathbb{T} \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{\Pi \in \mathcal{T}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(\Pi),$$

where $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(\Pi)$ has Hecke action through the eigenvalues on $\iota^{-1}\Pi_f^K$. Then by [22, Corollary 1.14], there is a canonical pseudorepresentation

$$(8.6) D_Q: G_{\mathbb{Q},S\cup\operatorname{div}(Qp)} \to \mathbb{T},$$

such that for all $\Pi \in \mathcal{T}$, the composite of D_Q with the character $\lambda_{\Pi} : \mathbb{T} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(\Pi)$ is the pseudorepresentation associated to $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}$. Finally, let $\mathcal{T}_{end} \subset \mathcal{T}$ be the subset of endoscopic representations, and let $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$ be the quotient of \mathbb{T} defined by the actions on $\Pi \in \mathcal{T}_{end}$.

Lemma 8.3.18.

- (1) The pseudodeformation D_Q is induced by an O-algebra morphism $R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}} \to \mathbb{T}$.
- (2) The composite $R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}} \to \mathbb{T} \to \overline{\mathbb{T}}$ factors through $R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}/J^Q_{\mathrm{red}}$.

Proof. By definition, D_Q is induced by an O-algebra morphism $d : \widetilde{R}^Q_{\mathfrak{m}} \to \mathbb{T}$. By (8.5), to prove (1) it suffices to show each composite map $\widetilde{R}^Q_{\mathfrak{m}} \xrightarrow{d} \mathbb{T} \xrightarrow{\lambda_{\Pi}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ factors through $R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}$, with λ_{Π} as in (8.3.17); but this is clear because K_p is hyperspecial, so $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}$ is crystalline at p for all such Π . Similarly, for (2) it suffices to note that $\lambda_{\Pi} \circ d$ annihilates J^Q_{red} for all $\Pi \in \mathcal{T}_{\text{end}}$, because $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}$ is reducible.

8.3.19. Let

(8.7)
$$R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}/J^Q_{\mathrm{red}} \to R_{Q_1,1} \otimes_O R_{Q_2,2}$$

be the canonical map, defined on moduli problems by sending a pair of deformations ρ_1, ρ_2 of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_1}$ and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_2}$ to the pseudorepresentation $D_{\rho_1 \oplus \rho_2}$. It follows from [116, Proposition 4.2.6] that (8.7) is surjective.

Lemma 8.3.20. Write $Q = Q_1 \cdot Q_2$ such that each $q|Q_i$ is BD-admissible for ρ_{π_i} (Remark 4.2.6(2)). Then:

- (1) The map $R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}/J^Q_{\mathrm{red}} \to \overline{\mathbb{T}}$ induced by Lemma 8.3.18(2) factors through the surjection (8.7). In particular, $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$ is an $R_{Q_{i},i}$ -module for i = 1, 2.
- (2) Assume $\sigma(DQ)$ is even. For any $j \in \operatorname{Ann}_{R^Q_m}(J^Q_{\operatorname{red}})$, the \mathbb{T} -action on

$$jH^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{n}}$$

factors through $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$, and as a $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$ -module, $jH^3_{\text{ét}}(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{D}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is

$$(\rho_{Q_{1},1}^{\mathrm{univ}}\otimes_{R_{Q_{1},1}}\overline{\mathbb{T}}, \rho_{Q_{2},2}^{\mathrm{univ}}\otimes_{R_{Q_{2},2}}\overline{\mathbb{T}})$$
-typic.

Proof. Arguing as in Lemma 8.3.18, for (1) it suffices to consider the pseudorepresentations attached to $\Pi \in \mathcal{T}_{end}$. Suppose Π is associated to a pair (τ_1, τ_2) of automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$, and fix an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ inducing \mathfrak{p} . Then $\rho_{\Pi,\iota} = \rho_{\tau_1,\iota} \oplus \rho_{\tau_2,\iota}$. We have $\overline{\rho}_{\tau_1,\iota} \oplus \overline{\rho}_{\tau_2,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi_1,\iota} \oplus \overline{\rho}_{\pi_2,\iota}$, and since $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_i,\iota}$ are both absolutely irreducible, without loss of generality we may assume $\overline{\rho}_{\tau_i,\iota} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi_i,\iota}$, i = 1, 2. By Lemma 2.2.9 and Fontaine-Laffaille theory, $\pi_{i,\infty}$ and $\tau_{i,\infty}$ have the same weight.

By Corollary 2.5.3(2) and Theorem 2.2.10(1), $(\rho_{\tau_1,\iota} \oplus \rho_{\tau_2,\iota})|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}}$ is ramified for all q|Q. It then follows from [102, Propositions 5.3, 5.5] that $\rho_{\tau_i,\iota}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}}$ is ordinary for all $q|Q_i$, and unramified for all $q|Q/Q_i$. It is also clear from Lemma 4.3.2 and Theorem 2.2.10(3) that det $\rho_{\tau_i,\iota} = \chi_p^{\text{cyc}}$, and $\rho_{\pi_i,\iota}$ and $\rho_{\tau_i,\iota}$ have the same Hodge-Tate weights by Theorem 2.2.10(2). Hence $\rho_{\tau_i,\iota}$ arises from a deformation parametrized by $R_{Q_i,i}$, and this proves (1).

For (2), by Proposition 8.1.2(2) and Theorem 2.7.5(2), it suffices to show that $jH^3_{\text{ét}}(\text{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is $(\rho_{Q_1,1}^{\text{univ}} \otimes_{R_{Q_1,1}} \overline{\mathbb{T}}, \rho_{Q_2,2}^{\text{univ}} \otimes_{R_{Q_2,2}} \overline{\mathbb{T}})$ -typic. For this, we use the decomposition of Corollary 2.7.7:

$$H^{3}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} = \bigoplus_{\Pi_{f}} \iota^{-1} \Pi_{f}^{K} \otimes \rho_{\Pi_{f}}$$

as Π_f ranges over finite parts of automorphic representations $\Pi \in \mathcal{T}$. This is a decomposition of $R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}[G_{\mathbb{O}}]$ modules, where $R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}$ acts on the factor $\iota^{-1}\Pi^K_f \otimes \rho_{\Pi_f}$ via the map $\lambda_{\Pi} : R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}} \to \mathbb{T} \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(\Pi)$ corresponding to the pseudorepresentation of $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}$ (equivalently, to the Hecke eigenvalues of Π_f^K). In particular, $\lambda_{\Pi}(J_{\text{red}}^Q) =$ 0 if and only if $\rho_{\Pi,\iota}$ is reducible, which by Lemma 2.2.12 and Remark 4.1.2 occurs if and only if Π is endoscopic. Because the element $j \in R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}$ annihilates J^Q_{red} , it then suffices to show that, for all relevant *endoscopic* automorphic representations $\Pi \in \mathcal{T}_{end}$ associated to a pair (τ_1, τ_2) , ρ_{Π_f} is either $\rho_{Q_{1,1}}^{univ} \otimes_{R_{Q_{1,1}}} \overline{\mathbb{T}}$ typic or $\rho_{Q_{2,2}}^{\text{univ}} \otimes_{R_{Q_{2,2}}} \overline{\mathbb{T}}$ -typic as a $\overline{\mathbb{T}}[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ -module. However, as $\rho_{\Pi_f} = \rho_{\tau_1,\iota}$ or $\rho_{\tau_2,\iota}$ by Corollary 2.7.7, this is clear from the construction of the map $R_{Q_1,1} \otimes_O R_{Q_2,2} \to \overline{\mathbb{T}}$.

Definition 8.3.21. Let Q be admissible, with a factorization $Q = Q_1 \cdot Q_2$ such that $\sigma(DQ)$ is even and all $q|Q_i$ are BD-admissible for ρ_{π_i} . Fix an S-tidy level structure K for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$, and an element $j \in$ $\operatorname{Ann}_{R^Q_{\operatorname{red}}}(J^Q_{\operatorname{red}})$. Then we define

$$H_Q(K,j)^{(i)} = \operatorname{Hom}_{R_{Q_i,i}[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]}(M_{Q_i,i}^{\operatorname{univ}}, jH^3_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}})$$

for i = 1, 2.

Remark 8.3.22. In the context of Definition 8.3.21, by [98, Proposition 5.3] and Lemma 8.3.20(2), we have

$$jH^3_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \simeq M^{\mathrm{univ}}_{Q_1,1} \otimes_{R_{Q_1,1}} H_Q(K,j)^{(1)} \oplus M^{\mathrm{univ}}_{Q_2,2} \otimes_{R_{Q_2,2}} H_Q(K,j)^{(2)}.$$

Lemma 8.3.23. In the context of Definition 8.3.21, let $q|Q_i$ be a prime. Then under the natural isomorphism

$$H^{1}\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}}, H^{3}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) \simeq H^{1}(I_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}}, M^{\mathrm{univ}}_{Q_{1},1}) \otimes_{R_{Q_{1},1}} H_{Q}(K, j)^{(1)} \oplus H^{1}(I_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}}, M^{\mathrm{univ}}_{Q_{2},2}) \otimes_{R_{Q_{2},2}} H_{Q}(K, j)^{(2)},$$

the ϖ -power torsion of $H^1\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, jH^3_{\text{ét}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right)$ is contained in

$$H^{1}\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}}, jH^{3}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\text{Sh}_{K}(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right)^{\text{Frob}_{q}=1} \simeq H^{1}(I_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}}, M^{\text{univ}}_{Q_{i},i})^{\text{Frob}_{q}=1} \otimes_{R_{Q_{i},i}} H_{Q}(K, j)^{(i)}$$
$$\simeq H_{Q}(K, j)^{(i)}/(t_{q}).$$

(The element $t_q \in R_{Q_i,i}$ was defined in Lemma 8.3.13.)

Proof. Without loss of generality, suppose i = 1. Then $\rho_{Q_2,2}^{\text{univ}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}}$ is unramified, so by Lemma 8.3.13, we have

$$H^{1}(I_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}}, M_{Q_{i}, i}^{\text{univ}}) = \begin{cases} R_{Q_{1}, 1}/(t_{q}) \oplus R_{Q_{1}, 1}(-1), & i = 1, \\ M_{Q_{2}, 2}^{\text{univ}}(-1), & i = 2. \end{cases}$$

Since $H_Q(K,j)^{(1)}$ and $H_Q(K,j)^{(2)}$ are ϖ -torsion-free by Theorem 2.7.5(2), the lemma follows as in the proof of Lemma 8.2.16.

Lemma 8.3.24. In the context of Definition 8.3.21, for all $j \in \operatorname{Ann}_{R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}}}(J^Q_{\operatorname{red}})$, all $z \in \operatorname{SC}^2_K(V_{DQ}, O)$, all $q|Q_i$, and all $\alpha_0 \in \operatorname{Hom}_{R_{Q_i,i}}(H_Q(K, j)^{(i)}/(t_q), O/\varpi^n)$, we have

$$\alpha_0 \circ j_* \circ \operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_q} \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}(z) \in \partial_q(\kappa_n(Q;K)).$$

Here,

$$(8.8) j_*: H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}) \to H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, jH^3_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}})$$

is the natural map, and O/ϖ^n is viewed as an $R_{Q_i,i}$ -algebra through the map corresponding to $\rho_{\pi_i,n}$.

Proof. For any $\alpha_0 \in \text{Hom}_{R_{Q_i,i}}(H_Q(K;j)^{(i)}/(t_q), O/\varpi^n)$, we obtain a corresponding induced map of Galois modules

$$\alpha = \mathrm{id} \otimes \alpha_0 : M_{Q_i,i}^{\mathrm{univ}} \otimes_{R_{Q_i,i}} H_Q(K;j)^{(i)} \to M_{Q_i,i}^{\mathrm{univ}} \otimes_{R_{Q_i,i}} O/\varpi^n = T_{\pi_i,n}.$$

Then by the decomposition from Remark 8.3.22, we can also view α as a map of Galois modules

$$jH^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \to T_{\pi_i, n}.$$

Let $(\alpha \circ j)_*$ be the induced map

$$H^1(\mathbb{Q}, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_i, n}).$$

For any $z \in SC^2_K(V_{DQ}, O)$, $\kappa^D_n(Q; K)$ contains

$$(\alpha \circ j)_*(\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}(z)) \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_i,n}) \hookrightarrow H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n}).$$

The lemma now follows as in the proof of Lemma 8.2.17.

8.4. A test function calculation. For this subsection, we fix the following additional data:

- An integer $n \ge 1$.
- A squarefree integer $D \ge 1$ with $\operatorname{div}(D) \subset S$, and an *n*-admissible $Q \ge 1$ coprime to D, such that $\sigma(DQ)$ is odd.
- An *n*-admissible prime $q \nmid Q$.
- An S-level structure K for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$. Let $L \subset V_{DQ} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q$ be the unique self-dual lattice stabilized by K_q .
- A \mathbb{Z}_q -basis $\{v_0, v_1, v_2, v_1^*, v_2^*\}$ for L as in (5.1.2), which identifies $V_{DQ} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q$ with the standard split five-dimensional quadratic space over \mathbb{Q}_q .

We will apply the results and notations of §7, with the *D* therein always replaced by DQq. However, we do not yet specify the choice of *q*-adic uniformization datum for V_{DQq} . The goal of this subsection is the crucial Lemma 8.4.6.

8.4.1. Let $\varphi_q^{(0)}, \varphi_q^{(1)}, \varphi_q^{\star}, \varphi_q^{\text{tot}} \in \mathcal{S}(V_{DQ}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \mathbb{Z})$ be as in (7.7.1). We also let $\overline{\varphi}_q^? \in \mathcal{S}(V_{DQ}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ be the reduction of $\varphi_q^?$ for $? = (0), (1), \star$, tot.

Notation 8.4.2. Without loss of generality, we write the almost level-raising generic character χ from Proposition 5.6.2 as

(8.9)
$$\chi = |\cdot|^{1/2} \boxtimes \alpha : (\mathbb{Q}_q^{\times})^2 \to \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p^{\times},$$

where $\alpha^2 \neq |\cdot|^{\pm 1}$.

Then we can consider condition (C_{χ}) from Definition 5.4.3, for $\overline{\varphi}_q^{\text{tot}}$:

$$(C_{\chi}) \quad \text{There exists } g \in \operatorname{Mp}_{4}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}) \text{ such that } f_{\chi}(\overline{\omega_{\psi}(1,g)\overline{\varphi}_{q}^{\operatorname{tot}}}) \neq 0, \text{ where} \\ f_{\chi} : \left((|\cdot|^{-\frac{1}{2}})^{\boxtimes 2} \boxtimes \chi_{\psi} \cdot (|\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\boxtimes 2} \right) \otimes \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}^{2}, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p}) \to \chi \boxtimes \chi_{\psi} \cdot \chi^{-1} \\ \vdots \text{ the maximum prior term is the local of } f_{\chi} = 0.$$

is the unique projection deduced from Lemma 5.2.1.

Lemma 8.4.3. The test function $\overline{\varphi}_q^{\text{tot}}$ satisfies condition (C_{χ}) .

Proof. Let $g \in Mp_4(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ be a lift of the Weyl element

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{Sp}_4(\mathbb{Q}_q)$$

in the standard basis $\{e_1, e_2, e_1^*, e_2^*\}$. Then for some unit $u \in \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p^{\times}$, we have

$$\omega_{\psi}(1,g)\varphi(x,y) = u \int_{z \in V_{DQ} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q} \varphi(z,y)\psi(x \cdot z) \mathrm{d}z$$

for all

$$\varphi \in S(V_{DQ}^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p).$$

Notice that, since $\chi = |\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}} \boxtimes \alpha$, the projection

$$f_{\chi}: \left((|\cdot|^{-\frac{1}{2}})^{\boxtimes 2} \boxtimes \chi_{\psi} \cdot (|\cdot|^{\frac{1}{2}})^{\boxtimes 2} \right) \otimes \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^2, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p) \to \chi \boxtimes \chi_{\psi} \cdot \chi^{-1}$$

is the composite of the integration map

int :
$$\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q^2, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p) \to \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$$

 $\varphi \mapsto \left(t \mapsto \int \varphi(t_1, t) \mathrm{d}t_1\right)$

and the projection

$$f_{\alpha|\cdot|^{1/2}}: \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p) \to \alpha|\cdot|^{1/2} \boxtimes \alpha^{-1}|\cdot|^{-1/2}.$$

Abbreviate

$$s^{?} = u^{-1} \operatorname{int} \left(\overline{\omega_{\psi}(1,g)\overline{\varphi}_{q}^{?}} \right) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{Q}_{q},\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{p})$$

for $? = (0), (1), \star$, tot. We will compute s^{tot} explicitly to show $f_{\alpha|\cdot|^{1/2}}(s^{\text{tot}}) \neq 0$, which will prove the lemma. By definition we have

$$s^{?}(t) = \int_{t_1 \in \mathbb{Q}_q} \int_{a \in \mathbb{Q}_q} \int_{z \in V_{DQ} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_q} \overline{\varphi}_q^{?}(z, tv_2 + av_1)\psi(t_1z \cdot v_1) \mathrm{d}z \mathrm{d}a \mathrm{d}t_1.$$

Note that $\overline{\varphi}_q^2(z, tv_2 + av_1)$ depends on z modulo q^2L only, so the inner integral is nonzero only on the set $\{t_1 \in q^{-2}\mathbb{Z}_q\}$. We may therefore reorder the integrals and obtain

$$s^{?}(t) = \int_{z \in L} \int_{a \in q^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{q}} \int_{t_{1} \in q^{-2}\mathbb{Z}_{q}} \overline{\varphi}_{q}^{?}(z, tv_{2} + av_{1})\psi(t_{1}z \cdot v_{1})dt_{1}dadz$$
$$= q^{2} \int_{z \in L} \int_{a \in q^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_{q}} \overline{\varphi}_{q}^{?}(z, tv_{2} + av_{1}) \cdot \mathbb{1}_{z \cdot v_{1} \in q^{2}\mathbb{Z}_{q}}dadz.$$

For the inner integral to be nonzero, we must have $z \cdot tv_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$ and $t \in q^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_q$. In particular, since z and v_2 lie in L, $s^?(t)$ is supported on $q^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_q^{\times} \sqcup \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$. At this point, we are ready to compute the following table of values for $s^?(t)$:

	$s^{(0)}(t)$	$s^{(1)}(t)$	$s^{\star}(t)$	$s^{\text{tot}}(t)$
$q^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$	0	$\frac{q-1}{q^4}$	$\frac{(q^2-1)(q-1)}{q^4}$	$\frac{(q-1)^2}{q^3}$
\mathbb{Z}_q^\times	$\frac{q-1}{q^2}$	0	$\frac{(q-1)^2}{q^2}$	0

The fourth column is determined by the first three by

$$s^{\text{tot}} = s^* + (1 - q)(s^{(0)} + s^{(1)})$$

On the other hand, the given values for $s^{\text{tot}}(t)$ immediately imply $f_{\alpha|\cdot|^{1/2}}(s^{\text{tot}}) \neq 0$ for any $\alpha \neq |\cdot|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$. It remains to explain the calculation of the first three columns. First, since $\overline{\varphi}_q^{(0)}(z, tv_2 + av_1) = 0$ unless $tv_2 + av_1 \in L$, we have $s^{(0)}(t) = 0$ for $t \in q^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$. For $t \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$, we have

(8.10)
$$s^{(0)}(t) = q^2 \operatorname{Vol} \left\{ z \in L - qL : z \cdot v_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}, z \cdot v_1 \in q^2 \mathbb{Z}_q, z \cdot z \in q \mathbb{Z}_q \right\}.$$

Label the set in (8.10) by $S^{(0)}$ and let $\overline{S}^{(0)}$ be its image in L/qL. Write $\overline{z}, \overline{v}_1, \overline{v}_2$ for the reductions in L/qL.

Then $\overline{S}^{(0)}$ is the set of $\overline{z} \in L/qL$ that are isotropic, and orthogonal to \overline{v}_1 but not \overline{v}_2 . Now, there are $q^3 = q^2 \cdot q$ isotropic vectors in L/qL orthogonal to \overline{v}_1 since $\overline{v}_1^{\perp}/\overline{v}_1$ is a split quadratic space over \mathbb{F}_q of dimension three. Of these, q^2 are also orthogonal to \overline{v}_2 ; these are just the vectors in $\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{F}_q} {\overline{v}_1, \overline{v}_2}$, since the latter is a maximal isotropic subspace. So

$$\#\overline{S}^{(0)} = q^3 - q^2.$$

On the other hand, given any $\overline{z}_0 \in \overline{S}^{(0)}$, we have

$$\operatorname{Vol}\left\{z \in S^{(0)} : \overline{z} = \overline{z}_0\right\} = \frac{1}{q^6}$$

(It is almost the full coset $\overline{z}_0 + qL$, which has volume $\frac{1}{q^5}$, except that we must ensure that z remains orthogonal to v_1 modulo q^2 ; this cuts down the volume by a factor of q.) So

$$\operatorname{Vol}(S^{(0)}) = \frac{q^3 - q^2}{q^6} = \frac{q - 1}{q^4},$$

and

$$s^{(0)}(t) = q^2 \operatorname{Vol}(S^{(0)}) = \frac{q-1}{q^2} \text{ for } t \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$$

Next let us consider $s^{(1)}(t)$. Since $\varphi_q^{(1)}(z, tv_2 + av_1) \cdot \mathbb{1}_{z \cdot v_1 \in q^2 \mathbb{Z}_q}$, when restricted to $a \in q^{-1} \mathbb{Z}_q$, is supported on $z \in qL$ such that $z \cdot tv_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$, we see that $s^{(1)}(t) = 0$ for $t \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$. For $t \in q^{-1} \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$, we have

$$s^{(1)}(t) = q^2 \operatorname{Vol} \left\{ z \in qL, a \in q^{-1} \mathbb{Z}_q : z \cdot v_2 \in q \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}, z \cdot v_1 \in q^2 \mathbb{Z}_q \right\}$$

(Note that the condition $z \cdot z \in q\mathbb{Z}_q$ in the definition of X (7.27) is automatic from $z \in qL$.) Then replacing z with $\frac{z}{q}$, we have

$$s^{(1)}(t) = \frac{q^3}{q^5} \operatorname{Vol} \left\{ z \in L : z \cdot v_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}, z \cdot v_1 \in q\mathbb{Z}_q \right\}$$
$$= \frac{q^3}{q^{10}} \# \left\{ \overline{z} \in L/qL : \overline{z} \perp \overline{v}_1, \overline{z} \not\perp \overline{v}_2 \right\}$$
$$= \frac{q^3}{q^{10}} \cdot (q^4 - q^3) = \frac{q - 1}{q^4}.$$

Finally, consider $s^{\star}(t)$. For $t \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$, we have

$$s^{\star}(t) = q^2 \operatorname{Vol} \left\{ z \in L - qL, \ a \in q^{-1} \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times} : z \cdot v_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}, \ z \cdot v_1 \in q^2 \mathbb{Z}_q \right\}$$
$$= q^2(q-1) \operatorname{Vol} \left\{ z \in L : z \cdot z \in q \mathbb{Z}_q, \ z \cdot v_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}, \ z \cdot v_1 \in q^2 \mathbb{Z}_q \right\}.$$

This is the same set that appeared for $s^{(0)}(t)$, so we have

$$s^{\star}(t) = (q-1)s^{(0)}(t) = \frac{(q-1)^2}{q^2} \text{ for } t \in \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}.$$

For $t \in q^{-1}\mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$, we have

(8.11)
$$s^{\star}(t) = q^{2} \operatorname{Vol} \left\{ z \in L - qL, \ a \in q^{-1} \mathbb{Z}_{q} : z \cdot z \in q \mathbb{Z}_{q}, \ z \cdot v_{2} \in q \mathbb{Z}_{q}^{\times}, \ z \cdot v_{1} \in q^{2} \mathbb{Z}_{q} \right\}$$
$$= q^{3} \operatorname{Vol} \left\{ z \in L - qL : \ z \cdot z \in q \mathbb{Z}_{q}, \ z \cdot v_{2} \in q \mathbb{Z}_{q}^{\times}, \ z \cdot v_{1} \in q^{2} \mathbb{Z}_{q} \right\}.$$

To compute this, we use the same technique as for $s^{(0)}$. Let S^* be the set in the second line of (8.11) and let \overline{S}^* be its image in L/qL. Then \overline{S}^* consists of nonzero isotropic vectors in L/qL orthogonal to \overline{v}_2 and \overline{v}_1 , of which there are $q^2 - 1$. On the other hand, for $\overline{z}_0 \in \overline{S}^*$, we have

$$\operatorname{Vol}\left\{z \in S^{\star} : \overline{z} = \overline{z}_{0}\right\} = \frac{q-1}{q^{7}}$$

this is because, out of the coset $\overline{z}_0 + qL$, we must take only those vectors with $z \cdot v_2 \in q\mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$ and $z \cdot v_1 \in q^2\mathbb{Z}_q$. So

$$s^{\star}(t) = (q^2 - 1) \cdot \frac{q - 1}{q^7} \cdot q^3 = \frac{(q - 1)(q^2 - 1)}{q^4} \text{ for } t \in q^{-1} \mathbb{Z}_q^{\times}$$

as desired.

8.4.4. Now we return to the geometric setting of §7. We will write $\mathfrak{m} \coloneqq \mathfrak{m}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}^{S \cup \operatorname{div}(Qq)} \subset \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S \cup \operatorname{div}(Qq)}$.

Lemma 8.4.5. The maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S \cup \operatorname{div}(Qq)}$ is generic and non-Eisenstein, and weakly q-generic (Definition 7.3.9).

Proof. That m is generic and non-Eisenstein follows from Lemma 4.1.7. Then by Corollary 2.7.8, it suffices to show that $\langle q \rangle T_{q,2}^2 - 4q^2(q+1)^2 \notin \mathfrak{m}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}^S \subset \mathbb{T}_O^S$. Indeed, this holds by Remark 7.3.10, because the admissibility of q implies tr(Frob_q $|\bar{\rho}_{\pi}\rangle \neq \pm 2(q+1)$.

In particular, we can consider, for any choice of q-adic uniformization datum for V_{DQq} , the map

(8.12)
$$\xi \coloneqq \nabla \circ \zeta : M_{-1}H^1\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\text{\'et}}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK^{\operatorname{ram}}_q}(V_{DQq})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) \twoheadrightarrow \frac{O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{DQ})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}}{(\operatorname{T}_{\operatorname{lr}})}$$

from Theorem 7.4.7; here we use that $\langle q \rangle = 1$ on $O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q}(V_{D/q})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}$ by Lemma 4.3.2. (The map ξ , and the identification of K^q with a compact open subgroup of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQq})(\mathbb{A}_f^q)$, both depend on the choice of uniformization datum.)

The following is the crucial lemma for the proof of Theorems 8.5.1 and 8.5.2.

Lemma 8.4.6. Suppose Qq is n-admissible. Then there exists a test function $\alpha \in \text{Test}_K(V_{DQ}, \pi, O/\varpi^n)$, a q-adic uniformization datum for V_{DQq} , and a special cycle $z \in \text{SC}_{K^q K_q^{\text{ram}}}(V_{DQq}, O)$ such that

$$lpha \circ \xi \circ \operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_q}(\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}(z)) \in O/\varpi^n$$

generates $\lambda_n(Q; K)$.

Here we are using Theorem 7.1.11 to apply ξ to res_{Q_a}($\partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(z)$).

Proof. By Corollary 5.6.3 and Lemma 8.4.3, we conclude

$$\lambda_n^D(Q;K) = \lambda_n^D(Q,\varphi^q\otimes\varphi_q^{\mathrm{tot}};K)$$

for some $\varphi^q \in \mathcal{S}(V_{DQ}^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f^q, O)^{K^q}$. Then by definition, there exists a test vector

$$\alpha \in \operatorname{Test}_K(V_{DQ}, \pi, O/\varpi^n)$$

such that $\alpha(Z(T, \varphi^q \otimes \varphi_q^{\text{tot}})_K)$ generates $\lambda_n(Q; K)$, for some $T \in \text{Sym}_2(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}$.

Now note that, for any choice of uniformization datum, $\alpha \circ \xi$ gives a well-defined map

$$M_{-1}H^{1}\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}}, H^{3}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K^{q}K^{\mathrm{ram}}_{q}}(V_{DQq})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) \twoheadrightarrow \frac{O\left[\mathrm{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}}(V_{DQ})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}}{(\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{lr}})} \twoheadrightarrow O/\varpi^{n}$$

- F----

because $\alpha(T_{lr}) \subset (\varpi^n)$ by Remark 7.4.6.

Then the lemma is immediate from Theorem 7.7.2.

8.5. **Conclusions.** Finally, we are ready to prove the main results for this section. We start with the non-endoscopic case.

Theorem 8.5.1. Suppose π is not endoscopic. Fix an integer $m \ge 1$, and let $n_0 = n_0(m, \rho_{\pi})$ satisfy the conclusion of Lemma B.4.5. Suppose $Q \ge is$ n-admissible and $q \nmid Q$ is an n-admissible prime, where $n \ge \max\{3m, n_0\}$, such that $\sigma(DQ)$ is odd.

(1) Suppose $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(Q)}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m) = 0$. Then

$$\partial_q \kappa_n^D(Qq) \supset \lambda_n^D(Q) \cdot (\varpi^C),$$

where

$$C = 2 \lg_O \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(Q)^{\operatorname{rel}}}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{n-m+1}) + m - 1$$

(2) Suppose there exists q'|Q which is not (n+1)-admissible, such that Q/q' is (n+m)-admissible and $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(Q/q')}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m) = \overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(Qq)}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m) = 0$,

but

$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(Q)}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}) \neq 0$$

Then

$$\partial_q \kappa_n^D(Qq) \supset \lambda_n^D(Q) \cdot \varpi^C,$$

where $C = 2(m-1) + \lg_{\mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(Qq)^{\operatorname{rel}}}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{n-m+1}).$

Proof. Choose an S-tidy level structure K for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$ such that $\lambda_n^D(Q; K) = \lambda_n^D(Q)$ (possible by Lemma 4.4.7), and fix a q-adic uniformization datum for V_{DQq} , a special cycle $z \in \operatorname{SC}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{ram}}}^2(V_{DQq})$, and a test function $\alpha \in \operatorname{Test}_K(V_{DQ}, \pi, O/\varpi^n)$ satisfying the conclusion of Lemma 8.4.6; in particular, we have

(8.13)
$$\left(\alpha \circ \xi \circ \operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_q}(\partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(z))\right) = \lambda_n^D(Q).$$

Now note that

$$M_{-1}H^1\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K^qK^{\mathrm{ram}}_q}(V_{DQq})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right)$$

is ϖ -power-torsion because $H^3_{\text{ét}}(\text{Sh}_{K^qK^{\text{ram}}_q}(V_{DQq})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is pure as a $G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$ representation by Corollary 2.7.7 and Theorem 2.2.10(1). Hence by Lemma 8.2.16 and Theorem 7.4.7, we have a diagram:

(8.14)
$$M_{-1}H^{1}\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}}, H^{3}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K^{q}K^{\mathrm{ram}}_{q}}(V_{DQq})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) \longleftrightarrow H_{Qq}/(t_{q})$$
$$\downarrow^{\xi}_{H_{Q}}/(\mathrm{T}^{\mathrm{lr}}_{q}),$$

where we set

$$H_Q := O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}, \ H_{Qq} := H_{Qq}(K^q K_q^{\operatorname{ram}})$$

(Definition 8.2.14). By Remark 7.4.6, $(\mathbb{T}_q^{\mathrm{lr}}) = (P_q(q))$ as ideals of $\mathbb{T}_{K,V_{DQ},\mathfrak{m}}^{S \cup \operatorname{div}(Q)}$. Hence by Lemmas 8.2.10 and 8.2.13, the diagram (8.14) is a diagram of $R_{Q,q}^{\mathrm{cong}}$ -modules. Let Q' = Q in case (1) and Q' = Qq in case (2), and define an element $a \in R_{Q'}$ as follows. Let $\tau_{Q'} : G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \operatorname{GSp}_4(O)$ be the representation constructed by Theorem B.2.12, and let $I_{Q'} \subset R_{Q'}$ be the kernel of the corresponding homomorphism $f_{Q'} : R_{Q'} \to O$. By Lemma B.4.5, we may fix an element $a \in \operatorname{Ann}_{R_{Q'}}(I_{Q'})$ such that

(8.15)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} f_{Q'}(a) \le \lg_O \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(Q')^{\operatorname{rel}}}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{n-m+1}).$$

By the definition of C in each case of the theorem, we may assume without loss of generality that

$$\lg_O \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(Q')^{\operatorname{rel}}}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{n-m+1}) < n-m+1.$$

Let $f_{\pi} : R^Q_{\mathfrak{m}} \to O$ be the map corresponding to ρ_{π} . Since $f_{Q'} \equiv f_{\pi} \pmod{\varpi^{n-m+1}}$ by Theorem B.2.12(1), we then have

(8.16)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} f_{\pi}(a) \leq \lg_{O} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(Q')^{\operatorname{rel}}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n})$$

Applying *a* to the diagram (8.14) of $R_{Q'}$ -modules, we obtain a diagram

$$(8.17) \qquad \begin{aligned} a \cdot M_{-1}H^{1}\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}}, H^{3}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K^{q}K^{\mathrm{ram}}_{q}}(V_{DQq})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) & \longleftrightarrow \\ & \downarrow \xi \\ a \cdot \left(O\left[\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{DQ})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}/(\mathbb{T}^{\mathrm{lr}}_{q})\right) = aH_{Q}/(aH_{Q} \cap f_{Q'}(\mathbb{T}^{\mathrm{lr}}_{q})H_{Q}). \end{aligned}$$

Suppose first we are in case (1). Because a annihilates I_Q , Lemma 8.2.10 implies that (8.17) is a diagram of $R_{Q,q}^{\hat{\operatorname{cong}}} \otimes_{R_{Q,f_Q}} O = O/f_Q(\mathbb{T}_q^{\operatorname{lr}})$ -modules. Note that

$$\frac{aH_Q}{af_Q(\mathsf{T}_q^{\mathrm{lr}})H_Q}$$

is free over $O/f_Q(\mathbb{T}_q^{\mathrm{lr}})$ because H_Q , hence aH_Q , is ϖ -torsion-free. Since the natural surjection

(8.18)
$$\frac{aH_Q}{af_Q(\mathbb{T}_q^{\mathrm{lr}})H_Q} \twoheadrightarrow \frac{aH_Q}{aH_Q \cap f_Q(\mathbb{T}_q^{\mathrm{lr}})H_Q}$$

has kernel annihilated by $f_Q(a)$, we conclude that

(8.19)
$$f_Q(a) \cdot \operatorname{Ext}^1_{O/f_Q(\mathbb{T}_q^{\operatorname{lr}})}(-, aH_Q/(aH_Q \cap f_Q(\mathbb{T}_q^{\operatorname{lr}})) = 0.$$

In particular, by (8.17), there exists a map $\tilde{\xi} : a \cdot (H_{Qq}/(t_q)) \to aH_Q/(aH_Q \cap f_Q(\mathbb{T}_q^{\mathrm{lr}})H_Q)$ fitting into the following commutative diagram.

Recall the test function $\alpha \in \text{Test}_K(V_{DQ}, \pi, O/\varpi^n)$ fixed above, and let β denote the composite map

$$H_{Qq}/(t_q) \xrightarrow{a} a \cdot (H_{Qq}/(t_q)) \xrightarrow{\tilde{\xi}} a H_Q/(a H_Q \cap \mathsf{T}_q^{\mathrm{lr}} H_Q) \xrightarrow{\alpha} O/\varpi^n.$$

By Lemma 8.2.17 and (8.13), we conclude

(8.20)
$$\partial_q \kappa_n^D(Qq) \supset (\beta(\partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(z))) = \left(\alpha \circ a^2 \xi \circ \operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_q}(\partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(z))\right) = f_\pi(a)^2 \lambda_n^D(Q).$$

Then the theorem follows from (8.16). For case (2), (8.17) is a diagram of $R_{Q,q}^{\text{cong}} \otimes_{R_{Qq}, f_{Qq}} O = O/f_{Qq}(t_q)$ -modules. By Lemma 8.2.11, all admissible primes are standard in the sense of Definition B.4.7, so by Lemma B.4.8, we have

(8.21)
$$f_{Qq}(t_q) \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\varpi^{n+m}}$$

In particular, (8.17) is a commutative diagram of O/ϖ^{n+m-1} -modules. Because

$$\varpi^{m-1} \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{O/\varpi^{n+m-1}}(-, O/\varpi^{n}) = 0,$$

we conclude that there exists a map $\tilde{\alpha}: a \cdot (H_{Qq}/(t_q)) \to O/\varpi^n$ fitting into the following commutative diagram:

$$a \cdot M_{-1}H^{1}\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}}, H^{3}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K^{q}K^{\mathrm{ram}}_{q}}(V_{DQq})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right) \xrightarrow{} a \cdot (H_{Qq}/(t_{q}))$$

$$\downarrow^{\alpha \circ \xi \circ \varpi^{m-1}}_{O/\varpi^{n}} \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\alpha}}$$

A priori, $\tilde{\alpha}$ is only equivariant with respect to f_{Qq} , but $f_{\pi} \equiv f_{Qq} \pmod{\varpi^{n-m+1}}$. Multiplying by ϖ^{m-1} , we then obtain an f_{π} -equivariant map

$$\varpi^{m-1}(\widetilde{\alpha} \circ a) : H_{Qq}/(t_q) \to O/\varpi^n.$$

Hence by Lemma 8.2.17 and (8.13), we conclude

$$\partial_{q}\kappa_{n}^{D}(Qq) \supset \varpi^{m-1} \left(\widetilde{\alpha} \circ a \circ \operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}}(\partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(z)) \right) = \varpi^{2(m-1)} \left(\alpha \circ \xi \left(a \cdot \operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}} \partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(z) \right) \right)$$
$$= \varpi^{2(m-1)} f_{\pi}(a) \left(\alpha \circ \xi \circ \operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_{q}} \partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(z) \right)$$
$$= \varpi^{2(m-1)} f_{\pi}(a) \lambda_{n}^{D}(Q).$$

Combined with (8.16), this completes the proof in case (2).

Theorem 8.5.2. Suppose π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) . Assume $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_1, \mathfrak{p}} \otimes V_{\pi_2, \mathfrak{p}}(-1)) = 0$, and let C_{RS} be as in Lemma 8.3.5.

Fix an integer $m \ge 1$, let $n_0 = n_0(m, \rho_{\pi_1})$ satisfy the conclusion of Lemma B.4.5, and let $n \ge \max\{3m, n_0\}$ be an integer. Suppose $Q = Q_1 \cdot Q_2$ is *n*-admissible such that Q_1 is BD-admissible for ρ_{π_1} , Q_2 is BDadmissible for ρ_{π_2} , and $\sigma(DQ)$ is odd. Let $q \nmid Q$ be an *n*-admissible prime, BD-admissible for ρ_{π_i} .

(1) Suppose $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(Q_i)}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi_i, m}) = 0$. Then

$$\partial_q \kappa_n^D(Qq) \supset \lambda_n^D(Q) \cdot \varpi^C$$

where

$$C = 2 \lg_O \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(Q_i)^{\operatorname{rel}}}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi_i, n-m+1}) + 2C_{\operatorname{RS}} + m - 1$$

(2) Suppose there exists a prime $q'|Q_i$ which is not (n + 1)-admissible such that Q_i/q' is (n + m)-admissible and

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(Q_i/q')}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi_i, m}) = \overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(Q_iq)}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi_i, m}) = 0$$

but

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(Q_i)}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi_i, 2m-1}) \neq 0.$$

Then

$$\partial_q \kappa_n^D(Qq) \supset \lambda_n^D(Q) \cdot \varpi^C,$$

where

$$C = \lg_O \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(Q_i q)^{\operatorname{rel}}}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi_i, n-m+1}) + C_{\operatorname{RS}} + 2(m-1).$$

Proof. First, choose the *S*-tidy level structure *K* for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{DQ})$ such that $\lambda_n^D(Q; K) = \lambda_n^D(Q)$ (possible by Lemma 4.4.7). Then fix a *q*-adic uniformization datum for V_{DQq} , a special cycle $z \in \operatorname{SC}^2_{K^q K^{\operatorname{ram}}_q}(V_{DQq})$, and a test function $\alpha \in \operatorname{Test}_K(V_{DQ}, \pi, O/\varpi^n)$ satisfying the conclusion of Lemma 8.4.6; in particular, we have

$$\left(\alpha \circ \xi \circ \operatorname{res}_{\mathbb{Q}_q}(\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}(z))\right) = \lambda_n^D(Q).$$

We also fix $j \in \operatorname{Ann}_{R^{Qq}_{\mathfrak{m}}}(J^{Qq}_{\operatorname{red}})$ satisfying the conclusion of Lemma 8.3.5.

As in the proof of Theorem 8.5.1, $M_{-1}H^1\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\acute{e}t}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK^{\operatorname{ram}}_q}(V_{DQq})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right)$ is ϖ -power-torsion, hence $j_*M_{-1}H^1\left(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\acute{e}t}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK^{\operatorname{ram}}_q}(V_{DQq})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}\right)$ is as well, where j_* is as in (8.8). Since the kernel of (8.8) is *j*-torsion, we obtain the following diagram arising from Theorem 7.4.7 and Lemma 8.3.23:

$$\begin{split} j_* M_{-1} H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, H^3_{\acute{\text{e}t}}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K^{\operatorname{ram}}_q}(V_{DQq})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}) & \longleftrightarrow H^1(I_{\mathbb{Q}_q}, M^{\operatorname{univ}}_{Q_i q, 1})^{\operatorname{Frob}_q = 1} \otimes_{R_{Q_i q, 1}} H^{(i)}_{Qq} \simeq H^{(i)}_{Qq}/(t_q) \\ & \downarrow_{\xi} \\ j \cdot \left(H_Q/(\mathbb{T}^{\operatorname{lr}}_q)\right) = jH_Q/(jH_Q \cap \mathbb{T}^{\operatorname{lr}}_q(H_Q) \end{split}$$

where we abbreviate

$$H_Q \coloneqq O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_{DQ})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}}, \ H_{Qq}^{(i)} \coloneqq H_{Qq}(K,j)^{(i)}.$$

From here, the argument is entirely analogous to Theorem 8.5.1, replacing Lemma 8.2.17 with Lemma 8.3.24.

9. Main result: rank zero case

9.1. Chebotarev primes and proof of the main result.

9.1.1. Throughout this section, we let π , S, and E_0 be as in Notation 4.0.1, and fix for now a prime p of E_0 .

Lemma 9.1.2. Suppose that π is non-endoscopic, that \mathfrak{p} satisfies Assumption 4.1.1(3), and that there exist admissible primes for $\rho_{\pi} = \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$. Let $C \ge 0$ be the constant from Corollary C.2.8 applied to T_{π} . Then for all integers $m \ge n \ge 1$ and for any cocycle $c \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n})$, there are infinitely many m-admissible primes q such that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_q c \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} c - C.$$

Recall here that loc_q was defined in Notation 4.2.9.

Proof. Let $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ be an admissible element for ρ_{π} , which is possible by Lemma 4.2.3. By Corollary C.2.8, we have $\varpi^{C}H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n}) = 0$, so by inflation-restriction there exists an element $h \in G_{\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi})}$ such that $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}c(h) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}c - C$. Because \overline{T}_{π} is absolutely irreducible, we can assume without loss of generality that the component of c(h) in the 1-eigenspace for g is nonzero modulo $\varpi^{n-\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}c+C+1}$. Then since

$$c(gh) = gc(h) + c(g),$$

after possibly replacing g by gh we may assume without loss of generality that the same is true for the component of c(g) in the 1-eigenspace for g (which is independent of the choice of cocycle representative). Then any prime $q \notin S \cup \{p\}$ with Frobenius conjugate to g in $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,m},c))$ satisfies the conclusion of the lemma.

The following theorem is a corollary of the work of Newton-Thorne [83] and Thorne [110].

Theorem 9.1.3. Suppose π is non-endoscopic, and \mathfrak{p} is a prime of E_0 of residue characteristic p > 3 such that π_p is unramified. Then

$$H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) = 0.$$

Proof. By [110, Theorem 6.2], it suffices to show

(9.1)
$$V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}(\mu_{n}\infty)}}$$
 is absolutely irreducible.

By Lemmas 2.2.12 and C.2.5, we can write

$$V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} V_0$$

for a finite extension K/\mathbb{Q} , where V_0 is a strongly irreducible representation of G_K . By [87, Lemma 2.2.9] and the assumption that π_p is unramified, we conclude K is unramified at p; hence (9.1) follows from Lemma C.2.9.

Theorem 9.1.4. Let π be non-endoscopic. Suppose \mathfrak{p} satisfies Assumption 4.1.1, and that there exist admissible primes for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$. Suppose as well that there exists a prime ℓ_0 such that π_{ℓ_0} is transferrable (Definition 2.4.5). Then

$$L(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2) \neq 0 \implies H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) = 0.$$

Proof. Set $D := \ell_0$, so that, by Theorem 2.4.6, π_f^D can be completed to an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A})$. By Proposition 4.4.5, if $L(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2) \neq 0$ then we have $\lambda^D(1) \neq 0$, so there exists a constant $C_0 \geq 0$ such that

(9.2)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\lambda_m^D(1) \ge m - C_0, \ \forall m \ge 1.$$

Suppose for contradiction that there exists a non-torsion element $c \in H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi)$, and let c_n be the image of c in $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n})$ for all $n \ge 1$. We fix a large integer N to be specified later. Let $M \ge N$ be the integer of Lemma 1.6.3(3) for $M = T_{\pi}$ and n = N. By Lemma 9.1.2 and Lemma 4.1.6(2), we may choose an M-admissible prime q such that

(9.3)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_q c_N \ge N - C_1$$

for a constant $C_1 \ge 0$. Now by Theorem 9.1.3 and Lemma B.3.6 (which applies to ρ_{π} by Lemma 8.2.1), for some $m_0 \ge 1$ we have

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi, m_{0}}) = 0.$$

Moreover, by Corollary B.4.3, $\lg_O \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}^{\operatorname{rel}}}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,n})$ is uniformly bounded in n. Hence by Theorem 8.5.1(1), as long as M is sufficiently large depending on m_0 – which we can ensure by choosing N sufficiently large – there exists a constant $C_2 \ge 0$ and an element $\kappa_M^D(q)_0 \in \kappa_M^D(q)$ such that

(9.4)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \partial_q \kappa_M^D(q)_0 \ge \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \lambda_M^D(1) - C_2 \ge M - C_2 - C_0$$

Let $\kappa_N^D(q)_0$ be the image of $\kappa_M^D(q)_0$ in $H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_1,N})$. We now consider the global Tate pairing

(9.5)
$$0 = \langle \kappa_N^D(q)_0, c_N \rangle = \sum_v \langle \kappa_N^D(q)_0, c_N \rangle_v.$$

For $v \notin S \cup \{q\}$, the local Tate pairing vanishes by Proposition 4.4.6(1) and Lemma 1.6.3(3) – recall here that the local Tate pairing of two unramified classes is always trivial. By the same argument as [66, Lemma 4.3(1)], we may also pick a constant $C_3 \ge 0$ independent of N such that, for all $v \in S$, $\varpi^{C_3} H^1(\mathbb{Q}_v, T_{\pi_1,N}) = 0$; hence

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\langle \kappa_N^D(q)_0, c_N \rangle_v \leq C_3, \ \forall v \in S.$$

It then follows from (9.5) that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \langle \kappa_N^D(q)_0, c_N \rangle_q \leq C_3.$$

On the other hand, by Proposition 4.2.8, (9.3) and (9.4) together imply

$$\operatorname{prd}_{\varpi}\langle \kappa_N^D(q)_0, c_N \rangle_q \ge N - C_0 - C_1 - C_2,$$

so we obtain a contradiction when

$$N > C_0 + C_1 + C_2 + C_3.$$

9.2. The endoscopic case.

9.2.1. For completeness, we include an analogue of Theorem 9.1.4 in the endoscopic case. First, we require an analogue of Lemma 9.1.2.

Lemma 9.2.2. Suppose π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A})$, and fix i = 1 or 2. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of E_0 such that there exist admissible primes for $\rho_{\pi} = \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ which are BD-admissible for $\rho_{\pi_i} = \rho_{\pi_i,\mathfrak{p}}$. Then there is a constant C with the following property.

For all integers $m \ge n \ge 0$ and for any cocycle $c \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_i})$, there are infinitely many *m*-admissible primes *q*, *BD*-admissible for ρ_{π_i} , such that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_q c \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} c - C.$$

Proof. Without loss of generality, we may assume i = 1 (after possibly relabeling π_1 and π_2).

Claim. There exists a constant $C \ge 0$ such that $\varpi^C H^1(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_1,n}) = 0$ for all $n \ge 1$.

Proof of claim. By Corollary C.2.8 and inflation-restriction, it suffices to show

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}(\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_{1}})), T_{\pi_{1},n})$$

is uniformly bounded in *n*. Note that, unless π_2 has CM by an imaginary quadratic subfield *K* of $\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_1})$, the abelianization of $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_1}))$ is finite. Indeed, if π_2 is CM, this can be checked by hand; otherwise one can use Theorem C.3.2 and Corollary C.1.2(2) to see that no closed normal subgroup of $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_2})/\mathbb{Q}(\mu_{p^{\infty}}))$ can have an infinite abelian quotient.

So we assume without loss of generality that π_2 has CM by $K \subset \mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_1})$. In this case, one can calculate directly that complex conjugation acts on $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_1}))$ by -1, so the image of any Galois-invariant group homomorphism $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi},)/\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_1})) \to T_{\pi_1,n}$ lies in the -1 eigenspace of complex conjugation; since \overline{T}_{π_1} is absolutely irreducible and odd, we conclude that all such homomorphisms vanish. \Box

Let $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ be an element which is admissible for ρ_{π} and BD-admissible for ρ_{π_1} , which is possible by (the argument of) Lemma 4.2.3. By the claim and inflation-restriction, there exists $h \in G_{\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi})}$ such that $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}c(h) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}c - C$; as in the proof of Lemma 9.1.2 above, after possibly replacing g with gh, we may assume without loss of generality that the component of c(g) in the 1-eigenspace for g is nonzero modulo $\varpi^{n-\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}c+C+1}$. Then any $q \notin S \cup \{p\}$ with Frobenius conjugate to g in $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,m},c_n))$ satisfies the conclusion of the lemma.

The same proof of Theorem 9.1.3 also shows:

Proposition 9.2.3. Suppose π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) . Then if \mathfrak{p} is any prime of E_0 of residue characteristic p such that π_p is unramified,

$$H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, \mathrm{ad}^0 \, \rho_{\pi_1, \mathfrak{p}}) = H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, \mathrm{ad}^0 \, \rho_{\pi_2, \mathfrak{p}}) = 0.$$

Theorem 9.2.4. Let π be endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$, which we order so that $\pi_{1,\infty}$ and $\pi_{2,\infty}$ have weights 2 and 4, respectively. Assume there exists a prime ℓ_0 such that π_{1,ℓ_0} is discrete series.

Fix i = 1 or 2. Then for any prime \mathfrak{p} satisfying Assumption 4.1.1, such that there exist admissible primes for $\rho_{\pi_i,\mathfrak{p}}$, which are BD-admissible for $\rho_{\pi_i,\mathfrak{p}}$, if $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes V_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(-1)) = 0$ then we have

$$L(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2) \neq 0 \implies H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_i, \mathfrak{p}}) = 0$$

Remark 9.2.5. Note that $L(\pi, \text{spin}, 1/2)$ is the product of central *L*-values for π_1 and π_2 ; in particular, Theorem 9.2.4 recovers (with extra conditions) the result of Kato [48].

Proof. The proof of Theorem 9.1.4 applies almost verbatim, with the following substitutions: Theorem 2.5.2 for Theorem 2.4.6; Lemma 9.2.2 for Lemma 9.1.2; Proposition 9.2.3 for Theorem 9.1.3; and Theorem 8.5.2(1) for Theorem 8.5.1(1).

9.3. Rigidity and p-integral vanishing of the Selmer group.

9.3.1. We can also give a more precise result on the vanishing of the dual Bloch-Kato Selmer group $H_f^1(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}/T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}})$, under some stronger conditions. Assume for this subsection that π is not endoscopic.

We consider the following additional assumptions on p (the R stands for "rigid").

- (R1) The image of the $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ action on $\overline{T}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ contains a nontrivial scalar.
- (R2) We have $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}^{rel}}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \overline{\rho}) = 0$, with notation as in Definition B.4.1.
- (R3) For all $\ell \in S$, $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, \overline{T}_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) = 0$.

It is proved in Theorem C.4.9 that (R1) holds for cofinitely many p. We will show in Proposition 9.3.5 below that the same is true of (R2) and (R3).

9.3.2. Under Assumption 4.1.1(3), let $R_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\text{univ}}$ be the universal GSp_4 -valued deformation ring of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ denoted R^1 in Notation 8.2.6, with corresponding universal deformation $\rho_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\text{univ}} : G_{\mathbb{Q},S \cup \{p\}} \to \operatorname{GSp}_4(R_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\text{univ}})$.

Lemma 9.3.3. Let $(R_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}})^0 \subset R_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}}$ be the subring generated by the coefficients of the characteristic polynomials of elements of $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ under the composite

$$\rho_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}}: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathrm{GSp}_4(R_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}}) \hookrightarrow \mathrm{GL}_4(R_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}}).$$

Then

$$(R_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}})^0 = R_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}}$$

Proof. Recall the category CNL_O from (1.1.3). By the universal property of ρ_p^{univ} , it suffices to show the following: given two morphisms

$$f_1, f_2: R_p^{\mathrm{univ}} \to A$$

in CNL_O , if $f_1 = f_2$ on $(R_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\text{univ}})^0$, then the associated deformations

$$\rho_1, \rho_2: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathrm{GSp}_4(A)$$

are $GSp_4(A)$ -conjugate. By [20, Théorème 1], ρ_1 and ρ_2 are $GL_4(A)$ -conjugate, say by a matrix $a \in GL_4(A)$. Then

(9.6)
$$\rho_1(g) = a \cdot \rho_2(g) \cdot a^{-1} \quad \forall g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}.$$

On the other hand, because ρ_1 and ρ_2 are valued in GSp₄ with similitude character χ_p^{cyc} , we also have

(9.7)
$$\rho_i(g) = -\chi_{p,\text{cyc}}(g) \cdot \Omega \cdot \rho_i(g)^{-t} \cdot \Omega \quad \forall g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}, \ i = 1, 2$$

where Ω is the matrix from (1.1.4) with n = 2. Combining (9.6) and (9.7) and using Schur's lemma, it follows that $\Omega a^t \Omega a$ is scalar, or equivalently $a \in GSp_4(A)$, and this proves the lemma.

Lemma 9.3.4. For all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_{\mathfrak{p}})}}$ is absolutely irreducible.

Proof. First, recall that $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is absolutely irreducible for all but finitely many \mathfrak{p} by Lemma 4.1.5. We restrict our attention to these \mathfrak{p} ; the argument is based on [65, Proposition 4.5], but we are able to take advantage of the low-dimensionality of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$. The representation $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}}(\zeta_p)}$ is semisimple, so, after possibly extending scalars, we may write

$$\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_p)}} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^M \rho_i^{\oplus m_i}$$

for distinct absolutely irreducible representations ρ_i of $G_{\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_p)}$ and multiplicities $m_i \geq 1$. The same argument as [38, Lemma 2.1] (which applies here because $\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_p)/\mathbb{Q}$ has degree coprime to p) shows that the integers $m_i = m$ are all equal, and all ρ_i have the same dimension M, such that $m^2 M$ is the number of characters ν of $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_p)/\mathbb{Q})$ such that $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \cong \overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \nu$. Considering the self-duality of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$, we see that this can occur only if $\nu^2 = 1$, so that $m^2 M \leq 2$. In particular, m = 1, so $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}}(\zeta_p)}$ is multiplicity-free, and the result now follows by the same argument as [65, Proposition 4.5].

Proposition 9.3.5. All but finitely many primes p of E_0 satisfy (R2) and (R3).

Proof. First, choose an imaginary quadratic field K such that all $\ell \in S$ are split in K, and restrict attention to the cofinitely many \mathfrak{p} such that the underlying rational prime p is unramified in K and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}(\zeta_p)}}$ is absolutely irreducible. Then $\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}) \cap K$ is unramified at all finite primes, hence equal to \mathbb{Q} , and so

(9.8)
$$\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_K) = \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{\mathbb{Q}}).$$

Note as well that $BC(\pi) \otimes \omega_{K/\mathbb{Q}} \ncong BC(\pi)$ (with $BC(\pi)$ as in Lemma 2.2.17), for otherwise we would have $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \omega_{K/\mathbb{Q}} \cong \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$, and it is easy to check using Schur's lemma that this implies $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_K}$ is not absolutely

irreducible for any \mathfrak{p} , contradicting (9.8) and Lemma 2.2.12 as long as p > 3. In particular, the base change Π of BC(π) to GL₄(\mathbb{A}_K) is a regular algebraic, cuspidal automorphic representation of GL₄(\mathbb{A}_K) by [3, Chapter 3, Theorems 4.2(a), 5.1]. It is also clear that E_0 is a strong coefficient field for Π .

Recall the universal deformation $\rho_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\text{univ}}: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \operatorname{GSp}_4(R_{\mathfrak{p}})$ from (9.3.2). Note that $K \cap \mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\text{univ}})$ is unramified at all finite primes, hence equal to \mathbb{Q} ; in particular, there exists $\gamma \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that $\rho_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\text{univ}}(\gamma) = 1$ and γ acts nontrivially on K.

Recall the group scheme

$$\mathscr{G} \coloneqq (\mathrm{GL}_4 \times \mathrm{GL}_1) \rtimes \{1, \mathfrak{c}\}$$

from [25, §2.1]. By the recipe of [65, Lemma 2.3(2)], ρ_{p}^{univ} gives rise to a Galois representation

(9.9)
$$\widetilde{\rho}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}}: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathscr{G}(R_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}}),$$

with residual representation $\widetilde{\overline{\rho}}_{\mathfrak{p}}: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathscr{G}(O_{\mathfrak{p}}/\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}})$. Note

(9.10)
$$\widetilde{\rho}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}}|_{G_K} = (\rho_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}}|_{G_K}, \chi_{p,\mathrm{cyc}}, 1) : G_K \to (\mathrm{GL}_4 \times \mathrm{GL}_1)(R_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{univ}}) \rtimes \{1, \mathfrak{c}\},$$

where p is the residue characteristic of \mathfrak{p} . By the argument of [65, Theorem 4.8] applied to Π , we have for all but finitely many \mathfrak{p} :

- (1) $\overline{\rho}_{\mathfrak{p}}: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathscr{G}(O_{\mathfrak{p}}/\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}})$ satisfies [65, Definition 3.36] for the pair (S, \emptyset) .
- (2) There are no regular algebraic conjugate self-dual cuspidal automorphic representations Π' of $\operatorname{GL}_N(\mathbb{A}_K)$ such that Π' is unramified outside primes above S, Π' has the same archimedean weights as Π , and there is a congruence of associated Hecke eigensystems with respect to any isomorphism $\iota_p : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ inducing \mathfrak{p} .

For all but finitely many p, we also have:

(3) $\widetilde{\overline{\rho}}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{K(\zeta_{\mathfrak{p}})}}$ is absolutely irreducible

by Lemma 9.3.4 and (9.8).

Restrict to the p satisfying the above properties with $p \notin S$, and such that $\rho_p^{\text{univ}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}}$ is Fontaine-Lafaille, i.e. $p \geq 5$. Let $\mathbb{R}^{\text{univ}}_{\mathscr{S}}$ be the universal Fontaine-Laffaille deformation ring of $\overline{\rho}_p$ considered in [65, p. 1630] with $\Sigma_{\min}^+ = S$ and $\Sigma_{\ln}^+ = \emptyset$; more explicitly, $\mathbb{R}^{\text{univ}}_{\mathscr{S}}$ classifies deformations that are unramified outside primes above $S \cup \{p\}$ and Fontaine-Laffaille at primes above p. It follows from the definition that (9.9) corresponds to an O_p -algebra morphism

$$(9.11) \qquad \qquad \mathsf{R}^{\mathrm{univ}}_{\mathscr{S}} \to R^{\mathrm{univ}}_{\mathsf{n}}.$$

Now let V be the unique four-dimensional Hermitian space over K which is positive definite and split at all finite places. Then [65, Theorem 3.38] applied to V, together with properties (1)-(3) above, shows that $R_{\mathscr{S}}^{univ} = O_{\mathfrak{p}}$ for all but finitely many \mathfrak{p} . We claim that these \mathfrak{p} satisfy (R2) and (R3).

Now, by Remark B.4.6, (R2) is equivalent to requiring that the map $R_p^{\text{univ}} \to O_p$ arising from $\rho_{\pi,p}$ is an isomorphism, and so it suffices to show that the morphism (9.11) is surjective. By (9.10), the image of (9.11) contains the coefficients of the characteristic polynomials of $\rho_p^{\text{univ}}(g)$ for $g \in G_K$, and so the desired surjectivity follows from Lemma 9.3.3 and the analogue of (9.8) for ρ_p^{univ} .

For (R3), the local deformation ring of

$$\widetilde{\overline{
ho}}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}}:G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}} o\mathscr{G}(O_{\mathfrak{p}}/\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

is formally smooth of relative dimension 16 over O_p for all $\ell \in S$: this follows from [65, Proposition 3.33(3)], where Definition 3.36(1) of *op. cit.* is satisfied by property (1) above. In fact, because ℓ splits in K, this is just the local deformation ring of

$$\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}}:G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}\to\mathrm{GL}_4(O_{\mathfrak{p}}/\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

(without any self-duality condition). The usual tangent space computation together with the formal smoothness then implies

$$16 = \dim_{O_{\mathfrak{p}}/\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}}} Z^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \operatorname{End} \overline{T}_{\pi}) = 16 - \dim_{O_{\mathfrak{p}}/\varpi_{\mathfrak{p}}} H^{0}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \operatorname{End} \overline{T}_{\pi}) + H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \operatorname{End} \overline{T}_{\pi}).$$

In particular, by the local Euler characteristic formula and local Poitou-Tate duality, we conclude

(9.12)
$$H^0(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, \operatorname{End} T_\pi(1)) = 0.$$

We then claim that $H^0(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}, \overline{T}_{\pi}) = 0$: otherwise $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,p}$ has a $G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}$ -invariant line, so by duality, it also has a quotient on which $G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}$ acts by $\chi_{p,cyc}$, and so there is a line in End T_{π} on which $G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}$ acts by $\chi_{p,cyc}^{-1}$, contradicting (9.12).

On the other hand, again by the local Euler characteristic formula and local duality, we see that $\dim H^1(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, \overline{T}_\pi) = 2 \dim H^0(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, \overline{T}_\pi)$, so (R3) follows.

Proposition 9.3.6. Suppose \mathfrak{p} satisfies Assumption 4.1.1(3) and (R1). Then for any nonzero class $c \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, \overline{T}_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}})$ and any $N \ge 0$, there exist infinitely many N-admissible primes q such that $\log_q c \neq 0$.

Proof. By the same argument as [40, Proposition 9.1], assumption (R1) implies that $H^1(\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}, \overline{T}_{\pi}) = 0$, so by inflation-restriction

$$c|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi})}}:G_{\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi})}\to\overline{T}_{\pi}$$

is nontrivial. Let $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ be an admissible element for ρ_{π} . Arguing as in Lemma 9.1.2, there exists $h \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that h acts as g on \overline{T}_{π} and c(h) has nonzero component in the 1-eigenspace for h.

Claim. We have $\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,N}) \cap \mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi},c) = \mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi}).$

Proof of claim. It suffices to show any group G with $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -action which is a quotient of both the Galois groups $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi},c)/\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi}))$ and $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,N})/\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi}))$, must be trivial. Note that $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi},c)/\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi}))$ is an $\mathbb{F}_p[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ -submodule of \overline{T}_{π} , so any element $z \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ that acts as a nontrivial scalar on \overline{T}_{π} acts nontrivially on G unless G = 1.

On the other hand, the group $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,N})/\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi}))$ has a $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -stable filtration in which each quotient is abelian and isomorphic to an $\mathbb{F}_p[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ -subquotient of $\operatorname{ad}^0 \overline{\rho}_{\pi}$. In particular, z acts trivially on G, which is an abelian quotient of $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,N})/\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi}))$. We conclude G is trivial.

By the claim, there exists $\tilde{g} \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ that acts as g on $T_{\pi,N}$ and has image h in $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi},c)/\mathbb{Q}(\overline{T}_{\pi}))$. Any prime $q \notin S \cup \{p\}$ with Frobenius conjugate to \tilde{g} in $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,N},c)/\mathbb{Q})$ satisfies the conclusion of the lemma.

Definition 9.3.7. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of E_0 such that $\overline{T}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is absolutely irreducible (so $T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is well-defined up to scalars).

(1) We write

$$W_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} = V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}/T_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$$

As usual, we drop the subscript p when clarity permits.

(2) For each rational prime ℓ , let $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, W_\pi)$ be the annihilator of $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, T_\pi)$ under the perfect local Tate pairing

$$H^1(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, W_\pi) \times H^1(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, T_\pi) \to E/O,$$

and let

$$H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, W_\pi) := \ker \left(H^1(\mathbb{Q}, W_\pi) \to \prod_{\ell} \frac{H^1(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, W_\pi)}{H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_\ell, W_\pi)} \right)$$

Theorem 9.3.8. Suppose π is non-endoscopic, and \mathfrak{p} is a prime of E_0 such that:

- (1) Assumption 4.1.1 and (R1)-(R3) hold for \mathfrak{p} , and there exist admissible primes for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$.
- (2) There exists a squarefree D > 1 with $\nu(D)$ odd, such that π_{ℓ} is transferrable for all $\ell | D$ (Definition 2.4.5) and

$$\lambda^D(1)_{\mathfrak{p}} \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}.$$

Then

$$H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, W_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) = 0.$$

Proof. We follow the proof of Theorem 9.1.4, but with some integral refinements. Fix p and D satisfying (1) and (2), and omit p from the notation for the rest of the proof. Suppose for contradiction that $H_f^1(\mathbb{Q}, W_\pi) \neq 0$. By the long exact sequence in Galois cohomology associated to

$$0 \to \overline{T}_{\pi} \to W_{\pi} \to W_{\pi} \to 0,$$

we have

$$H^1(\mathbb{Q},\overline{T}_\pi) = H^1(\mathbb{Q},W_\pi)[\varpi]$$

in particular, there exists a class $0 \neq c \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, \overline{T}_{\pi})$ with the following property:

(9.13)
$$\operatorname{Res} c_v \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}_v, \overline{T}_\pi) \text{ has trivial image in } \frac{H^1(\mathbb{Q}_v, W_\pi)}{H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_v, W_\pi)} \text{ for all primes } v$$

We fix an integer $N \ge 3$ sufficiently large to satisfy the conclusion of Lemma 1.6.3(2) for n = 1 and $M = T_{\pi}$, and greater than the number $n_0(1, \rho_{\pi})$ from Theorem B.2.12.¹⁰

By Proposition 9.3.6 and the assumption (R1), we may choose an N-admissible prime $q \notin S$ such that

$$\log_q c \neq 0.$$

Then by Theorem 8.5.1(1) and the assumption (R2), we have an element $\kappa_N^D(q)_0 \in \kappa_N^D(q)$ such that its image $\kappa_1^D(q)_0$ in $H^1(\mathbb{Q}, \overline{T}_{\pi})$ satisfies

(9.15)
$$\partial_q \kappa_1^D(q)_0 \neq 0.$$

We now consider the global Tate pairing

(9.16)
$$0 = \sum_{v} \langle c, \kappa_1^D(q)_0 \rangle_v$$

By the assumption (R3), the local terms vanish for all $v \neq q, p$. The local term at v = q is nonzero by Proposition 4.2.8 combined with (9.14), (9.15). So to obtain a contradiction with (9.16), it suffices to show the local pairing at p vanishes. Indeed, the maps

$$\alpha: H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, T_\pi) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \overline{T}_\pi), \ \beta: H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, \overline{T}_\pi) \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}_p, W_\pi)$$

are adjoint with respect to the local Tate pairings, and by Lemma 1.6.3(2) combined with Proposition 4.4.6, there exists $d \in H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_p, T_\pi)$ such that $\alpha(d) = \operatorname{Res}_p \kappa_1^D(q)_0$. Hence indeed

$$\langle \kappa_1^D(q)_0, c \rangle_p = \langle d, \beta(\operatorname{Res}_p c) \rangle_p = 0$$

by (9.13).

Corollary 9.3.9. Suppose π is relevant and non-endoscopic, and there exists a place ℓ_0 such that π_{ℓ_0} is transferrable (Definition 2.4.5). If $L(\pi, \text{spin}, 1/2) \neq 0$, then for all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} such that admissible primes exist for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$, $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, W_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}) = 0$.

¹⁰For cofinitely many \mathfrak{p} , all the local deformation rings of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}}$ for $\ell \in S \cup \{p\}$ will be formally smooth (by the same argument of Proposition 9.3.5 for $\ell \in S$ and by [10, Theorem A] for $\ell = p$), so one can take $n_0(1, \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}) = 1$. The assumption $N \geq 3$ is to conform to the statement of Theorem 8.5.1 with m = 1, but in reality it is not needed since $N \geq 3m$ is used only in Theorem 8.5.1(2). In particular, the argument would work with N = 1 in practice.

Proof. By Theorem 2.4.6, $\pi_f^{\ell_0}$ can be completed to an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{\ell_0})(\mathbb{A})$. Thus the corollary follows from Theorem 9.3.8 combined with Proposition 4.4.5, Lemma 4.1.5, Theorem C.4.9, and Proposition 9.3.5.

Conditions are given in Theorem C.4.11 under which admissible primes exist for $\rho_{\pi,p}$ for cofinitely many p. In particular:

Corollary 9.3.10. Suppose π is relevant and non-endoscopic, and there exists a place ℓ such that π_{ℓ} is type IIa in the sense of [95]. If $L(\pi, \operatorname{spin}, 1/2) \neq 0$, then for all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} , $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, W_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}) = 0$.

9.4. Applications to automorphic inductions. In this section, we give some corollaries of Theorem 9.1.4 which may be of independent interest. Both of them could be upgraded to statements about dual Selmer groups using Theorem 9.3.8; we omit the details only for concision.

In the next two corollaries, when π is a cuspidal unitary automorphic representation of $\text{GL}_2(\mathbb{A})$ such that π_{∞} is discrete series of weight $k \geq 2$ and $\iota_p : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ is an isomorphism, the associated *p*-adic Galois representations ρ_{π,ι_p} are normalized so that $\det \rho_{\pi,\iota_p} = \chi_{p,\mathrm{cyc}}^{k-1}\omega_{\pi}$, where ω_{π} is the central character. We also have the usual *p*-adic Galois representation χ_{ι_p} associated to any algebraic automorphic character χ of \mathbb{A}_K^{\times} , with K/\mathbb{Q} a number field. We write the (semisimplified) reductions mod p as $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\iota_p}$ and $\overline{\chi}_{\iota_p}$.

Corollary 9.4.1. Let π be a non-CM cuspidal unitary automorphic representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{A})$ with π_{∞} discrete series of weight 3, and with central character ω_{π} . Let K be an imaginary quadratic field and $\chi: \mathbb{A}_K^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ an automorphic character of infinity type (-1,0) such that $\chi|_{\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\times}} = |\cdot|\omega_{\pi}^{-1}$.

Fix an isomorphism $\iota_p : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ *and assume:*

- (1) p splits in K and is coprime to the conductor of f and χ .
- (2) For some inert nonarchimedean place v of K, $WD(\rho_{\pi,\iota_p}|_{G_{K_n}})$ is indecomposable.
- (3) $\overline{\rho} \coloneqq \overline{\rho}_{\pi,\iota_p} \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} \overline{\chi}_{\iota,p}$ satisfies: (a) $\overline{\rho}$ is absolutely irreducible and generic (Definition 2.7.3). (b) There exists a prime q such that $\overline{\rho}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}}$ is unramified, $q^4 \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p}$, and $\overline{\rho}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ has eigenvalues $\{q, 1, \alpha, q/\alpha\}$ with $\alpha \notin \{\pm 1, \pm q, q^2, q^{-1}\}$.

Then

$$L(f,\chi,1/2) \neq 0 \implies H^1_f(K,\rho_{\pi,\iota_p}\otimes\chi_{\iota_p}) = 0.$$

Moreover, the conditions in (3) hold for all but finitely many p split in K and all choices of ι_p .

Remark 9.4.2. The condition that p split in K is actually necessary for (3b) to hold.

Proof. Let $BC_K(\pi)$ be the base change to $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_K)$. By [3, Chapter 3, Theorems 4.2(e), 5.1], there is a (strong) automorphic induction Π of $BC_K(\pi) \otimes \chi$ to $GL_4(\mathbb{A})$. Then by [92, Theorem C], there is an automorphic representation $\tilde{\pi}$ of $\mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$ with trivial central character, such that Π is the base change of $\tilde{\pi}$ as in Lemma 2.2.17. Note that $\tilde{\pi}$ is relevant by a direct calculation with archimedean L-parameters. We have

$$\rho_{\widetilde{\pi},\iota_p} = \rho_{\pi,\iota_p} \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} \chi_{\iota_p},$$

where the symplectic structure is by viewing ρ_{π,ι_p} as symplectic and $\operatorname{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_Q} \chi_{\iota_p}$ as orthogonal. The "moreover" assertion of the corollary therefore follows from Lemma C.4.7 combined with Lemma 4.1.5.

For the rest, by Shapiro's Lemma we have $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, \rho_{\tilde{\pi}, \iota_p}) = H^1_f(K, \rho_{\pi, \iota_p} \otimes \chi_{\iota_p})$. So by Theorem 9.1.4 applied to $\tilde{\pi}$, it suffices to show that there exists a prime ℓ such that $\tilde{\pi}_{\ell}$ is transferrable.

Let v be the place in (2), and let ℓ be the rational prime underlying v. Comparing Definition 2.4.5 with the explicit local Langlands parameters in [95, Table A.7] (and using as well Theorem 2.2.10(1) to see that $\tilde{\pi}_{\ell}$ is tempered), we see that it suffices to show the associated Weil-Deligne representation

$$\tau_{\ell}: W_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}} \times \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{C}) \to \mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathbb{C})$$

of $\rho_{\tilde{\pi},\iota_p}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}}$ does not factor through a Siegel parabolic subgroup; equivalently, τ_ℓ does not stabilize an isotropic plane. Let W be the underlying two-dimensional complex symplectic space of the Weil-Deligne representation $\tau_{\pi,\ell}: W_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell} \times \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{C}) \to \mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ corresponding to $\rho_{\pi,\iota_p}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}}$, and let $V = \mathrm{Ind}_{W_{K_v}}^{W_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}} \tau_{\chi,v}$, where $\tau_{\chi,v}: W_{K_v} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ is the character corresponding to $\chi_{\iota_p}|_{G_{K_v}}$.

In particular, there is an isotropic basis $\{e_1, e_2\}$ for V stable (as a set) under W_{K_v} . Suppose for contradiction that $I \subset W \otimes V$ is a $W_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell} \times \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{C})$ -stable isotropic plane. Because v is inert, $I \neq W \otimes e_1, W \otimes e_2$. In particular, it follows that

$$I = \{ w \otimes e_1 + g(w) \otimes e_2, \ w \in W \}$$

for some $g \in GL_2(\mathbb{C})$. Then g commutes with $\tau_{\pi,\ell}(W_{K_v} \times SL(2,\mathbb{C}))$, hence is scalar by (2); but clearly such an I is not isotropic, so we have obtained a contradiction.

Corollary 9.4.3. Let K be a real quadratic field, and let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $\mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{A}_K)$ with π_v discrete series of weights 2 and 4, in some order, for the two places $v \mid \infty$ of K.

Let p be a prime and let $\iota_p : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ be an isomorphism such that:

- (1) *p* is unramified in *K* and coprime to the conductor of π .
- (2) π_v is discrete series for some nonarchimedean place v of K, and if v is split, then $\pi_v \not\cong \pi_{\overline{v}}$.
- (3) $\overline{\rho} \coloneqq \operatorname{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} \overline{\rho}_{\pi,\iota_p} \text{ satisfies:}$
 - (a) $\overline{\rho}$ is absolutely irreducible and generic (Definition 2.7.3).
 - (b) There exists a prime q such that $\overline{\rho}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}}$ is unramified, $q^4 \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p}$, and $\overline{\rho}(\operatorname{Frob}_q)$ has eigenvalues $\{q, 1, \alpha, q/\alpha\}$ with $\alpha \notin \{\pm 1, \pm q, q^2, q^{-1}\}$.

Then

$$L(\pi, 1/2) \neq 0 \implies H^1_f(K, \rho_{\pi, \iota_p}) = 0.$$

Moreover:

- If π is non-CM and not Galois-conjugate to a twist of $\pi \circ \tau$, where $\tau \in \text{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$ is a generator, then the conditions in (3) hold for all but finitely many p and all choices of ι_p .
- If π is non-CM and Galois-conjugate to a twist of $\pi \circ \tau$, then then the conditions in (3) hold for all but finitely many p split in K.
- If π has CM by a totally imaginary quadratic extension F/K, then the conditions in (3) hold for all but finitely many p split completely in F.

Proof. By the same argument as for Corollary 9.4.1, there exists an automorphic representation $\tilde{\pi}$ of $\text{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A})$ such that the base change of $\tilde{\pi}$ to $\text{GL}_4(\mathbb{A})$ is the automorphic induction of π . Again it suffices to show that $\tilde{\pi}_{\ell}$ is transferrable, where ℓ is the rational prime underlying v from (2); in this case, the "moreover" assertions follow from Lemmas C.4.6 and C.4.8, combined with Lemma 4.1.5.

Now, let W be the underlying symplectic space of the associated Weil-Deligne representation

$$\tau_{\ell}: W_{\mathbb{O}_{\ell}} \times \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{C}) \to \mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathbb{C})$$

to $\rho_{\tilde{\pi},\iota_p}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}}$. As in the proof of Corollary 9.4.1, we wish to show that τ_{ℓ} does not factor through a Siegel parabolic subgroup, so suppose for contradiction that W contains a $W_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}} \times \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{C})$ -stable isotropic plane I. We have a $W_{K_v} \times \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{C})$ -stable decomposition

$$W = W_1 \oplus W_2,$$

where $W_{K_v} \times SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ acts on W_1 through the Weil-Deligne representation corresponding to $\rho_{\pi_v,\iota_p}|_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}$ – in particular, irreducibly because π_v is discrete series. The symplectic form is nondegenerate on each of W_1 and W_2 , so we conclude that

$$I = \{ w + \ell(w) : w \in W_1 \}$$

for some linear isomorphism $\ell : W_1 \xrightarrow{\sim} W_2$. This ℓ is necessarily $W_{K_v} \times SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ -intertwining, so the assumption in (2) means v is an inert prime. Hence $W = W_1 \otimes V$ where $V = \operatorname{Ind}_{W_{K_v}}^{W_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}}} \mathbb{C}$, and the same argument as in Corollary 9.4.1 shows again that no such I can exist.

10. The second explicit reciprocity law: geometric inputs

10.1. Setup and notation.

10.1.1. Let $D \ge 1$ be squarefree with $\sigma(D)$ even, and recall the quadratic space V_D from (1.1.6). For this section, we suppose fixed a matrix $T \in \text{Sym}^2(\mathbb{Q})_{>0}$ satisfying:

- (T1) $T_{11} \in \mathbb{Q}^{\times} \setminus (\mathbb{Q}^{\times})^2$.
- (T2) The two-dimensional quadratic space defined by T has nontrivial local Hasse invariant for some prime $\ell \nmid D$.
- 10.1.2. Choose a base point $(e_1^T, e_2^T) \in \Omega_{T, V_D}(\mathbb{Q})$ (Construction 3.1.2(2)), and let

(10.1)
$$V_D^{\circ} \coloneqq (e_1^T)^{\perp} \subset V_D, \quad V_T \coloneqq \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{Q}} \left\{ e_1^T, e_2^T \right\} \subset V_D, \quad V_D^{\diamond} \coloneqq V_T^{\perp} \subset V_D^{\circ}.$$

Then V_D° is a four-dimensional quadratic space with discriminant field $F \coloneqq \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{T_{11}})$.

10.1.3. Let $K = \prod K_v \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be a neat compact open subgroup, and fix, throughout this section, an element $g_0 = \prod_v g_{0,v} \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f)$. We write

$$\begin{cases} K_v^{\diamondsuit} = g_{0,v} K_v g_{0,v}^{-1} \cap \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^{\diamondsuit})(\mathbb{Q}_v) \\ K_v^{\circ} = g_{0,v} K_v g_{0,v}^{-1} \cap \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_v) \end{cases}$$

for all finite places v of \mathbb{Q} , and $K^? \coloneqq \prod K_v^?$ for $? = \diamondsuit, \circ$. The special cycle $Z(g_0, V_T, V_D)_K$ factors as:

(10.2)
$$\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\diamond}}(V_D^{\diamond}) \to \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_D^{\circ}) \xrightarrow{\cdot g_0} \operatorname{Sh}_K(V_D).$$

10.2. Integral models at good primes. Fix a prime $q \nmid D$ satisfying the following:

Assumption 10.2.1.

- (1) T lies in $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}) \subset M_2(\mathbb{Q})$.
- (2) T_{11} lies in $(\mathbb{Z}_q^{\times} \setminus (\mathbb{Z}_q^{\times})^2) \cap \mathbb{Q}$.
- (3) K_q is hyperspecial and $g_q \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ lies in K_q .

Notation 10.2.2.

- (1) Let $O_D \subset B_D$ be a maximal $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ -order.
- (2) The lattice $\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}} \{e_1^T, e_2^T\}$ defines a maximal $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ -order $\mathcal{O}_T \subset C(V_T)$, with the natural positive nebentype involution.
- (3) Let $\mathcal{O}_F \subset \mathcal{O}_T$ be the subalgebra generated by e_1^T , which is the unique maximal $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ -order in F.
- (4) Fix an arbitrary positive involution * of O_D (necessarily nebentype). The Clifford involution * is positive and nebentype on \mathcal{O}_T , and stabilizes \mathcal{O}_F .

10.2.3. Under Notation 10.2.2, we have the chain of embeddings of $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ -algebras with positive involutions: (10.3) $O_D \hookrightarrow O_D \otimes \mathcal{O}_F \hookrightarrow O_D \otimes \mathcal{O}_T.$

We now use (10.3) to describe q-integral models for the cycles (10.2).

Construction 10.2.4. Using Corollary 1.3.5, we fix a four-dimensional abelian scheme A_0 over \mathbb{Z}_q of supersingular reduction, equipped with:

(1) An embedding $\iota_0^{\diamondsuit}: O_D \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}} \mathcal{O}_T \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A_0) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}_{(q)}.$

(2) A prime-to-q quasi-polarization $\lambda_0 : A_0 \to A_0^{\vee}$ such that

$$\iota_0^{\diamondsuit}(\alpha)^{\lor} \circ \lambda_0 = \lambda_0 \circ \iota_0^{\diamondsuit}(\alpha^*), \ \forall \alpha \in O_D \otimes \mathcal{O}_T.$$

By restricting along (10.3), we also have $\iota_0 : O_D \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A_0) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ and $\iota_0^\circ : O_D \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}} \mathcal{O}_F \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}(A_0) \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$. Note that $(A_0, \iota_0, \lambda_0)$ is an $(O_D, *)$ -triple in the sense of Definition 1.4.2. Using Remark 1.4.5(1), we extend this to a *q*-adic uniformization datum $(A_0, \iota_0, \lambda_0, i_D, i_{Dq})$ for $(O_D, *)$. Consider the three PEL data with self-dual *q*-integral refinements:

$$\mathcal{D}^{\diamond} = (B_D \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} C(V_T), *, H, \psi), \qquad \qquad \mathcal{D}^{\diamond} = (O_D \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}} \mathcal{O}_T, *, \Lambda, \psi)$$
$$\mathcal{D}^{\circ} = (B_D \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} F, *, H, \psi), \qquad \qquad \mathcal{D}^{\circ} = (O_D \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}} \mathcal{O}_F, *, \Lambda, \psi)$$
$$\mathcal{D} = (B_D, *, H, \psi), \qquad \qquad \mathcal{D} = (O_D, *, \Lambda, \psi)$$

arising from A_0 . Also write $K^{q?} \coloneqq \prod_{v \neq q} K_v^?$ for $? = \diamondsuit, \circ$.

For $? = \Diamond, \circ, \text{ or } \emptyset$, let X? be the smooth quasiprojective scheme over $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ representing the moduli functor $\mathcal{M}^{?}_{K^{q?}}$ associated to \mathscr{D} ? at level $K^{q?}$.

Lemma 10.2.5. The scheme X^{\Diamond} is proper over $\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$.

Proof. The biquaternion algebra $B_D \otimes C(V_T)$ is nonsplit by (T2). If $B_D \otimes C(V_T) = M_2(B_d)$ for some squarefree d > 1, then $\sigma(d)$ is necessarily even. By Corollary 1.3.4 combined with Propositions 1.2.4 and 1.2.12, X^{\diamond} can be identified with the canonical (smooth) integral model of the Shimura curve attached to B_d at level K^{\diamond} . The latter is well-known to be proper.

10.2.6. We have natural finite maps

(10.4) $X^{\diamondsuit} \to X^{\circ} \to X,$

defined on the level of moduli problems by

$$(A, \iota^{\diamond}, \lambda, \eta) \mapsto (A, \iota^{\diamond}|_{O_D \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}} \mathcal{O}_F}, \lambda, \eta)$$
$$(A, \iota^{\circ}, \lambda, \eta) \mapsto (A, \iota^{\circ}|_{O_D}, \lambda, g_0^q \cdot \eta).$$

Let $X^?_{\mathbb{Q}}$ denote the generic fiber of $X^?$, for $? = \diamondsuit, \circ,$ or \emptyset , and let $X^?_{\mathbb{F}_q}$ denote the special fiber.

Proposition 10.2.7. There are isomorphisms

$$X^?_{\mathbb{Q}} \cong \operatorname{Sh}_{K^?}(V^?_D)$$

for $? = \diamondsuit, \circ, \text{ or } \emptyset$, such that the generic fiber of (10.4) recovers (10.2).

Proof. This follows from the discussion in [56, \$2]; note the isomorphisms depend on our choice of *q*-adic uniformization datum in Construction 10.2.4.

10.2.8. We let O be the ring of integers of a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p , where $q \neq p$, and let $\varpi \in O$ be a uniformizer.

Lemma 10.2.9. For all *i* and for $? = \Diamond, \circ, \text{ or } \emptyset$, there are canonical $G_{\mathbb{Q}_a}$ -equivariant isomorphisms

$$(\mathrm{BC}_{X^?}) \qquad \qquad H^i_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K^?}(V_D^?)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O) \cong H^i_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^?, O) \\ H^i_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t},c}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K^?}(V_D^?)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O) \cong H^i_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t},c}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^?, O)$$

These isomorphisms commute with the actions of prime-to-q Hecke correspondences and with the pullback and pushforward maps induced by (10.4).

Proof. Let $R\Psi_{X^?}O$ denote the nearby cycles complex on $X_{\mathbb{F}_q}^?$. Since $X^?$ is smooth over $\mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$, the natural map $O \to R\Psi_{X^?}O$ is an isomorphism. On the other hand, by [57, Corollary 5.20], the base change map

$$R\Gamma_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X^?_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O) \to R\Gamma_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X^?_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, R\Psi_{X^?}O)$$

is also an isomorphism, and the lemma follows.

10.3. Unramified Rapoport-Zink spaces.

Notation 10.3.1.

(1) Recall from Remark 1.4.5(2) that our choice of *q*-adic uniformization datum in Construction 10.2.4 entails a choice of isomorphism

$$\operatorname{End}^{0}(\overline{A}_{0}, \overline{\iota}_{0})^{\dagger = 1, \operatorname{tr}=0} \xrightarrow{\sim} V_{Dq}$$

hence an inclusion $V_T \hookrightarrow V_{Dq}$. Let

$$V_{Dq}^{\diamondsuit} \coloneqq V_T^{\perp} \subset V_{Dq}$$

and

$$V_{Dq}^{\circ} = (e_1^T)^{\perp} \subset V_{Dq}.$$

- (2) For each $? = \diamondsuit, \circ, \text{ or } \emptyset$, let $\mathcal{N}^?$ denote the Rapoport-Zink space over $\operatorname{Spf} \check{\mathbb{Z}}_q$ parametrizing framed polarized deformations $(X, \iota^?, \lambda, \rho)$ of $(\overline{A}_0[q^{\infty}], \overline{\iota}_0^? \otimes \mathbb{Z}_q, \lambda_0)$, where $\overline{\iota}_0^{\diamondsuit} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_q : O_D \otimes \mathcal{O}_T \otimes \mathbb{Z}_q \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}^0(\overline{A}_0[q^{\infty}])$ is the induced embedding, and likewise for $\overline{\iota}_0^\circ, \overline{\iota}_0$. We let $\mathcal{M}^?$ denote the underlying reduced scheme of $\mathcal{N}^?$.
- (3) Let $\varphi : \mathcal{N}^? \xrightarrow{\sim} \sigma^* \mathcal{N}^?$ be the natural Weil descent datum as in (6.1.4).

10.3.2. We have natural closed embeddings

(10.5)
$$\mathcal{N}^{\diamondsuit} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{N}^{\circ} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{N}$$

compatible with the actions of

$$\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}_q) \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_q) \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$$

From the Rapoport-Zink uniformization theorem, we deduce:

Proposition 10.3.3. For each $? = \Diamond, \circ, \text{ or } \emptyset$, let $X^{ss?}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ denote the supersingular locus. Then there is a canonical isomorphism

$$X^{ss?}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q} \cong \operatorname{GSpin}(V^?_{Dq})(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V^?_{Dq})(\mathbb{A}^q_f) \times \mathcal{M}^? / K^{q?},$$

compatible with prime-to-q Hecke correspondences, Frobenius action, and the maps arising from (10.4), (10.5).

Here $K^{q?}$ is viewed as a subgroup of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V^{?}_{Da})(\mathbb{A}^{q}_{f})$ by Remark 1.4.5(2).

Proposition 10.3.4.

- (1) Each irreducible component of \mathcal{M}° or \mathcal{M} is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}^{1}_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}$; in particular, \mathcal{M}° is a union of irreducible components of \mathcal{M} .
- (2) The group $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ acts transitively on the set of irreducible components of \mathcal{M} , and the stabilizer of each component is a paramodular subgroup.
- (3) There are two $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -orbits of irreducible components of \mathcal{M} interchanged by φ , and the stabilizer of each component is a hyperspecial subgroup.
- (4) For any irreducible component $A \subset \mathcal{M}$, we have $\varphi^2(A) = (\sigma^2)^* (\langle q \rangle \cdot A)$.

Proof. See [56, §4] and [55, §4] for the structure of \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{M}° , respectively.

Notation 10.3.5.

- (1) Fix an irreducible component $\mathcal{M}(1) \subset \mathcal{M}^{\circ}$ as a basepoint, and let $K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ be the stabilizer of $\mathcal{M}(1)$.
- (2) For all $g \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq})(\mathbb{Q}_q)/K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}$, define

$$\mathcal{M}(g) \coloneqq g \cdot \mathcal{M}(1) \subset \mathcal{M}$$

By Proposition 10.3.4(2), this defines a bijection between $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq})(\mathbb{Q}_q)/K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}$ and the irreducible components of \mathcal{M} .

- (3) Let $F \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ be an element normalizing K_q^{Pa} such that $F^2 = \langle q \rangle$ and $\varphi(\mathcal{M}(g)) = \sigma^* \mathcal{M}(gF)$ for all $g \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$; such an F exists by Proposition 10.3.4(4).
- (4) Let $K_q^{\circ} := K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}} \cap \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$, which is hyperspecial by Proposition 10.3.4(3).¹¹ We also set $K^{\circ} = K^{q \circ} K_q^{\circ} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})(\mathbb{A}_f)$.

Remark 10.3.6. By Proposition 10.3.4(3), under Notation 10.3.5 the irreducible components of \mathcal{M}° are labeled by $\mathcal{M}(g)$ and $\mathcal{M}(gF)$ for $g \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dg}^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_q)/K_q^{\circ}$.

10.4. Tate classes on $X^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{a}}$.

Definition 10.4.1.

(1) We label the irreducible components of $X^{ss\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ as $B^{\circ}_{\delta}(g)$ for

$$(g,\delta) \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{Da}^{\circ}) \times \{0,1\}$$

by defining $B^{\circ}_{\delta}(g)$ to be the image of $(g^q, \mathcal{M}(g_q F^{\delta}))$ under the uniformization of Proposition 10.3.3. (2) We define the incidence map

(10.6)
$$\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}: H^2(X^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(1)) \to \bigoplus_{(g,\delta)\in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V^{\circ}_{Dq})\times\{0,1\}} H^2(B^{\circ}_{\delta}(g), O(1))$$
$$\cong O[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V^{\circ}_{Dq})]^{\oplus 2}$$

and dually

(10.7)
$$\operatorname{inc}^{\circ}_{*}: O[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})]^{\oplus 2} \cong \bigoplus_{(g,\delta)\in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\times\{0,1\}} H^{2}(B^{\circ}_{\delta}(g), O(1)) \to H^{2}_{c}(X^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(1)).$$

10.4.2. Let S° be the set of primes ℓ such that K_{ℓ}° is not hyperspecial. For the rest of this section, we shall apply the results and notations of Appendix A, with the added superscript \circ for consistency. In particular, we obtain a compact open subgroup $\widetilde{K}^{\circ} = \prod \widetilde{K}_{\ell}^{\circ} \subset C^+(V_D^{\circ})^{\times}(\mathbb{A}_f)$, where $\widetilde{K}_{\ell}^{\circ}$ is hyperspecial for $\ell \notin S^{\circ}$.

Proposition 10.4.3. The integral model X° for $\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_D^{\circ})$ extends to a smooth canonical model \widetilde{X}° over $\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}_{(q)}$ for $\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\circ}}(V_D^{\circ})$, with an open and closed embedding

(10.8)
$$X^{\circ} \hookrightarrow \widetilde{X}^{\circ}$$

extending the map on generic fibers. Moreover, the universal abelian variety on X extends naturally to \tilde{X} .

¹¹Since the subgroup $K_q^{\circ} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ from (10.1.3) is also hyperspecial, we hope this will not produce any confusion.

Proof. Under the condition (3) from Appendix A, this follows from the construction of the embedding on generic fibers in [68, Proposition 2.10, Remark 2.11]. \Box

Lemma 10.4.4. For each *i*, there are canonical $G_{\mathbb{Q}_q}$ -equivariant isomorphisms

$$(\mathrm{BC}_{\widetilde{X}^{\diamond}}) \qquad \qquad H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{\mathrm{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\diamond}}(V^{\diamond}_{D})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O) \cong H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}^{\diamond}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O) \\ H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t},c}(\widetilde{\mathrm{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\diamond}}(V^{\diamond}_{D}))_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O) \cong H^{i}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t},c}(\widetilde{X}^{\diamond}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O).$$

compatible with those of Lemma 10.2.9.

Proof. See [68, Lemma 4.4].

10.4.5. The Clifford algebra $C^+(V_{Dq}^\circ)$ is a totally definite quaternion algebra over F, whose local invariants coincide with those of $C^+(V_D^\circ)$ at all finite places; let Q^{\times} be the Q-algebraic group of units of $C^+(V_{Dq}^\circ)$. Then by [68, Theorem 3.13], we have a uniformization

(10.9)
$$\widetilde{X}^{ss\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q} \simeq Q^{\times}(\mathbb{Q}) \backslash Q^{\times}(\mathbb{A}_f^q) \times \mathcal{M}^{\circ} / \widetilde{K}^{q\circ}$$

compatible with Proposition 10.3.3 for $? = \circ$. Here $\widetilde{K}^{q\circ}$ is viewed as a compact open subgroup of $Q^{\times}(\mathbb{A}_{f}^{q})$ using the isomorphism

$$V_{Dq}^{\circ}\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{A}_{f}^{q}\simeq V_{D}^{\circ}\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{A}_{f}^{q}$$

that follows from the choice of q-adic uniformization datum, cf. Notation 10.3.1(1).

We may therefore extend $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}$ to a map $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}$ fitting into the following commutative diagram:

On the bottom right, the level subgroup is $\widetilde{K}^{\circ} = \widetilde{K}^{q\circ}\widetilde{K}^{\circ}_q$, where \widetilde{K}°_q is the unique hyperspecial subgroup of $Q^{\times}(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ containing K°_q , and by definition

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ}) = Q^{\times}(\mathbb{Q}) \backslash Q^{\times}(\mathbb{A}_f) / \widetilde{K}^{\circ}.$$

Similarly, we have a map $\widetilde{\mathrm{inc}}^{\circ}_*$ fitting into a commutative diagram

10.4.6. *Hecke actions*. Recall the local and global Hecke algebras $\mathbb{T}^{\circ}_{\ell}$, $\mathbb{\widetilde{T}}^{\circ}_{\ell}$, $\mathbb{T}^{\circ S^{\circ}}_{\ell}$, and $\mathbb{\widetilde{T}}^{\circ S^{\circ}}$ from (A.1.3). We define actions of the local Hecke algebras $\mathbb{T}^{\circ}_{q} \cong \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\circ}_{q}$ on $H^{i}_{\text{ét}}(X^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O)$, $H^{i}_{\text{ét},c}(X^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O)$, $H^{i}_{\text{ét}}(\widetilde{X}^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O)$, $H^{i}_{\text{ét}}(\widetilde{X}^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O)$, and $H^{i}_{\text{ét},c}(\widetilde{X}^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O)$ via the isomorphisms of Lemmas 10.2.9 and 10.4.4.

Lemma 10.4.7.

(1) The maps $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}$ and $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}$ are equivariant for $\mathbb{T}^{\circ S^{\circ}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\circ S^{\circ}}$, respectively.

(1

(2) The maps $\operatorname{inc}_*^\circ$ and $\operatorname{inc}_*^\circ$ are equivariant for $\mathbb{T}^{\circ S^\circ}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\circ S^\circ}$, respectively, after extending scalars to $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$.

Proof. It is clear that $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}$, $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ}$, $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ}_{*}$, and $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ}_{*}$ are equivariant for all prime-to-q Hecke operators, so it suffices to consider the action of $\mathbb{T}_q^{\circ} \cong \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_q^{\circ}$. Also, by the commutative diagrams (10.10) and (10.11), it suffices to consider $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}$ and $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ}_{*}$. The final reduction is that we may prove both statements of the lemma after extending scalars to $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, since the target of $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}$ is O-torsion-free.

Applying Lemma 10.4.4 and the étale comparison theorem, for (1) it therefore suffices to show that any map

$$H^{2}(\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\circ}}(V_{D})(\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{C}\left[\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\right]$$

which is equivariant for $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\circ S^{\circ} \cup \{q\}}$ is also equivariant for $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{q}^{\circ}$; but this is clear from the Jacquet-Langlands correspondence and strong multiplicity one for GL₂. The proof of (2) is the same.

Definition 10.4.8. Let $T_q^{\circ} \in \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_q^{\circ} \cong \mathbb{T}_q^{\circ}$ be the double coset operator represented by $\begin{pmatrix} q & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ in any basis such that $\widetilde{K}_q^{\circ} = \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_{q^2}).$

Lemma 10.4.9. (1) The composite maps

$$O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\right]^{\oplus 2} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{inc}^{\circ}_{*}} H^{2}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t},c}(X_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}^{\circ},O(1)) \to H^{2}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}^{\circ},O(1)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}} O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\right]^{\oplus 2}$$
and
$$O\left[\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\right]^{\oplus 2} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{inc}^{\circ}_{*}} H^{2}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t},c}(\widetilde{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}^{\circ},O(1)) \to H^{2}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\widetilde{X}_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}^{\circ},O(1)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}} O\left[\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\right]^{\oplus 2}$$
are both given by the matrix
$$\left(-2q \quad T^{\circ}_{q}\langle q \rangle^{-1}\right)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} -2q & T_q^\circ \langle q \rangle^{-1} \\ T_q^\circ & -2q \end{pmatrix}$$
 .

(2) The restricted map

$$\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}: (T_q^{\circ 2}\langle q \rangle^{-1} - 4q^2) H^2_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}, !}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\circ}, O(1))^{\operatorname{Frob}_q^2 = \langle q \rangle} \to O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\right]^{\oplus 2}$$

has ϖ -power-torsion kernel.

Proof. For (1), see [66, Proposition 2.21(4)]; the off-diagonal entries follow from the intersection combinatorics of \mathcal{M}° described in [55, §4]. For (2), it suffices to prove the analogous statement for $\widetilde{\mathrm{inc}}^{\circ*}$ due to the commutative diagram (10.10). Let us fix an isomorphism $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. Extending scalars to $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ and applying Lemma 10.4.7 and Proposition A.1.4, it suffices to show that

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{inc}}^{\circ*}: H^2_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}, !}(\widetilde{X}^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(1))^{\mathrm{Frob}_q^2 = \langle q \rangle}[\iota^{-1}\tau_f] \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p\left[\widetilde{\mathrm{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\right][\iota^{-1}\tau_f]^{\oplus 2}$$

is injective for all discrete automorphic representations τ of $C^+(V_D^\circ)^{\times}(\mathbb{A})$ such that

(Hecke_q)
$$T_q^{\circ 2} \langle q \rangle^{-1} - 4q^2 \neq 0 \text{ on } \tau_f^{\widetilde{K}^\circ}$$

Now note that $\operatorname{Frob}_q^2 = \langle q \rangle$ on the image of

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{inc}}^{\circ}_{*}: O\left[\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\right]^{\oplus 2} \to H^{2}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t},c}(\widetilde{X}^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(1));$$

this follows from Proposition 10.3.4(4). In particular, we have a well-defined composite map

$$\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p\left[\widetilde{\mathrm{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\diamond}}(V_{Dq}^{\diamond})\right]^{\oplus 2}\left[\iota^{-1}\tau_f\right] \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\mathrm{inc}}_*^{\diamond}} H^2_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t},!}(\widetilde{X}^{\diamond}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(1))^{\mathrm{Frob}_q^2 = \langle q \rangle}[\iota^{-1}\tau_f] \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\mathrm{inc}}^{\circ*}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p\left[\widetilde{\mathrm{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\diamond}}(V_{Dq}^{\diamond})\right]^{\oplus 2}[\iota^{-1}\tau_f],$$

given by the matrix in part (1), which is invertible by the assumption (Hecke_q).

It therefore suffices to show that

$$\dim_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p} H^2_{\text{\'et},!}(\widetilde{X}^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(1))^{\operatorname{Frob}_q^2 = \langle q \rangle}[\iota^{-1}\tau_f] \le 2 \dim \mathbb{Q}_p\left[\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\right][\iota^{-1}\tau_f]$$

for all τ satisfying (Hecke_q). This dimension count follows from [111, Proposition 2.25] when τ is cuspidal; when τ is not cuspidal, it is clear from Proposition A.1.4.

10.4.10. Consider the algebraic cycle class

(10.12)
$$[X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\diamondsuit}] \in H^2_{\text{\'et},c}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\circ}, O(1))$$

which makes sense by Lemma 10.2.5.

Lemma 10.4.11. There exists a special cycle $Z \in SC^1_{K^\circ}(V^\circ_{Da})$ such that

$$\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}([X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\diamond}]) = (Z, Z) \in O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\right].$$

Proof. Since $[X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\diamondsuit}]$ is Frobenius-invariant, it suffices to consider the first coordinate of $\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}([X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\diamondsuit}])$, which we write as $\operatorname{inc}_1^{\circ*}([X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\diamondsuit}])$. Since $\mathcal{M}^{\diamondsuit}$ is zero-dimensional, all the intersections of $X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\diamondsuit}$ with supersingular curves on $X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\circ}$ are proper. Hence $\operatorname{inc}_1^{\circ*}([X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\diamondsuit}])$ is computed by

(10.13)
$$\sum_{[(g^q, g_q)] \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D_a}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D_a}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{A}_f^q) \times \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{D_a}^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_q)/K^{\diamond q} \times K_a^{\circ}} m(g_q)[(g^q, g_q)],$$

where, for $g_q \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$, $m(g_q)$ is the degree of the divisor $\mathcal{N}^{\diamond} \cap \mathcal{M}(g_q)$ on $\mathcal{M}(g_q) \cong \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{F}_q}$. In particular, $m(g_q)$ depends only on the $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ -orbit of g_q . Moreover, $g_q \mapsto m(g_q)$ is a compactly supported function on $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}_q) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_q)$ since each point of \mathcal{M} lies on only finitely many irreducible components.¹² Hence (10.13) is a finite linear combination of special cycles

 $Z(h_q^{(i)}, V_T \cap V_{Dq}^{\circ}, V_{Dq}^{\circ})_{K^{\circ}} \in \mathbb{Z}\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})\right]$

for some elements

$$Q_q^{(i)} \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq}^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}_q) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_q)/K_q^{\circ},$$

which completes the proof.

Remark 10.4.12. It would not be difficult to make Lemma 10.4.11 more explicit, but it is unnecessary for the main results.

Theorem 10.4.13. For any $h \in \mathbb{T}_{O}^{\circ S^{\circ}}$, there exists a cycle $Z_{Dq}^{\circ} \in SC_{K^{\circ}}^{1}(V_{Dq}^{\circ}, O)$ such that

$$\operatorname{inc}^{\circ}_{*}[(Z_{Dq}^{\circ}, Z_{Dq}^{\circ})] - (T_{q}^{\circ 2} - 4q^{2} \langle q \rangle)^{2} h[X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}^{\Diamond}] \in H^{2}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}, c}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}^{\circ}, O(1))$$

has ϖ -power-torsion image in $H^2_{\text{ét},!}(X^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_a}, O(1))$.

ł

Proof. Let $Z \in SC^1_{K^\circ}(V_{Da}^\circ)$ be the special cycle in Lemma 10.4.11, so that

$$\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}([X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{\diamondsuit}]) = (Z, Z),$$

and define

$$Z_{Dq}^{\circ} \coloneqq (T_q^{\circ 2} - 4q^2 \langle q \rangle) \cdot (T_q^{\circ} + 2q) \cdot h \cdot Z \in \mathrm{SC}^1_{K^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ}, O).$$

¹²One can see this using that \mathcal{M} is locally of finite type over $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$, or more concretely from [55, §4].

By Lemma 10.4.9(2), it suffices to show that

(10.14)
$$\operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}\operatorname{inc}^{\circ}_{*}[(Z_{Dq}^{\circ}, Z_{Dq}^{\circ})] = \operatorname{inc}^{\circ*}(T_{q}^{\circ2} - 4q^{2}\langle q \rangle)^{2}h[X_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}^{\diamond}].$$

By Lemmas 10.4.9(1) and 10.4.7, the left-hand side of (10.14) is

$$(T_q^{\circ 2} - 4q^2 \langle q \rangle) \cdot (T_q^{\circ} + 2q) \cdot h \cdot \begin{pmatrix} -2q & T_q^{\circ} \langle q \rangle^{-1} \\ T_q^{\circ} & -2q \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} Z \\ Z \end{pmatrix} = (T_q^{\circ 2} - 4q^2 \langle q \rangle)^2 \cdot h \cdot \begin{pmatrix} Z \\ Z \end{pmatrix}$$

because the Hecke operator $\langle q \rangle$ acts trivially on special cycles. This coincides with the right-hand side of (10.14) by Lemma 10.4.7 and the definition of Z, so the proof is complete.

10.5. Pushing forward from X° to X.

10.5.1. Now let S be a finite set of primes of \mathbb{Q} such that K_{ℓ} is hyperspecial for $\ell \notin S$, and let $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S \cup \{q\}}$ be a generic, non-Eisenstein maximal ideal.

Notation 10.5.2. We denote by *j* the closed embedding $X^{\circ} \hookrightarrow X$ of (10.4).

Notation 10.5.3. Let

$$\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m},\mathbb{F}_q} : \mathrm{CH}^2(X_{\mathbb{F}_q}) \to H^1(\mathbb{F}_q, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}})$$

denote the local Abel-Jacobi map constructed analogously to (4.4.2).

Lemma 10.5.4. The composite map

$$\operatorname{CH}^{1}(X_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}^{\circ}) \xrightarrow{j_{*}} \operatorname{CH}^{2}(X_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\operatorname{AJ},\mathfrak{m},\mathbb{F}_{q}}} H^{1}(\mathbb{F}_{q}, H^{3}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}})$$

factors through the specialization map

$$H^2(X^{\circ}_{\mathbb{F}_q}, O(1)) \to H^2(X^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(1))^{\operatorname{Frob}_q=1}.$$

Proof. For any variety Y defined over \mathbb{F}_q , we have the Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence:

(10.15)
$$E_2^{i,j} = H^i(\mathbb{F}_q, H^j_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(n)) \implies H^{i+j}_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Y, O(n)), \ \forall n \in \mathbb{Z}$$

Since \mathbb{F}_q has cohomological dimension one, it follows immediately that the map

$$H^{i}(Y, O(n)) \to H^{i}(Y_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(n))^{\operatorname{Frob}_{q}=1}$$

is surjective. Let $H^i(Y, O(n))^0 \subset H^i(Y, O(n))$ be the kernel of this map, and let

$$\partial: H^i(Y, O(n))^0 \to H^1(\mathbb{F}_q, H^{i-1}(Y_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(n)))$$

be the edge map from (10.15).

It then suffices to show that the map

$$H^{2}(X^{\circ}_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}, O(1)) \xrightarrow{j_{*}} H^{4}(X_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}, O(2)) \xrightarrow{\partial} H^{1}(\mathbb{F}_{q}, H^{3}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}})$$

factors through the surjection $H^2(X^{\circ}_{\mathbb{F}_q}, O(1)) \twoheadrightarrow H^2(X^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(1))^{\operatorname{Frob}_q=1}$, i.e. is trivial on $H^2(X^{\circ}_{\mathbb{F}_q}, O(1))^0$.

Consider the commutative diagram arising from the functoriality of (10.15):

$$\begin{split} H^2_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X^{\circ}_{\mathbb{F}_q},O(1))^0 & \xrightarrow{\partial} H^1(\mathbb{F}_q,H^1_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q},O(1))) \\ & \downarrow^{j_*} & \downarrow^{j_*} \\ H^4_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\mathbb{F}_q},O(2))^0 & \xrightarrow{\partial} H^1(\mathbb{F}_q,H^3_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q},O(2))) \\ & \downarrow^{\text{loc}_{\mathfrak{m}}} & \downarrow^{\text{loc}_{\mathfrak{m}}} \\ H^4_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\mathbb{F}_q},O(2))^0_{\mathfrak{m}} & \xrightarrow{\partial} H^1(\mathbb{F}_q,H^3_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q},O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}). \end{split}$$

Now note that the composite map

$$H^1_{\text{\'et}}(X^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(1)) \xrightarrow{j_*} H^3_{\text{\'et}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(1)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{loc}_{\mathfrak{m}}} H^3_{\text{\'et}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(1))_{\mathfrak{m}}$$

is identically zero: indeed, the source is ϖ -power-torsion by [73, Chapter IX, Corollary 7.15(iii)], and the target is ϖ -torsion-free by Theorem 2.7.5(2). In particular, the composite from the top left to the bottom right of the commutative diagram vanishes, which proves the lemma.

10.5.5. We now construct a map

$$\partial_{ss,\mathfrak{m}}: O[\mathrm{Sh}_{K^q K^{\mathrm{Pa}}_q}(V_{Dq})]_{\mathfrak{m}} \to H^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}})$$

in several steps.

Construction 10.5.6. Assume $\langle q \rangle = 1$ in $\mathbb{T}^{S}_{K,V_{D},O,\mathfrak{m}}$.

- (1) For $g \in \text{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\text{Pa}}}(V_{Dq})$, let $B(g) \subset X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}^{ss}$ be the image of $(g^q, \mathcal{M}(g_q))$ under the uniformization of Proposition 10.3.3.
- (2) Define an action of Frob_q on $\operatorname{Sh}_{K^qK_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{Dq})$ by $g \mapsto gF$. Then using Proposition 10.3.4(4), we obtain a map

$$O[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{Dq})]^{\operatorname{Frob}_q=1} \to \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\mathbb{F}_q}, O).$$

(3) By our assumption $\langle q \rangle = 1,$ the natural map gives an isomorphism

$$O[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{Dq})]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\operatorname{Frob}_q^2=1} \xrightarrow{\sim} O[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^q K_q^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{Dq})]_{\mathfrak{m}}.$$

(4) Finally, we define the map

$$\partial_{ss,\mathfrak{m}}: O[\mathrm{Sh}_{K^{q}K^{\mathrm{Pa}}_{q}}(V_{Dq})]_{\mathfrak{m}} \to H^{1}(\mathbb{F}_{q}, H^{3}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Sh}_{K}(V_{D})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}})$$

to be the composite

$$O[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{Dq})]_{\mathfrak{m}} \xrightarrow{(3)^{-1}} O[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{Dq})]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\operatorname{Frob}_{q}^{2}=1} \xrightarrow{[g] \mapsto [g] + [gF]} O[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{Dq})]_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\operatorname{Frob}_{q}=1} \xrightarrow{(2)} \operatorname{CH}^{2}(X_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}, O)_{\mathfrak{m}} \xrightarrow{\partial_{\operatorname{AJ},\mathbb{F}_{q},\mathfrak{m}}} H^{1}(\mathbb{F}_{q}, H^{3}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{1}_{\operatorname{BC}_{X}} H^{1}_{\operatorname{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, H^{3}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}).$$

Theorem 10.5.7. Suppose $\mathfrak{m} \subset \mathbb{T}_{O}^{S \cup \{q\}}$ satisfies:

- (1) \mathfrak{m} is non-Eisenstein and generic.
- (2) $\langle q \rangle = 1$ in $\mathbb{T}^{S}_{K,V_{D},O,\mathfrak{m}}$.

Let $h \in \mathbb{T}_{O}^{\circ S^{\circ}}$ be any element, and let $C \geq 0$ be an integer such that ϖ^{C} annihilates the ϖ -power-torsion in $H^{2}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}^{\circ}, O(1))$. Then there exists a special cycle

$$Z_{Dq} \in \mathrm{SC}^2_K(V_{Dq}, O)$$

such that

$$\overline{\omega}^C \cdot \operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{Q}_q} \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} \left(j_* \left((T_q^{\circ 2} - 4q^2 \langle q \rangle)^2 \cdot h \cdot [X^{\diamond}] \right) \right) = \overline{\omega}^C \cdot \partial_{ss,\mathfrak{m}} (Z_{Dq}) \in H^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, H^3_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}).$$

Proof. Let

$$\overline{j}: \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ}) \xrightarrow{\cdot g_{0}^{q}} \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{Dq})$$

be the natural map, induced by the embedding $V_{Dq}^{\circ} \hookrightarrow V_{Dq}$ from Notation 10.3.1(1). In particular, we have

(10.16)
$$j(B^{\circ}_{\delta}(g)) = B(\overline{j}(g)F^{\delta}), \quad (g,\delta) \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V^{\circ}_{Dq}) \times \{0,1\}.$$

Then we take

$$Z_{Dq}^{\circ} = \sum_{g \in \operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{Dq}^{\circ})} n(g)[g] \in \operatorname{SC}_{K^{\circ}}^{1}(V_{Dq}^{\circ}, O)$$

to be the special cycle provided by Theorem 10.4.13, and let

$$Z_{Dq} = \overline{j} \left(Z_{Dq}^{\circ} \right) \in \mathrm{SC}_{K}^{2}(V_{Dq}, O)$$

be the pushforward. If we let

$$\mathrm{cl}^{\circ}_{ss}(Z^{\circ}_{Dq}) = \sum_{g \in \mathrm{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V^{\circ}_{Dq})} n(g) \left([B^{\circ}_{0}(g)] + [B^{\circ}_{1}(g)] \right) \in \mathrm{CH}^{1}(X^{\circ}_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}, O),$$

then by (10.16),

$$\partial_{ss,\mathfrak{m}}(Z_{Dq}) = \mathrm{BC}_X\left(\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m},\mathbb{F}_q} j_* \operatorname{cl}^{\circ}_{ss}(Z_{Dq}^{\circ})\right) \in H^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, H^3(X_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}).$$

In light of Lemma 10.5.4 and the local-global compatibility of the Abel-Jacobi map, it then suffices to show that

$$\mathrm{cl}_{ss}^{\circ}(Z_{Dq}^{\circ}) - (T_{q}^{\circ 2} - 4q^{2}\langle q \rangle)^{2} \cdot h \cdot [X_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}^{\diamondsuit}] \in \mathrm{CH}^{1}(X_{\mathbb{F}_{q}}^{\circ})$$

has ϖ -power-torsion image in $H^2_{\text{ét}}(X^{\circ}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}, O(1))$. But this is precisely the content of Theorem 10.4.13.

10.5.8. Now let π , S, and E_0 be as in Notation 4.0.1, and let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of E_0 satisfying Assumption 4.1.1. We set $\mathfrak{m} := \mathfrak{m}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ as usual.

Corollary 10.5.9. Suppose $q \nmid D$ is n-admissible and K is an S-tidy level structure for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$. Then for any $\alpha \in \operatorname{Test}_K(V_D, \pi, O/\varpi^n)$ and any $h \in \mathbb{T}_O^{\circ S^\circ}$,

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\lambda_{n}^{D}(q) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\operatorname{loc}_{q}\circ\alpha_{*}\circ\partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}\left(j_{*}\left((T_{q}^{\circ2}-4q^{2}\langle q\rangle)^{2}\cdot h\cdot[X^{\Diamond}]\right)\right)-C,$$

where C is a constant independent of n and q.

Proof. Recall the conditions on \mathfrak{m} from Theorem 10.5.7 are satisfied by Lemmas 4.1.7 and 4.3.2. Let α' be the composite map

$$O\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{q}K_{q}^{\operatorname{Pa}}}(V_{Dq})\right]_{\mathfrak{m}} \xrightarrow{\partial_{ss,\mathfrak{m}}} H^{1}_{\operatorname{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, H^{3}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V_{D})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}}) \xrightarrow{\alpha_{*}} H^{1}_{\operatorname{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, T_{\pi,n}) \simeq O/\varpi^{n},$$

where the last isomorphism is from Proposition 4.2.8. Then $\lambda_n^D(q)$ contains $\alpha'(Z_{Dq})$, where $Z_{Dq} \in \mathrm{SC}^2_K(V_{Dq}, O)$ is the cycle from Theorem 10.5.7, and the corollary follows.

11. Second explicit reciprocity law

The goal of this section is to prove Theorem 11.2.6 below.

- 11.1. Setup and notation. Let π , S, and E_0 be as in Notation 4.0.1, and fix the following data:
 - A prime p of E_0 satisfying Assumption 4.1.1, with residue characteristic p.
 - A squarefree product $D \ge 1$ of primes in S, with $\sigma(D)$ even.
 - An S-tidy level structure K for $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)$.
 - A Schwartz function $\varphi = \bigotimes_{\ell}' \varphi_{\ell} \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, O)^K$.
- 11.1.1. For all $\ell \notin S$, let $L_{\ell} \subset V_D \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ be the unique self-dual lattice stabilized by K_{ℓ} .

11.2. Modifying the test function. In several steps, we now construct a new Schwartz function φ' which coincides with φ at cofinitely many primes.

Construction 11.2.1.

- (1) Label the finitely many imaginary quadratic fields contained in $\rho_{\pi} = \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ as E_1, \ldots, E_s for some $s \ge 0$.
- (2) For each $1 \le i \le s$, fix an odd prime $\ell_i \notin S \cup \{p, \ell_1, \dots, \ell_{i-1}\}$ inert in E_i such that $\rho_{\pi}(\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell_i})$ has distinct eigenvalues (possible *a fortiori* by Assumption 4.1.1(2)).
- (3) Let

$$X_{\ell_i} = \left\{ (x, y) \in V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i} : x \cdot x \in (\mathbb{Z}_{\ell_i}^\times)^2, \, x \cdot y \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ell_i}, \, y \cdot y \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ell_i}^\times - (\mathbb{Z}_{\ell_i}^\times)^2 \right\}.$$

(4) We define a test function

$$\varphi'_{\ell_i} = (\ell_i + 1) \cdot \mathbb{1}_{\left\{ (x, y) \in L^2_{\ell_i} \cap X_{\ell_i} \right\}} + \mathbb{1}_{\left\{ (x, y) \in L_{\ell_i} \times (\ell_i^{-1} L - L_{\ell_i}) \cap X_{\ell_i} \right\}} \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i}, \mathbb{Z})^{K_{\ell_i}}.$$

- (5) Now fix a prime $\ell_0 \notin S \cup \{p, \ell_1, \dots, \ell_s\}$ such that $\rho_{\pi}(\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell_0})$ has distinct eigenvalues.
- (6) Let

$$\varphi'_{\ell_0} \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell_0}, \mathbb{Z})^{K_{\ell_0}}$$

be the indicator function of the set

$$\left\{ (x,y) \in L^2_{\ell_0} \, : \, x \cdot x \in \mathbb{Z}^{\times}_{\ell_0} - (\mathbb{Z}^{\times}_{\ell_0})^2, \, x \cdot y \in \ell_0 \mathbb{Z}_{\ell_0}, \, y \cdot y \in \ell_0 \mathbb{Z}^{\times}_{\ell_0} \right\}$$

(7) Finally, we define

$$\varphi' \coloneqq \bigotimes_{\ell \neq \ell_i} \varphi_\ell \otimes \bigotimes_{i=0}^{\circ} \varphi'_{\ell_i} \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^2 \otimes \mathbb{A}_f, O)^K.$$

Lemma 11.2.2. Suppose $\kappa^D(1,\varphi;K) \neq 0$. Then there exists a test function $\alpha \in \text{Test}_K(V_D,\pi,O)$ and a matrix $T \in \text{Sym}_2(\mathbb{Q})_{>0}$ satisfying (T1) and (T2) of (10.1.1) such that

$$\alpha_* \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} \left(Z(T,\varphi')_K \right) \neq 0.$$

Moreover, for all $1 \leq i \leq s$, ℓ_i *is split in the quadratic field* $F \coloneqq \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{T_{11}})$ *and* T *lies in* $\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_{(\ell_i)})$.

Proof. Repeatedly applying Corollary 5.6.6, we conclude $\kappa^D(1, \varphi'; K) \neq 0$; i.e., there exists $T \in \text{Sym}_2(\mathbb{Q})_{\geq 0}$ and $\alpha \in \text{Test}_K(V_D, \pi, O)$ such that

$$\alpha_* \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} \left(Z(T,\varphi')_K \right) \neq 0$$

By definition of $Z(T, \varphi')_K$, it follows that, for all $0 \le i \le s$, there exists $x, y \in \Omega_{T,V_D}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i})$ such that $\varphi'_{\ell_i}(x, y) \ne 0$. Now the choice of φ'_{ℓ_0} implies that T is positive definite, T_{11} is not a rational square, and the quadratic space defined by T has nontrivial Hasse invariant at $\ell_0 \nmid D$, and this proves the first claim of the lemma. Similarly, for each $1 \le i \le s$, ℓ_i is split in F and T lies in $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_{(\ell_i)})$ by the choice of φ'_{ℓ_i} .

11.2.3. We will now assume $\kappa^D(1,\varphi;K) \neq 0$, and fix α and T satisfying the conclusion of Lemma 11.2.2. We choose a base point $(e_1^T, e_2^T) \in \Omega_{T,V_D}(\mathbb{Q})$ such that $e_1^T, e_2^T \in L_{\ell_i}$ for all $1 \leq i \leq s$ (possible by the last point of Lemma 11.2.2), and we adopt the setup of §10 for this choice of T, (e_1^T, e_2^T) , and K; the choice of g_0 is postponed to Proposition 11.2.5.

Definition 11.2.4. For each ℓ split in F and each hyperspecial subgroup $K_{\ell}^{\circ} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$, we define a Hecke operator $T_{\ell}^{\circ} \in \mathbb{T}_{\ell}^{\circ}$ as follows. Choose an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^\circ)(\mathbb{Q}_\ell) \simeq G_\ell \coloneqq \{(g_1, g_2) \in \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Q}_\ell) \times \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Q}_\ell) : \det g_1 = \det g_2\}$$

mapping K_{ℓ}° to $G_{\ell} \cap (\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}) \times \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}))$. Then T_{ℓ}° is the double coset operator represented by

$$\left(\begin{pmatrix} \ell & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \ell & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \right) \in G_{\ell}.$$

Proposition 11.2.5. There exists an element $g_0 \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f^{\{\ell_1,\ldots,\ell_s\}})$ such that, adopting the notation of (10.1.3) for this choice of g_0 :

- (1) The compact open subgroups $K_{\ell_i}^{\circ} \subset \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i})$ are hyperspecial for $1 \leq i \leq s$.
- (2) We have

$$\alpha_* \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} j_* \left(\prod_{i=1}^s T^{\circ}_{\ell_i} \cdot [\mathrm{Sh}_{K^{\diamond}}(V^{\diamond}_D)] \right) \neq 0,$$

where $[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\diamond}}(V_D^{\diamond})] \in \operatorname{CH}^1(\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\diamond}}(V_D^{\diamond}))$ is the class of the cycle from (10.2).

Proof. By definition of $Z(T, \varphi')_K$ and the assumption $\alpha \circ \partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(Z(T, \varphi')_K) \neq 0$, there exists $g_0 \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f^{\{\ell_1,\ldots,\ell_s\}})$ such that

(11.1)
$$Z \coloneqq \sum_{g = \prod g_{\ell_i} \in \prod_{i=1}^s \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^{\diamond})(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i})/K_{\ell_i}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^s \varphi_{\ell_i}'(g_{\ell_i}^{-1} \cdot (e_1^T, e_2^T)) \right) \cdot Z(g_0 g, V_T, V_D)_K$$

satisfies $\alpha_*\partial_{AJ,\mathfrak{m}}(Z) \neq 0$. We will check the claimed properties for this choice of g_0 . First, if $\varphi'_{\ell_i}(g_{\ell_i}^{-1}(e_1^T, e_2^T)) \neq 0$, then $g_{\ell_i}^{-1}e_1^T \cdot g_{\ell_i}^{-1}e_1^T = e_1^T \cdot e_1^T \in \mathbb{Z}_{(\ell_i)}^{\times}$, so in particular

$$L_{\ell_i} \cap \mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i} g_{\ell_i}^{-1} e_1^T = \mathbb{Z}_{\ell_i} g_{\ell_i}^{-1} e_1^T.$$

On the other hand, we chose (e_1^T, e_2^T) so that $L_{\ell_i} \cap e_1^T = \mathbb{Z}_{\ell_i} e_1^T$. Hence by Proposition 3.1.8, we have $g_{\ell_i} \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^\circ)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i}) \cdot K_{\ell_i}$. In particular, we can rewrite (11.1) as

$$Z = \sum_{g = \prod g_{\ell_i} \in \prod_{i=1}^s \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^\circ)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^\circ)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i})/K_{\ell_i} \cap \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^\circ)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i})} \prod_{i=1}^s \varphi_{\ell_i}'(g_{\ell_i}^{-1}(e_1^T, e_2^T)) \cdot Z(g_0g, V_T, V_D)_K$$
$$= \sum_{g = \prod g_{\ell_i} \in \prod_{i=1}^s \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^\circ)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i}) \setminus \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^\circ)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i})/K_{\ell_i} \cap \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^\circ)(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i})} \prod_{i=1}^s \varphi_{\ell_i}'(g_{\ell_i}^{-1}(e_1^T, e_2^T)) \cdot j_* Z(g, V_T \cap V_D^\circ, V_D^\circ)_{K^\circ}$$

NAOMI SWEETING

Again because $e_1^T \cdot e_1^T \in \mathbb{Z}_{(\ell_i)}^{\times}$, $L^{\circ} \coloneqq L_{\ell_i} \cap (V_D^{\circ} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i})$ is self-dual, and so its stabilizer $K_{\ell_i}^{\circ} \coloneqq K_{\ell_i} \cap \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i})$ in $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i})$ is hyperspecial, which proves (1). To prove (2), by definition we have

(11.3)

$$\varphi_{\ell_{i}}'(e_{1}^{T}, g_{\ell_{i}}^{-1}e_{2}^{T}) = \begin{cases} \ell_{i} + 1, & g_{\ell_{i}}^{-1}e_{2}^{T} \in L_{\ell_{i}}, \\ 1, & g_{\ell_{i}}^{-1}e_{2}^{T} \in \ell_{i}^{-1}L_{\ell_{i}} - L_{\ell_{i}}, \\ 0, & g_{\ell_{i}}^{-1}e_{2}^{T} \notin \ell_{i}^{-1}L_{\ell_{i}} \end{cases} \\
= \begin{cases} \ell_{i} + 1, & g_{\ell_{i}}^{-1}e_{2} \in L^{\circ}, \\ 1, & g_{\ell_{i}}^{-1}e_{2} \in \ell_{i}^{-1}L^{\circ} - L^{\circ}, \\ 0, & g_{\ell_{i}}^{-1}e_{2} \notin \ell_{i}^{-1}L^{\circ}, \end{cases}$$

where

$$e_2 \coloneqq e_2^T - \frac{e_2^T \cdot e_1^T}{e_1^T \cdot e_1^T} e_1^T \in V_D^{\circ}.$$

Note that $e_2 \cdot e_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_{(\ell_i)}^{\times}$ because, for $(e_1^T, g_{\ell_i}^{-1} e_2^T)$ to lie in the support of φ'_{ℓ_i} , we automatically have $e_1^T \cdot e_1^T \in \mathbb{Z}_{(\ell_i)}^{\times} - (\mathbb{Z}_{\ell_i}^{\times})^2, e_1^T \cdot e_2^T \in \mathbb{Z}_{(\ell_i)}$, and $e_2^T \cdot e_2^T \in \mathbb{Z}_{(\ell_i)}^{\times} \cap (\mathbb{Z}_{\ell_i}^{\times})^2$.

Let $\varphi_{\ell_i}^{\circ} \in \mathcal{S}(V_D^{\circ} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i}, \mathbb{Z})^{K_{\ell_i}^{\circ}}$ be the indicator function of L° ; by our specification $e_2^T \in L_{\ell_i}$ and Proposition 3.1.8, we see that $\varphi_{\ell_i}^{\circ}(g_{\ell_i}^{-1}e_2)$ is the indicator function of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^{\circ})(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i}) \cdot K_{\ell_i}^{\circ}$. The proposition therefore follows from (11.2), (11.3), and the following:

Claim. When restricted to $\left\{ y \in V_D^\circ \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i} : y \cdot y \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ell_i}^{\times} \right\}$, we have $T_{\ell_i}^\circ \cdot \varphi_{\ell_i}^\circ = (\ell_i + 1)\varphi_{\ell_i}^\circ + \mathbb{1}_{\ell_i^{-1}L^\circ - L^\circ}$.

To prove the claim, observe first that

$$T^{\circ}_{\ell_i} \cdot \varphi^{\circ}_{\ell_i} = \sum_{L' \sim L^{\circ}} \mathbb{1}_{L'},$$

where L' runs over self-dual lattices in $V_D^{\circ} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i}$ such that

(11.4)
$$\ell_i L^\circ \subset_1 \ell_i L' + \ell_i L^\circ \subset_2 L' \cap L^\circ \subset_1 L^\circ.$$

Note that such a chain (11.4) uniquely determines L' because L' and L° correspond to the two isotropic lines in the split two-dimensional \mathbb{F}_{ℓ_i} -space $L^{\circ} + L'/L^{\circ} \cap L'$. We can also write the chain (11.4) as

(11.5)
$$\ell_i L^\circ \subset_1 L_1 \subset_2 L_1^\vee \subset_1 L^\circ,$$

i.e. such chains correspond bijectively to isotropic lines $L_1/\ell_i L^\circ$ in the \mathbb{F}_{ℓ_i} -quadratic space $L^\circ/\ell_i L^\circ$.

Now for any $y \in V_D^{\circ} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell_i}$ with $y \cdot y \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ell_i}^{\times}$, we wish to calculate

$$T^{\circ}_{\ell_i} \cdot \varphi^{\circ}_{\ell_i}(y) = \# \left\{ L' \sim L^{\circ} : y \in L' \right\}.$$

If $y \in L^{\circ}$, then the choices of L' correspond to isotropic lines orthogonal to y in the four-dimensional \mathbb{F}_{ℓ_i} -space $L^{\circ}/\ell_i L^{\circ}$; there are $\ell_i + 1$ such lines because $y^{\perp} \subset L^{\circ}/\ell_i L^{\circ}$ is a non-degenerate three-dimensional \mathbb{F}_{ℓ_i} -space. Hence $T^{\circ}_{\ell_i} \cdot \varphi^{\circ}_{\ell_i}(y) = \ell_i + 1$ for $y \in L^{\circ}$.

On the other hand, since any $L' \sim L^{\circ}$ is contained in $\ell_i^{-1}L^{\circ}$, if $T_{\ell_i}^{\circ} \cdot \varphi_{\ell_i}^{\circ}(y) \neq 0$ we must have $y \in \ell_i^{-1}L^{\circ}$. So suppose $y \in \ell_i^{-1}L^{\circ} - L^{\circ}$. Now, lattices $L' \sim L^{\circ}$ with $y \in L'$ (equivalently $\ell_i y \in \ell_i L'$) are in bijection with chains (11.5) satisfying $\ell_i y \in L_1$; since $\ell_i y \notin \ell_i L^{\circ}$, the unique such chain is given by $L_1 = \ell_i L^{\circ} + \ell_i y$, and this makes sense because $\ell_i y$ is isotropic in $L^{\circ}/\ell_i L^{\circ}$. We therefore conclude that $T_{\ell_i}^{\circ} \cdot \varphi_{\ell_i}^{\circ}(y) = 1$ for $y \in \ell_i^{-1} L^{\circ} - L^{\circ}$, which completes the proof of the claim.

Theorem 11.2.6. Suppose π is non-endoscopic, $\kappa^D(1) \neq 0$, and admissible primes exist for ρ_{π} . Then there exists a constant $C \geq 0$ such that, for all N, there exist infinitely many admissible primes q with $n(q) \geq N$,

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q} \kappa_{n(q)}^{D}(1) \ge n(q) - C,$$

and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \lambda_{n(q)}^{D}(q) \ge n(q) - C.$$

Proof. Since $\kappa^D(1) \neq 0$, we can choose the data φ and K in the beginning of this section so that $\kappa^D(1,\varphi;K) \neq 0$ (where K can be made S-tidy by Lemma 4.4.7). Then fix $g_0 \in \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D)(\mathbb{A}_f^{\{\ell_1,\ldots,\ell_s\}})$ as in Proposition 11.2.5, so that

(11.6)
$$\alpha_* \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} j_* \left(\prod_{i=1}^s T^{\circ}_{\ell_i} \left[\mathrm{Sh}_{K^{\diamond}}(V^{\diamond}_D) \right] \right) \neq 0;$$

equivalently, by Lemma 4.1.6, (11.6) is non-torsion. Let S° be the set of primes ℓ such that K_{ℓ}° is not hyperspecial. Without loss of generality, we may replace O by a finite extension such that all the eigenvalues of $\mathbb{T}_{O}^{\circ S^{\circ}}$ acting on $H_{\text{ét}}^{2}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{D}^{\circ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p})$ lie in O; let $h_{1}, \ldots, h_{m} : \mathbb{T}_{O}^{\circ S^{\circ}} \to O$ be the finitely many characters that appear in the action on $H_{\text{ét},!}^{2}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{D}^{\circ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}(1))^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}$, cf. Corollary A.2.2. Then we may choose elements $h_{j} \in \mathbb{T}_{O}^{\circ S^{\circ}}$ such that $\mathbb{T}_{O}^{\circ S^{\circ}}$ acts on $h_{j}H_{\text{ét},!}^{2}(\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{D}^{\circ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}(1))^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}$ through h_{j} , and moreover

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} h_j = \varpi^{C_0} \text{ on } H^2_{\text{\'et},!}(\text{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_D^{\circ})_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(1))^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}$$

for a constant $C_0 \ge 0$. In particular, by Lemma 10.5.4 and Proposition 11.2.5,

$$c \coloneqq \alpha \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} j_* \left(h_j \cdot \left(\prod_{i=1}^s T^{\circ}_{\ell_i} \right) [\mathrm{Sh}_{K^{\diamond}}(V^{\diamond}_D)] \right)$$

is non-torsion for some $1 \leq j \leq m$. Write $h \coloneqq h_j$ and $h \coloneqq h_j$. Let us fix an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. By Corollary A.2.2, we are in one of the following two cases:

Case 1. The character $\iota \circ h$ is given by the action of $\mathbb{T}^{\circ S^\circ}$ on a global newform in an automorphic representation σ of $B_F(\mathbb{A}_F)^{\times}$ unramified outside primes above S° . Moreover $JL(\sigma) = BC_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\sigma_0) \otimes \chi$ where σ_0 is a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ of weight 2 and χ is a finite order character of $F^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}$.

Case 2. The character $\iota \circ h$ is given by the action of $\mathbb{T}^{\circ S^{\circ}}$ on the automorphic representation $\chi_0 \circ \nu$, where $\nu : \operatorname{GSpin}(V_D^{\circ}) \to \mathbb{G}_m$ is the restriction of the norm character in (A.1.1) and χ_0 is a quadratic character of $\mathbb{Q}^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}^{\times} / \nu(K^{\circ})$.

Claim 1. In Case 1, σ_0 does not have CM by any imaginary quadratic field $K_0 \subset F(\rho_{\pi})$.

Proof of claim 1. If so, then $K_0 \neq F$, and K_0 is contained in the compositum of F and one of the quadratic fields $E_i \subset \mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})$ from Construction 11.2.1; in particular, since ℓ_i is inert in K_i but split in F by Lemma 11.2.2, ℓ_i is inert in K_0 . It follows that tr $\rho_{\sigma,\iota}(\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell_i}) = 0$. On the other hand, it is not difficult to compute using the Satake transform and Theorem 2.2.1(1) that

$$T_{\ell_i}^{\circ} = \operatorname{tr} \rho_{\sigma,\iota}(\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell_i}) \cdot \operatorname{tr} \rho_{\sigma,\iota}(\tau \operatorname{Frob}_{\ell_i} \tau^{-1})$$

on a local newform in σ_{ℓ_i} , where $\tau \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ projects to the nontrivial element of $\operatorname{Gal}(F/\mathbb{Q})$. Hence $h \cdot T^{\circ}_{\ell_i} = h(T^{\circ}_{\ell_i}) \cdot h = 0$, which contradicts the nontriviality of c.

Now fix an element $g \in \operatorname{Gal}(F(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q})$ such that:

- (1) g is admissible for ρ_{π} and has nontrivial image in $\operatorname{Gal}(F/\mathbb{Q})$.
- (2) c(g) has nonzero component in the 1-eigenspace for g for any cocycle representative of c.
- (3) In Case 1 above, $\rho_{\sigma_0,\iota}(g^2)$ has distinct eigenvalues.

This is possible by Proposition C.5.3 because c is nontorsion. Now fix constants $C_1, C_2, C_3 \ge 0$ such that:

NAOMI SWEETING

- (1) The component of c(g) in the 1-eigenspace for g is nonzero modulo ϖ^{C_1} .
- (2) In Case 1 above, $\operatorname{tr}(\rho_{\sigma,\iota}(g^2)) 4 \det \rho_{\sigma,\iota}(g^2) \neq 0 \pmod{\varpi^{C_2}}$. In Case 2, $C_2 = 0$.

(3) ϖ^{C_3} annihilates the *O*-torsion in $H^2_{\text{ét.}!}(\text{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_D^{\circ})_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}}, O)$.

Now fix $N \ge C_1 + C_2 + C_3$ and let $c_N \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,N})$ be the reduction of c modulo ϖ^N . All but finitely many primes with Frobenius conjugate to g in $\operatorname{Gal}(F(T_{\pi,N}, c_N)/\mathbb{Q})$ are N-admissible and satisfy Assumption 10.2.1; let q be one such and abbreviate $n \coloneqq n(q) \ge N$. If $\alpha_n \in \operatorname{Test}_K(V_D, \pi, \mathcal{O}/\varpi^n)$ is the image of α , then:

(11.7)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q} \alpha_{n,*} \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}} j_{*} \left(h \cdot \left(\prod_{i=1}^{s} T_{\ell_{i}}^{\circ} \right) [\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\diamond}}(V_{D}^{\diamond})] \right) \geq n - C_{1}.$$

We have:

Claim 2. $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} h(T_q^{\circ 2} - 4q^2 \langle q \rangle) \leq C_2.$

Proof of Claim 2. In Case 1, we have

$$\boldsymbol{h}(T_q^{\circ 2} - 4q^2 \langle q \rangle) = \operatorname{tr} \rho_{\sigma,\iota}(\operatorname{Frob}_q^2) - 4 \det \rho_{\sigma,\iota}(\operatorname{Frob}_q^2) \equiv \operatorname{tr} \rho_{\sigma,\iota}(g^2) - 4 \det \rho_{\sigma,\iota}(g^2) \pmod{\varpi^n},$$

so this follows from the choice of C_2 . In Case 2, we have $h(T_q^\circ) = (q^2 + 1)\chi_0(\langle q \rangle)$ and $h(\langle q \rangle) = \chi_0(\langle q \rangle)$, so $h(T_q^{\circ 2} - 4q^2 \langle q \rangle) = (q^2 - 1)^2 \chi_0(\langle q \rangle)$, which is a ϖ -adic unit because q is admissible.

Now, by Corollary 10.5.9 we have

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\lambda_{n}^{D}(q) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\operatorname{loc}_{q}\alpha_{n,*} \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}j_{*}\left((T_{q}^{\circ 2} - 4q^{2}\langle q \rangle)h\left(\prod_{i=1}^{s}T_{\ell_{i}}^{\circ}\right)\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{D}^{\circ})\right]\right) - C_{3}$$
$$= \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\operatorname{loc}_{q}\alpha_{n,*} \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}j_{*}\left(h(T_{q}^{\circ 2} - 4q^{2}\langle q \rangle)h\left(\prod_{i=1}^{s}T_{\ell_{i}}^{\circ}\right)\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{D}^{\circ})\right]\right) - C_{3}$$
$$\geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\operatorname{loc}_{q}\alpha_{n,*} \circ \partial_{\mathrm{AJ},\mathfrak{m}}j_{*}\left(h\left(\prod_{i=1}^{s}T_{\ell_{i}}^{\circ}\right)\left[\operatorname{Sh}_{K^{\circ}}(V_{D}^{\circ})\right]\right) - C_{3} - \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}h(T_{q}^{\circ 2} - 4q^{2}\langle q \rangle).$$

By Claim 2 and (11.7), we conclude that

(11.8)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\lambda_n^D(q) \ge n - C_1 - C_2 - C_3$$

Since $j_*(h \cdot (\prod_{i=1}^s T_{\ell_i}^\circ) [\operatorname{Sh}_{K^\circ}(V_D^\circ)]) \in \operatorname{CH}^2(\operatorname{Sh}_K(V_D), O)$ lies in $\operatorname{SC}^2_K(V_D, O)$ by Remark 3.1.6, (11.7) and (11.8) together show the theorem.

In the endoscopic case, we similarly obtain:

Theorem 11.2.7. Suppose π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) , such that π_1 and π_2 are not both CM for the same imaginary quadratic field. For j = 1 or 2, assume $\kappa^D(1)^{(j)} \neq 0$ and admissible primes exist which are BD-admissible for ρ_{π_j} . Then there exists a constant $C \ge 0$ such that, for all N, there exist infinitely many admissible primes q which are N-BD-admissible for ρ_{π_j} , such that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q} \kappa_{n(q)}^{D}(1)^{(j)} \ge n(q) - C$$

and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \lambda_{n(q)}^{D}(q) \ge n(q) - C.$$

Proof. By using Corollary 5.6.7 in place of Corollary 5.6.6, we can refine Lemma 11.2.2 to obtain the same conclusion where $\alpha : H^3_{\text{ét}}(\text{Sh}_K(V_D)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, O(2))_{\mathfrak{m}} \to T_{\pi}$ is required to factor through T_{π_j} . From here, the rest of the proof follows that of Theorem 11.2.6, substituting Proposition C.5.4 for Proposition C.5.3.

12. Main result: rank one case

12.1. Setup and notation. Let π , S, and E_0 be as in Notation 4.0.1, and fix a prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 satisfying Assumption 4.1.1, with residue characteristic p.

Definition 12.1.1. An automorphic representation π of $GL_4(\mathbb{A})$ is of *general type* if it is neither an automorphic induction nor a symmetric cube lift.

For this section, we shall assume:

Hypothesis (\bigstar). If π is non-endoscopic, then BC(π) is either of general type, or a symmetric cube lift of a non-CM automorphic representation π_0 of GL₂(\mathbb{A}), or induced from a non-CM automorphic representation π_0 of GL₂(\mathbb{A}_K) with K/\mathbb{Q} real quadratic; in the latter two cases E_0 is also a strong coefficient field of π_0 .

12.2. Choosing Chebotarev primes.

12.2.1. Let $L_{\pi} \subset \operatorname{End}_O(T_{\pi})$ be the underlying *O*-module of $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi} = \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$, which is free of rank 10 over *O*. In general, $L_{\pi} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ is not absolutely irreducible, even if V_{π} is. In the endoscopic case, we also let L_{π_i} be the underlying *O*-module of $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi_i}$, for i = 1, 2.

Proposition 12.2.2. Suppose π is not endoscopic. We have the following cases for L_{π} :

(1) If BC(π) is an automorphic induction of π_0 as in Hypothesis (\bigstar), then

$$L_{\pi} = \operatorname{Ind}_{G_{K}}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} \operatorname{ad}^{0} T_{\pi_{0}} \oplus \left(\otimes -\operatorname{Ind}_{G_{K}}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} T_{\pi_{0}} \right) (-1).$$

Both direct summands are absolutely irreducible after inverting p. (2) If $BC(\pi)$ is a symmetric cube lift of π_0 as in Hypothesis (\bigstar), then

$$L_{\pi} = \mathrm{ad}^0 T_{\pi_0} \oplus \mathrm{Sym}^6(T_{\pi_0})(-3),$$

with each summand absolutely irreducible after inverting p. (3) If $BC(\pi)$ is of general type, then $L_{\pi} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ is absolutely irreducible.

Proof. In the first case, T_{π_0} exists by Lemma 2.2.19, and we have

$$T_{\pi} = \operatorname{Ind}_{G_{K}}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} T_{\pi_{0}};$$

so the claimed decomposition follows from, e.g., the discussion in [13, §7.5.16]. For the irreducibility, if π_0^{tw} is the $\text{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$ twist, then one checks using Hodge-Tate weights that $V_{\pi_0} \neq V_{\pi_0^{\text{tw}}} \otimes \chi$ for any character χ of G_K . It follows that $\otimes - \text{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} V_{\pi_0}$ is absolutely irreducible, since if it reduces it must have a onedimensional constituent. Similarly, if $\text{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} \text{ ad}^0 V_{\pi_0}$ is not absolutely irreducible, then $\text{ad}^0 V_{\pi_0} \cong \text{ad}^0 V_{\pi_0^{\text{tw}}}$, so by Corollary C.3.7, $V_{\pi_0}|_{G_L} = V_{\pi_0^{\text{tw}}}|_{G_L}$ for a finite extension L/K, and this is a contradiction by Lemma C.3.4.

In the second case, T_{π_0} exists by Lemma 2.2.18, and by definition, $T_{\pi} = \text{Sym}^3 T_{\pi_0}(-1)$. Then we have

$$End(T_{\pi}) = Sym^{6}(T_{\pi_{0}})(-3) \oplus Sym^{4}(T_{\pi_{0}})(-2) \oplus Sym^{2}(T_{\pi_{0}})(-1) \oplus O$$

as an $O[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ -module, and by dimension counting, L_{π} consists of the first and third summands. The irreducibility of each summand of L_{π} after inverting p is clear because the Zariski closure (over E) of the projective image of ρ_{π_0} is $\mathrm{PGL}_2(E)$ by Theorem C.3.2.

The third case follows from Lemma C.4.3, noting that p > 3 by Remark 4.1.2.

12.2.3. We write $L_{\pi,n} = L_{\pi}/\varpi^n L_{\pi}$ for all $n \ge 1$ and likewise for $L_{\pi_i,n}$ when π is endoscopic. We will be applying the results and notations of Appendix B to ρ_{π} (and ρ_{π_i} when π is endoscopic), using Lemmas 8.2.1 and 8.3.7 to check the relevant assumptions. The notion of admissible primes for Notation B.2.4 is as explained in (8.2.5) and (8.3.10). In particular, if π is not endoscopic and q is an n-admissible prime for ρ_{π} , let $H_{\text{ord}}^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, L_{\pi,n}) \subset H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, L_{\pi})$ be the subspace defined in Definition B.2.5.

Lemma 12.2.4. Suppose π satisfies Hypothesis (\bigstar) and is not endoscopic. There exists a $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -stable decomposition $L_{\pi} = L_{\pi}^{\heartsuit} \oplus L_{\pi}^{\circ}$ such that $L_{\pi}^{\heartsuit} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ and $L_{\pi}^{\circ} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ are absolutely irreducible and distinct, and moreover, if q is an n-admissible prime:

- (1) We have $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, L^{\heartsuit}_{\pi,n}) + H^1_{\text{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, L_{\pi,n}) = H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, L_{\pi,n}).$
- (2) We have $H^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, L^\circ_{\pi,n}) = H^1(\mathbb{Q}_q, L^\circ_{\pi,n}).$
- (3) If $T_{\pi,n}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_n}} = M_{0,n} \oplus M_{1,n}$ is the decomposition of Lemma 4.2.2, then the composite

$$L_{\pi,n}^{\heartsuit} \hookrightarrow L_{\pi,n} \twoheadrightarrow \mathrm{ad}^0 M_{0,n}$$

is surjective.

Here $L_{\pi,n}^{\heartsuit} = L_{\pi}^{\heartsuit} / \varpi^n L_{\pi}^{\heartsuit}$, and likewise for $L_{\pi,n}^{\circ}$.

Proof. In case (3) of Proposition 12.2.2, the lemma is clear, taking $L_{\pi}^{\circ} = 0$. Suppose we are in case (1) of Proposition 12.2.2. Then if q is admissible for ρ_{π} , we have $\operatorname{tr} \rho_{\pi}(\operatorname{Frob}_{q}) \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\varpi}$, which implies q splits in K. Let $\pi_{0}^{\operatorname{tw}}$ be the $\operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$ -twist. Because $\det \rho_{\pi_{0}} = \chi_{p}^{\operatorname{cyc}}$, comparing the decomposition $T_{\pi,n} = M_{0,n} \oplus M_{1,n}$ with $T_{\pi}|_{G_{K}} = T_{\pi_{0}} \oplus T_{\pi_{0}^{\operatorname{tw}}}$ shows that, up to replacing π_{0} with $\pi_{0}^{\operatorname{tw}}$, we have $M_{0,n} = T_{\pi_{0,n}}$. Now note that $H^{1}\left(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, \left(\otimes -\operatorname{Ind}_{G_{K}}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}T_{\pi_{0,n}}\right)(-1)\right) = 0$ because the Frob_{q} eigenvalues on $\left(\otimes -\operatorname{Ind}_{G_{K}}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}\overline{T}_{\pi_{0}}\right)(-1)$ are $q/\alpha, \alpha/q, \alpha$, and $1/\alpha$ for some $\alpha \neq q^{2}, q^{-1}, \pm 1, \pm q$. Hence the lemma holds in this case with $L_{\pi}^{\heartsuit} = \operatorname{Ind}_{G_{K}}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} \operatorname{ad}^{0} T_{\pi_{0}}$ and $L_{\pi}^{\circ} = \left(\otimes -\operatorname{Ind}_{G_{K}}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}T_{\pi_{0}}\right)(-1)$.

Now suppose we are in case (2) of Proposition 12.2.2, and take $L_{\pi}^{\heartsuit} = \text{Sym}^6(T_{\pi_0})(-3)$, $L_{\pi}^{\circ} = \text{ad}^0 T_{\pi_0}$. If Frob_q acts on \overline{T}_{π_0} with generalized eigenvalues $\{\alpha, \beta\}$, then the admissibility of Frob_q implies that (up to reordering) we have $\beta^3 = q$ and $\alpha = \beta^2$. Choose a basis for T_{π} such that

$$\operatorname{Frob}_q = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^2/\beta & & \\ & \alpha & \\ & & \beta & \\ & & & \beta^2/\alpha \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} q & & \\ & \beta^2 & \\ & & \beta & \\ & & & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

One sees immediately that the eigenvalues of Frob_q on $\operatorname{ad}^0 \overline{T}_{\pi_0}$ are $\{1, \beta, \beta^{-1}\}$, which are all distinct from q^{-1} , so $H^1_{\operatorname{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, L^\circ_{\pi,n}(1)) = 0$, and this implies (2) by local Poitou-Tate duality.

To prove (1) and (3), we use the following:

Claim. The two decompositions into one-dimensional O/ϖ -vector spaces

$$L_{\pi,1}^{\text{Frob}_q=1} = (L_{\pi,1}^{\circ})^{\text{Frob}_q=1} \oplus (L_{\pi,1}^{\heartsuit})^{\text{Frob}_q=1} = (\text{ad}^0 M_{0,1})^{\text{Frob}_q=1} \oplus (\text{ad}^0 M_{1,1})^{\text{Frob}_q=1}$$

are both orthogonal with respect to the Killing form, and not the same.

Before proving the claim, we show it implies (1) and (3). Indeed, by (2), we can rewrite (1) as asserting the surjectivity of

 $H^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, \mathrm{ad}^0 M_{1,n}) = H^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, L_{\pi,n}) \cap H^1_{\mathrm{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, L_{\pi,n}) \to H^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_q, L^\circ_{\pi,n}).$

Since Frob_q acts on L_{π} with eigenvalues that are all either 1 or not congruent to 1 modulo ϖ , this is equivalent to the surjectivity of

$$(\mathrm{ad}^0 M_{1,1})^{\mathrm{Frob}_q=1} \to (L^{\circ}_{\pi,1})^{\mathrm{Frob}_q=1},$$

which follows from the claim.

For (3), we can take n = 1. Since Frob_q acts with distinct eigenvalues $\{1, q, q^{-1}\}$ on $\operatorname{ad}^0 M_{0,1}$, and the eigenvalues q and q^{-1} do not appear in $L_{\pi,1}^{\circ} = \operatorname{ad}^0 \overline{T}_{\pi_0}$, it again suffices to consider the $\operatorname{Frob}_q = 1$ eigenspaces. In particular, it suffices to show that $(L_{\pi,1}^{\heartsuit})^{\operatorname{Frob}_q=1}$ is not contained in the kernel of the map $L_{\pi,1}^{\operatorname{Frob}_q=1} \to (\operatorname{ad}^0 M_{0,1})^{\operatorname{Frob}_q=1}$, which again follows from the claim.

Now we return to the proof of the claim. In our basis of T_{π} , $(\operatorname{ad}^{0} M_{1,1})^{\operatorname{Frob}_{q}=1}$ consists of the matrices $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & & \\ & x & \\ & & -x & \\ & & & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, and $(\operatorname{ad}^{0} M_{0,1})^{\operatorname{Frob}_{q}=1}$ consists of the matrices $\begin{pmatrix} x & & \\ & 0 & \\ & & x \end{pmatrix}$. This decomposition is

plainly orthogonal for the Killing form.

Meanwhile, $(L_{\pi,1}^{\circ})^{\operatorname{Frob}_q=1} = (\operatorname{ad}^0 \overline{T}_{\pi_0})^{\operatorname{Frob}_q=1}$ consists of the matrices of the form

3y				
	y			
		-y		
			-3y	

The decomposition $L^{\circ}_{\pi} \oplus L^{\heartsuit}_{\pi}$ is necessarily orthogonal for the Killing form because the form is Galois-invariant, and the claim follows.

Lemma 12.2.5. Suppose π is not endoscopic and satisfies Hypothesis (\bigstar). Then:

- (1) The action of $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ on T_{π} contains a scalar of infinite order.
- (2) The projective image of ρ_{π} is a compact *p*-adic Lie group with semisimple Lie algebra.

Proof. If $BC(\pi)$ is not an automorphic induction, then the lemma follows from Corollary C.2.6 combined with Lemma C.2.2(4,5). If $BC(\pi)$ is an automorphic induction of the kind in Hypothesis (\bigstar), it follows from Corollary C.3.7.

Lemma 12.2.6. Suppose π satisfies Hypothesis (\bigstar). Then:

(1) If π is not endoscopic, there exists a constant $C \ge 0$ such that

$$\varpi^{C} H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,n}) = \varpi^{C} H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,n}(1)) = 0$$

for all $n \geq 1$.

(2) If π is endoscopic, then for j = 1 or 2 such that π_j is non-CM, there exists a constant $C \ge 0$ such that

$$\varpi^C H^1(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_\pi)/\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi_j, n}) = \varpi^C H^1(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_\pi)/\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi_j, n}(1)) = 0$$

for all $n \geq 1$.

Proof. We start with the non-endoscopic case. For i = 0 or 1, consider the inflation-restriction exact sequence:

(12.1)
$$0 \to H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}(\mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,n}(i)^{G_{\mathbb{Q}(\mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi})}}) \to H^{1}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,n}(i)) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}(\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}(\mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi})), L_{\pi,n}(i)).$$

We claim the third term vanishes. Indeed, the $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ action on $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}(\operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{\pi}))$ by conjugation is trivial, so the third term is

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}(\operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{\pi})), L_{\pi,n}(i)^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}) = 0$$

NAOMI SWEETING

because the absolute irreducibility of \overline{T}_{π} implies $\overline{L}_{\pi}(i)^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} = 0$. If i = 1, the first term is uniformly bounded in n by Lemma 12.2.5(1), because any $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ that acts as a scalar z on T_{π} lies in $G_{\mathbb{Q}(\mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{\pi})}$ and acts by z^{2} on $L_{\pi}(1)$, so the lemma is proved in this case.

For the case i = 0, we have $L_{\pi,n}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}(ad^0,\rho_\pi)}} = L_{\pi,n}$. By Lemma 12.2.5(2) combined with [29, Lemma B.1], the first term in (12.1) is uniformly bounded in n, which proves the lemma when π is non-endoscopic.

Now consider the endoscopic case. Using Theorem C.3.2 to replace Lemma 12.2.5, the same argument as above shows

$$\varpi^C H^1(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_j})/\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi_j, n}) = \varpi^C H^1(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_j})/\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi_j, n}(1)) = 0$$

for some constant $C \ge 0$. By inflation-restriction, it suffices to show

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}(\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_{i}})), L_{\pi_{i},n}(i))$

is uniformly bounded in n for i = 0, 1. By the same argument as for the claim in Lemma 9.2.2, any Galoisinvariant group homomorphism $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})/\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_j})) \to L_{\pi_j,n}(i)$ lies in the proper subspace on which complex conjugation acts by -1; since $L_{\pi_j} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ is absolutely irreducible by Theorem C.3.2 again, this suffices by [69, Lemma 2.3.3].

Lemma 12.2.7. Let $L = L_1 \oplus L_2$ be a free O-module of finite rank with $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ action, where $L_i \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$ are absolutely irreducible and distinct. Then there is a constant $C \ge 0$ with the following property: for any $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -stable O-submodule $H \subset L/\varpi^n L$, we have

$$H \supset \varpi^C \operatorname{pr}_1(H) \oplus \varpi^C \operatorname{pr}_2(H).$$

Here $pr_i: L/\varpi^n L \to L_i/\varpi^n L_i$ is the natural projection.

Proof. Write $L_{i,n} = L_i / \varpi^n$ and note that we have isomorphisms

$$\frac{\operatorname{pr}_1(H)}{H \cap L_{1,n}} \xleftarrow{\sim} \frac{H}{H \cap L_{2,n} \oplus H \cap L_{1,n}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \frac{\operatorname{pr}_2(H)}{H \cap L_{2,n}}$$

In particular, it is enough to show that any isomorphic $O[G_{\mathbb{Q}}]$ -module subquotients of L_1 and L_2 are ϖ^C -torsion for some universal constant C. Suppose on the contrary that for all integers $m \ge 0$, there exist submodules $B_i^m \subset A_i^m \subset L_i$ with $A_1^m/B_1^m \cong A_2^m/B_2^m$ not ϖ^m -torsion. Rescaling, we may assume without loss of generality that A_i^m has nonzero image in ϖL_i , so by [69, Lemma 2.3.3] we know $\varpi^{C_0}L_i \subset A_i^m$ for some constant C_0 depending on L_1 and L_2 .

For each m, let $N_i(m)$ be the maximal integer such that

$$B_i^m \subset \varpi^{N_i(m)}L$$

which implies

In particular, for A_i^m/B_i^m not to be ϖ^m -torsion, we must have

(12.3)
$$N_i(m) + C_0 > m$$

for all m. Now consider the chain of maps:

$$(12.4)$$
$$\varpi^{C_0}L_1/\varpi^{N_1(m)+C_0}L_1 \twoheadrightarrow \varpi^{C_0}L_1/(B_1^m \cap \varpi^{C_0}L_1) \hookrightarrow A_1^m/B_1^m \xrightarrow{\sim} A_2^m/B_2^m \hookrightarrow L_2/B_2^m \twoheadrightarrow L_2/\varpi^{N_2(m)}L_2$$

The two injections in the diagram have cokernel annihilated by ϖ^{C_0} , so in particular the composite has cokernel annihilated by ϖ^{2C_0} . By (12.3), after reindexing, we may assume without loss of generality that $N_i(m)$ is increasing in m. Then by compactness of $\text{Hom}_O(L_1, L_2)$, up to passing to a subsequence, the maps in (12.4) fit together and give in the inverse limit a Galois-equivariant map

$$\varpi^{C_0}L_1 \to L_2$$

with cokernel annihilated by ϖ^{2C_0} . This is absurd because there are no nontrivial maps $L_1 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p \to L_2 \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p$, so we have a contradiction and the lemma is proved.

Lemma 12.2.8. Suppose π is not endoscopic and satisfies Hypothesis (\bigstar), and admissible primes exist for ρ_{π} . There is a constant $C \ge 0$ with the following property: suppose given integers n, m and cocycles $c \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n}), \varphi \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,m}), \psi \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,m}(1))$. Let $(\varphi^{\heartsuit}, \varphi^{\circ})$ be the decomposition of φ with respect to

$$H^1(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,m}) = H^1(\mathbb{Q}, L^{\heartsuit}_{\pi,m}) \oplus H^1(\mathbb{Q}, L^{\circ}_{\pi,m}),$$

and likewise for ψ . Then for any $N \ge \max\{n, m\}$, there are infinitely many N-admissible primes q such that all of the cocycles are unramified at q and:

- $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_q c \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} c C.$
- We have

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\left(\operatorname{Res}_{q}\varphi, \frac{H^{1}_{\operatorname{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m})}{H^{1}_{\operatorname{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m}) \cap H^{1}_{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m})}\right) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\varphi^{\heartsuit} - C.$$

• We have

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\left(\operatorname{Res}_{q}\psi, \frac{H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m}(1))}{H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m}(1)) \cap H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m}(1))}\right) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\psi^{\heartsuit} - C.$$

Proof. By Lemma 12.2.6(1), Corollary C.2.8, and inflation-restriction, the restrictions of c, φ , and ψ correspond to $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -invariant homomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Res}(c): G_{\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,N})} \to T_{\pi,n},$$

$$\operatorname{Res}(\varphi) = \operatorname{Res}(\varphi^{\heartsuit}) \oplus \operatorname{Res}(\varphi^{\circ}): G_{\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,N})} \to L_{\pi,m},$$

$$\operatorname{Res}(\psi) = \operatorname{Res}(\psi^{\heartsuit}) \oplus \operatorname{Res}(\psi^{\circ}): G_{\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,N})} \to L_{\pi,m}(1)$$

satisfying

(12.5)

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\operatorname{Res}(c) \ge \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}(c) - C_0, \quad \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\operatorname{Res}(\varphi^?) \ge \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}(\varphi^?) - C_0, \quad \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\operatorname{Res}(\psi^?) \ge \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}(\psi^?) - C_0$$

where $? = \heartsuit$ or \circ and $C_0 \ge 0$ is a constant. We combine these homomorphisms into a map

$$H: G_{\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,N})} \to T_{\pi,n} \oplus L_{\pi,m} \oplus L_{\pi,m}(1).$$

Let pr_1 , pr_2 , pr_3 be the projections onto each of the three factors.

For any $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ that acts on T_{π} as a scalar z, we have

$$im(H) \supset (g-1)(g-z^2) im(H) + (g-z)(g-z^2) im(H) + (g-1)(g-z) im(H) = (z-1)(z^2-1) pr_1 im(H) \oplus (z-1)(z^2-1) pr_2 im(H) \oplus (z^2-1)(z-1) pr_3 im(H) = (z-1)(z^2-1) (im \operatorname{Res}(c) \oplus \operatorname{im} \operatorname{Res}(\varphi) \oplus \operatorname{im} \operatorname{Res}(\psi).)$$

By Lemma 12.2.7 combined with Lemma 12.2.5(1), this also implies

$$\operatorname{im}(H) \supset \varpi^{C_1} \left(\operatorname{im}\operatorname{Res}(c) \oplus \operatorname{im}\operatorname{Res}(\varphi^{\heartsuit}) \oplus \operatorname{im}\operatorname{Res}(\varphi^{\circ}) \oplus \operatorname{im}\operatorname{Res}(\psi^{\heartsuit}) \oplus \operatorname{im}\operatorname{Res}(\psi^{\circ}) \right)$$

for some constant $C_1 \ge 0$ independent of n and m. In particular, by (12.5) combined with [69, Lemma 2.3.3], there exists a constant $C \ge 0$ independent of n and m, such that

(12.6)
$$O \cdot \operatorname{im}(H) \supset \varpi^{n - \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}(c) + C} T_{\pi, n} \oplus \varpi^{m - \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}(\varphi^{\heartsuit}) + C} L^{\heartsuit}_{\pi, m} \oplus \varpi^{m - \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}(\psi^{\heartsuit}) + C} L^{\heartsuit}_{\pi, m}(1).$$

Now fix an admissible element $g \in G_Q$, which is possible by Lemma 4.2.3. By repeatedly raising g to pth powers and taking the limit, we may assume without loss of generality that $\rho_{\pi}(g)$ has finite order coprime to

p. Choose a basis $\{e_1, e_2, e_3, e_4\}$ for T_{π} with respect to which we have

$$\rho_{\pi}(g) = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_p^{\text{cyc}}(g) & & \\ & 1 & \\ & & * & * \\ & & & * & * \end{pmatrix},$$

and set $M_0 = \operatorname{Span}_O \{e_1, e_2\}, M_1 = \operatorname{Span}_O \{e_3, e_4\}$. Note that, by Lemma 12.2.4(3), L_{π}^{\heartsuit} surjects onto the direct summand $\operatorname{ad}^0 M_0$ of L_{π} .

Hence, using (12.6), we may choose $h \in G_{\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})}$ as follows:

- (1) The e_2 -component of c(h) has order at least $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}(c) C_1$.
- (1) The equation of $\varphi(h)$ in the g-invariant line $\begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} x & & \\ & -x & \\ & & 0 \\ & & & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{cases} \subset L_{\pi}$ has order at least $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}(\varphi^{\heartsuit}) - C.$ $\left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 0 \end{array} \right)$

(3) The component of
$$\psi(h)$$
 in the *g*-invariant line $\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \circ & \circ \\ * & 0 \\ & & \end{pmatrix} \right\} \subset L_{\pi}(1)$ has order at least $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}(\psi^{\heartsuit})$ -

In particular, because q has finite order coprime to p, the same is also true for the corresponding components of c(gh), $\varphi(gh)$, and $\psi(gh)$, with respect to any choice of cocycle representatives.

Now suppose $q \notin S \cup \{p\}$ has Frobenius conjugate to q in Gal $(\mathbb{Q}(T_{\pi,N}, c, \varphi, \psi))$. To show that q satisfies the conclusion of the lemma, it suffices to observe that the O-modules

$$\frac{H^{1}_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m})}{H^{1}_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m}) \cap H^{1}_{\mathrm{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m})}, \quad \frac{H^{1}_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m}(1))}{H^{1}_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m}(1)) \cap H^{1}_{\mathrm{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q}, L_{\pi,m}(1))}$$

which are both free of rank one over O/ϖ^m , are generated by the cocyles

Frob_q
$$\mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & \\ & -1 & \\ & & 0 \\ & & & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
, Frob_q $\mapsto \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \\ 1 & 0 & \\ & & \\ & & \end{pmatrix}$,

respectively.

The Selmer groups in the next lemma (and the rest of this section) are the ones from Definition B.2.5.

Lemma 12.2.9. Suppose π is non-endoscopic and satisfies Hypothesis (\bigstar), and let C be the constant of Lemma 12.2.8. If

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,m}) = 0$$

for some $m \ge \max\{1, C\}$, and q_1 is an N-admissible prime for some $N \ge 5m$, then either:

- (1) $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) = 0; or:$
- (2) For any cocycle $c \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,n})$ with $n \leq N$, and any $M \geq N$, there exist infinitely many Madmissible primes q_2 such that

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1q_2)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) = 0$$

and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_2} c \ge \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} c - C.$$

Proof. Without loss of generality, assume (1) does not hold, and let $\varphi \in \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,5m})$ be an element whose image in $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,5m})$ is nonzero; it follows from Lemma B.2.7(1,2) that $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\varphi = 5m$. Similarly, by Lemma B.2.8, there exists an element $\psi \in \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,5m}(1))$ whose image in $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,5m}(1))$ is nonzero, and we have $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\psi = 5m$. Write

$$\varphi = \varphi^{\heartsuit} \oplus \varphi^{\circ}, \ \psi = \psi^{\heartsuit} \oplus \psi^{\circ}$$

as in the statement of Lemma 12.2.8.

Claim 1. We have $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \varphi^{\heartsuit} \geq 4m$ and $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \psi^{\heartsuit} \geq 4m$.

Proof of claim 1. Suppose that $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \varphi^{\heartsuit} < 4m$; then by Lemma B.2.7(1,2), the images of φ and φ° coincide in $H^1(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,m})$. However, by Lemma 12.2.4(2) we have

$$H^1_{\mathrm{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_1}, L^\circ_{\pi, m}) = H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{q_1}, L^\circ_{\pi, m}),$$

so it follows that the image of φ lies in $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,m})$; this contradicts the assumption $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,m}) = 0$.

Similarly, if $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \psi^{\heartsuit} < 4m$, then ψ and ψ° have the same image in $H^1(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,m}(1))$. However, the local Tate dual of Lemma 12.2.4(1) shows that $H^1(\mathbb{Q}_{q_1}, L^{\circ}_{\pi,m}(1)) \cap H^1_{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_1}, L_{\pi,m}(1)) = 0$, so then the image of ψ lies in $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,m}(1))$, and this contradicts Lemma B.2.8.

By Claim 1 combined with Lemma 12.2.8, there are infinitely many M-admissible primes q_2 such that:

- $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_2} c \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} c C.$
- We have

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\left(\operatorname{Res}_{q_{2}}\varphi, \frac{H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi, 5m})}{H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi, 5m}) \cap H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi, 5m})}\right) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\varphi^{\heartsuit} - C \geq 3m.$$

• We have

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\left(\operatorname{Res}_{q_{2}}\psi,\frac{H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}},L_{\pi,5m}(1))}{H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}},L_{\pi,5m}(1))\cap H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}},L_{\pi,5m}(1))}\right) \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\psi^{\heartsuit} - C \geq 3m.$$

Put

$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}_{q_2}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) = \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) \cap \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1q_2)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m})$$

and

$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}_{q_1}}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) = \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) \cap \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m})$$

Our next claim is:

Claim 2. We have

$$\varpi^{3m-1}\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}_{q_2}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) = 0.$$

Proof of claim 2. First, we have the exact sequence (12.7)

$$0 \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}_{q_1}}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) \to \frac{H^1_{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_1}, L_{\pi, 5m})}{H^1_{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_1}, L_{\pi, 5m}) \cap H^1_{\operatorname{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_1}, L_{\pi, 5m})} \simeq O/\varpi^{5m},$$

where the final isomorphism is by Lemma 8.2.11. Because $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}_{q_1}}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,5m})$ is ϖ^{m-1} -torsion by Lemma B.2.7(3), but $\varpi^{5m-1} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,5m}) \neq 0$ by assumption, from (12.7) we have an isomorphism of *O*-modules

(12.8)
$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) \simeq O/\varpi^{5m} \oplus T$$

where T is ϖ^{m-1} -torsion. In particular, for any $x \in \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}_{q_2}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}), \, \varpi^{m-1}x = \varpi^a \varphi$ for some $a \ge 0$. We conclude

(12.9)
$$0 = \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \left(\operatorname{Res}_{q_2}(\varpi^{m-1}x), \frac{H^1_{\operatorname{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_2}, L_{\pi,5m})}{H^1_{\operatorname{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_2}, L_{\pi,5m}) \cap H^1_{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_2}, L_{\pi,5m})} \right) \ge 3m - a,$$

so $a \ge 3m$, hence $\varpi^{3m-1}x = 0$.

Now we are ready to complete the proof of the lemma. We have the exact sequence (12.10)

$$0 \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}_{q_2}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1 q_2)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) \to \frac{H^1_{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_2}, L_{\pi, 5m})}{H^1_{\operatorname{ord}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_2}, L_{\pi, 5m}) \cap H^1_{\operatorname{unr}}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_2}, L_{\pi, 5m})} \simeq O/\varpi^{5m}$$

On the other hand, for any $\varphi' \in \text{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1q_2)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,5m})$, we can compute the global Tate pairing

$$0 = \sum_{v} \langle \varphi', \psi \rangle_{v} = \langle \varphi', \psi \rangle_{q_{2}}$$

by the definition of the local conditions for $\mathcal{F}(q_1q_2)$ and $\mathcal{F}(q_1)$. Now, the induced local Tate pairing

$$\frac{O/\varpi^{5m} \times O/\varpi^{5m}}{H_{\text{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi,5m})} \times \frac{H_{\text{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi,5m}(1)) + H_{\text{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi,5m}(1))}{H_{\text{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi,5m}) \cap H_{\text{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi,5m})} \times \frac{H_{\text{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi,5m}(1)) + H_{\text{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi,5m}(1))}{H_{\text{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi,5m}(1))} \to O/\varpi^{5m}$$

is perfect, so we conclude

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\left(\operatorname{Res}_{q_{2}}\varphi', \frac{H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi, 5m})}{H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi, 5m}) \cap H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi, 5m})} \simeq O/\varpi^{5m}\right)$$

$$\leq 5m - \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\left(\operatorname{Res}_{q_{2}}\psi, \frac{H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi, 5m}(1)) + H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi, 5m}(1))}{H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(\mathbb{Q}_{q_{2}}, L_{\pi, 5m}(1))}\right) \leq 2m.$$

In particular, the image of the final map in (12.10) is ϖ^{2m} -torsion, so we have

$$\varpi^{5m-1}\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1q_2)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 5m}) = 0$$

by Claim 2. Hence by Lemma B.2.7(1,2), $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1q_2)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,5m})} = 0$, as desired.

We also have an endoscopic analogue:

Lemma 12.2.10. Suppose π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) , and let j = 1 or 2. Suppose π_j is non-CM. Then there exists a constant C with the following property: if

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi_i, m}) = 0$$

for some $m \ge \max{\{1, C\}}$, and q_1 is an N-admissible prime for some $N \ge 5m$ which is BD-admissible for π_j , then either:

- (1) $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi_i, 5m}) = 0; or:$
- (2) For any cocycle $c \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_j,n})$ with $n \leq N$, and for any $M \geq N$, there exist infinitely many M-admissible primes q_2 , BD-admissible for π_j , such that

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1q_2)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi_j, 5m}) = 0$$

and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_2} c \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} c - C.$$

Proof. The same argument used to prove Lemma 12.2.9 applies formally, taking $L_{\pi}^{\circ} \coloneqq 0$ and $L_{\pi}^{\heartsuit} \coloneqq L_{\pi_j}$. When proving the appropriate analogue of Lemma 12.2.8, one uses the claim in the proof of Lemma 9.2.2 in place of Corollary C.2.8, Lemma 12.2.6(2) in place of Lemma 12.2.6(1), and Theorem C.3.2 in place of Lemma 12.2.5(1).

12.3. Proof of the main results.

Theorem 12.3.1. Suppose π is non-endoscopic and satisfies Hypothesis (\bigstar), and let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of E_0 satisfying Assumption 4.1.1, such that admissible primes exist for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$. Then for all $D \ge 1$ squarefree with $\sigma(D)$ even,

$$\kappa^D(1)_{\mathfrak{p}} \neq 0 \implies \dim H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) = 1.$$

Proof. Let N be a large integer to be specified later, and let $M \ge N$ be the number from Lemma 1.6.3(3) applied to T_{π} and n = N. By Theorem 11.2.6, there exists a constant $C_0 \ge 0$ independent of N and an M-admissible prime q_1 such that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_1} \kappa_{n(q_1)}^D(1) \ge n(q_1) - C_0$$

and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \lambda_{n(q_1)}^D(q_1) \ge n(q_1) - C_0.$$

Because $\kappa^D(1) \subset H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi})$ is a free *O*-module by Lemma 4.1.6(1), we may fix a class $\kappa^D(1)_0 \in \kappa^D(1)$, with image $\kappa^D_m(1)_0$ in $H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,m})$ for all $m \ge 1$, such that

(12.11)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_1} \kappa_m^D(1)_0 \ge m - C_0$$

for all $m \leq n(q_1)$.

Claim. Suppose dim $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_\pi) > 1$. Then there exists a class $c \in H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi)$, with images $c_m \in H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,m})$ for all $m \ge 1$, such that:

- (1) $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} c_m = m$ for all m.
- (2) $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_1} c_m \leq C_0$ for all $m \leq n(q_1)$.

Proof of claim. By the assumption dim $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_\pi) > 1$, we may choose $c \in H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi)$ such that

(12.12)
$$c + \alpha \kappa^D(1)_0 \notin \varpi H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi), \ \forall \alpha \in O$$

Adjusting c by an O-multiple of $\kappa^D(1)_0$ and using (12.11), we can ensure that (2) holds. By definition, we have an injection

$$\frac{H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi)}{H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi)} \hookrightarrow \prod_v \frac{H^1(\mathbb{Q}_v, V_\pi)}{H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_v, V_\pi)},$$

hence the quotient $H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi)/H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi)$ is *O*-torsion-free, and in particular $c \notin \varpi H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_\pi)$ by (12.12). Then (1) holds as well by Lemma 4.1.6(2).

By Theorem 9.1.3 and Lemma B.3.6, there exists a constant $m_0 \ge 1$ such that $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{m_0}) = 0$. Without loss of generality, we assume $N \ge 10m_0$ and $m_0 \ge \max\{1, C\}$, for the constant C of Lemma 12.2.8. Now consider the following two cases:

- (1) If $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi, 10m_0-1}) = 0$, then we choose (by Lemma 9.1.2 and (1) of the claim) an $n(q_1)$ -admissible prime q_2 such that $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_2} c_{n(q_1)} \ge n(q_1) C_1$ for a constant $C_1 \ge 0$ independent of N, q_1 , and q_2 .
- (2) If $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,10m_0-1}) \neq 0$, then *a fortiori* we have $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,5m_0}) \neq 0$. We choose (by Lemma 12.2.9) an $(n(q_1) + 5m_0)$ -admissible prime $q_2 \neq q_1$ such that $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1q_2)}(\mathbb{Q}, L_{\pi,5m_0}) = 0$ and $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_2} c_{n(q_1)} \geq \operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} n(q_1) C_1$ for a constant $C_1 \geq 0$ independent of N, q_1 , and q_2 .

By Theorem 8.5.1 combined with Corollary B.4.3, in either case we can conclude – as long as N is sufficiently large in a manner depending only on π , \mathfrak{p} , and m_0 – that

$$\partial_{q_2} \kappa^D_{n(q_1)}(q_1 q_2) \supset \lambda^D_{n(q_1)}(q_1) \cdot (\varpi^{C_2})$$

for a constant C_2 that is independent of N, q_1 , and q_2 . Hence we may choose an element $\kappa_{n(q_1)}^D(q_1q_2)_0 \in \kappa_{n(q_1)}^D(q_1q_2)_0 \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi,m})$ for all $m \leq n(q_1)$, such that

(12.13)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \partial_{q_2} \kappa_m^D(q_1 q_2)_0 \ge m - C_0 - C_2.$$

We now compute the Tate pairing

(12.14)
$$\langle c_N, \kappa_N^D(q_1q_2)_0 \rangle = \sum_v \langle c_N, \kappa_N^D(q_1q_2)_0 \rangle_v = 0 \in O/\varpi^N.$$

Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 9.1.4 and using that $M \le n(q_1)$, there is a constant $C_3 \ge 0$ so that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \langle c_N, \kappa_N^D(q_1 q_2)_0 \rangle_v \le C_3, \quad \forall v \notin \{q_1, q_2\}.$$

By (2) of the claim, we also have

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\langle c_N, \kappa_N^D(q_1q_2)_0 \rangle_{q_1} \leq C_0.$$

In particular, (12.14) implies

$$\operatorname{prd}_{\varpi}\langle c_N, \kappa_N^D(q_1q_2)_0 \rangle_{q_2} \le \max\left\{C_0, C_3\right\}.$$

However, by Proposition 4.2.8, (12.13) combined with the choice of q_2 implies

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \langle c_N, \kappa_N^D(q_1 q_2)_0 \rangle_{q_2} \ge N - C_0 - C_1 - C_2.$$

This is a contradiction if we choose $N > C_0 + C_1 + C_2 + \max{C_0, C_3}$, and the proof of the theorem is complete.

Theorem 12.3.2. Suppose π is endoscopic, associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A})$ (in any order), and \mathfrak{p} is a prime of E_0 satisfying Assumption 4.1.1, such that $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_1, \mathfrak{p}} \otimes V_{\pi_2, \mathfrak{p}}(-1)) = 0$. Assume as well that $\kappa^D(1)^{(1)}_{\mathfrak{p}} \neq 0$ for some squarefree D with $\sigma(D)$ even. Then the following hold:

(1) If π_1 is non-CM and there exist admissible primes which are BD-admissible for $\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}$, then

$$\dim H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_1, \mathfrak{p}}) = 1.$$

(2) If for each j = 1, 2, there exist admissible primes which are BD-admissible for $\rho_{\pi_j,\mathfrak{p}}$, then

$$\dim H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_2, \mathfrak{p}}) = 0.$$

In particular, if for each $j = 1, 2, \pi_j$ is non-CM and there exist admissible primes which are BD-admissible for $\rho_{\pi_j,p}$, then

$$\kappa^D(1)_{\mathfrak{p}} \neq 0 \implies \dim H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi, \mathfrak{p}}) = 1$$

Remark 12.3.3. The existence of admissible primes which are BD-admissible for each $\rho_{\pi_j,\mathfrak{p}}$ is considered in Proposition C.4.12.

Proof. Let N be a large integer to be specified later, and let $M \ge N$ be the number from Lemma 1.6.3(3) for T_{π} and n = N. By Theorem 11.2.7, there exists a constant $C_0 \ge 0$ independent of N and an M-admissible prime q_1 , BD-admissible for ρ_{π_1} , such that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_1} \kappa_{n(q_1)}^D(1)^{(1)} \ge n(q_1) - C_0$$

and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi}\lambda_{n(q_1)}^D(q_1) \ge n(q_1) - C_0.$$

As in Theorem 12.3.1, we fix a class $\kappa^D(1)_0 \in \kappa^D(1)^{(1)}$, with image $\kappa^D_m(1)_0 \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_1, m})$ for all $m \ge 1$, such that

(12.15)
$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_1} \kappa_m^D(1)_0 \ge m - C_0$$

for all $m \leq n(q_1)$.

Now we suppose we are in case (1) of the theorem; assume for contradiction dim $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, V_{\pi_1}) > 1$. By the same argument as for the claim in Theorem 12.3.1, we have a class $c \in H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_1})$, with images $c_m \in H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_1,m})$, such that:

- (1) $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} c_m = m$ for all $m \ge 1$.
- (2) ord $loc_{q_1} c_m \leq C_0$ for all $1 \leq m \leq n(q_1)$.

By Proposition 9.2.3 and Lemma B.3.6, there exists a constant $m_0 \ge 1$ such that

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{Q},\operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{\pi_{1},m_{0}})=0.$$

Increasing N if necessary, we assume $N > 10m_0$. Now consider the following cases:

(1) If $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 T_{\pi_1, 10m_0-1}) = 0$, then choose (by Lemma 9.2.2) q_2 to be $n(q_1)$ -admissible and BD-admissible for ρ_{π_1} such that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_2} c_{n(q_1)} \ge n(q_1) - C_1$$

for a constant $C_1 \ge 0$ independent of N, q_1 , and q_2 .

(2) If $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 T_{\pi_1, 10m_0-1}) \neq 0$, then *a fortiori* we have

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1)}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 T_{\pi_1, 5m_0}) \neq 0.$$

We choose, by Lemma 12.2.10, an $(n(q_1) + 5m_0)$ -admissible prime $q_2 \neq q_1$, BD-admissible for π_1 , such that

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(q_1q_2)}(\mathbb{Q},\operatorname{ad}^0 T_{\pi_1,5m_0}) = 0$$

and $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \operatorname{loc}_{q_2} c_{n(q_1)} \geq n(q_1) - C_1$ for a constant $C_1 \geq 0$ independent of N, q_1 , and q_2 .

By Theorem 8.5.2 and Corollary B.4.3, in either case we can conclude

$$\partial_{q_2} \kappa^D_{n(q_1)}(q_1q_2) \supset \lambda^D_{n(q_1)}(q_1) \cdot (\varpi^{C_2})$$

for all N sufficiently large in a manner depending only on π , \mathfrak{p} , and m_0 , and for a constant $C_2 \ge 0$ that is independent of N, q_1 , and q_2 . The remainder of the proof of (1) is now identical to Theorem 12.3.1.

Now we suppose we are in case (2), and assume for contradiction that there exists a non-torsion class $c \in H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_2})$ with images $c_m \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_2,m})$ for all $m \ge 1$. By the proof of the claim in Theorem 12.3.1, we may assume $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} c_m = m$ for all m. Then we choose (by Lemma 9.2.2) q_2 to be $n(q_1)$ -admissible and BD-admissible for ρ_{π_2} , such that $\operatorname{ord}_{\varpi} \log_{q_2} c_{n(q_1)} \ge n(q_1) - C_1$ for a constant $C_1 \ge 0$ independent of N, q_1 , and q_2 . By Proposition 9.2.3 and Lemma B.3.6, there exists a constant $m_0 \ge 1$ such that

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbb{Q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\pi_2, m_0}) = 0.$$

By Theorem 8.5.2(1) and Corollary B.4.3, we can conclude that

$$\partial_{q_2} \kappa_N^D(q_1 q_2) \supset \lambda_N^D(q_1) \cdot (\varpi^{C_2})$$

for all N sufficiently large and for a constant $C_2 \ge 0$ that is independent of N, q_1 , and q_2 . The remainder of the proof of (2) now follows the proof of Theorem 12.3.1, using that $loc_{q_1} c_N = 0$ because $H^1_f(\mathbb{Q}_{q_1}, T_{\pi_2, N}) = 0$.

Appendix A. Cohomology of $GSpin_4$ Shimura varieties

A.1. The auxiliary quaternionic Shimura variety.

A.1.1. For this section, let V be a quadratic space over \mathbb{Q} of signature (2, 2) and nontrivial discriminant character χ . Then by [50, Appendix A], $C^+(V) = B \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} F =: B_F$, where B is an indefinite quaternion algebra over \mathbb{Q} and F/\mathbb{Q} is the real quadratic field associated to χ . We abbreviate $G := \operatorname{GSpin}(V)$, $\tilde{G} := \operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} B_F^{\times}$. Then we have an exact sequence of algebraic groups over \mathbb{Q} :

(A.1)
$$1 \to G \to \widetilde{G} \to (\operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m)/\mathbb{G}_m \to 1.$$

Let $K = \prod K_{\ell} \subset G(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be a neat compact open subgroup, and let S be a nonempty set of primes such that K_{ℓ} is hyperspecial for $\ell \notin S$. Fix a neat compact open subgroup $\widetilde{K} = \prod \widetilde{K}_{\ell} \subset \widetilde{G}(\mathbb{A}_f)$ satisfying the following conditions:

- (1) For all $\ell \notin S$, \widetilde{K}_{ℓ} is hyperspecial.
- (2) $\widetilde{K} \cap \operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_f) = K.$
- (3) We have $\nu(\widetilde{K}) \cap O_{F,+}^{\times} = (O_F^{\times} \cap \widetilde{K})^2$, where $\nu : \widetilde{G} \to \operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{G}_m$ is the norm character and $O_{F,+}^{\times}$ is the group of totally positive units of F.

Such a \widetilde{K} exists because S is nonempty. Let $\widetilde{Sh}_{\widetilde{K}}(V)$ be the Shimura variety for \widetilde{G} at level \widetilde{K} .

Proposition A.1.2. Under conditions (1) - (3) above, the natural map

(A.2)
$$\operatorname{Sh}_{K}(V) \to \operatorname{Sh}_{\widetilde{K}}(V)$$

is an open and closed embedding.

Proof. This follows from [68, Proposition 2.10, Remark 2.11].

A.1.3. *Hecke algebras.* For a prime $\ell \notin S$ and a ring R, let $\mathbb{T}_{\ell,R}$ (resp. $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\ell,R}$) denote the spherical Hecke algebra of K_{ℓ} -biinvariant (resp. \widetilde{K}_{ℓ} -biinvariant) R-valued functions on $G(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ (resp. $\widetilde{G}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$). If $S' \supset S$ is a finite set of primes, then we set

$$\mathbb{T}_R^{S'} \coloneqq \otimes'_{\ell \notin S'} \mathbb{T}_{\ell,R}, \quad \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_R^{S'} \coloneqq \otimes'_{\ell \notin S'} \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\ell,R}.$$

When $R = \mathbb{Z}$ we drop it from the notation.

Proposition A.1.4. Fix an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$. There is a decomposition of $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^S$ -modules:

$$H^{2}_{\text{\acute{e}t},!}(\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}) = \bigoplus_{\pi_{f}} H^{2}_{\text{\acute{e}t},!}(\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p})_{\pi_{f}} \otimes \iota^{-1} \pi_{f}^{\widetilde{K}} \oplus \bigoplus_{\chi} H^{2}_{\text{\acute{e}t},!}(\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p})_{\chi \text{odet}} \otimes \iota^{-1} (\chi \text{odet})^{\widetilde{K}}$$

where π_f runs over finite parts of cuspidal, infinite-dimensional automorphic representations π of $B_F(\mathbb{A}_F)^{\times}$ with discrete series archimedean components of parallel weight 2, and χ runs over finite order characters of $F^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}$. As $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -representations, we have

$$H^{2}_{\text{\'et},!}(\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p})^{ss}_{\pi_{f}} = \otimes -\operatorname{Ind}_{G_{F}}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}\rho_{\operatorname{JL}(\pi),\iota}$$

and

$$H^{2}_{\text{\'et},!}(\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p})^{ss}_{\chi \circ \text{det}} = \iota^{-1}\operatorname{rec}(\chi|_{\mathbb{A}^{\times}_{\mathbb{Q}}})(-1) \oplus \iota^{-1}\operatorname{rec}(\chi|_{\mathbb{A}^{\times}_{\mathbb{Q}}}) \cdot \omega_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(-1),$$

where $\omega_{F/\mathbb{Q}}$ is the quadratic character of $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ associated to F.

Proof. When B_F is split, this follows from the discussion in [112, §XI.2]. In the nonsplit case, the Hecke module decomposition is clear from Matsushima's formula, and the Galois actions follow from [58].

A.1.5. Let $\ell \notin S$ be a prime; then we may identify $B \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell} \simeq M_2(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ in such a way that $\widetilde{K}_{\ell} = \operatorname{GL}_2(O_F \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$ and $G(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) \subset \widetilde{G}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) \simeq \operatorname{GL}_2(F \otimes \mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ consists of those matrices having determinant in $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}^{\times}$. Let $T(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ and $\widetilde{T}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ be the standard diagonal tori in $G(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ and $\widetilde{G}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$, respectively, and let $B(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ and $\widetilde{B}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ be the upper triangular Borel subgroups.

Proposition A.1.6. Let $\chi_0 : \widetilde{T}(\mathbb{Q}_\ell) \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be an unramified character. Then $\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{\widetilde{B}(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)}^{\widetilde{G}(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)}\chi_0\right)|_{G(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)}$ has a unique K_ℓ -spherical constituent, which is isomorphic to the unique spherical constituent of $\operatorname{Ind}_{B(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)}^{G(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)}(\chi_0|_{T(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)})$.

Proof. This is clear from the observation that $\widetilde{B}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) \cdot K_{\ell} = \widetilde{B}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) \cdot \widetilde{K}_{\ell} = \widetilde{G}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$; indeed, $K_{\ell} \cdot (\widetilde{K}_{\ell} \cap \widetilde{T}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})) = \widetilde{K}_{\ell}$ because $\nu(\widetilde{T}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) \cap \widetilde{K}_{\ell}) = \nu(\widetilde{K}_{\ell})$.

It follows immediately that:

Corollary A.1.7. Let $\tilde{\pi}$ be an irreducible admissible representation of $\tilde{G}(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ which is \tilde{K}_{ℓ} -spherical, and let $\chi_{\tilde{\pi}} : \tilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\ell} \to \mathbb{C}$ be the character giving the Hecke action on $\tilde{\pi}^{\tilde{K}_{\ell}}$. Then, viewing $\tilde{\pi}$ as an admissible representation of $G(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$, \mathbb{T}_{ℓ} stabilizes the one-dimensional space $\tilde{\pi}^{\tilde{K}_{\ell}}$ and acts on it via the composite of $\chi_{\tilde{\pi}}$ with the homomorphism $\mathbb{T}_{\ell} \to \tilde{\mathbb{T}}_{\ell}$ determined by the Satake transform and the map of dual groups ${}^{L}\operatorname{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}} B_{F}^{\times} \twoheadrightarrow {}^{L}\operatorname{GSpin}(V)$.

A.2. Hecke action on Tate classes for $GSpin_4$. For an automorphic represention π of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$, let $BC_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\pi)$ denote the base change to $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$.

Lemma A.2.1. Continue the notation of Proposition A.1.4.

- (1) If $H^2_{\text{ét},!}(\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(1))^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}_{\pi_f} \neq 0$, then there exists an automorphic representation π_0 of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$, with $\pi_{0,\infty}$ discrete series of weight 2, and a finite-order character χ of $F^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}$, such that $\operatorname{JL}(\pi) = \operatorname{BC}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\pi_0) \otimes \chi$.
- (2) If $H^{2}_{\text{\'et},!}(\widetilde{\operatorname{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}(1))^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}_{\chi \circ \det} \neq 0$, then $\chi|_{\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\times}} = \omega_{F/\mathbb{Q}} \text{ or } \mathbb{1}$.

Proof. Part (2) is obvious from Proposition A.1.4. Part (1) follows from the proof of [112, Theorem XI.4.6(i)], except for the assertion about $\pi_{0,\infty}$; but this is clear by [3, Chapter 3, Theorem 5.1] and the archimedean condition on π in Proposition A.1.4.

Corollary A.2.2. The \mathbb{T}^S -module $H^2_{\text{\acute{e}t},!}(\mathrm{Sh}_K(V), \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(1))^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}$ decomposes completely into a direct sum of characters $\mathbf{h}: \mathbb{T}^S \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, each of which arises from the action of \mathbb{T}^S on either:

- A newform in an automorphic representation π of $B_F(\mathbb{A}_F)^{\times}$, unramified outside S, such that π satisfies the conclusion of Lemma A.2.1(1).
- The automorphic character $\chi_0 \circ \nu$ of $\operatorname{GSpin}(V)(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$, where χ_0 is either trivial or the Hecke character associated to F/\mathbb{Q} .

Proof. Because (A.2) is an open and closed embedding, we have a split inclusion of \mathbb{T}^S -modules

$$H^{2}_{\text{\acute{e}t},!}(\text{Sh}_{K}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}(1)) \subset H^{2}_{\text{\acute{e}t},!}(\widetilde{\text{Sh}}_{\widetilde{K}}(V)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}(1))$$

and so the corollary is immediate from Lemma A.2.1 and Corollary A.1.7.

NAOMI SWEETING

APPENDIX B. RELATIVE DEFORMATION THEORY AND LEVEL-RAISING

In this appendix, we recall the relative deformation theory of Fakhruddin, Khare, and Patrikis [29] in a format useful for characteristic zero level-raising. In the hope that this discussion will be helpful in future work, we work with representations valued in more general groups than are needed for the main text.

B.1. Notation.

B.1.1. The group. Let G be a smooth, split group scheme over the ring of integers O of a finite extension E of \mathbb{Q}_p , such that the neutral component of G is a connected reductive group. Let G^{der} be the derived subgroup of G. Write ϖ for the uniformizer of O. We suppose p > 2 and G satisfy [29, Assumption 2.1]. When $G = GSp_4$ or GL_2 , which are the cases relevant for the main text, *loc. cit.* is satisfied for all odd p. Let d_G be the dimension of Lie G^{der} .

B.1.2. The Galois representation. Let k be a number field, and fix a Galois representation $\rho : G_k \to G(O)$. For an integer $n \ge 1$, let $\rho_n : G_k \to G(O/\varpi^n)$ be the reduction of ρ , and let $\overline{\rho} \coloneqq \rho_1$. Also write $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho$, $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n$, and $\operatorname{ad}^0 \overline{\rho}$ for the natural G_k -representations on Lie G^{der} , Lie $G^{\operatorname{der}} \otimes_O O/\varpi^n$, and Lie $G^{\operatorname{der}} \otimes_O O/\varpi$, respectively. Let Σ_p and Σ_∞ be the set of places of k lying above p and ∞ , respectively. We will always suppose fixed a finite set S of nonarchimedean places of k such that $\Sigma_p \cap S = \emptyset$ and $\rho|_{G_{k_v}}$ is unramified for $v \notin S \cup \Sigma_p$. We make the following assumptions on ρ :

Assumption B.1.3.

- (1) $H^0(k, \mathrm{ad}^0 \overline{\rho}) = H^0(k, \mathrm{ad}^0 \overline{\rho}(1)) = 0.$
- (2) ρ is odd in the sense of [29, Definition 1.2].
- (3) For all primes $v \in \Sigma_p$, $\rho|_{G_{k_v}}$ is potentially semistable with regular Hodge-Tate cocharacter $\mu_v : \mathbb{G}_m \to G$.

Notation B.1.4. Recall the category CNL_O from (1.1.3). Let $\mu : G \to H = G/G^{der}$ be the maximal abelian quotient of G, and let

$$\chi: G_k \xrightarrow{\rho} G(O) \xrightarrow{\mu} H(O)$$

be the multiplier character of ρ . For all primes v of k, let \mathcal{D}_v be the functor on CNL_O defined by

(B.1)
$$\mathcal{D}_{v}(A) = \{\rho_{A}: G_{k_{v}} \to G(A) : \rho_{A} \otimes_{A} (O/\varpi) = \overline{\rho}, \, \mu \circ \rho_{A} = \chi\}.$$

The functor \mathcal{D}_v is represented by a universal deformation ring \widetilde{R}_v . For $v \in \Sigma_p$, let R_v be the quotient of \widetilde{R}_v corresponding to potentially semistable deformations with fixed Hodge type μ_v [4, Proposition 3.0.12]; for $v \notin \Sigma_p$, set $R_v := \widetilde{R}_v$.

Our final assumption on ρ is:

Assumption B.1.5. For all primes $v \in S \cup \Sigma_p$, the point y_v of Spec $R_v[1/\varpi]$ defined by $\rho|_{G_{k_v}} : G_{k_v} \to G(O) \to G(E)$ is formally smooth.

In particular, Assumption B.1.5 implies that y_v lies on a unique irreducible component of Spec $R_v[1/\varpi]$. Let $R_v \to \overline{R}_v$ be the quotient corresponding to the Zariski closure of this irreducible component. We have the following simple criterion for Assumption B.1.5 to hold:

Lemma B.1.6. For all v, y_v is a formally smooth point of Spec $R_v[1/\varpi]$ if and only if $H^0(WD(ad^0 \rho|_{G_{k_v}})(1)) = 0.$

Proof. This is immediate from [6, Corollary 3.3.4]; note that, in the notation of *loc. cit.*, ad WD($\rho|_{G_{k_v}}$) is by definition the Weil-Deligne representation associated to ad $\rho|_{G_{k_v}}$, cf. [6, §2].

B.2. Selmer groups and relative deformation theory. Recall that a Selmer structure \mathcal{F} for an $O[G_k]$ -module M is a collection of O-submodules (the "local conditions")

$$H^1_{\mathcal{F}}(k_v, M) \subset H^1(k_v, M)$$

for all nonarchimedean¹³ places v of k, such that $H^1_{\mathcal{F}}(k_v, M) = H^1_{unr}(k_v, M)$ for all but finitely many v. The associated *Selmer group* is

$$H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(k,M) = \ker \left(H^{1}(k,M) \to \prod_{v} \frac{H^{1}(k_{v},M)}{H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(k_{v},M)} \right)$$

If M is finite and M' = Hom(M, (E/O)(1)) is the Cartier dual, then $H^1(k_v, M)$ and $H^1(k_v, M')$ are dual under the local Tate pairing. The *dual Selmer structure* \mathcal{F}^* to \mathcal{F} is the Selmer structure for M' defined by the orthogonal complement local conditions.

Proposition B.2.1. Let v be a nonarchimedean place of k. There exists a nonempty open set $Y_v \subset \text{Spec } \overline{R}_v(O)$ containing the point corresponding to ρ_v , and a collection of submodules $Z_{r,v} \subset Z^1(G_{k_v}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_r)$ with the following properties.

- (1) $Z_{r,v}$ is free over O/ϖ^r of rank dim Spec $R_v[1/\varpi]$ (= d_G if $v \notin \Sigma_p$).
- (2) Let Y_n^v be the image of Y_v in Spec $R_v(O/\varpi^n)$ and denote by $\varphi_{n,r}^{Y_v}: Y_{n+r}^v \to Y_n^v$ the reduction maps for $n, r \ge 1$. Then given $r_0 \ge 1$, there exists $n_0 \ge 1$ such that, for all $n \ge n_0$ and all $0 \le r \le r_0$, the fibers of $\varphi_{n,r}^{Y_v}$ are nonempty principal homogeneous spaces for $Z_{r,v}$.
- (3) The natural O-module maps $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_r \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{r-1}$ and $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{r-1} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_r$ induce surjections $Z_{r,v} \twoheadrightarrow Z_{r-1,v}$ and inclusions $Z_{r-1,v} \hookrightarrow Z_{r,v}$.
- (4) $Z_{r,v}$ contains all coboundaries in $Z^1(G_{k_v}, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_r)$.

Proof. See [29, Proposition 4.7].

Remark B.2.2. Although $Y_v \subset \text{Spec } \overline{R}_v(O)$ is not uniquely determined by the properties in Proposition B.2.1, the property (2) shows that $Z_{r,v}$ depends only on $\rho|_{G_{k,v}}$ (by considering the fiber over $\rho_n|_{G_{k,v}}$).

Definition B.2.3. For all $n \ge 1$, we define a Selmer structure \mathcal{F} for $\mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_n$ by

$$H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{im}\left(Z_{n,v} \to H^{1}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n})\right), & v \in S \cup \Sigma_{p}, \\ H^{1}_{\operatorname{unr}}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}), & v \notin S \cup \Sigma_{p} \cup \Sigma_{\infty}. \end{cases}$$

Notation B.2.4. Now suppose given a set \mathfrak{Q} of finite primes q of k called *admissible*, and, for each $q \in \mathfrak{Q}$, a quotient R_q^{ord} of R_q with the following properties:

- (1) R_q^{ord} is formally smooth of dimension d_G .
- (2) R_a^{ord} is stable under the conjugation action by

$$\ker\left(G(O)\to G(O/\varpi)\right).$$

We also suppose $\mathfrak{Q} \cap (S \cup \Sigma_p) = \emptyset$.

Definition B.2.5.

- (1) A lift $\tau_q : G_{k_q} \to G(A)$ of $\overline{\rho}|_{G_{k_q}}$, for a complete local Noetherian *O*-algebra *A*, is called *ordinary* if the corresponding map $R_q \to A$ factors through R_q^{ord} .
- (2) For an admissible prime $q \in \mathfrak{Q}$, a global lift $\tau : \dot{G}_k \to G(A)$ of $\overline{\rho}$ is called *q*-ordinary if $\tau|_{G_{k_q}}$ is ordinary.
- (3) For $q \in \mathfrak{Q}$, we say q is *n*-admissible if ρ_n is q-ordinary.

¹³Since $p \neq 2$, for all $v \mid \infty$ we have $H^1(k_v, M) = 0$.

(4) If q is *n*-admissible, then we define $Z^1_{\text{ord}}(G_{k_q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n) \subset Z^1(G_{k_q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n)$ as the relative tangent space to Spec $R_q^{\text{ord}} \otimes_O O/\varpi^n$ at the point corresponding to $\rho_n|_{G_{k_q}}$. Let

$$H^{1}_{\mathrm{ord}}(k_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) = \mathrm{Im}\left(Z^{1}_{\mathrm{ord}}(G_{k_{q}}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) \to H^{1}(k_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{n})\right),$$

and let $H^1_{\text{ord}}(k_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n(1)) \subset H^1(k_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n(1))$ be the orthogonal complement of $H^1_{\text{ord}}(k_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n)$. (5) If \mathfrak{Q} is a finite set of *n*-admissible primes, then we define a Selmer structure $\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})$ for $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n$ by

$$H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})}(k_{v}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}) = \begin{cases} H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(k_{v}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}), & v \notin \mathfrak{Q}, \\ H^{1}_{\mathrm{ord}}(k_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}), & v = q \in \mathfrak{Q}. \end{cases}$$

(6) If Q is a finite set of *n*-admissible primes, then we define the *relative Selmer groups* by

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) = \operatorname{Im}\left(\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \overline{\rho})\right)$$

and, dually,

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n(1)) = \operatorname{Im}\left(\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n(1)) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \overline{\rho}(1))\right).$$

Proposition B.2.6. Suppose q is n-admissible.

- (1) $Z^1_{\text{ord}}(G_{k_g}, \text{ad}^0 \rho_n)$ is free of rank d_G over O/ϖ^n and contains all coboundaries.
- (2) For all $1 < r \le n$, the natural maps $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_r \to \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{r-1}$ and $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{r-1} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_r$ induce surjections $Z^1_{\operatorname{ord}}(G_{k_q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_r) \to Z^1_{\operatorname{ord}}(G_{k_q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{r-1})$ and injections $Z^1_{\operatorname{ord}}(G_{k_q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{r-1}) \hookrightarrow Z^1_{\operatorname{ord}}(G_{k_q}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_r)$. (3) Let $Y_{q,n,\operatorname{ord}} \subset \operatorname{Spec} R^{\operatorname{ord}}_q(O)$ be the set of points reducing to $\rho_n|_{G_{k_q}}$ modulo ϖ^n , and let $Y^q_{m,n,\operatorname{ord}}$ be
- (3) Let $Y_{q,n,\text{ord}} \subset \text{Spec } R_q^{\text{ord}}(O)$ be the set of points reducing to $\rho_n|_{G_{k_q}}$ modulo ϖ^n , and let $Y_{m,n,\text{ord}}^q$ be the image in $\text{Spec } R_q^{\text{ord}}(O/\varpi^m)$ for all $m \ge n$. Then for any $1 \le r \le n$, the fibers of $Y_{m+r,n,\text{ord}}^q \to Y_{m,n,\text{ord}}^q$ are nonempty principal homogeneous spaces over $Z_{\text{ord}}^1(G_{k_q}, \text{ad}^0 \rho_r)$.

Proof. Parts (1) and (3) are immediate from the conditions on R_q^{ord} in Notation B.2.4. For (2), it is clear from the definition that

$$Z^{1}_{\mathrm{ord}}(G_{k_{q}}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{r-1}) \supseteq \mathrm{Im}\left(Z^{1}_{\mathrm{ord}}(G_{k_{q}}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{r}) \to Z^{1}_{\mathrm{ord}}(G_{k_{q}}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{r-1})\right),$$

and equality holds by (1) and counting. A similar argument shows the compatibility with

$$Z^1(G_{k_q}, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_{r-1}) \hookrightarrow Z^1(G_{k_q}, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_r)$$

Lemma B.2.7. Let \mathfrak{Q} be a finite set of *n*-admissible primes. Then:

(1) For all $a, b \ge 0$ with $a + b \le n$, there are natural exact sequences

$$0 \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{a}) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{a+b}) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{b})$$

and

$$0 \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_a(1)) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{a+b}(1)) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_b(1)).$$

(2) The exact sequences in (1) identify

$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{a}) = \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n})[\varpi^{a}]$$

and

$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_a(1)) = \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n(1))[\varpi^a]$$

for all $a \leq n$.

(3) If $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{m}) = 0$ for some integer $m \leq n$, then for all m' with $m-1 \leq m' \leq n$, the natural map induces an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{m-1}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{m'}).$$

153

Proof. Using Proposition B.2.6(1,2), the first part is [29, Lemma 6.1], except for the injectivity on the left, which follows from Assumption B.1.3(1). Part (2) is a corollary of (1), because the kernel of ϖ^a : $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n)$ coincides with the kernel of $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{n-a})$, and likewise for dual Selmer groups. So we show (3). For any m' with $m - 1 < m' \leq n$, the map

$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{m'}) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{\overline{ad}}^{0}\rho)$$

factors through $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m)$, hence vanishes; in particular, we have an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{m'-1}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{m'})$$

by (1). The claim follows by downwards induction on m'.

Lemma B.2.8. Suppose \mathfrak{Q} is a finite set of *n*-admissible primes. Then for all $m \leq n$, $\dim_{O/\varpi} \overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m) = \dim_{O/\varpi} \overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m).$

Proof. This is [29, Lemma 6.3]. Note that the local conditions are balanced in the sense of *loc. cit.*: for $v \notin \Omega$, this is [29, Proposition 4.7(3)], and for $q \in \Omega$ the same calculation applies because by Proposition B.2.6(1).

Remark B.2.9. The proof of [29, Lemma 6.3] uses Assumption B.1.3(1).

Definition B.2.10. For any finite set of primes \mathfrak{Q} disjoint from $S \cup \Sigma_p$, we define the Shafarevich-Tate groups:

(B.2)
$$\operatorname{III}_{\mathfrak{Q}}^{2}(\mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}) \coloneqq \ker \left(H^{2}(k^{S \cup \Sigma_{p} \cup \mathfrak{Q}}/k, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}) \to \prod_{v \in S \cup \Sigma_{p} \cup \mathfrak{Q}} H^{2}(k_{v}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}) \right)$$

and

(B.3)
$$\operatorname{III}_{\mathfrak{Q}}^{1}(\mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}(1)) \coloneqq \ker \left(H^{1}(k^{S \cup \Sigma_{p} \cup \mathfrak{Q}}/k, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}(1)) \to \prod_{v \in S \cup \Sigma_{p} \cup \mathfrak{Q}} H^{1}(k_{v}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}(1)) \right),$$

for all $n \ge 1$.

Lemma B.2.11. Suppose given a finite set \mathfrak{Q} of n-admissible primes such that

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) = 0.$$

Then the natural map

$$\mathrm{III}_{\mathfrak{Q}}^2(\mathrm{ad}^0\overline{\rho})\to\mathrm{III}_{\mathfrak{Q}}^2(\mathrm{ad}^0\rho_n)$$

is identically zero.

Proof. In the commutative diagram

the bottom map is identically zero because $\overline{\text{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n(1)) = 0$ by Lemma B.2.8. Hence the top map is identically zero as well. But by global Poitou-Tate duality, the top map is canonically dual to the map

$$\mathrm{III}_{\mathcal{Q}}^{2}(\mathrm{ad}^{0}\overline{\rho}) \to \mathrm{III}_{\mathcal{Q}}^{2}(\mathrm{ad}^{0}\overline{\rho}_{n}),$$

so this shows the lemma.

Theorem B.2.12 (Fakhruddin-Khare-Patrikis, [29]). Fix $m \ge 1$. Then there exists a constant $n_0 = n_0(m, \rho) \ge 1$ 1 with the following property. For any $N \ge n_0$, if \mathfrak{Q} is a finite set of N-admissible primes and

$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m) = 0$$

then there exists a representation

$$\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}: G_k \to G(O)$$

satisfying:

- (1) $\rho \equiv \rho^{\mathfrak{Q}} \pmod{\varpi^{N-m+1}}$.
- (2) $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ is unramified outside $S \cup \Sigma_p \cup \mathfrak{Q}$.
- (3) For all $v \in S \cup \Sigma_p$, the points of Spec $R_v[1/\varpi]$ corresponding to $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}|_{G_{k_n}}$ and $\rho|_{G_{k_n}}$ lie on the same irreducible component.
- (4) For all $q \in \mathfrak{Q}$, $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ is q-ordinary.

Proof. For all primes $v \in S \cup \Sigma_p$, apply Proposition B.2.1 with $r_0 = m$ to obtain an integer $n_{0,v}$ and a subset $Y_v \subset \overline{R}_v(O)$. Then let

$$n_0 = \max\left\{\max_{v \in S \cup \Sigma_p} \{n_{0,v}\} + m, 2m\right\}.$$

We construct $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ as the inverse limit of representations $\rho_n^{\mathfrak{Q}}: G_k \to G(O)$, compatible under reduction maps, with the following properties for all $n \ge 1$:

- (i) For all $v \notin S \cup \Sigma_p \cup \mathfrak{Q}, \rho_n^{\mathfrak{Q}}|_{G_{k_v}}$ is unramified.
- (ii) For $q \in \mathfrak{Q}$, $\rho_n^{\mathfrak{Q}}|_{G_{k_q}}$ is ordinary.
- (iii) For $v \in S \cup \Sigma_p$, $\rho_n^{\mathfrak{Q}}|_{G_{k_n}}$ lies in the set Y_n^v (cf. Proposition B.2.1(2)).

This suffices because $Y_v \subset \operatorname{Spec} \overline{R}_v(O) \subset \operatorname{Spec} R_v(O)$ and $\operatorname{Spec} R_q^{\operatorname{ord}}(O) \subset \operatorname{Spec} R_q(O)$ are both closed in the ϖ -adic topology, for all $v \in S \cup \Sigma_p$ and $q \in \mathfrak{Q}$. The representations $\rho_n^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ are constructed inductively, but, when constructing ρ_{n+1}^{Q} , we will allow ourselves to modify the representations

$$\rho_{n-m+2}^{\mathfrak{Q}}, \cdots, \rho_{n-1}^{\mathfrak{Q}}, \rho_n^{\mathfrak{Q}}$$

The base case of the induction is $\rho_n^{\mathfrak{Q}} \equiv \rho_n$ for $n \leq N$. For the inductive step, first fix local lifts $\rho_{n+1,v}^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ of $\rho_{n-m+1}^{\mathfrak{Q}}|_{G_{k_v}}$ for $v \in S \cup \Sigma_p \cup \mathfrak{Q}$, with the following property: if $v \in S \cup \Sigma_p$, then $\rho_{n+1,v}^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ lies in Y_{n+1}^v , and if $v = q \in \mathfrak{Q}$, then $\rho_{n+1,q}^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ lies in $\operatorname{Spec} R_q^{\operatorname{ord}}(O/\varpi^{n+1})$. Such choices are possible by Proposition B.2.1(2) and the formal smoothness of Spec R_q^{ord} . Now let $c \in$ $H^2(k^{S\cup\Sigma_p\cup\mathfrak{Q}}/k, \mathrm{ad}^0\overline{\rho})$ denote the obstruction class defined by choosing a set-theoretic lift

$$\tilde{\rho}_{n+1}^{\mathfrak{Q}}: G_{k,S\cup\Sigma_p\cup\mathfrak{Q}} \to G(O/\varpi^{n+1})$$

of $\rho_n^{\mathfrak{Q}}$; we have

$$(B.4) c \in \operatorname{III}_{\mathfrak{Q}}^2(\operatorname{ad}^0\overline{\rho})$$

since the local lifts $\rho_{n+1,v}^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ exist for all $v \in S \cup \Sigma_p \cup \mathfrak{Q}$.

Then by Lemma B.2.11, c has trivial image c_m in $\coprod_{\mathcal{Q}}^2(\mathrm{ad}^0\rho_m)$. But, because $n-m+1 \ge N-m+1 \ge m$, c_m is precisely the obstruction to lifting ρ_{n-m+1}^2 modulo ϖ^{n+1} . Thus we may choose a lift

$$\widetilde{\rho}_{n+1}^{\mathcal{Q}}: G_{k,S\cup\Sigma_p\cup\cup\mathcal{Q}} \to G(O/\varpi^{n+1})$$

with

$$\widetilde{\rho}_{n+1}^{\mathcal{Q}} \equiv \rho_{n-m+1}^{\mathcal{Q}} \pmod{\varpi^{n-m+1}}$$

For each place $v \in S \cup \mathcal{Q} \cup \Sigma_p$, comparing $\tilde{\rho}_{n+1}^{\mathcal{Q}}|_{G_{k_v}}$ to $\rho_{n+1,v}^{\mathcal{Q}}$ as lifts of $\rho_{n-m+1}^{\mathcal{Q}}|_{G_{k_v}}$ produces a collection of local classes

$$(f_v) \in \prod_{v \in S \cup \mathfrak{Q} \cup \Sigma_p} \frac{H^1(k_v, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_m)}{H^1_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})}(k_v, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_m)}.$$

Now consider the commutative diagram with exact rows coming from the Poitou-Tate long exact sequence: (*)

where the superscript \lor denotes Pontryagin duality. The injectivity of the rightmost map, or equivalently the surjectivity of its dual $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{m-1}(1)) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m(1))$, follows from Lemma B.2.7(1), Lemma B.2.8, and the vanishing of $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m(1))$.

Our next claim is that the image of (f_v) under the central vertical map of (*) lies in the image of \log_{m-1} . Indeed, because $\rho_n^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ satisfies (i)-(iii) above, it follows from Propositions B.2.1(2) and B.2.6(3) that the image of (f_v) coincides with the image of the global cocycle formed by comparing $\tilde{\rho}_{n+1}^{\mathfrak{Q}} \pmod{\pi^n}$ and $\rho_n^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ as lifts of $\rho_{n-m+1}^{\mathfrak{Q}}$. Then because the rows of (*) are exact, we conclude that (f_v) lies in the image of \log_m . Picking a preimage, we may then modify $\tilde{\rho}_{n+1}^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ to a representation $\rho'_{n+1} : G_k \to G(O/\varpi^{n+1})$ with

$$\rho_{n+1}' \equiv \rho_{n-m+1}^{\mathfrak{Q}} \pmod{\varpi^{n-m+1}}.$$

Properties (i)-(iii) hold for ρ'_{n+1} by Propositions B.2.1(2), B.2.6(3) again. To complete the inductive step, we set $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}_{n+1} \coloneqq \rho'_{n+1}$, and *relabel* $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}_{n-m+2}, \cdots, \rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}_{n}$ to be the reductions of ρ'_{n+1} .

B.3. Relation to Bloch-Kato Selmer groups.

Notation B.3.1. Let $\Sigma_p^{\text{cris}} \subset \Sigma_p$ be the set of places v|p of k such that $\rho|_{G_{k_v}}$ is crystalline. For $v \in \Sigma_p^{\text{cris}}$, we write R_v^{cris} for the crystalline quotient of R_v (constructed in [4]).

Remark B.3.2. Recall that Spec $R_v^{\text{cris}}[1/\varpi]$ is a union of irreducible components of Spec $R_v[1/\varpi]$; in particular, \overline{R}_v is a quotient of R_v^{cris} , and Spec $R_v^{\text{cris}}[1/\varpi]$ is equidimensional of the same dimension as Spec $R_v[1/\varpi]$.

Definition B.3.3. For all finite places v of k, and all $r \ge 0$, define

$$Z_{r,v}^{\mathrm{rel}} \subset Z^1(k_v, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_r)$$

to be the subspace of cocycles c corresponding to lifts $\rho_c : G_{k_v} \to G(O[\epsilon]/(\epsilon^2, \varpi^r \epsilon))$ such that the corresponding map $f_c : \widetilde{R}_v \to O[\epsilon]/(\epsilon^2, \varpi^r \epsilon)$ factors through R_v (resp. R_v^{cris}) if $v \notin \Sigma_p^{\text{cris}}$ (resp. $v \in \Sigma_p^{\text{cris}}$). In particular, $Z_{r,v}^{\text{rel}} = Z^1(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_r)$ if $v \notin \Sigma_p$.

Proposition B.3.4. Fix a place v of k.

- (1) For all $r \geq 1$, we have $Z_{r,v} \subset Z_{r,v}^{\text{rel}}$.
- (2) The cardinality of $Z_{r,v}^{\text{rel}}/Z_{r,v}$ is uniformly bounded in r.

Proof. Let $I \subset \widetilde{R}_v$ be the kernel of the map to R_v (resp. R_v^{cris}) if $v \notin \Sigma_p^{\text{cris}}$ (resp. $v \in \Sigma_p^{\text{cris}}$). For (1), suppose given a cocycle $c \in Z_{r,v}$ which corresponds to a lift

$$f_c: \widetilde{R}_v \to O[\epsilon]/(\epsilon^2, \varpi^r \epsilon)$$

of the map $f: \widetilde{R}_v \to O$ determined by $\rho|_{G_{kv}}$. Because $c \in Z_{r,v}$, for all n sufficiently large the map

$$\widetilde{R}_v \xrightarrow{f_c} O[\epsilon]/(\epsilon^2, \varpi^r \epsilon) \xrightarrow{\epsilon \mapsto \varpi^n} O/\varpi^{n+r}$$

factors through \widetilde{R}_v/I ; hence

$$f_c(I) \subset (\varpi^n - \epsilon) \cap (\epsilon) \text{ in } O[\epsilon]/(\epsilon^2, \varpi^r \epsilon)$$

for all n sufficiently large. We conclude $f_c(I) = 0$, hence c lies in $Z_{r,v}^{\text{rel}}$, which proves (1).

For (2), let $\mathfrak{p} \subset \widetilde{R}_v$ be the kernel of f, and note that $Z_{r,v}^{\mathrm{rel}}$ is canonically identified with

$$\operatorname{Hom}_O(\mathfrak{p}/(\mathfrak{p}^2, I), O/\varpi^r).$$

Since \widetilde{R}_v is Noetherian, $\mathfrak{p}/(\mathfrak{p}^2, I)$ is a finitely-generated O-module, hence

$$\lg_O Z_{r,v}^{\mathrm{rel}} = r \cdot \mathrm{rank}_O(\mathfrak{p}/(\mathfrak{p}^2, I)) + \mathcal{O}(1)$$

as r varies. But because $\rho|_{G_{k_v}}$ defines a formally smooth point of Spec $R_v[1/\varpi]$, the *O*-rank of $\mathfrak{p}/(\mathfrak{p}^2, I)$ is also dim Spec $R_v[1/\varpi]$ (which equals dim Spec $R_v^{cris}[1/\varpi]$ for $v \in \Sigma_p^{cris}$). Moreover

$$\lg_O Z_{r,v} = r \dim \operatorname{Spec} R_v[1/\varpi]$$

by Proposition B.2.1(1), so (2) follows.

Proposition B.3.5. For all places v of k, let

$$H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho) = \varprojlim_{n} H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) \subset H^{1}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho).$$

Then we have

$$H^1_{\mathcal{F}}(k_v, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho) \otimes_O E = H^1_f(k_v, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O E).$$

Proof. Suppose first that $v \notin \Sigma_p$. Then

$$\dim H^1(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O E) - \dim H^1_f(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O E) = \dim H^0(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho(1) \otimes_O E) = 0$$

by the local Euler characteristic formula, local duality, and Lemma B.1.6 (under Assumption B.1.5). By Proposition B.2.1(1,3), we also have

$$\dim H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho) \otimes_{O} E = d_{G} - \dim H^{0}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho \otimes_{O} E)$$
$$= \dim_{E} \operatorname{Lie} G^{\operatorname{der}} \otimes_{O} E - \dim H^{0}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho \otimes_{O} E)$$
$$= \dim H^{1}_{\ell}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho \otimes_{O} E),$$

and the proposition follows.

Now we consider the case $v \in \Sigma_p$. By Proposition B.2.1(1), we have

$$\dim H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho) \otimes_{O} E = \dim \operatorname{Spec} R_{v}[1/\varpi] + \dim \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho \otimes_{O} E - \dim H^{0}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho \otimes_{O} E)$$
$$= \dim D_{\mathrm{dR}}(\operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho \otimes_{O} E) / \operatorname{Fil}^{0} D_{\mathrm{dR}}(\operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho \otimes_{O} E) - \dim H^{0}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho \otimes_{O} E),$$

where the latter equality is by the proof of [6, Theorem 3.3.2] and by Assumption B.1.5. In particular, by [9, Corollary 3.8.4], we have

$$\dim H^1_{\mathcal{F}}(k_v, \mathrm{ad}^0 \,\rho) \otimes_O E = \dim H^1_f(k_v, \mathrm{ad}^0 \,\rho \otimes_O E)$$

It therefore suffices to show that $H^1_f(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O E) \subset H^1_{\mathcal{F}}(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho) \otimes_O E$.

By Proposition B.3.4, we have

$$(\varprojlim_{r} Z_{r,v}) \otimes_{O} E = (\varprojlim_{r} Z_{r,v}^{\mathrm{rel}}) \otimes_{O} E \subset Z^{1}(k_{v}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho \otimes_{O} E).$$

157

In particular, by the definition of $Z_{r,v}^{\text{rel}}$, $H_{\mathcal{F}}^1(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho) \otimes_O E$ consists of cocycles c such that the corresponding G-valued deformation ρ_c of ρ to $E[\epsilon]/(\epsilon^2)$ is crystalline (resp. potentially semistable) with Hodge type μ_v if $v \in \Sigma_p^{\text{cris}}$ (resp. $v \in \Sigma_p - \Sigma_p^{\text{cris}}$). By [4, Proposition 2.3.2], it suffices to check this condition for the representation $\sigma \circ \rho_c : G_{k_v} \to \operatorname{GL}_n(E[\epsilon]/(\epsilon^2))$ obtained by composing ρ_c with any faithful algebraic representation $\sigma : G \to \operatorname{GL}_{n,E}$.

Consider the case when $v \in \Sigma_p - \Sigma_p^{\text{cris}}$. Suppose given a cocycle $c \in H^1_f(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O E)$; a fortiori, c lies in the kernel of the map

$$H^1(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O E) \to H^1(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O B_{\operatorname{dR}}),$$

hence the cocycle corresponding to the deformation $\sigma \circ \rho_c$ of $\sigma \circ \rho$ lies in the kernel of the map

 $H^1(k_v, \mathrm{ad}^0(\sigma \circ \rho)) \to H^1(k_v, \mathrm{ad}^0(\sigma \circ \rho) \otimes B_{\mathrm{dR}}).$

In particular, $\sigma \circ \rho_c$ is potentially semistable by the argument of [2, Lemma 1.2.5], and this completes the proof. When $v \in \Sigma_p^{cris}$, an analogous argument applies, using that c lies in the kernel of the map

$$H^1(k_v, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O E) \to H^1(k_v, \mathrm{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O B_{\mathrm{cris}})$$

by definition of $H^1_f(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O E)$.

Lemma B.3.6. Suppose $H^1_f(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O E) = 0$. Then for all n sufficiently large,

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n) = 0$$

Proof. We first claim:

Claim. We have $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho) = \varprojlim_n \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n).$

Proof of claim. Set $Z_{n,v} = Z_{unr}^1(G_{k_v}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n)$ for all finite $v \notin S \cup \Sigma_p$, and set $Z_v := \varprojlim_n Z_{n,v}$ for all finite v. It follows from Proposition B.2.1(1,3) and a direct calculation in the unramified case that $Z^1(G_{k_v}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho)/Z_v$ is torsion-free and $Z_{n,v}$ is the image of the map $Z_v \to Z^1(G_{k_v}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n)$ for all $n \ge 1$. Then the claim follows from [75, Lemma 3.7.1].

Now we return to the proof of the lemma. By Proposition B.3.5, the assumption $H_f^1(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho \otimes_O E) = 0$ implies that $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho)$ is torsion, hence trivial because $H^1(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho)$ is ϖ -torsion-free by Assumption B.1.3(1). So by the claim, we have

$$\lim_{n} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) = 0,$$

which implies

$$\underbrace{\operatorname{Im}}_{n} \overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) = \bigcap_{n} \overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) = 0.$$

Hence $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n) = 0$ for *n* sufficiently large.

B.4. Controlling congruences for level-raised representations.

Definition B.4.1. (1) For each place v of k, we define

$$C_v \coloneqq \sup_r \# \left(Z_{r,v}^{\mathrm{rel}} / Z_{r,v} \right),$$

which is finite by Proposition B.3.4.

(2) If \mathfrak{Q} is a finite set of *n*-admissible primes for some $n \geq 1$, define a Selmer structure $\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})^{\text{rel}}$ for $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n$ by

$$H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^{\mathrm{rel}}}(k_{v}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}) = \begin{cases} \mathrm{im}\left(Z_{n,v}^{\mathrm{rel}} \to H^{1}(k_{v}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n})\right), & v \in S \cup \Sigma_{p}, \\ H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k_{v}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}), & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Proposition B.4.2. Let $C_1 = \sum_{v \in S \cup \Sigma_p} C_v$, where C_v is as in Definition B.4.1. Then

$$g_O \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^{\operatorname{rel}}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n) \le \lg_O \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n) + C_1$$

for all $n \geq 1$ and all *n*-admissible \mathfrak{Q} .

Proof. This follows from the exactness of the sequence

(B.5)
$$0 \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}) \to \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}^{\operatorname{rel}}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{n}) \to \prod_{v \in S \cup \Sigma_{p}} \frac{H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}^{\operatorname{rel}}}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{n})}{H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(k_{v}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{n})}.$$

Corollary B.4.3. Fix $c \ge 0$. There exists a constant $C_2 \ge 0$, depending only on c and ρ , with the following property: for all $n \ge m - 1 \ge 0$ and all n-admissible \mathfrak{Q} with $|\mathfrak{Q}| = c$,

$$\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{m}) = 0 \implies \operatorname{lg}_{O} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^{\operatorname{rel}}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) \leq C_{2}(m-1) + C_{1},$$

where C_1 is the constant in Proposition B.4.2.

Proof. By Lemma B.2.7(3), if $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m) = 0$ then

$$\varpi^{m-1}\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k,\operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{n})=0$$

Hence

$$|\mathrm{g}_{O} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{n}) \leq \left(\dim_{O/\varpi} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{n})[\varpi] \right) (m-1)$$

$$= \left(\dim_{O/\varpi} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \overline{\rho}) \right) (m-1)$$

$$\leq \left(\dim_{O/\varpi} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}}(k, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \overline{\rho}) + \sum_{q \in \mathcal{Q}} \dim_{O/\varpi} \frac{H^{1}(k_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \overline{\rho})}{H^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(k_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \overline{\rho})} \right) (m-1);$$

in the second line we have used Lemma B.2.7(2). By the local Euler characteristic formula, $\dim_{O/\varpi} H^1(k_q, \operatorname{ad}^0 \overline{\rho})$ is uniformly bounded in q, so (B.6) becomes

 $\lg_O \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_n) \leq C_2(m-1)$ (B.7)

for a constant C_2 depending only on c = |Q| and ρ . Combined with Proposition B.4.2, this proves the corollary.

Notation B.4.4. Let Σ be a finite set of places of k.

- (1) Let $A \in CNL_O$. A lift $\rho_A : G_k \to G(A)$ of $\overline{\rho}$ is called Σ -good if:
 - (i) $\mu \circ \rho_A = \chi$ (notation as in Notation B.1.4);
 - (ii) ρ_A is unramified outside $S \cup \Sigma_p \cup \Sigma_\infty \cup \Sigma$;
- (iii) For all $v \in \Sigma_p^{\text{cris}}$ (resp. $v \in \Sigma_p \Sigma_p^{\text{cris}}$), the map $\widetilde{R}_v \to A$ defined by $\rho_A|_{G_{k_v}}$ factors through $R_v^{\text{cris}} \text{ (resp. } R_v).$ (2) Let $\mathcal{D}_{\Sigma}^{\text{global}}$ be the functor on CNL_O defined by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\Sigma}^{\text{global}}(A) = \{\rho_A : G_k \to G(A) : \rho_A \otimes_A (O/\varpi) = \overline{\rho} \text{ and } \rho_A \text{ is } \Sigma\text{-good} \} / \sim,$$

where the equivalence relation is ker $(G(A) \rightarrow G(O/\varpi))$ -conjugacy. By (the same argument of) [25, Proposition 2.2.9], $\mathcal{D}_{\Sigma}^{\text{global}}$ is represented by a global deformation ring which we denote R^{Σ} .

(3) Now suppose $\Sigma = \mathcal{Q}$ for some finite subset $\mathcal{Q} \subset \mathfrak{Q}$. Let $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{Q}\text{-ord}}^{\text{global}} \subset \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{Q}}^{\text{global}}$ be the subfunctor consisting of deformations which are *q*-ordinary for all $q \in \mathcal{Q}$. By (the same argument of) [25, Proposition 2.2.9], $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{Q}\text{-ord}}^{\text{global}}$ is represented by the $\mathcal{Q}\text{-ordinary quotient}$ of $R^{\mathcal{Q}}$, which we denote $R_{\mathcal{Q}}$.

(4) Given a homomorphism $f_{\mathfrak{Q}}: R_{\mathfrak{Q}} \to O$, define the *congruence ideal*

(B.8)
$$\eta_{f_{\mathfrak{Q}}} \subset O \coloneqq f_{\mathfrak{Q}}(\operatorname{Ann}_{R_{\mathfrak{Q}}}(\ker f_{\mathfrak{Q}})) \subset O.$$

Lemma B.4.5. Let $m \ge 1$ be an integer. Then we may choose the integer $n_0(m, \rho) \ge 1$ in Theorem B.2.12 such that the following holds: suppose $n \ge n_0(m, \rho)$, and \mathfrak{Q} is an *n*-admissible set such that

$$\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(\operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{m})=0$$

Let $f_{\mathfrak{Q}} : R_{\mathfrak{Q}} \to O$ be the homomorphism corresponding to the representation $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ from Theorem B.2.12. Then ord_{ϖ} $\eta_{f_{\mathfrak{Q}}} \leq \lg_{O} \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})^{\operatorname{rel}}}(\operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{n-m+1}).$

Proof. Let $n_1(m, \rho) \ge 1$ satisfy the conclusion of Theorem B.2.12, and let C_1 be the constant from Proposition B.4.2. We set $n_0(m, \rho) := \max \{n_1(m, \rho), C_1 + 2m - 1\}$, and check the claimed property. Write $I := \ker f_{\mathfrak{Q}}$. We have

$$\operatorname{Fitt}_{R_{\mathfrak{Q}}}(I) \subset \operatorname{Ann}_{R_{\mathfrak{Q}}}(I),$$

so by base change for Fitting ideals,

$$\operatorname{Fitt}_{R_{\mathfrak{Q}}/I}(I/I^2) \subset \eta_{f_{\mathfrak{Q}}}$$

Because $R_{\mathfrak{Q}}/I = O$, it therefore suffices to bound $\lg_O I/I^2$.

Now note that O-module maps $I/I^2 \to O/\varpi^s$, for any integer $s \ge 1$, are canonically in bijection with lifts $R_{\mathfrak{Q}} \to O[\epsilon]/(\epsilon^2, \varpi^s \epsilon)$ of $f_{\mathfrak{Q}}$. Taking s = n - m + 1 and using that $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}} \equiv \rho \pmod{\varpi^{n-m+1}}$, such lifts are in bijection with classes in $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})^{\operatorname{rel}}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{n-m+1})$. Hence

(B.9)
$$\operatorname{Hom}(I/I^2, O/\varpi^{n-m+1}) \cong \operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})^{\operatorname{rel}}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{n-m+1}).$$

Now, by Lemma B.2.7(3), $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{n-m+1})$ is ϖ^{m-1} -torsion. In particular, (B.5) shows that $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})^{\operatorname{rel}}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{n-m+1})$ is $\varpi^{m+C_{1}-1}$ -torsion, hence a fortiori ϖ^{n-m} -torsion. Since I is finitely generated over $R_{\mathfrak{Q}}$, we conclude that I/I^{2} is ϖ^{n-m} -torsion.

Thus

$$\lg_O I/I^2 = \lg_O \operatorname{Hom}_O(I/I^2, O/\varpi^{n-m+1}),$$

and the lemma follows from (B.9).

We remark that essentially the same argument shows:

Remark B.4.6. The map $f_{\mathfrak{Q}} : R_{\mathfrak{Q}} \to O$ is an isomorphism if and only if $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q})^{\operatorname{rel}}}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \overline{\rho}) = 0.$

Definition B.4.7. Let *q* be *n*-admissible. We say that *q* is *standard* if:

- (1) There exists a representation $\tau_q: G_{k_q} \to G(O)$ which is both ordinary and unramified.
- (2) For all $m \leq n$, both

$$\frac{H_{\text{unr}}^1(k_q, \text{ad}^0\rho_m) + H_{\text{ord}}^1(k_q, \text{ad}^0\rho_m)}{H_{\text{unr}}^1(k_q, \text{ad}^0\rho_m)}$$

and

$$\frac{H_{\text{unr}}^1(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \text{ad}^0 \rho_m) + H_{\text{ord}}^1(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \text{ad}^0 \rho_m)}{H_{\text{ord}}^1(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \text{ad}^0 \rho_m)}$$

are free of rank one over O/ϖ^m .

Lemma B.4.8. Fix an integer $m \ge 1$ and let $n_0 = n_0(m, \rho)$ be the integer of Theorem B.2.12. Let $n \ge \max\{n_0, 3m\}$ be an integer and suppose given a finite set \mathcal{Q} of (n+m)-admissible primes and two additional *n*-admissible primes $\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} \notin \mathcal{Q}$, such that:

- (1) q is standard and not (n + 1)-admissible.
- (2) $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{m}) = \overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q}_{\boldsymbol{qp}})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{m}) = 0 \text{ but } \overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q}_{\boldsymbol{q}})}(k, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}) \neq 0.$

Then the representation ρ^{Qqp} constructed in Theorem B.2.12 is ramified at p modulo ϖ^{n+m} .

Proof. Let $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ and $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}qp}$ be the representations afforded by Theorem B.2.12, so that $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}} \equiv \rho \pmod{\varpi^{n+1}}$ and $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}qp} \equiv \rho \pmod{\varpi^{n-m+1}}$. Modulo ϖ^{n+m} , $\rho_{\mathfrak{Q}}$ and $\rho_{\mathfrak{Q}qp}$ differ by a cocycle $c \in H^1(k, \mathrm{ad}^0\rho_{2m-1})$. (This make sense because $2m - 1 \leq n - m + 1$.) Also let $d \in \mathrm{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q}q)}(k, \mathrm{ad}^0\rho_{2m-1}(1))$ be an element whose image in $\overline{\mathrm{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{Q}q)^*}(k, \mathrm{ad}^0\rho_{2m-1}(1))$ is nonzero, which exists Lemma B.2.8. By global Poitou-Tate duality, we have

(B.10)
$$\sum_{v} \langle c, d \rangle_{v} = 0,$$

where $\langle c, d \rangle_v$ is the local Tate pairing. By Proposition B.2.1(2) and by the choice of n_0 , $\log_v c$ lies in $H^1_{\mathcal{F}(Q_q)}(k_v, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{2m-1})$ for all $v \neq p, q$. In particular,

(B.11)
$$\langle c, d \rangle_{\mathbf{p}} \neq 0 \iff \langle c, d \rangle_{\mathbf{q}} \neq 0$$

Our next claim is that:

$$(B.12) \qquad \langle c, d \rangle_{\boldsymbol{q}} \neq 0$$

Indeed, $\operatorname{Res}_{q} c$ lies in $H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(k_{q}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}) + H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(k_{q}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1})$; one can see this by comparing both $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ and $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}qp}$ to the representation τ_{q} in Definition B.4.7(1). Because q is not (n + 1)-admissible, $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}$ is not ordinary at q modulo ϖ^{n+1} , so

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\boldsymbol{q}} c \in \frac{H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{2m-1}) + H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{2m-1})}{H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{2m-1})} \approx O/\varpi^{2m-1}$$

is nonzero modulo ϖ^m . On the other hand,

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\boldsymbol{q}} d \in \frac{H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}(1))}{H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}(1)) \cap H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}(1))} = \frac{H_{\operatorname{ord}}^{1}(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}(1)) + H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}(1))}{H_{\operatorname{unr}}^{1}(k_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}(1))} \approx O/\varpi^{2m-1}$$

is also nonzero modulo ϖ^m . Otherwise, the image of d modulo ϖ^m would lie in $\operatorname{Sel}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m(1))$, which contradicts the assumption that $\overline{\operatorname{Sel}}_{\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{Q})^*}(k, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_m(1)) = 0$. Since local Poitou-Tate duality gives a perfect pairing

$$\frac{H_{\mathrm{unr}}^{1}(k_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}) + H_{\mathrm{ord}}^{1}(k_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1})}{H_{\mathrm{ord}}^{1}(k_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1})} \times \frac{H_{\mathrm{ord}}^{1}(k_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}(1))}{H_{\mathrm{ord}}^{1}(k_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}(1)) \cap H_{\mathrm{unr}}^{1}(k_{q}, \mathrm{ad}^{0}\rho_{2m-1}(1))} \to O/\varpi^{2m-1},$$

we indeed have (B.12). Then by (B.11), we conclude

$$\langle c, d \rangle_{\boldsymbol{p}} \neq 0.$$

Since $loc_{p} d$ is unramified, we must have

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\boldsymbol{p}} c \notin H^1_{\operatorname{unr}}(k_{\boldsymbol{p}}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{2m-1}).$$

Since $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}|_{G_{k_p}}$ is unramified, and $\operatorname{Res}_p c$ measures the difference between $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}}|_{G_{k_p}}$ and $\rho^{\mathfrak{Q}qp}|_{G_{k_p}}$ modulo ϖ^{n+m} , this proves the lemma.

APPENDIX C. LARGE IMAGE RESULTS

Throughout this appendix, let E be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p , with ring of integers $O_E \subset E$.

C.1. Generalities on *p*-adic Lie groups.

Lemma C.1.1. Let \mathfrak{h} be a simple Lie algebra over E.

(1) If $\mathfrak{g} \subset \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus n}$ is a Lie subalgebra that surjects onto each factor, then \mathfrak{g} is isomorphic to $\mathfrak{h}^{\oplus m}$ for some integer $m \leq n$. Up to an automorphism of $\mathfrak{h}^{\oplus n}$, the map $\mathfrak{g} \cong \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus m} \to \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus n}$ is given by

$$(h_1, \dots, h_m) \mapsto (\underbrace{h_1, \dots, h_1}_{n_1 \text{ times}}, \underbrace{h_2, \dots, h_2}_{n_2 \text{ times}}, \dots, \underbrace{h_m, \cdots, h_m}_{n_m \text{ times}})$$

with $n_1 + \cdots + n_m = n$.

(2) The only ideal $I \subset \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus n}$ that surjects onto each factor is $I = \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus n}$.

Proof. We prove (1) by induction on n, with the case n = 1 being trivial. Supposing we know (1) for n - 1, let $\mathfrak{g} \subset \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus n}$ be a subalgebra surjective onto each factor, and let \mathfrak{g}' be the image of \mathfrak{g} under the projection $\mathfrak{h}^{\oplus n} = \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus (n-1)} \oplus \mathfrak{h} \to \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus (n-1)}$. Then by the inductive hypothesis, $\mathfrak{g}' \cong \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus m}$ for some integer $m \leq n - 1$. Now, $\mathfrak{g} \subset \mathfrak{g}' \oplus \mathfrak{h}$ is a subalgebra surjective onto each factor, so by Goursat's Lemma for Lie algebras, \mathfrak{g} is either $\mathfrak{g}' \oplus \mathfrak{h}$ or the graph of isomorphism between \mathfrak{h} and a simple factor of \mathfrak{g}' . In particular, \mathfrak{g} is isomorphic to either $\mathfrak{g}' \cong \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus m}$ or $\mathfrak{g}' \oplus \mathfrak{h} \cong \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus (m+1)}$, and it is easy to check that the embedding $\mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus n}$ is of the desired form using that $\mathfrak{g}' \to \mathfrak{h}^{\oplus (n-1)}$ is. For (2), it suffices to check that the subalgebras in (1) are never ideals unless n = m (and hence $n_1 = n_2 = \cdots = n_m = 1$). Indeed, it suffices to check that the diagonal subalgebra $\mathfrak{h} \subset \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{h}$ is not an ideal, but this is clear: since \mathfrak{h} is simple, it is not abelian, so for some $h_1, h_2 \in \mathfrak{h}$ we have $[h_1, h_2] \neq 0$. In particular, the bracket $[(h_1, h_1), (h_2, 0)]$ is not contained in the diagonal subalgebra, which witnesses that the latter is not an ideal.

Corollary C.1.2. Let \mathfrak{h} be an absolutely simple Lie algebra over \mathbb{Q}_p . Then for any finite extension E/\mathbb{Q}_p :

- (1) The base change $\mathfrak{h}_E \coloneqq \mathfrak{h} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ is simple as a Lie algebra over \mathbb{Q}_p .
- (2) For any \mathbb{Q}_p -Lie subalgebra $\mathfrak{g} \subset \mathfrak{h}_E$ such that $E \cdot \mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{h}_E$, \mathfrak{g} is simple.

Proof. For any subalgebra $\mathfrak{g} \subset \mathfrak{h}_E$, consider the extension of scalars

$$\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \subset \mathfrak{h}_E \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \mathfrak{h}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}.$$

For (1), suppose \mathfrak{g} is an ideal; then the image of $\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ in each factor of $\mathfrak{h}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}$ is a $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -stable ideal, hence either 0 or $\mathfrak{h}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}$. Now, $\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \subset \mathfrak{h}_E \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ is stable under the action of $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$, which transitively permutes the factors of $\mathfrak{h}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}$. Hence if $\mathfrak{g} \neq 0$, then $\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ surjects onto each factor of $\mathfrak{h}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}$. Then by Lemma C.1.1(2), $\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p = \mathfrak{h}_E \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, so $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{h}_E$. This proves (1). For (2), if $\mathfrak{g} \cdot E = \mathfrak{h}_E$, then $\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ generates $\mathfrak{h}_E \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \mathfrak{h}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}$ under the action of $E \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}$, so $\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ surjects onto each factor. By Lemma C.1.1(1), we conclude $\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \mathfrak{h}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}^{\oplus m}$ for some $m \leq [E:\mathbb{Q}_p]$.

If $I \subset \mathfrak{g}$ is a nonzero ideal, then $I \cdot E$ is a nonzero ideal of $\mathfrak{g} \cdot E = \mathfrak{h}_E$, so $I \cdot E = \mathfrak{h}_E$. But then $I \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ is an ideal of $\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ that surjects onto each factor of $\mathfrak{h}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}$, and, inspecting the possible embeddings

$$\mathfrak{g}\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p\cong\mathfrak{h}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}^{\oplus m}\hookrightarrow\mathfrak{h}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}$$

from Lemma C.1.1(1), we conclude that $I \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ surjects onto each factor of $\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \mathfrak{h}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}^{\oplus m}$. But by Lemma C.1.1(2), $I \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p = \mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, so then $I = \mathfrak{g}$. This proves (2).

C.2. Strongly irreducible representations. For the following definition only, we allow E to be an arbitrary algebraic extension of \mathbb{Q}_p .

Definition C.2.1. Suppose V is a finite-dimensional E-vector space, G is a group, and $\rho : G \to \operatorname{GL}_E(V)$ is a representation. Then V (or ρ) is said to be strongly irreducible if, for any finite-index subgroup $H \subset G$, (ρ, V) is absolutely irreducible as a representation of H.

Lemma C.2.2. Let V be an E-vector space of finite dimension, and let $G \subset GL_E(V)$ be a compact p-adic Lie subgroup. If V is strongly irreducible as a representation of G, then:

- (1) No nontrivial element of G/Z_G is fixed under conjugation by an open subgroup $U \subset G$; in particular G/Z_G has trivial center.
- (2) The group G/Z_G contains no finite normal subgroup.
- (3) If $g \in G$ acts unipotently on Lie G, then g has only one eigenvalue on V.
- (4) The Lie algebra $\operatorname{Lie} G/Z_G$ is semisimple.
- (5) The natural maps $G \cap SL_E(V) \to G/Z_G$ and $Z_G \to \det G$ induce isomorphisms on Lie algebras.
- (6) *V* is absolutely irreducible as a representation of $\text{Lie}(G \cap \text{SL}_E(V))$.
- *Proof.* (1) Let $h \in G$ be an element whose image in G/Z_G is invariant under conjugation by U. Then for all $g \in U$, $hgh^{-1}g^{-1}$ lies in Z_G , so by Schur's Lemma

(C.1)
$$hgh^{-1} = g\lambda_h(g) \text{ for a scalar } \lambda_h(g) \in E^{\times}$$

It is easy to check that $g \mapsto \lambda_h(g)$ is a group homomorphism $U \to E^{\times}$. On the other hand, if $\dim_E V = n$, then (C.1) implies that $\lambda_h(g)$ lies in $\mu_n(E)$ for all $g \in U$. In particular, the homomorphism $g \mapsto \lambda_h(g)$ has open kernel, so h commutes with an open subgroup of U. By strong irreducibility and Schur's Lemma again, h is scalar, so has trivial image in G/Z_G .

- (2) Let $H \subset G/Z_G$ be a finite normal subgroup. Then the map $G \to Aut(H)$ has open kernel, so (1) implies that H is trivial.
- (3) Let $g = g^{ss}g^u$ be the Jordan decomposition in $GL_E(V)$. Then

$$\operatorname{ad}(g) - 1 = (\operatorname{ad}(g^{ss}) - 1)(\operatorname{ad}(g^u) - 1) + (\operatorname{ad}(g^u) - 1) + (\operatorname{ad}(g^{ss}) - 1)$$

as operators on $\mathfrak{gl}_E(V)$. In particular, if $\operatorname{ad}(g) - 1$ is nilpotent on $\mathfrak{g} \subset \mathfrak{gl}_E(V)$, then for N sufficiently large, \mathfrak{g} lies in the kernel of $(\operatorname{ad}(g^{ss}) - 1)^N$.

But since $\operatorname{ad} g^{ss} - 1$ is diagonalizable over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ as an operator on $\mathfrak{gl}_E(V)$, we conclude \mathfrak{g} lies in the kernel of $\operatorname{ad}(g^{ss}) - 1$; hence g^{ss} commutes with an open subgroup of G, so by Schur's Lemma g^{ss} is a scalar in $\operatorname{GL}_E(V)$. In particular, $g = g^{ss}g^u$ has a single eigenvalue on V.

- (4) By [11, §6, Proposition 5], g is a direct sum g = h ⊕ s, with h semisimple and s abelian. Since Lie(G/Z_G) has trivial center by (1), it follows that the natural maps induce isomorphisms h → Lie(G/Z_G) and Lie Z_G → s. In particular, Lie(G/Z_G) is semisimple.
- (5) The map $\operatorname{Lie}(G \cap \operatorname{SL}_E(V)) \to \operatorname{Lie}(G/Z_G) = \mathfrak{h}$ is injective with abelian cokernel; hence it is an isomorphism. Since $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{s}$, it follows that the determinant identifies $\operatorname{Lie} Z_G = \mathfrak{s} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Lie}(\operatorname{det}(G))$.
- (6) By (5), \mathfrak{g} is a direct sum $\mathfrak{g} = \operatorname{Lie}(Z_G) \oplus \operatorname{Lie}(G \cap \operatorname{SL}_E(V))$. So if $\operatorname{Lie}(G \cap \operatorname{SL}_E(V))$ stabilized any subspace of V after extending scalars, \mathfrak{g} would as well, which contradicts strong irreducibility.

Lemma C.2.3. Let V be a symplectic E-vector space of dimension 2 or 4, and let $G \subset GSp_E(V)$ be a compact p-adic Lie subgroup. If V is strongly irreducible as a representation of G, then every nontrivial closed normal subgroup of G/Z_G has finite index.

Proof. Abbreviate $\overline{G} = G/Z_G$ and $\overline{\mathfrak{g}} = \operatorname{Lie} \overline{G}$. Then $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}$ is a Lie subalgebra (over \mathbb{Q}_p) of $\mathfrak{sp}_{n,E}$, with n = 2 or 4. After replacing E with a finite extension, we may assume $E \cdot \overline{\mathfrak{g}} \subset \mathfrak{sp}_{n,E}$ is split. It is also semisimple (by Lemma C.2.2(4)) of rank at most 2, so $E \cdot \overline{\mathfrak{g}}$ is isomorphic to $\mathfrak{sl}_{2,E}$, $\mathfrak{sl}_{2,E} \times \mathfrak{sl}_{2,E}$, or $\mathfrak{sp}_{4,E}$. The second case is impossible by Lemma C.2.2(5, 6), since $\mathfrak{sl}_{2,E} \times \mathfrak{sl}_{2,E}$ admits no faithful irreducible two- or four-dimensional symplectic representation. Hence $E \cdot \overline{\mathfrak{g}}$ is simple, so $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}$ is simple by Corollary C.1.2(2). Now if $H \subset \overline{G}$ is

any closed normal subgroup, it has the structure of a compact *p*-adic Lie subgroup by [59, Ch. III, Théorème 3.2.3]. In particular, $\mathfrak{h} := \text{Lie } H$ is an ideal of $\overline{\mathfrak{g}}$, hence $\mathfrak{h} = 0$ or $\mathfrak{h} = \overline{\mathfrak{g}}$. By arguing with the exponential map, we see that H is either finite or has finite index; but if finite it is trivial by Lemma C.2.2(2), so the lemma is proved.

In fact, we extract the following more precise statement in the four-dimensional case.

Proposition C.2.4. Let $G \subset GSp_4(E)$ be a compact p-adic Lie subgroup, such that the defining representation is strongly irreducible. Write $\mathfrak{h} := \text{Lie}(G/Z_G) \subset \mathfrak{sp}_{4,E}$. Then after a finite extension of E:

- (1) $E \cdot \mathfrak{h}$ is isomorphic to either $\mathfrak{sp}_{4,E}$ or $\mathfrak{sl}_{2,E}$.
- (2) In the latter case G is contained in the image of the symmetric cube representation $\operatorname{Sym}^3 : \operatorname{GL}_2(E) \to \operatorname{GL}_4(E)$ up to $\operatorname{GL}_4(E)$ -conjugacy.

Proof. We have seen (1) in the proof of Lemma C.2.3, so we prove (2). Let V be the four-dimensional defining representation of G; as a representation of $E \cdot \mathfrak{h} \cong \mathfrak{sl}_{2,E}$, V is isomorphic to the symmetric cube. In particular, after extending E if necessary, the embedding $E \cdot \mathfrak{h} \cong \mathfrak{sl}_{2,E} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{sp}_{4,E}$ is conjugate to Lie Sym³ by some $g \in \mathrm{GL}_4(E)$. We may assume without loss of generality that g = 1. Let $S \subset \mathrm{GSp}_4(E)$ be the image of the symmetric cube embedding over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$; we first claim that G is contained in $S \cdot E^{\times} \subset \mathrm{GL}_4(E)$. Indeed, for any $g \in G$, $\mathrm{Ad}(g)$ preserves $\mathfrak{sl}_{2,E} = E \cdot \mathfrak{h}$. Since the automorphism group of $\mathfrak{sl}_{2,E}$ is $\mathrm{PGL}_2(E)$, for each $g \in G$ there exists $h \in S$ such that $\mathrm{Ad}(h) = \mathrm{Ad}(g)$ on $\mathfrak{sl}_{2,E}$. In particular $h^{-1}g \in \mathrm{GL}_4(E)$ commutes with an open subgroup of G (by arguing with the exponential map), so by Schur's Lemma and strong irreducibility $h^{-1}g$ is scalar. So $G \subset S \cdot E^{\times}$, as desired.

If E' denotes the compositum of the finitely many cubic extensions of E, then $S \cdot E^{\times}$ is contained in the image of the symmetric cube map $\operatorname{GL}_2(E') \to \operatorname{GL}_4(E')$, and this completes the proof.

The following lemma is a corollary of [16, Lemma 4.3].

Lemma C.2.5. Fix a number field F, and let $\rho : G_F \to \operatorname{GL}_E(V)$ be a continuous, absolutely irreducible representation of G_F . Assume there exists a place $\mathfrak{p}|p$ of F such that $V|_{G_{F_p}}$ is Hodge-Tate with distinct weights. Then, after possibly replacing E by a finite extension, there exists a number field $K \supset F$ and a strongly irreducible, continuous representation $\rho_0 : G_K \to \operatorname{GL}_E(V_0)$ such that $\rho \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_F} \rho_0$.

Proof. After taking a finite extension of E, there exists a Galois extension K of F such that each constituent of $\rho|_{G_K}$ is strongly irreducible. Write

$$\rho|_{G_K}^{ss} = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{j} \rho_i$$

for some $0 \le j < n$. Then the ρ_i are all distinct because ρ has distinct Hodge-Tate weights, so there is a well-defined action of $\operatorname{Gal}(K/F)$ on the set of ρ_i 's. This action must be transitive or else ρ would be reducible; hence $\rho|_{G_K}$ is semisimple and each ρ_i has the same dimension m. Replacing K by the fixed field of the stabilizer of ρ_0 , it follows that $\rho = \operatorname{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_F} \rho_0$.

Corollary C.2.6. Let π be a relevant, non-endoscopic automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ such that $\operatorname{BC}(\pi)$ (Lemma 2.2.17) is not an automorphic induction. Then for each isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ with p > 3, $V_{\pi,\iota}$ is strongly irreducible.

Proof. By Lemma 2.2.12, $V_{\pi,\iota}$ is absolutely irreducible. Suppose for contradiction that it is not strongly irreducible. By Lemma C.2.5, we may assume that $V_{\pi,\iota} = \operatorname{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} \rho_0$, where K/\mathbb{Q} is either quartic or quadratic and ρ_0 is strongly irreducible and Hodge-Tate. If K is quartic, ρ_0 corresponds to Hecke character

of K with algebraic infinity type via the usual recipe, and $BC(\pi)$ is the automorphic induction of $\chi |\cdot|^{-1/2}$, a contradiction.

If K is quadratic, then $V_{\pi,\iota} \cong V_{\pi,\iota} \otimes \omega_{K/\mathbb{Q}}$ where $\omega_{K/\mathbb{Q}}$ is the quadratic character of $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ corresponding to K. Hence $BC(\pi) \cong BC(\pi) \otimes \omega_{K/\mathbb{Q}}$ by strong multiplicity one for GL_4 , so by [3, Theorem 4.2(b)] $BC(\pi)$ is an automorphic induction. This is a contradiction, so indeed $V_{\pi,\iota}$ is strongly irreducible, as desired. \Box

C.2.7. For the next corollary, we use the following notation. Let $\varpi \in O_E$ be a uniformizer; then for an O_E -lattice T in an E-vector space V, we write $T_n \coloneqq T/\varpi^n T$ for all $n \ge 1$.

Corollary C.2.8. Let *F* be a number field, and let (ρ, V) be as in Lemma C.2.5 above. Assume, if dim V = 1, that there exists a place $\mathfrak{p}|p$ of *F* such that the character $\rho|_{G_{F_{\mathfrak{p}}}}$ has nonzero Hodge-Tate weight. Then for any Galois-stable O_E -lattice $T \subset V$, there exists a constant $C \ge 0$ such that

$$\varpi^C H^1(F(\rho)/F, T_n) = 0$$

for all $n \geq 1$.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we can extend E so that the conclusion of Lemma C.2.5 holds, for some finite extension K/F and some $\rho_0 : G_K \to \operatorname{GL}_E(V_0)$. Let K^c be the Galois closure of K; then by inflation-restriction, it suffices to show

(C.2)
$$H^1(K^c(\rho)/K^c, T_n)$$
 is uniformly bounded in n .

We label the Gal (K^c/F) -conjugates of (ρ_0, V_0) as (ρ_i, V_i) , for $0 \le i < \dim V / \dim V_0$, and let

$$G \subset \prod_i \operatorname{GL}_E(V_i)$$

be the image of G_{K^c} under ρ . We assume without loss of generality that $T = \bigoplus T_i$ for Galois-stable O_E lattices $T_i \subset V_i$. Hence to show (C.2), it suffices to show $H^1(G, T_{0,n})$ is uniformly bounded in n.

Case 1. Z_G contains an element z that acts nontrivially on V_0 .

Then by inflation-restriction, we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1(G/\langle z \rangle, T^z_{0,n}) \to H^1(G, T_{0,n}) \to H^1(\langle z \rangle, T_{0,n})^{G/\langle z \rangle}.$$

The outer terms are clearly uniformly bounded, so we are done in this case.

Case 2. Z_G acts trivially on V_0 .

For this case, note that G/Z_G is a compact *p*-adic Lie group with semisimple Lie algebra; indeed, if $G_i = \rho_i(G_{K^c})$ with center $Z_{G_i} \subset G_i$, then we have an injection

(C.3)
$$\operatorname{Lie}(G/Z_G) \hookrightarrow \prod_i \operatorname{Lie}(G_i/Z_{G_i}),$$

and the semisimplicity of $\text{Lie}(G/Z_G)$ follows by Goursat's Lemma and Lemma C.2.2(4). In particular, by [29, Lemma B.1], $H^1(G/Z_G, T_{0,n})$ is uniformly bounded in n. By inflation-restriction again, it then suffices to show

$$H^1(Z_G, T_{0,n})^{G/Z_G} = \operatorname{Hom}_G(Z_G, T_{0,n})$$

is uniformly bounded. Since G acts trivially on Z_G and V_0 is strongly irreducible, it suffices to ensure V_0 is not the trivial representation of G. However, if this occurs then $\rho_0 : G_K \to \operatorname{GL}_E(V_0)$ is a finite-order character, so all its Galois conjugates ρ_i also have finite order. This would mean that $\rho|_{G_{F_v}}$ has trivial Hodge-Tate weights, which is ruled out by our assumptions on ρ . **Lemma C.2.9.** Let F be a number field, and let $\rho : G_F \to GL_E(V)$ be as in Lemma C.2.5 above, so after an extension of scalars we can write

$$\rho \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_F} \rho_0$$

for a number field $K \supset F$ and a strongly irreducible representation $\rho_0 : G_K \to \operatorname{GL}_E(V_0)$. Let L be an abelian Galois extension of F (possibly infinite) which is disjoint from K; then $\rho|_{G_L}$ is absolutely irreducible.

Proof. Let K^c be the Galois closure of K; then

$$\rho|_{G_{K^c}} = \bigoplus \rho_0^{\sigma}|_{G_{K^c}},$$

where ρ_0^{σ} runs over the distinct $\operatorname{Gal}(K^c/K)$ -conjugates of ρ_0 . In particular, if v is a prime of K^c lying over the p from Lemma C.2.5, then

(C.4)
$$\rho_0^{\sigma}|_{G_{K_v^c}}$$
 and $\rho_0|_{G_{K_v^c}}$ have distinct Hodge-Tate weights if $\rho_0^{\sigma} \ncong \rho_0$

If $\rho|_{G_L}$ is reducible (after replacing *E* by any finite extension), then

$$1 < \dim_{E} \operatorname{Hom}_{E[G_{L}]} \left((\operatorname{Ind}_{G_{K}}^{G_{F}} \rho_{0})|_{G_{L}}, (\operatorname{Ind}_{G_{K}}^{G_{F}} \rho_{0})|_{G_{L}} \right)$$

= dim_E Hom_{E[G_{L}]} \left(\operatorname{Ind}_{G_{KL}}^{G_{L}} \rho_{0}|_{G_{KL}}, \operatorname{Ind}_{G_{KL}}^{G_{L}} \rho_{0}|_{G_{KL}} \right)
= dim_E Hom_{E[G_{KL}]} \left(\rho_{0}|_{G_{KL}}, \operatorname{Res}_{G_{KL}}^{G_{L}} \operatorname{Ind}_{G_{KL}}^{G_{L}} \rho_{0}|_{G_{KL}} \right)
$$\leq \dim_{E} \operatorname{Hom}_{E[G_{K^{c}L}]} \left(\rho_{0}|_{G_{K^{c}L}}, \bigoplus \rho_{0}^{\sigma}|_{G_{K^{c}L}} \right).$$

In particular, we may fix $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(K^c/K)$ such that $\rho_0^\sigma \ncong \rho_0$ but

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{E[G_{K^{c}L}]}(\rho_{0}|_{G_{K^{c}L}},\rho_{0}^{\sigma}|_{G_{K^{c}L}}) \neq 0$$

We claim $\rho_0|_{G_{K^cL}}$ is absolutely irreducible; indeed, if $G_0 = \rho_0(G_{K^c})$, then $H = \rho_0(G_{K^cL})$ is a normal subgroup of G_0 with abelian cokernel. Then $\text{Lie}(H \cap \text{SL}_E(V_0)) \subset \text{Lie}(G_0 \cap \text{SL}_E(V_0))$ has abelian cokernel, which implies $\text{Lie}(H \cap \text{SL}_E(V_0)) = \text{Lie}(G_0 \cap \text{SL}_E(V_0))$ by Lemma C.2.2(4, 5). Then $H \cap \text{SL}_E(V_0)$ acts strongly irreducibly on V_0 by Lemma C.2.2(6), so *a fortiori* $\rho_0|_{G_{K^cL}}$ is absolutely irreducible, as desired.

This implies that $\operatorname{Hom}_{E[G_{K^c}L]}(\rho_0, \rho_0^{\sigma})$, which is nonzero by assumption, is in fact one-dimensional. It is also preserved by the natural action of G_{K^c} on $\operatorname{Hom}_E(\rho_0, \rho_0^{\sigma})$, because G_{K^cL} is normal in G_{K^c} . Hence $\operatorname{Gal}(K^cL/K^c)$ acts on $\operatorname{Hom}_{E[G_{K^cL}]}(\rho_0, \rho_0^{\sigma})$ by scalars, and in particular we conclude that

for a character χ of $\operatorname{Gal}(K^c L/K^c) \subset \operatorname{Gal}(L/F)$. Because $\operatorname{Gal}(K^c/K)$ acts trivially by conjugation on $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)$ and $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(K^c/K)$ has finite order, (C.5) implies

$$\rho_0 \cong \rho_0 \otimes \chi^n$$
 for some $n \ge 1$,

hence χ has finite order. But then (C.5) contradicts (C.4), so the lemma is proved.

C.3. Galois representations associated to Hilbert modular forms.

C.3.1. Fix a totally real field F. The following result is due to Nekovar:

Theorem C.3.2. Let π be an automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_F)$ corresponding to a non-CM Hilbert modular form of weight $(2k_v)_{v|\infty}$, with each $k_v \ge 1$. If E_0 is a strong coefficient field for π , then there exists a subfield $E_1 \subset E_0$ and a quaternion algebra D over E_1 , along with a finite abelian extension K of F, such that for all primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , with residue characteristic p: (1) The image of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ contains an open subgroup of

$$H_{\mathfrak{p}} \coloneqq \left\{ x \in \left(D \otimes_{E_1} E_{1, \mathfrak{p}} \right)^{\times} : \operatorname{Nm}(x) \in \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \right\},\$$

where the embedding $H_{\mathfrak{p}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_2(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}})$ is induced by the natural embedding $D \otimes_{E_1} E_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \hookrightarrow D \otimes_{E_1} E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}$ and an isomorphism $D \otimes_{E_1} E_{0,\mathfrak{p}} \simeq M_2(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}})$.

(2) The image $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_K)$ is contained in $H_{\mathfrak{p}}$.

Moreover, for any finite abelian extension K'/K and all but finitely many \mathfrak{p} , the image of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{K'})$ is a conjugate of

$$\left\{g \in \mathrm{GL}_2(O_{E_{1,\mathfrak{p}}}) : \det g \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}\right\}$$

Proof. Let K be the field written F_{Γ} in [80, Theorem B.5.2]. Then the first two claims, and the last part when K' = K, follow from *loc. cit.*

For the general case, note that det $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_K} = \chi_{p,\text{cyc}}$. If K'/K is a finite abelian extension, restrict to those primes \mathfrak{p} such that $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_K)$ contains $\operatorname{SL}_2(O_{E_1,\mathfrak{p}})$ and $K' \cap \mathbb{Q}(\mu_{p^{\infty}}) = K \cap \mathbb{Q}(\mu_{p^{\infty}})$. Then det $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_K) =$ det $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{K'})$. On the other hand, $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{K'})$ is a normal subgroup of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_K)$ with abelian cokernel, which necessarily contains $\operatorname{SL}_2(O_{E_1,\mathfrak{p}})$; it follows that $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_K) = \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{K'})$, which completes the proof. \Box

C.3.3. Now let π_1 and π_2 be two automorphic representations as in Theorem C.3.2, with E_0 a common strong coefficient field. For the rest of this section we will always write p for the residue characteristic of a prime p of E_0 . Also, let E_1 , D_1 , K_1 , $H_{1,p}$, E_2 , D_2 , K_2 , and $H_{2,p}$ be as in the conclusion of Theorem C.3.2 applied to π_1 and π_2 , respectively; we can and do fix a finite abelian extension $K \supset K_1 \cdot K_2$ such that

(C.6)
$$\det \rho_{\pi_1, \mathfrak{p}}|_{G_K} = \det \rho_{\pi_2, \mathfrak{p}}|_{G_K} = \chi_{p, \text{cyc}}$$

for all p, and the conclusions of Theorem C.3.2 hold for this choice of K.

We will also consider the joint representation

(C.7)
$$\rho_{\pi_1,\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}: G_F \xrightarrow{\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}} \times \rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}} \operatorname{GL}_2(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}) \times \operatorname{GL}_2(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}).$$

Lemma C.3.4. Suppose there exists a prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0 and a finite extension L/F such that

$$\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_L} \cong \rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_L}$$

Then π_1 is the twist of π_2 by a finite-order automorphic character of \mathbb{A}_F^{\times} .

Proof. By [90, Theorem 2], we have

$$\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}} = \rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \chi$$

for some character χ of G_F , which is of finite order because it vanishes on G_L . Viewing χ as a finite-order character of $F^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}$ via class field theory, we conclude that $\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}} = \rho_{\pi_2 \otimes \chi,\mathfrak{p}}$, and hence $\pi_1 = \pi_2 \otimes \chi$. \Box

C.3.5. If π is as in Theorem C.3.2, corresponding to a holomorphic Hilbert modular form f, then for any $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ we write π^{σ} for the automorphic representation corresponding to f^{σ} . The following result generalizes [70] to the setting of Theorem C.3.2.

Theorem C.3.6. In the setting of (C.3.3), suppose $\pi_1 \neq \pi_2^{\sigma} \otimes \chi$ for any $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ and any finite-order automorphic character χ of \mathbb{A}_F^{\times} . Then:

(1) For all primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , $\rho_{\pi_1,\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_K)$ contains an open subgroup of $H_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \times_{\mathbb{Q}_n^{\times}} H_{2,\mathfrak{p}}$.

(2) For all but finitely many \mathfrak{p} , the image of $\rho_{\pi_1,\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_K)$ contains a conjugate of

$$\left\{ (g_1, g_2) \in \operatorname{GL}_2(O_{E_1, \mathfrak{p}}) \times \operatorname{GL}_2(O_{E_2, \mathfrak{p}}) : \det g = \det h \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \right\}.$$

Proof. The proof is analogous to [70, Theorem 3.2.2, Proposition 3.3.2], where we replace Lemma 3.1.1 of *op. cit.* with Lemma C.3.4 above. For completeness, we recall the argument. Let $G_{\mathfrak{p}} = \rho_{\pi_1,\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_K)$, so that we have a natural embedding

$$G_{\mathfrak{p}} \hookrightarrow H_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \times_{\mathbb{O}_n^{\times}} H_{2,\mathfrak{p}}.$$

It follows from Goursat's Lemma for Lie algebras that $\operatorname{Lie} G_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is either $\operatorname{Lie} \left(H_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \times_{\mathbb{Q}_p^{\times}} H_{2\mathfrak{p}} \right)$ or $\operatorname{Lie} G_{1,\mathfrak{p}} =$

Lie $H_{1,\mathfrak{p}}$, diagonally embedded by an isomorphism Lie $H_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \xrightarrow{\sim}$ Lie $H_{2,\mathfrak{p}}$ that preserves the linearized determinant maps to \mathbb{Q}_p . To prove (1), we assume that we are in the latter case, and aim to show π_1 is a conjugate twist of π_2 .

By [70, Lemma 1.1.4], any isomorphism Lie $H_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \xrightarrow{\sim}$ Lie $H_{2,\mathfrak{p}}$ is induced by an isomorphism $i : E_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \xrightarrow{\sim} E_{2,\mathfrak{p}}$ and an *i*-linear isomorphism $D_1 \otimes_{E_1} E_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \xrightarrow{\sim} D_2 \otimes_{E_2} E_{2,\mathfrak{p}}$. In particular, assuming without loss of generality that E_0 is Galois, there exists an automorphism $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(E_0/\mathbb{Q})$ that preserves \mathfrak{p} and induces $i : E_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \xrightarrow{\sim} E_{2,\mathfrak{p}}$. Since all automorphisms of $M_2(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}})$ are inner, it follows from the description of the embedding in Theorem C.3.2(1) that, after conjugating $\rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}$, Lie $G_{\mathfrak{p}} \subset \mathfrak{gl}_2(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}) \times \mathfrak{gl}_2(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}})$ is contained in a subalgebra of the form

$$\{(X,\sigma X) : X \in \mathfrak{gl}_2(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}})\}.$$

Exponentiating, for some finite extension L/K we have

$$\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_L} = \sigma \circ \rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_L}.$$

Since $\sigma \circ \rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}} = \rho_{\pi_2^{\sigma},\mathfrak{p}}$, Lemma C.3.4 concludes the proof of (1).

For (2), we restrict our attention to those \mathfrak{p} such that $\rho_{\pi_i,\mathfrak{p}}(G_K) = \operatorname{GL}_2(O_{E_i,\mathfrak{p}})$ (after conjugating) for i = 1, 2, which eliminates only finitely many primes of E_0 by Theorem C.3.2. Let S be the set of primes \mathfrak{p} as above such that the conclusion of (2) does *not* hold; we assume for contradiction that S is infinite. By [70, Proposition 3.2.1], for all $\mathfrak{p} \in S$, we have an element $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(E_0/\mathbb{Q})$ preserving \mathfrak{p} such that, after conjugating $\rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}$:

(C.8)
$$\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}(g) = \pm \sigma \circ \rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(g) \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}, \ \forall g \in G_K.$$

If S is infinite, then there exists a single $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(E_0/\mathbb{Q})$ such that (C.8) holds for infinitely many of the $\mathfrak{p} \in S$ fixed by σ .

Let Σ be the set of primes v of F such that either $\pi_{1,v}$ or $\pi_{2,v}$ is ramified, and for $v \notin \Sigma$, let $a_{1,v}$ and $a_{2,v}$ be the eigenvalues of the standard Hecke operator at v on the spherical vectors of $\pi_{1,v}$ and $\pi_{2,v}$, respectively. By (C.8), for all $v \notin \Sigma$ that split completely in K/F, $a_{1,v}^2 - \sigma(a_{2,v})^2 \in O_{E_0}$ is divisible by infinitely many primes $\mathfrak{p} \in S$, hence vanishes. Now take a single $\mathfrak{p} \in S$ fixed by σ such that (C.8) holds, and assume without loss of generality that $p \neq 2$. Let K' be the compositum of the fixed fields of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_K}$ and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_K}$. Then for all $v \notin \Sigma$ that split completely in K',

$$a_{1,v} \equiv \sigma(a_{2,v}) \not\equiv 0 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}},$$

so the identity $a_{1,v}^2 - \sigma(a_{2,v})^2 = 0$ implies $a_{1,v} = \sigma(a_{2,v})$. In particular, the traces of $\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{K'}}$ and $\sigma \circ \rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{K'}}$ coincide, so we have $\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{K'}} \cong \sigma \circ \rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{K'}}$. Now we can conclude by Lemma C.3.4.

We also have the following complementary result.

Corollary C.3.7. In the setting of (C.3.3), there exists a finite abelian extension L of K with the following property:

(1) For all primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , either $\rho_{\pi_1,\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_L)$ is an open subgroup of $H_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \times_{\mathbb{Q}_p^{\times}} H_{2,\mathfrak{p}}$, or there exists an isomorphism $\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}} : E_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \xrightarrow{\sim} E_{2,\mathfrak{p}}$ and a $\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}$ -linear isomorphism $i_{\mathfrak{p}} : D_1 \otimes_{E_1} E_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \xrightarrow{\sim} D_2 \otimes_{E_2} E_{2,\mathfrak{p}}$ such that $\rho_{\pi_1,\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_L)$ is an open subgroup of

$$H_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Id},\iota_{\mathfrak{p}}} H_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \times_{\mathbb{Q}_p^{\times}} H_{2,\mathfrak{p}}$$

(2) For all but finitely many \mathfrak{p} , either the image of $\rho_{\pi_1,\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_L)$ is a conjugate of

$$\left\{ (g_1, g_2) \in \mathrm{GL}_2(O_{E_1, \mathfrak{p}}) \times \mathrm{GL}_2(O_{E_2, \mathfrak{p}}) : \det g = \det h \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \right\},\$$

or there exists an isomorphism $\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}: E_{1,\mathfrak{p}} \xrightarrow{\sim} E_{2,\mathfrak{p}}$ such that $\rho_{\pi_1,\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_L)$ is a conjugate of

$$\left\{ (g, \sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}(g)) \in \mathrm{GL}_2(O_{E_{1,\mathfrak{p}}}) \times \mathrm{GL}_2(O_{E_{2,\mathfrak{p}}}) : g \in \mathrm{GL}_2(O_{E_{1,\mathfrak{p}}}), \det g \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \right\}.$$

Proof. By Theorem C.3.6, we may assume without loss of generality that $\pi_1 \cong \pi_2^{\sigma} \otimes \chi$ for some $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ and some finite-order automorphic character χ of \mathbb{A}_F^{\times} , which we also view as a character of G_F via class field theory. Then for all primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 ,

$$\rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes_{E_{0,\mathfrak{p}},\sigma} E_{0,\sigma(\mathfrak{p})} \cong \rho_{\pi_2^{\sigma},\sigma(\mathfrak{p})} \cong \rho_{\pi_1,\sigma(\mathfrak{p})} \otimes \chi.$$

By [80, Theorem B.4.10], for all but finitely many \mathfrak{p} the image of $\rho_{\pi_2^{\sigma},\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{K_0})$ is one of the groups listed in part (2), for a certain abelian extension K_0 of F such that $\det_{\rho_{\pi_2},\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{K_0}} = \chi_{p,cyc}$. If L is the compositum of K_0 with K and with the fixed field of the kernel of χ , it follows from the same argument as in Theorem C.3.2 that the image of $\rho_{\pi_2^{\sigma},\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_L) = \rho_{\pi_1,\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_L)$ coincides with that of $\rho_{\pi_2^{\sigma},\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{K_0})$ for all but finitely many \mathfrak{p} , and this proves (2).

C.4. Large image for relevant representations.

C.4.1. Fix a relevant automorphic representation π of $\text{GSp}_4(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$, with trivial central character and with strong coefficient field E_0 . In this subsection, we prove some results on the image of the Galois representation $\rho_{\pi,p}$ associated to π , with an eye towards studying the existence of admissible elements (Definition 4.2.1) and assumption (R1) from (9.3.1). Throughout this section we write p for the residue characteristic of a prime p of E_0 .

Lemma C.4.2. Suppose π is not endoscopic, and $BC(\pi)$ is the symmetric cube lift of a non-CM automorphic representation π_0 of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$. Consider the map of algebraic groups

$$f = \operatorname{Sym}^3 \otimes \operatorname{det}^{-1} : \operatorname{GL}_2 \to \operatorname{GSp}_4$$

For all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , the image of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ contains a conjugate of $f(\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_p))$. In particular, for all but finitely many \mathfrak{p} , admissible elements exist for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$.

Proof. By Lemma 2.2.18, $\pi_{0,\infty}$ is discrete series of weight 2. Without loss of generality, extend E_0 so that it is also a strong coefficient field for π_0 . Then for all primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} = \text{Sym}^3 \rho_{\pi_0,\mathfrak{p}}(-1)$. Comparing similitude characters, we see that the central character of π_0 is cubic; by twisting, we may assume without loss of generality that it is trivial. Then the claim about the image of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ follows from [94, Theorem 3.1]. Restricting to these \mathfrak{p} , if p is sufficiently large we may fix $z \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ with

(C.9)
$$z \not\equiv \pm 1, \pm z^3, z^6, z^{-3} \pmod{p}, \ z^{12} \not\equiv 1 \pmod{p}.$$

Then applying f to the diagonal matrix $\begin{pmatrix} z & 0 \\ 0 & z^2 \end{pmatrix}$, it follows that the image of $\rho_{\pi,p}$ contains a matrix with eigenvalues $\{1, z, z^2, z^3\}$; in particular, admissible elements exist for $\rho_{\pi,p}$.

Lemma C.4.3. Suppose π is not endoscopic, and BC(π) is neither a (weak) symmetric cube lift nor a (weak) automorphic induction. For all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 :

- (1) The image of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ contains a conjugate of $\operatorname{Sp}_4(\mathbb{F}_p)$.
- (2) If $E_{0,\mathfrak{p}} = \mathbb{Q}_p$, the image of $\overline{\rho}_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is a conjugate of $\mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathbb{F}_p)$.

Moreover, for all primes \mathfrak{p} with p > 3, the Zariski closure (over $E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}$) of the image of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is equal to $GSp_4(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}})$.

Proof. Part (1) is [123, Theorem 1.2(ii)]. Part (2) follows immediately. For the final claim, by Proposition C.2.4(2) and Corollary C.2.6, it suffices to rule out the case that $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ factors through the image of the symmetric cube representation. In this case, we can write $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(1) = \operatorname{Sym}^3 \rho_0$, for some $\rho_0 : G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \operatorname{GL}_2(E)/\mu_3$ with Zariski-dense image (over *E*). By Lemma C.4.4 below, ρ_0 lifts to

$$\rho_0: G_{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathrm{GL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p).$$

Comparing similitude factors, we see that det $\rho_0/\chi_{p,cyc}$ is cubic; so after twisting, we may assume without loss of generality that det $\rho_0 = \chi_{p,cyc}$. For all but finitely many primes ℓ , we have $\rho_0(I_\ell) \subset \mu_3$, so the determinant condition implies ρ_0 is unramified almost everywhere. By [87, Corollary 3.2.13], $\rho_0|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}}$ is geometric. Since ρ_0 is also clearly odd, [86, Theorem 1.0.4] implies ρ_0 arises from a modular form, hence BC(π) is a symmetric cube lift, and this concludes the proof of the final claim.

Lemma C.4.4. For all n, we have $H^2(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}) = 0$.

Proof. This lemma is well-known, but we were unable to find a reference. Without loss of generality, n = p is prime. By a theorem of Tate [87, Theorem 2.1.1], $H^2(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p) = 0$. On the other hand, by the Kronecker-Weber theorem, $H^1(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p) = \text{Hom}(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p)$ is *p*-divisible. So the lemma follows from the long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H^1(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p) \xrightarrow{\times p} H^1(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p) \to H^2(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}) \to H^2(\mathbb{Q}, \mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \cdots$$

C.4.5. For an automorphic representation π_0 of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_K)$ as in Theorem C.3.2 with K/\mathbb{Q} real quadratic, let $\pi_0^{\operatorname{tw}}$ denote the $\operatorname{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$ -twist. We say π_0 is *exceptional* if there exists $\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ and a finite-order automorphic character χ of \mathbb{A}_K^{\times} such that

$$\pi_0^{\text{tw}} \cong \pi_0^\sigma \otimes \chi.$$

Lemma C.4.6. Suppose π is not endoscopic, and $BC(\pi)$ is the automorphic induction of a non-CM automorphic representation π_0 of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_K)$ with K/\mathbb{Q} real quadratic. Then for all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , the following hold.

(1) The image of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ contains a conjugate of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, embedded diagonally via

$$\operatorname{GL}_2 \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_2 \times_{\mathbb{G}_m} \operatorname{GL}_2 \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GSp}_4.$$

(2) If p splits in K or π_0 is not exceptional, the image of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ contains a conjugate of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_p) \times_{\mathbb{Z}_p^\times} \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_p)$.

Proof. Recall from Lemma 2.2.19 that π_0 is the automorphic representation associated to a Hilbert modular form of weights (2, 4). Assume without loss of generality that E_0 is Galois and is also a strong coefficient field for π_0^{tw} ; then

$$\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_K} = \rho_{\pi_0,\mathfrak{p}} \oplus \rho_{\pi_0^{\mathrm{tw}},\mathfrak{p}}.$$

Hence part (1) follows from Corollary C.3.7(2). For part (2), the non-exceptional case is immediate from Theorem C.3.6(2), so suppose without loss of generality that p splits in K. Then for any $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}/\mathbb{Q}_p)$, and any fixed embedding $j : K \hookrightarrow \mathbb{Q}_p$, the Hodge-Tate weights of $\rho_{\pi_0,\mathfrak{p}}$ and $\sigma \circ \rho_{\pi_0,\mathfrak{p}}$ with respect to j coincide. This rules out that $\rho_{\pi_0^{\text{tw}},\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_L} \cong \sigma \circ \rho_{\pi_0,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_L}$ for any finite extension L/K, so by Corollary C.3.7(2), we obtain (2).

Lemma C.4.7. Suppose $BC(\pi)$ is the automorphic induction of an automorphic representation π_0 of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_K)$ with K/\mathbb{Q} imaginary quadratic, and π_0 is not an automorphic induction. Then for all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 :

- (1) The image of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ contains a conjugate of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_p)$, where $\mathrm{SL}_2 \hookrightarrow \mathrm{Sp}_4$ is embedded into the Levi factor of a Siegel parabolic.
- (2) If p splits in K, then admissible elements exist for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$.

Proof. By Lemma 2.2.20, after possibly extending E_0 we can write

(C.10)
$$\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_K} = \rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \chi_{\mathfrak{p}} \oplus \rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \chi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathsf{tv}}$$

for all p, where:

- $\rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}}$ is the Galois representation attached to a classical modular form f of weight k = 2 or 3 with coefficients in E_0 ; here the normalization is as usual, i.e. $\det \rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}} = \omega_f \cdot \chi_{p,\text{cyc}}^{k-1}$ where ω_f is the nebentype character of f, viewed as a character of $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ via class field theory.
- $\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is the G_K -representation attached to an algebraic Hecke character χ' of infinity type (-1, 3-k).
- $\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{tw}}$ is the $\mathrm{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$ -twist of $\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}$, which is also associated to the twist $(\chi')^{\mathrm{tw}}$.

The symplectic form in (C.10) is given by the natural pairing

$$\rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \chi_{\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \chi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{tw}} \to \det \rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \chi_{\mathfrak{p}} \chi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{tw}} = \chi_{p,\mathrm{cyc}}$$

Let L be the fixed field of ω_f , which is independent of p. After discarding finitely many primes p and changing basis, we may assume by [94, Theorem 3.1] that

$$\rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}}(G_L) = \left\{ g \in \mathrm{GL}_2(O) : \det g \in (\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})^{k-1} \right\},\$$

where O is the ring of integers of a subfield of $E_{0,p}$. Then the Galois group

$$\operatorname{Gal}(L(\rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}}) \cap LK(\chi_{p,\operatorname{cyc}},\chi_{\mathfrak{p}},\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\operatorname{tw}},\omega_{f})/L(\det(\rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}})))$$

is a solvable quotient of $SL_2(O)$, hence trivial if p is sufficiently large; so we have

(C.11)
$$L(\rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}}) \cap LK(\chi_{p,\text{cyc}},\chi_{\mathfrak{p}},\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\text{tw}},\omega_{f}) = L(\det(\rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}}))$$

In particular, this immediately implies (1).

For (2), we further restrict to those p such that χ_p is crystalline at all primes above p. Fix a prime v|p of K, and let \overline{v} be its complex conjugate, with inertia subgroups $I_v, I_{\overline{v}} \subset G_K^{ab}$; these are disjoint and each naturally identified with \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} since we are assuming p is split (and unramified) in K. When restricted to inertia, the characters χ_p^{cyc} , χ_p , and χ_p^{tw} have the form:

$$\begin{split} \chi_p^{\text{cyc}}|_{I_v \times I_{\overline{v}}} : & \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \\ & (z_1, z_2) \mapsto z_1 z_2, \\ \chi_{\mathfrak{p}}|_{I_v \times I_{\overline{v}}} : & \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \subset O_{E,\mathfrak{p}}^{\times} \\ & (z_1, z_2) \mapsto z_1^{-1} z_2^{3-k} \\ \chi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\text{tw}}|_{I_v \times I_{\overline{v}}} : & \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \subset O_{E,\mathfrak{p}}^{\times} \\ & (z_1, z_2) \mapsto z_1^{3-k} z_2^{-1}. \end{split}$$

In particular, one can calculate that, for p unramified in L, the image of

$$(\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}, \chi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{tw}}, \chi_{p,\mathrm{cyc}}) : G_L \to O_{E_0,\mathfrak{p}}^{\times} \times O_{E_0,\mathfrak{p}}^{\times} \times \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$$

contains a subgroup of

$$\left\{(a,b,c)\in (\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})^3\,:\,ab=c^{2-k}\right\}$$

with index at most 2. Comparing with (C.11), we see that the image of

(C.12)
$$(\rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}},\chi_{\mathfrak{p}},\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\mathrm{tw}}): G_L \to \mathrm{GL}_2(O) \times O_{E_0,\mathfrak{p}}^{\times} \times O_{E_0,\mathfrak{p}}^{\times}$$

contains a subgroup of

(C.13)
$$\left\{ (g, x, y) \in \operatorname{GL}_2(O) \times \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \times \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} : \det g \in (\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})^{k-1}, \, (xy)^{(k-1)} = (\det g)^{2-k} \right\}$$

with index at most 2. Let $n \coloneqq 2(k-1) + 2(k-2) = 4k - 6$, and set

$$S_n \coloneqq \left\{ (g, c) \in \mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_p) \times \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} : c, \det g \in (\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})^n \right\}.$$

Then for any $(g,c)\in S_n$, there exists $\lambda\in\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ satisfying

$$\lambda^n = (\det g)^{k-2} c^{1-k}.$$

It follows from (C.13) that $(g\lambda^{-1}, \lambda, c\lambda)^2$ lies in the image of (C.12); hence $(g, cg)^2$ lies in the image of $(\rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \chi_{\mathfrak{p}}, \rho_{f,\mathfrak{p}} \otimes \chi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{tw}) : G_L \to \operatorname{GL}_2(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}}) \times \operatorname{GL}_2(E_{0,\mathfrak{p}})$ for all $(g, c) \in S_n$. If p is sufficiently large, this immediately implies that admissible elements exist for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$.

Lemma C.4.8. Suppose π is not endoscopic, and $BC(\pi)$ is the (weak) automorphic induction of a Hecke character χ_0 of a quartic field $K \subset \mathbb{C}$. Then there exists a constant n such that, for all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , the following holds:

- (1) $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{\mathbb{Q}})$ contains the scalar subgroup $(\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})^n \subset \mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Z}_p)$.
- (2) If p splits completely in the Galois closure K^c of K, then $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{\mathbb{Q}})$ contains a conjugate of

$$\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x & & \\ & y & \\ & & z & \\ & & & xz/y \end{pmatrix} : x, y, z \in (\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})^n \right\} \subset \mathrm{GSp}_4(\mathbb{Z}_p).$$

Proof. Let $\chi := \chi_0 |\cdot|^{1/2}$. From Theorem 2.2.10(1), we see that the local component χ_v of χ takes algebraic values on K_v^{\times} for cofinitely many primes v of K; hence χ_{∞} is algebraic [117, Théorème 3.1]. Extending E_0 if necessary, for all primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 we have the \mathfrak{p} -adic character $\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ associated to χ , and $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}} = \operatorname{Ind}_{G_K}^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} \chi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ for all \mathfrak{p} . We restrict to those \mathfrak{p} such that K^c/\mathbb{Q} is unramified at p, and $\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is crystalline at all primes v|p. The Hodge-Tate weights of $\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ with respect to the four embeddings $i: K \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ are $\{-1, 0, 1, 2\}$ in some order by Theorem 2.2.10(2); hence on the subgroup

$$\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \hookrightarrow (O_K \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)^{\times} \hookrightarrow G_K^{\mathrm{ab}}$$

 $\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is given by $z \mapsto z^{-1+0+1+2} = z^2$. In particular, on the subgroup

$$\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} \hookrightarrow (O_{K^c} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_p)^{\times} \hookrightarrow G_{K^c}^{\mathrm{ab}},$$

 $\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is given by $z \mapsto z^{2[K^c:K]}$. The same is true for all $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -conjugates of $\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}$, so the image of $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{K^c}}$ contains the scalar subgroup $(\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})^{2[K^c:K]}$, proving (1).

For (2), we decompose

(C.14)
$$\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{K^c}} = \chi_1 \oplus \chi_2 \oplus \chi_3 \oplus \chi_4$$

where all of the characters χ_j are Galois conjugates of $\chi_{\mathfrak{p}}|_{G_{K^c}}$ and

(C.15)
$$\chi_1 \cdot \chi_2 = \chi_3 \cdot \chi_4 = \chi_{p,\text{cyc}}$$

For each $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$, $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{K^c})$ contains the image of

(C.16)
$$\begin{pmatrix} g \cdot \chi_1 & & \\ & g \cdot \chi_2 & \\ & & g \cdot \chi_3 & \\ & & & g \cdot \chi_4 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Fix an embedding $i : K^c \hookrightarrow \mathbb{Q}_p$, and for any Hodge-Tate character ρ of G_{K^c} , let $HT(\rho)$ denote the Hodge-Tate weight with respect to *i*. Let $I_p \subset G_{K^c}$ be the inertia subgroup for the prime induced by *i*. In

particular, restricting (C.16) to I_p and using that each χ_j is crystalline at primes above p, $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{K^c})$ contains the image of

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} &\to \mathrm{GL}_4(\mathbb{Z}_p) \\ z &\mapsto \begin{pmatrix} z^{\mathrm{HT}(g \cdot \chi_1)} & & \\ & z^{\mathrm{HT}(g \cdot \chi_2)} & \\ & & z^{\mathrm{HT}(g \cdot \chi_3)} \\ & & & z^{\mathrm{HT}(g \cdot \chi_4)} \end{pmatrix} \end{aligned}$$

Let

(C.17)
$$L \subset \{(x, y, z, w) \in \mathbb{Z}^4 : x + y = z + w\}$$

be the sublattice spanned by the vectors $(HT(g \cdot \chi_1), HT(g \cdot \chi_2), HT(g \cdot \chi_3), HT(g \cdot \chi_4))$ for $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

Claim. For a constant $n \ge 1$ independent of \mathfrak{p} , the lattice L contains

$$n \cdot \{(x, y, z, w) \in \mathbb{Z}^4 : x + y = z + w\}.$$

Note that the claim implies the lemma, because, as long as p is sufficiently large, there exists $z \in (\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})^n$ satisfying (C.9); an element $h \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(h)$ has eigenvalues $\{1, z^3, z, z^2\}$ is admissible for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$, and the claim implies such elements exist.

Now we prove the claim. Let $pr : \mathbb{Z}^4 \to \mathbb{Z}^3$ be the projection onto the first three factors, and note that it suffices to show pr(L) contains $n \cdot \mathbb{Z}^3$. Without loss of generality, suppose the Hodge-Tate weights of χ_1, χ_2, χ_3 , and χ_4 are 1, 0, 2, and -1 (in order). Because the action of G_{K^c} on the set $\{\chi_1, \chi_2, \chi_3, \chi_4\}$ is transitive, for each $j \in 1, \ldots, 4$ we have some $g_j \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that $HT(g_j\chi_j) = 1$. In particular, using (C.15), pr(L) contains (1, 0, 2); a vector e = (0, 1, 2) or e = (0, 1, -1); and a vector f = (2, -1, 1) or f = (-1, 2, 1). In particular, the set $\{(1, 0, 2), e, f\}$ is always linearly independent; and, since there are only four total possibilities for this set, there exists $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that the \mathbb{Z} -span of (1, 0, 2), e, and f always contains $n\mathbb{Z}$.

Now we are ready to consider assumption (R1) from the main text (see (9.3.1)).

Theorem C.4.9. Let π be a relevant, non-endoscopic automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$, with strong coefficient field E_0 . Then (R1) holds for all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 .

The theorem is also true in the endoscopic case, but not used in the main text; the proof uses Lemma C.4.13 below.

Proof. This is an immediate consequence of Lemmas C.4.2 through C.4.8.

Proposition C.4.10. Suppose π is not endoscopic, and there exists a prime ℓ such that π_{ℓ} is of type IIa. Then for all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , admissible elements exist for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$.

Proof. The Weil-Deligne representation $\operatorname{rec}_{\mathrm{GT}}(\pi_{\ell})$ is tamely ramified; under the embedding $\operatorname{GSp}_4 \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_4$ from (1.1.4), it is given by

$$\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell} = \begin{pmatrix} \pm \ell^{1/2} & & \\ & \alpha & \\ & & \pm \ell^{-1/2} & \\ & & & \ell/\alpha \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{C}), \quad N = \begin{pmatrix} & 1 & \\ & & \\ & & \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{GSp}_4(\mathbb{C})$$

By the purity assertion in Theorem 2.2.10(1) (for any prime \mathfrak{p} of E_0), we know $|\alpha| = 1$. Extend E_0 if necessary so that $\alpha^2 \in E_0$. Then for all but finitely many primes \mathfrak{p} of E_0 , we have:

$$\ell^{8} \not\equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{p}},$$

$$\alpha^{2}\ell \not\equiv \pm 1, \pm \ell^{2}, \ell^{-2}, \ell^{4} \pmod{\mathfrak{p}}$$

Suppose p satisfies the above conditions, and let $\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell} \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ be any lift of Frobenius. By Theorem 2.2.10(1), $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}(\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}^2)$ has eigenvalues $\{\ell^2, \alpha^2\ell, 1, \ell^2/\alpha^2\}$, hence $\operatorname{Frob}_{\ell}^2$ is an admissible element for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$.

Combining Lemmas C.4.2 through C.4.8 with Proposition C.4.10, we obtain:

Theorem C.4.11. Let π be a relevant, non-endoscopic automorphic representation of $GSp_4(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$, with strong coefficient field E_0 . There is a set S of rational primes of positive Dirichlet density such that for all $p \in S$ and all $\mathfrak{p}|p$, admissible elements exist for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$. There exists such an S containing all but finitely many p if π satisfies any of the following:

- (i) There exists a prime ℓ such that π_{ℓ} is of type IIa.
- (*ii*) BC(π) *is a symmetric cube lift.*
- (iii) BC(π) is the automorphic induction of a non-CM automorphic representation π_0 of GL₂(\mathbb{A}_K) with K real quadratic, and $\pi_0^{\text{tw}} \neq \pi_0^{\sigma} \otimes \chi$ for all $\sigma \in \text{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ and all quadratic Hecke characters χ of K.

Finally, we handle the endoscopic case separately.

Proposition C.4.12. Suppose π is endoscopic, associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ (in any order). Then:

- (1) If π_1 does not have CM, then for all but finitely many p and all $\mathfrak{p}|p$, there exist admissible primes for $\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}$ that are BD-admissible for $\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}$.
- (2) If π_1 has CM by a field K and π_2 does not have CM by K, then for all but finitely many p split in K and all $\mathfrak{p}|p$, there exist admissible primes for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ that are BD-admissible for $\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}$.

Proof. Let S be the set of all rational primes in case (1) and all rational primes p split in K in case (2). Then there exists a constant $n \ge 1$ such that, for all but finitely many $p \in S$ and all $\mathfrak{p}|p, \rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{\mathbb{Q}})$ contains the diagonal subgroup

$$\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x \\ & y \end{pmatrix} : x, y \in (\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})^n \right\}.$$

In the non-CM case this follows from Theorem C.3.2 (with n = 1), and in the CM case it follows from either [80, Proposition B.6.3] or a similar argument to Lemma C.4.8. On the other hand, there exists a constant $n \ge 1$ such that, for all but finitely many p and all $\mathfrak{p}|p$, $\rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}(G_{\mathbb{Q}})$ contains the scalar subgroup $(\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})^n \subset \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_p)$.

By Lemma C.4.13 below, after enlarging n if necessary, for all but finitely many $p \in S$ and all $\mathfrak{p}|p$, $(\rho_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}} \times \rho_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}})(G_{\mathbb{Q}})$ contains

$$\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x & 0\\ 0 & y \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} z & 0\\ 0 & z \end{pmatrix} : x, y, z \in (\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times})^n, z^2 = xy \right\};$$

and this implies the proposition.

Lemma C.4.13. Suppose π is endoscopic, associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ which do not both have CM by the same imaginary quadratic field. Then as \mathfrak{p} varies over primes of E_0 , $\mathbb{Q}(\overline{\rho}_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}) \cap \mathbb{Q}(\overline{\rho}_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}})$ has bounded degree over $\mathbb{Q}(\mu_p)$.

Proof. If both π_1 and π_2 are non-CM, then the lemma follows from [70, Theorem 3.2.2], or equivalently from Theorem C.3.6(2) above. Now suppose π_1 is CM and π_2 is not. Since $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is simple for q sufficiently large and $\overline{\rho}_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}$ is dihedral for all \mathfrak{p} , it follows from [94, Theorem 3.1] that $\mathbb{Q}(\overline{\rho}_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}) \cap \mathbb{Q}(\overline{\rho}_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}}) = \mathbb{Q}(\mu_p)$ for all but finitely many \mathfrak{p} .

If π_1 and π_2 are CM with respect to two different imaginary quadratic fields K_1 and K_2 , fix elements $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that τ_i is a complex conjugation on K_i but acts trivially on K_j , $i \neq j$. The abelian group $H := \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\overline{\rho}_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}})/K_1)$ is a subgroup of k^{\times} for a quadratic étale algebra k over the residue field of \mathfrak{p} ; in particular, H is the product of at most two cyclic groups. Let $G := \operatorname{Gal}(K_1K_2(\overline{\rho}_{\pi_1,\mathfrak{p}}) \cap K_1K_2(\overline{\rho}_{\pi_2,\mathfrak{p}})/K_1K_2)$. Because G is a subquotient of H, the conjugation actions on G of both τ_1 and $\tau_1\tau_2$ are by inversion, so the conjugation action of τ_2 is trivial; arguing symmetrically, the conjugation action of τ_1 is also trivial, so G is 2-torsion and generated by at most two elements. We conclude that |G| is uniformly bounded, which implies the lemma.

C.5. Complements for the second reciprocity law. In this subsection, we prove some auxiliary results needed in §11. Let us fix a relevant automorphic representation π of GSp_4 , and an isomorphism $\iota : \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{C}$ with p > 3.

Lemma C.5.1. Let τ be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ whose archimedean component is discrete series of even weight $k \geq 2$. Let F be a number field such that τ does not have CM by any quadratic imaginary subfield $K \subset F(\rho_{\pi,\iota})$. If $F(\rho_{\pi,\iota}) \cap F(\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota})$ is infinite, then $F(\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota}) \subset F(\rho_{\pi,\iota})$, and moreover one of the following occurs:

- (i) π is not endoscopic, and if $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is admissible for $\rho_{\pi,\iota}$, then $\rho_{\tau,\iota}(g^2)$ has distinct eigenvalues.
- (ii) π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$, and for $j = 1 \text{ or } 2, \pi_j \cong \tau^{\sigma} \otimes \chi$ for some finite-order Hecke character χ and automorphism $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$.

Proof. First, we claim that τ does not have CM. Indeed, if τ has CM by a quadratic imaginary field K, then it is easy to check that any infinite subfield of $F(\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota})$ contains K; so if $F(\rho_{\pi,\iota}) \cap F(\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota})$ is infinite then $K \subset F(\rho_{\pi,\iota})$, which contradicts the hypotheses of the lemma.

Since τ does not have CM, $\rho_{\tau,\iota}$ is strongly irreducible by Theorem C.3.2. Hence by Lemma C.2.3, the normal, infinite-index subgroup

$$\operatorname{Gal}\left(F(\operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{\tau,\iota})/F(\operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{\tau,\iota})\cap F(\rho_{\pi,\iota})\right) \trianglelefteq \operatorname{Gal}\left(F(\operatorname{ad}^{0}\rho_{\tau,\iota})/F\right)$$

must be trivial; equivalently, we have $F(ad^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota}) \subset F(\rho_{\pi,\iota})$.

Suppose first that π is not endoscopic, so $V_{\pi,\iota}$ is absolutely irreducible by Lemma 2.2.12. Without loss of generality, we assume that F is Galois and that

(C.18)
$$V_{\pi,\iota}|_{G_F} = \bigoplus_i V_i$$

for some strongly irreducible representations V_i , all of the same dimension n (Lemma C.2.5). Let $G = \rho_{\pi,\iota}(G_F)$, and let $H = \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota}(G_F)$; then the inclusion $F(\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota}) \subset F(\rho_{\pi,\iota})$ corresponds to a surjection $G/Z_G \twoheadrightarrow H$ (recall here that H has trivial center by Lemma C.2.2(1)). In particular, n > 1. Write $\mathfrak{g} = \operatorname{Lie}(G/Z_G)$ and $\mathfrak{h} = \operatorname{Lie} H$, and recall that \mathfrak{h} is simple by Theorem C.3.2 and Corollary C.1.2(2). We have a surjection

which identifies \mathfrak{h} with a simple factor of \mathfrak{g} .

Suppose first that n = 2. Then the decomposition (C.18) has exactly two factors, and g is either simple, or isomorphic to $\mathfrak{g}_0 \times \mathfrak{g}_0$, with \mathfrak{g}_0 simple and the factors interchanged by the action of $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Since (C.19) is $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -equivariant, g is simple, and (C.19) is an isomorphism. If $\rho_{\tau,\iota}(g^2)$ has only one eigenvalue for some $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$, then g^2 acts unipotently on \mathfrak{h} , hence also on \mathfrak{g} . Since g^2 is a square, it preserves the decomposition

(C.18), so by Lemma C.2.2(3), we see that g^2 has at most two eigenvalues on $V_{\pi,\iota}$, which contradicts g being admissible.

We are now reduced to the case n = 4, i.e. $BC(\pi)$ is not an automorphic induction. Hence g is simple by Proposition C.2.4(1) and Corollary C.1.2(2), and again (C.19) is an isomorphism. If $\rho_{\tau,\iota}(g^2)$ had only one eigenvalue, then $g^2 \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ would act unipotently on \mathfrak{h} , hence also on \mathfrak{g} ; but by Lemma C.2.2(3), this contradicts the admissibility of g.

It remains to consider the case when π is endoscopic associated to a pair (π_1, π_2) of cuspidal automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$. We let $G_{\pi} = \rho_{\pi,\iota}(G_{\mathbb{Q}}), G_{\pi_j} = \rho_{\pi_j,\iota}(G_{\mathbb{Q}}), \mathfrak{g}_{\pi} = \operatorname{Lie}(G_{\pi}/Z_{G_{\pi}}), \mathfrak{g}_{\pi_j} =$ $\operatorname{Lie}(G_{\pi_j}/Z_{G_{\pi_j}})$, for j = 1, 2. The assumption $F(\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota}) \subset F(\rho_{\pi,\iota})$ implies that $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ does not have open image in the product $G_{\pi}/Z_{G_{\pi}} \times H$. By Goursat's Lemma, the Lie algebra of the image of $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ is the graph of an isomorphism between simple factors of $\mathfrak{g}_{\pi} \subset \mathfrak{g}_{\pi_1} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{\pi_2}$ and \mathfrak{h} . Since τ is non-CM, we conclude that for j = 1 or 2, π_j is non-CM and $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ has non-open image in $G_{\pi_j}/Z_{\pi_j} \times H$. Hence by [70, Proposition 3.3.2], there exists an automorphism $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ and a Hecke character χ such that $\tau \cong \pi_j^{\sigma} \otimes \chi$, for j = 1 or 2; this concludes the proof of the lemma.

For the rest of the section, we fix a strong coefficient field E_0 for π and let \mathfrak{p} be the prime of E_0 induced by ι .

Lemma C.5.2. Let τ be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$ whose archimedean component is discrete series of even weight $k \geq 2$. If τ does not have CM by any quadratic imaginary subfield $K \subset \mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi,\iota})$, then for any number field F and any $O_{\mathfrak{p}}$ -stable lattice $T_{\pi} \subset V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$, $H^1(\operatorname{Gal}(F(\rho_{\pi,\iota}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota})/\mathbb{Q}), T_{\pi})$ is finite.

Proof. By inflation-restriction, we may assume without loss of generality that $F = \mathbb{Q}$. Applying Corollary C.2.8 and inflation-restriction again, to prove the lemma it suffices to show

(C.20)
$$H^{1}(\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi,\iota}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{\tau,\iota})/\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi,\iota}), T_{\pi}) = \operatorname{Hom}_{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}(\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi,\iota}, \operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{\tau,\iota})/\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi,\iota})), T_{\pi}) = 0$$

By Lemma C.5.1, we may assume without loss of generality that $\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi,\iota}) \cap \mathbb{Q}(\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota})$ is finite. Since $\chi_{p,\operatorname{cyc}}$ has infinite order, there exists $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota}(g) = 1$ and $\chi_{p,\operatorname{cyc}}(g)$ has infinite order, meaning in particular that $\rho_{\pi,\iota}(g) \neq 1$. Then g acts trivially by conjugation on $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi,\iota}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota})/\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi,\iota})) \hookrightarrow$ $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota}(G_{\mathbb{Q}})$. In particular, any $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -invariant homomorphism $h : \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi,\iota}, \operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota})/\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi,\iota})) \to T_{\pi}$ has image contained in $T_{\pi}^{g=1} \subsetneq T_{\pi}$. If π is non-endoscopic, this shows h = 0 by Lemma 2.2.12; if π is endoscopic associated to (π_1, π_2) , the same argument applies because we cannot have $\rho_{\pi_1,\iota}(g) = 1$ or $\rho_{\pi_2,\iota}(g) = 1$ under the assumption that $\chi_{p,\operatorname{cyc}}(g)$ has infinite order. This shows (C.20).

Proposition C.5.3. Let π , ι , E_0 , and \mathfrak{p} be as above with π non-endoscopic, and suppose admissible primes exist for $\rho_{\pi} = \rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$. Suppose given the following data:

- A quadratic field $F \not\subset \mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})$.
- A cuspidal automorphic representation τ of GL₂(A_Q) whose archimedean component is discrete series of even weight k ≥ 2, such that τ does not have CM by any quadratic field K ⊂ F(ρ_π).
 A G_Q-stable O_p-lattice T_π ⊂ V_{π,p}, and a non-torsion cocycle c ∈ H¹(Q, T_π).

Then there exists an element $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that:

- (1) g is is admissible for ρ_{π} and has nontrivial image in $\operatorname{Gal}(F/\mathbb{Q})$.
- (2) $\rho_{\tau,\iota}(g^2)$ has distinct eigenvalues.
- (3) c(g) has nonzero component in the 1-eigenspace for g.

Note the last condition is independent of the choice of cocycle representative for c.

Proof. First choose g satisfying (1), and with the additional property that g has trivial image in $Gal(K/\mathbb{Q})$ if τ has CM by a quadratic field K. (This choice is possible because we have $F \not\subset \mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})$ and $K \not\subset F(\rho_{\pi})$.)

Claim. There exists $h \in G_{F(\rho_{\pi})}$ such that hg satisfies (2).

Proof of claim. If $F(\rho_{\pi}) \cap F(\operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{\tau,\iota})$ is infinite then taking h = 1 suffices by Lemma C.5.1, so we may assume without loss of generality that $F(\rho_{\pi}) \cap F(\operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{\tau,\iota})$ is finite. If τ is non-CM, then because $F(\rho_{\pi}) \cap$ $F(\operatorname{ad}^{0} \rho_{\tau,\iota})$ is finite, Theorem C.3.2 implies that the image of $\rho_{\tau,\iota}|_{G_{F}(\rho_{\pi})}$ contains a compact open subgroup of $\{x \in D^{\times} : \operatorname{Nm}(x) \in \mathbb{Q}_{p}^{\times}\} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_{2}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p})$, for a quaternion algebra D over a finite extension E of \mathbb{Q}_{p} . Since $x\rho_{\tau,\iota}(g)x\rho_{\tau,\iota}(g)$ having distinct eigenvalues is an open condition on $x \in D^{\times}$, the claim follows when τ is non-CM.

If on the other hand τ has CM by an imaginary quadratic field K, then because $\rho_{\tau,\iota}|_{G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}}$ has distinct Hodge-Tate weights, there exists $h_0 \in G_K$ such that $\rho_{\tau,\iota}(h_0)$ has eigenvalues whose ratio is of infinite order. After replacing h_0 with a finite power, it acts trivially on $F(\rho_{\pi}) \cap F(\mathrm{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota})$; thus there exists $h \in G_{K \cdot F(\rho_{\pi})}$ such that $\rho_{\tau,\iota}(h^2)$ has distinct eigenvalues. Since g has trivial image in $\mathrm{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$, $\rho_{\tau,\iota}(g)$ and $\rho_{\tau,\iota}(h)$ commute; in particular, if $\rho_{\tau,\iota}(g^2)$ is scalar, then $\rho_{\tau,\iota}(hghg) = \rho_{\tau,\iota}(h^2)\rho_{\tau,\iota}(g^2)$ has distinct eigenvalues. Hence either g or hg satisfies (2), which shows the claim. \Box

Replacing g with hg as in the claim, we may now assume g satisfies both (1) and (2). By Lemma C.5.2 and inflation-restriction, c has nonzero image in

$$H^{1}(F(\rho_{\pi}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{\tau, \iota}), T_{\pi})^{G_{\mathbb{Q}}} = \mathrm{Hom}_{G_{\mathbb{Q}}}(\mathrm{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/F(\rho_{\pi}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{\tau, \iota})), T_{\pi}),$$

and because $V_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ is absolutely irreducible, there exists $h \in G_F$ such that $\operatorname{ad}^0 \rho_{\tau,\iota}(h) = \rho_{\pi}(h) = 1$ and c(h) has nonzero component in the 1-eigenspace for g. Then either g or hg satisfies (1), (2), and (3), which proves the proposition.

Finally, we have the endoscopic analogue of Proposition C.5.3.

Proposition C.5.4. Let π , ι , E_0 , and \mathfrak{p} be as above, with π endoscopic associated to pair (π_1, π_2) of automorphic representations of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{Q}})$; and assume that E_0 is a common strong coefficient field of π_1 and π_2 . Let j = 1 or 2, and suppose there exist admissible primes for $\rho_{\pi,\mathfrak{p}}$ which are BD-admissible for $\rho_{\pi_j} = \rho_{\pi_j,\mathfrak{p}}$. Suppose given the following data:

- A quadratic field $F \not\subset \mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi})$.
- A cuspidal automorphic representation τ of GL_2 whose archimedean component is discrete series of weight at least 2, such that τ does not have CM by any quadratic field $K \subset F(\rho_{\pi})$.
- A $G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ -stable $O_{\mathfrak{p}}$ lattice $T_{\pi_j} \subset V_{\pi_j,\mathfrak{p}}$, and a non-torsion cocycle $c \in H^1(\mathbb{Q}, T_{\pi_j})$.

Then there exists an element $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ *such that:*

- (1) g is is admissible for ρ_{π} and BD-admissible for ρ_{π_i} , and has nontrivial image in $\operatorname{Gal}(F/\mathbb{Q})$.
- (2) $\rho_{\tau,\iota}(g^2)$ has distinct eigenvalues.
- (3) c(g) has nonzero component in the 1-eigenspace for g.

Proof. Without loss of generality, suppose j = 1. Clearly there exists $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ satisfying (1), such that, if τ has CM by an imaginary quadratic field K, g has trivial image in $\text{Gal}(K/\mathbb{Q})$. We next claim:

Claim. There exists $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ satisfying (1) and (2).

Proof. If $F(\rho_{\pi}) \cap F(\mathrm{ad}^{0} \rho_{\tau,\iota})$ is finite, then we conclude using the same argument as for the claim in the proof of Proposition C.5.3. By Lemma C.5.1, we may therefore assume that, for i = 1 or 2, $\pi_{i} \cong \tau^{\sigma} \otimes \chi$ for

some finite-order Hecke character χ and automorphism $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$. In this case, τ is necessarily non-CM (because its CM field would be contained in $\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_i})$), so π_1 and π_2 cannot both be CM; and it suffices to show there exists $g \in G_{\mathbb{Q}}$ satisfying (1), such that $\rho_{\pi_2}(g^2)$ has distinct eigenvalues. Hence it suffices to show that $\mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_1}) \cap \mathbb{Q}(\rho_{\pi_2})$ is finite over $\mathbb{Q}(\mu_{p^{\infty}})$; and this follows from an argument very similar to Lemma C.4.13, using that π_1 and π_2 are not both CM.

Now take g as in the claim. By Lemma C.5.2, c has nonzero image in

$$H^{1}(F(\rho_{\pi}, \mathrm{ad}^{0} \, \rho_{\tau, \iota}), T_{\pi_{1}}).$$

Arguing as in Proposition C.5.3 and using the absolute irreducibility of ρ_{π_1} , the proposition follows.

References

- [1] Jeffrey Adams and Dan Barbasch. Genuine representations of the metaplectic group. Compos. Math., 113(1):23-66, 1998.
- Patrick B. Allen. Deformations of polarized automorphic Galois representations and adjoint Selmer groups. *Duke Math. J.*, 165(13):2407–2460, 2016.
- [3] James Arthur and Laurent Clozel. Simple algebras, base change, and the advanced theory of the trace formula, volume 120 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1989.
- [4] Sundeep Balaji. G-valued potentially semi-stable deformation rings. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2012. Thesis (Ph.D.)– The University of Chicago.
- [5] Joël Bellaïche and Gaëtan Chenevier. Families of Galois representations and Selmer groups. Astérisque, (324):xii+314, 2009.
- [6] Rebecca Bellovin and Toby Gee. *G*-valued local deformation rings and global lifts. *Algebra & Number Theory*, 13(2):333–378, 2019.
- [7] M. Bertolini and H. Darmon. Iwasawa's main conjecture for elliptic curves over anticyclotomic \mathbb{Z}_p -extensions. Ann. of Math. (2), 162(1):1–64, 2005.
- [8] Don Blasius. Hilbert modular forms and the Ramanujan conjecture. In *Noncommutative geometry and number theory*, volume E37 of *Aspects Math.*, pages 35–56. Friedr. Vieweg, Wiesbaden, 2006.
- [9] Spencer Bloch and Kazuya Kato. L-functions and Tamagawa numbers of motives. In *The Grothendieck Festschrift, Vol. I*, volume 86 of *Progr. Math.*, pages 333–400. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1990.
- [10] Jeremy Booher and Brandon Levin. G-valued crystalline deformation rings in the Fontaine-Laffaille range. Compos. Math., 159(8):1791–1832, 2023.
- [11] N. Bourbaki. Eléments de mathématique. XXVI. Groupes et algèbres de Lie. Chapitre 1: Algèbres de Lie, volume No. 1285 of Actualités Scientifiques et Industrielles [Current Scientific and Industrial Topics]. Hermann, Paris, 1960.
- [12] J.-F. Boutot and H. Carayol. Uniformisation p-adique des courbes de Shimura: les théorèmes de Cerednik et de Drinfeld. Astérisque, (196-197):7, 45–158, 1991. Courbes modulaires et courbes de Shimura (Orsay, 1987/1988).
- [13] George Boxer, Frank Calegari, Toby Gee, and Vincent Pilloni. Abelian surfaces over totally real fields are potentially modular. *Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci.*, 134:153–501, 2021.
- [14] Christophe Breuil. Une remarque sur les représentations locales *p*-adiques et les congruences entre formes modulaires de Hilbert. *Bull. Soc. Math. France*, 127(3):459–472, 1999.
- [15] Jan Hendrik Bruinier and Martin Westerholt-Raum. Kudla's modularity conjecture and formal Fourier-Jacobi series. Forum Math. Pi, 3:e7, 30, 2015.
- [16] Frank Calegari and Toby Gee. Irreducibility of automorphic Galois representations of GL(n), n at most 5. Ann. Inst. Fourier (*Grenoble*), 63(5):1881–1912, 2013.
- [17] Ana Caraiani. Local-global compatibility and the action of monodromy on nearby cycles. *Duke Math. J.*, 161(12):2311–2413, 2012.
- [18] Ana Caraiani. Monodromy and local-global compatibility for l = p. Algebra & Number Theory, 8(7):1597–1646, 2014.
- [19] Henri Carayol. Sur les représentations *l*-adiques associées aux formes modulaires de Hilbert. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 19(3):409–468, 1986.
- [20] Henri Carayol. Formes modulaires et représentations galoisiennes à valeurs dans un anneau local complet. In *p-adic mon-odromy and the Birch and Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture (Boston, MA, 1991)*, volume 165 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 213–237. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1994.
- [21] Ping-Shun Chan and Wee Teck Gan. The local Langlands conjecture for GSp(4) III: Stability and twisted endoscopy. J. Number Theory, 146:69–133, 2015.
- [22] Gaëtan Chenevier. The p-adic analytic space of pseudocharacters of a profinite group and pseudorepresentations over arbitrary rings. In Automorphic forms and Galois representations. Vol. 1, volume 414 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 221–285. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2014.
- [23] Gaëtan Chenevier and Michael Harris. Construction of automorphic Galois representations, II. *Camb. J. Math.*, 1(1):53–73, 2013.

NAOMI SWEETING

- [24] Masataka Chida and Ming-Lun Hsieh. On the anticyclotomic Iwasawa main conjecture for modular forms. *Compos. Math.*, 151(5):863–897, 2015.
- [25] Laurent Clozel, Michael Harris, and Richard Taylor. Automorphy for some *l*-adic lifts of automorphic mod *l* Galois representations. *Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci.*, (108):1–181, 2008. With Appendix A, summarizing unpublished work of Russ Mann, and Appendix B by Marie-France Vignéras.
- [26] Murilo Corato Zanarella. Spherical functions on symmetric spaces of Friedberg-Jacquet type. *arXiv preprint 2311.00148*, 2023.
- [27] Murilo Corato Zanarella. *First explicit reciprocity law for unitary Friedberg—Jacquet periods*. PhD thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2024.
- [28] Pierre Deligne and Nicholas Katz. Groupes de monodromie en géométrie algébrique. II, volume 340 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1973. Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois-Marie 1967–1969 (SGA 7 II).
- [29] Najmuddin Fakhruddin, Chandrashekhar Khare, and Stefan Patrikis. Relative deformation theory, relative Selmer groups, and lifting irreducible Galois representations. *Duke Math. J.*, 170(16):3505–3599, 2021.
- [30] Gerd Faltings and Ching-Li Chai. Degeneration of abelian varieties, volume 22 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990. With an appendix by David Mumford.
- [31] Jean-Marc Fontaine and Guy Laffaille. Construction de représentations *p*-adiques. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 15(4):547–608, 1982.
- [32] Jens Franke. Harmonic analysis in weighted L₂-spaces. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 31(2):181–279, 1998.
- [33] Wee Teck Gan and Wen-Wei Li. The Shimura-Waldspurger correspondence for Mp(2n). In *Geometric aspects of the trace formula*, Simons Symp., pages 183–210. Springer, Cham, 2018.
- [34] Wee Teck Gan and Gordan Savin. Representations of metaplectic groups I: epsilon dichotomy and local Langlands correspondence. *Compos. Math.*, 148(6):1655–1694, 2012.
- [35] Wee Teck Gan and Gordan Savin. Representations of metaplectic groups II: Hecke algebra correspondences. *Represent. Theory*, 16:513–539, 2012.
- [36] Wee Teck Gan and Shuichiro Takeda. The local Langlands conjecture for GSp(4). Ann. of Math. (2), 173(3):1841–1882, 2011.
- [37] Wee Teck Gan and Welly Tantono. The local Langlands conjecture for GSp(4), II: The case of inner forms. *Amer. J. Math.*, 136(3):761–805, 2014.
- [38] S. S. Gelbart and A. W. Knapp. *L*-indistinguishability and *R* groups for the special linear group. *Adv. in Math.*, 43(2):101–121, 1982.
- [39] David Ginzburg, Dihua Jiang, and David Soudry. Poles of *L*-functions and theta liftings for orthogonal groups. J. Inst. Math. Jussieu, 8(4):693–741, 2009.
- [40] Benedict H. Gross. Kolyvagin's work on modular elliptic curves. In *L-functions and arithmetic (Durham, 1989)*, volume 153 of *London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser.*, pages 235–256. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1991.
- [41] Benedict H. Gross. On the Satake isomorphism. In *Galois representations in arithmetic algebraic geometry (Durham, 1996)*, volume 254 of *London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser.*, pages 223–237. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1998.
- [42] Linus Hamann and Si Ying Lee. Torsion vanishing for some Shimura varieties. arXiv preprint 2309.08705, 2023.
- [43] Günter Harder. Cohomology of arithmetic groups. preprint, 2019.
- [44] Michael Harris and Stephen S. Kudla. Arithmetic automorphic forms for the nonholomorphic discrete series of GSp(2). Duke Math. J., 66(1):59–121, 1992.
- [45] Yumiko Hironaka. Spherical functions of Hermitian and symmetric forms. II. Japan. J. Math. (N.S.), 15(1):15–51, 1989.
- [46] Roger Howe. Transcending classical invariant theory. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 2(3):535–552, 1989.
- [47] Luc Illusie. Sur la formule de Picard-Lefschetz. Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 36:249–268, 2002. Algebraic geometry 2000, Azumino (Hotaka).
- [48] Kazuya Kato. *p*-adic Hodge theory and values of zeta functions of modular forms. *Astérisque*, (295):ix, 117–290, 2004. Cohomologies *p*-adiques et applications arithmétiques. III.
- [49] Henry H. Kim and Freydoon Shahidi. Functorial products for $GL_2 \times GL_3$ and the symmetric cube for GL_2 . *Ann. of Math.* (2), 155(3):837–893, 2002. With an appendix by Colin J. Bushnell and Guy Henniart.
- [50] Max-Albert Knus. Quadratic forms, Clifford algebras and spinors, volume 1 of Seminários de Matemática [Seminars in Mathematics]. Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Ciência da Computação, Campinas, 1988.
- [51] Max-Albert Knus, Alexander Merkurjev, Markus Rost, and Jean-Pierre Tignol. *The book of involutions*, volume 44 of *American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications*. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1998. With a preface in French by J. Tits.
- [52] Robert E. Kottwitz. Points on some Shimura varieties over finite fields. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 5(2):373-444, 1992.
- [53] Stephen S. Kudla. On the local theta-correspondence. Invent. Math., 83(2):229–255, 1986.
- [54] Stephen S. Kudla. Algebraic cycles on Shimura varieties of orthogonal type. Duke Math. J., 86(1):39–78, 1997.

- [55] Stephen S. Kudla and Michael Rapoport. Arithmetic Hirzebruch-Zagier cycles. J. Reine Angew. Math., 515:155–244, 1999.
- [56] Stephen S. Kudla and Michael Rapoport. Cycles on Siegel threefolds and derivatives of Eisenstein series. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 33(5):695–756, 2000.
- [57] Kai-Wen Lan and Benoît Stroh. Nearby cycles of automorphic étale sheaves. Compos. Math., 154(1):80–119, 2018.
- [58] R. P. Langlands. On the zeta functions of some simple Shimura varieties. Canadian J. Math., 31(6):1121–1216, 1979.
- [59] Michel Lazard. Groupes analytiques p-adiques. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (26):389-603, 1965.
- [60] Antonio Lei, David Loeffler, and Sarah Livia Zerbes. Euler systems for Rankin-Selberg convolutions of modular forms. Ann. of Math. (2), 180(2):653–771, 2014.
- [61] Chao Li and Yifeng Liu. Chow groups and *L*-derivatives of automorphic motives for unitary groups. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 194(3):817–901, 2021.
- [62] Chao Li and Yifeng Liu. Chow groups and *L*-derivatives of automorphic motives for unitary groups, II. *Forum Math. Pi*, 10:Paper No. e5, 71, 2022.
- [63] Chao Li and Wei Zhang. On the arithmetic Siegel-Weil formula for GSpin Shimura varieties. *Invent. Math.*, 228(3):1353–1460, 2022.
- [64] Tong Liu. Torsion *p*-adic Galois representations and a conjecture of Fontaine. *Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup.* (4), 40(4):633–674, 2007.
- [65] Yi Feng Liu, Yi Chao Tian, Liang Xiao, Wei Zhang, and Xin Wen Zhu. Deformation of rigid conjugate self-dual Galois representations. Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.), 40(7):1599–1644, 2024.
- [66] Yifeng Liu. Hirzebruch-Zagier cycles and twisted triple product Selmer groups. Invent. Math., 205(3):693–780, 2016.
- [67] Yifeng Liu. Bounding cubic-triple product Selmer groups of elliptic curves. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 21(5):1411–1508, 2019.
- [68] Yifeng Liu and Yichao Tian. Supersingular locus of Hilbert modular varieties, arithmetic level raising and Selmer groups. *Algebra & Number Theory*, 14(8):2059–2119, 2020.
- [69] Yifeng Liu, Yichao Tian, Liang Xiao, Wei Zhang, and Xinwen Zhu. On the Beilinson-Bloch-Kato conjecture for Rankin-Selberg motives. *Invent. Math.*, 228(1):107–375, 2022.
- [70] David Loeffler. Images of adelic Galois representations for modular forms. Glasg. Math. J., 59(1):11–25, 2017.
- [71] David Loeffler and Sarah Livia Zerbes. On the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture for modular abelian surfaces. *arXiv preprint* 2110.13102, 2023.
- [72] Jeffrey Manning. Patching and multiplicity 2^k for Shimura curves. Algebra & Number Theory, 15(2):387–434, 2021.
- [73] G. A. Margulis. Discrete subgroups of semisimple Lie groups, volume 17 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991.
- [74] B. Mazur and William Messing. Universal extensions and one dimensional crystalline cohomology, volume 370 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1974.
- [75] Barry Mazur and Karl Rubin. Kolyvagin systems. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 168(799):viii+96, 2004.
- [76] William Messing. *The crystals associated to Barsotti-Tate groups: with applications to abelian schemes*, volume 264 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1972.
- [77] J. S. Milne. Introduction to Shimura varieties. In *Harmonic analysis, the trace formula, and Shimura varieties*, volume 4 of *Clay Math. Proc.*, pages 265–378. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005.
- [78] David Mumford. *Abelian varieties*, volume 5 of *Tata Institute of Fundamental Research Studies in Mathematics*. Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay; by Oxford University Press, London, 1970.
- [79] Jan Nekovář. p-adic Abel-Jacobi maps and p-adic heights. In *The arithmetic and geometry of algebraic cycles (Banff, AB, 1998)*, volume 24 of *CRM Proc. Lecture Notes*, pages 367–379. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2000.
- [80] Jan Nekovář. Level raising and anticyclotomic Selmer groups for Hilbert modular forms of weight two. *Canad. J. Math.*, 64(3):588–668, 2012.
- [81] Jan Nekovář and Wiesława Nizioł. Syntomic cohomology and p-adic regulators for varieties over p-adic fields. Algebra & Number Theory, 10(8):1695–1790, 2016. With appendices by Laurent Berger and Frédéric Déglise.
- [82] James Newton and Jack A. Thorne. Torsion Galois representations over CM fields and Hecke algebras in the derived category. *Forum Math. Sigma*, 4:Paper No. e21, 88, 2016.
- [83] James Newton and Jack A. Thorne. Adjoint Selmer groups of automorphic Galois representations of unitary type. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 25(5):1919–1967, 2023.
- [84] Wiesława Nizioł. Cohomology of crystalline representations. Duke Math. J., 71(3):747–791, 1993.
- [85] Yasuhiro Oki. On supersingular loci of Shimura varieties for quaternionic unitary groups of degree 2. Manuscripta Math., 167(1-2):263–343, 2022.
- [86] Lue Pan. The Fontaine-Mazur conjecture in the residually reducible case. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 35(4):1031–1169, 2022.
- [87] Stefan Patrikis. Variations on a theorem of Tate. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 258(1238):viii+156, 2019.
- [88] I. I. Piatetski-Shapiro. On the Saito-Kurokawa lifting. Invent. Math., 71(2):309–338, 1983.
- [89] Richard Pink. Arithmetical compactification of mixed Shimura varieties, volume 209 of Bonner Mathematische Schriften [Bonn Mathematical Publications]. Universität Bonn, Mathematisches Institut, Bonn, 1990. Dissertation, Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, Bonn, 1989.

NAOMI SWEETING

- [90] C. S. Rajan. On strong multiplicity one for automorphic representations. J. Number Theory, 102(1):183–190, 2003.
- [91] S. Rallis. On the Howe duality conjecture. Compos. Math., 51(3):333–399, 1984.
- [92] Dinakar Ramakrishnan and Freydoon Shahidi. Siegel modular forms of genus 2 attached to elliptic curves. *Math. Res. Lett.*, 14(2):315–332, 2007.
- [93] M. Rapoport and Th. Zink. Period spaces for p-divisible groups, volume 141 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1996.
- [94] Kenneth A. Ribet. On l-adic representations attached to modular forms. II. Glasgow Math. J., 27:185–194, 1985.
- [95] Brooks Roberts and Ralf Schmidt. Local newforms for GSp(4), volume 1918 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, 2007.
- [96] Mirko Rösner and Rainer Weissauer. Global liftings between inner forms of GSp(4). J. Number Theory, 263:79–138, 2024.
- [97] Takeshi Saito. Weight spectral sequences and independence of *l. J. Inst. Math. Jussieu*, 2(4):583–634, 2003.
- [98] Peter Scholze. On the *p*-adic cohomology of the Lubin-Tate tower. *Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér.* (4), 51(4):811–863, 2018. With an appendix by Michael Rapoport.
- [99] Shankar Sen. Lie algebras of Galois groups arising from Hodge-Tate modules. Ann. of Math. (2), 97:160–170, 1973.
- [100] Freydoon Shahidi. On certain L-functions. Amer. J. Math., 103(2):297–355, 1981.
- [101] Goro Shimura. Zeta functions and Eisenstein series on metaplectic groups. Invent. Math., 121(1):21-60, 1995.
- [102] Jack Shotton. Local deformation rings for GL_2 and a Breuil-Mézard conjecture when $\ell \neq p$. Algebra & Number Theory, 10(7):1437–1475, 2016.
- [103] Christopher Skinner. A note on the *p*-adic Galois representations attached to Hilbert modular forms. *Doc. Math.*, 14:241–258, 2009.
- [104] Claus M. Sorensen. Level-raising for Saito-Kurokawa forms. Compos. Math., 145(4):915–953, 2009.
- [105] Claus M. Sorensen. Galois representations attached to Hilbert-Siegel modular forms. Doc. Math., 15:623-670, 2010.
- [106] David Soudry. The CAP representations of $GSp(4, \mathbf{A})$. J. Reine Angew. Math., 383:87–108, 1988.
- [107] Richard Taylor. On Galois representations associated to Hilbert modular forms. Invent. Math., 98(2):265–280, 1989.
- [108] Richard Taylor. On the *l*-adic cohomology of Siegel threefolds. Invent. Math., 114(2):289–310, 1993.
- [109] Richard Taylor and Teruyoshi Yoshida. Compatibility of local and global Langlands correspondences. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 20(2):467–493, 2007.
- [110] Jack A. Thorne. On the vanishing of adjoint Bloch-Kato Selmer groups of irreducible automorphic Galois representations. *Pure Appl. Math. Q.*, 18(5):2159–2202, 2022.
- [111] Yichao Tian and Liang Xiao. Tate cycles on some quaternionic Shimura varieties mod *p. Duke Math. J.*, 168(9):1551–1639, 2019.
- [112] Gerard van der Geer. Hilbert modular surfaces, volume 16 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1988.
- [113] Marie-France Vignéras. Représentations modulaires de GL(2, F) en caractéristique l, F corps p-adique, $p \neq l$. Compos. Math., 72(1):33–66, 1989.
- [114] Marie-France Vignéras. Représentations l-modulaires d'un groupe réductif p-adique avec $l \neq p$, volume 137 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1996.
- [115] John Voight. Quaternion algebras, volume 288 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, Cham, [2021] ©2021.
- [116] Preston Wake and Carl Wang-Erickson. Deformation conditions for pseudorepresentations. *Forum Math. Sigma*, 7:Paper No. e20, 44, 2019.
- [117] Michel Waldschmidt. Sur certains caractères du groupe des classes d'idèles d'un corps de nombres. In Seminar on Number Theory, Paris 1980-81 (Paris, 1980/1981), volume 22 of Progr. Math., pages 323–335. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1982.
- [118] Haining Wang. On the Bruhat-Tits stratification of a quaternionic unitary Rapoport-Zink space. Math. Ann., 376(3-4):1107– 1144, 2020.
- [119] Haining Wang. Arithmetic level raising for certain quaternionic unitary shimura varieties. arXiv preprint 2204.06976, 2022.
- [120] Haining Wang. Arithmetic level raising on triple product of Shimura curves and Gross-Schoen diagonal cycles, I: Ramified case. Algebra & Number Theory, 16(10):2289–2338, 2022.
- [121] Haining Wang. Deformation of rigid Galois representations and cohomology of certain quaternionic unitary Shimura variety. *arXiv preprint 2204.07807*, 2022.
- [122] Torsten Wedhorn. Congruence relations on some Shimura varieties. J. Reine Angew. Math., 524:43–71, 2000.
- [123] Ariel Weiss. On the images of Galois representations attached to low weight Siegel modular forms. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 106(1):358–387, 2022.
- [124] Rainer Weissauer. Four dimensional Galois representations. Astérisque, (302):67–150, 2005. Formes automorphes. II. Le cas du groupe GSp(4).
- [125] Rainer Weissauer. Existence of Whittaker models related to four dimensional symplectic Galois representations. In *Modular forms on Schiermonnikoog*, pages 285–310. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2008.
- [126] Rainer Weissauer. Endoscopy for GSp(4) and the cohomology of Siegel modular threefolds, volume 1968 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009.

- [127] Andrew Wiles. On ordinary λ -adic representations associated to modular forms. *Invent. Math.*, 94(3):529–573, 1988.
- [128] Murilo Corato Zanarella. Spherical functions of symmetric forms and a conjecture of Hironaka. *arXiv preprint 2311.00147*, 2023.
- [129] Wei Zhang. *Modularity of generating functions of special cycles on Shimura varieties*. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2009. Thesis (Ph.D.)–Columbia University.
- [130] Christian Zorn. Reducibility of the principal series for $\widetilde{\text{Sp}}_2(F)$ over a *p*-adic field. *Canad. J. Math.*, 62(4):914–960, 2010.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, PRINCETON UNIVERSITY *Email address*: naomiss@math.princeton.edu